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PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP

Group presentation

1.1 Group presentation

BNP Paribas, Europe’s leading provider of banking and financial services, = International Financial Services, comprising:
has four domestic Retail Banking markets in Europe, namely in France, Europe-Mediterranean,
Belgium, Italy and Luxembourg. Bank of the West,

It operates in 68 countries and has more than 193,000 employees, Personal Finance

including nearly 148,000 in Europe. BNP Paribas holds key positions in

its two main businesses: Insurance,

m Retail Banking and Services, which includes: Wealth and AISSEF Managerrllent;
» Domestic Markets, comprising m Corporate and Institutional Banking (CIB):
French Retail Banking (FRB),
BNL banca commerciale (BNL bc), Italian Retail Banking,
Belgian Retail Banking (BRB),
Other Domestic Markets activities including Arval, BNP Paribas
Leasing Solutions, BNP Paribas Personal Investors, Nickel and
Luxembourg Retail Banking (LRB);

Corporate Banking,
Global Markets,
Securities Services.
BNP Paribas SA is the parent company of the BNP Paribas Group.

1.2 Key figures

RESULTS

| s _ow | _oam | _am

Revenues (in millions of euros) 43,411 43,161 42,516 44,597 44,275
Gross operating income (in millions of evros) 14,033 13,217 11,933 13,260 14,081
Net income Group share (in millions of euros) 7,702 7,759 7,526 8173 7,067
Earnings per share (in euros)” 6.00 6.05 573 6.21 531
Return on equity©” 9.3% 8.9% 8.2% 8.5%" 7.6%

(*)  Based on net income Group share adjusted for interest on Undated Super Subordinated Notes deemed equivalent to preferred shares issued by
BNP Paribas SA and treated as a dividend for accounting purposes.

(**) Return on equity is calculated by dividing net income attributable to equity holders (adjusted for interest on Undated Super Subordinated Notes
issued by BNP Paribas SA, treated as a dividend for accounting purposes and adjusted for the foreign exchange effect on redeemed Undated
Super Subordinated Notes) by average permanent shareholders’ equity, not revalued, between the beginning of the year and the end of the year
(shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders adjusted for changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity, Undated Super
Subordinated Notes, remuneration net of tax payable to holders of Undated Super Subordinated Notes and the distribution project).

(***)8.4% with posting into reserves in 2020 the dividend initially planned with respect of 2019 results.

MARKET CAPITALISATION

| syepos | sveeos | syeaom | sveeus | sinzeom

Market capitalisation (in billions of euros) 65.1 755 777 493 66.0 539
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LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM RATINGS

Long-term and short-term
ratings as at 3 March 2020

Long-term and short-term
ratings as at 2 March 2021

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
History

m Date of ast review

Standard & Poor’s A+/A-1 A+/A-1 Negative 23 April 2020
Fitch AA-/F1 AA-/F1 Negative 12 October 2020
Moody's Aa3/Prime-1 Aa3/Prime-1 Stable 4 December 2020
DBRS AA (low)/R-1 (middle) AA (low)/R-1 (middle) Stable 10 July 2020

On 23 April 2020, Standard & Poor's affirmed the long-term rating of
BNP Paribas at A+ with a negative outlook.

On 12 October 2020, following its review, Fitch affirmed the long-term
rating of BNP Paribas at AA-, removing it from its Rating Watch Negative
and assigned a Negative outlook.

1.3 History

1966: Creation of BNP

The merger of BNCI and CNEP to form BNP represented the largest
restructuring operation in the French banking sector since the end of
the Second World War.

1968: Creation of Compagnie Financiére de Paris
et des Pays-Bas

1982: Nationalisation of BNP and Compagnie
Financiére de Paris et des Pays-Bas at the time
of the nationalisation of all French banks

In the 1980s, deregulation of the banking sector and the growing tendency

of borrowers to raise funds directly on the financial market transformed

the banking business in France and worldwide.

1987: Privatisation of Compagnie Financiére

de Paribas
With 3.8 million individual shareholders, Compagnie Financiére de Paribas
had more shareholders than any other company in the world. Compagnie
Financiere de Paribas owned 48% of the capital of Compagnie Bancaire.

1993: Privatisation of BNP

BNP's return to the private sector represented a new start. The 1990s
were marked by a change in the level of profitability of the Bank, which
had the highest return on equity of any major French institution in 1998.
This period was marked by the launch of new banking products and
services, the development of activities on the financial markets, expansion
in France and at the international level, and preparation for the advent
of the euro.

On 4 December 2020, Moody's affirmed the long-term rating of
BNP Paribas at Aa3 with a stable outlook.

On 10 July 2020, DBRS confirmed the long-term rating of BNP Paribas at
AA (low) with a stable outlook.

1998: Creation of Paribas

On 12 May 1998, the merger between Compagnie Financiére de Paribas,
Banque Paribas and Compagnie Bancaire was approved.

1999: A momentous year for the Group

Following an unprecedented double tender offer and a stock market battle
waged over six months, BNP was in a position to carry out a merger of
equals with Paribas. For both groups, this was the most important event
since their privatisation. It gave rise to a new Group with tremendous
prospects. At a time of economic globalisation, the merger created a
leading player in the European banking sector.

2000: Creation of BNP Paribas
BNP and Paribas merged on 23 May 2000.

The new Group derived its strength from the two major financial and
banking lines from which it descends. It has two goals: to create value for
shareholders, clients and employees by building the bank of the future,
and to become a leading global player.

2006: Acquisition of BNL in Italy

BNP Paribas acquired BNL, Italy's 6th-largest bank. This acquisition
transformed BNP Paribas, providing it with access to a second domestic
market in Europe. In both Italy and France, all of the Group's businesses
can now develop their activities by leveraging a nationwide banking
network.

2009: Merger with the Fortis group

BNP Paribas took control of Fortis Bank and BGL (Banque Générale du
Luxembourg).

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS
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PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
Presentation of operating divisions and business lines

1.4
and business lines

RETAIL BANKING & SERVICES

DOMESTIC MARKETS (DM)

French Retail Banking

BNP Paribas Fortis

BNL be

BGL BNP Paribas

Arval

BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions
BNP Paribas Personal Investors
Nickel

INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL SERVICES (IFS)

BNP Paribas Personal Finance
International Retail Banking

BNP Paribas Cardif

BNP Paribas Wealth Management
BNP Paribas Asset Management
BNP Paribas Real Estate

RISK
DIVERSIFICATION

RETAIL BANKING & SERVICES

Retail Banking & Services includes Retail Banking networks and
specialised financial services in France and abroad. It is divided into
Domestic Markets and International Financial Services. Established

DOMESTIC MARKETS

Domestic Markets includes BNP Paribas’ Retail Banking networks in the
eurozone comprising France (FRB), Italy (BNL bc), Belgium (BRB, operating
under the BNP Paribas Fortis brand) and Luxembourg (LRB, operating
under the BGL BNP Paribas brand), as well as the specialised businesses:
Arval (mobility and vehicle leasing for corporates and individuals),
BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions (professional equipment leasing and
financing solutions), BNP Paribas Personal Investors (online savings and
brokerage), and Nickel (alternative banking services).

Cash Management, Trade Finance and Factoring round out the services
provided to corporate clients under the One Bank for Corporates approach,
in synergy with CIB's Corporate Banking.

Wealth Management is developing its Private Banking model in the
domestic markets in an integrated manner.

INNOVATION —

Presentation of operating divisions

. CROSS-BUSINESS
COOPERATION

CORPORATE_
& INSTITUTIONAL BANKING (CIB)

Corporate Banking
Global Markets
Securities Services

=— ENGAGEMENT

in more than 60 countries and employing over 150,000 people, Retail
Banking & Services accounted for 71% of the 2020 revenue generated by
BNP Paribas’ operating divisions.

Across-functional team, Partners in Action for Customer Experience (PACE),
aims to help Retail Banking activities offer a better customer experience.

Hello bank!, the Group's main digital bank in France, Belgium, Germany
and Austria, had 2.9 million customers at the end of 2020. With Nickel,
the BNP Paribas set-up is responding to new banking uses in France and
is developing in Europe, with a launch in Spain in 2020.

The Bank now offers a full set of solutions adapted to the needs of its
various customer bases (individuals, professionals, small businesses,
corporates).

Domestic Markets employs more than 62,000 people, including nearly
48,000 working in the 4 domestic networks (France, Italy, Belgium,
Luxembourg). It serves 19 million customers including more than
1 million professionals, small businesses and corporates in the 4
domestic networks.

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS



With Domestic Markets, BNP Paribas is the best private bank in France®,
Italy and Belgium®, No. 1 in cash management in Europe for large
corporates® and European Leaser of the year®.

In 2020, the Domestic Markets teams mobilized to support their
customers and the economy during the health crisis. Nearly 90% of
branches remained open or accessible by appointment during the
lockdowns of the first half of 2020, and contacts with customers were
intensified to assess their needs in the context of the crisis. Nearly
100,000 state-guaranteed loans were granted. Several solidarity
initiatives have also been implemented in various countries: computer
donations, vehicles made freely available, donations to associations, etc.

FRENCH RETAIL BANKING (FRB)

With just over 24,200 employees, French Retail Banking (FRB) supports
its customers with all their projects. FRB offers innovative solutions
in financing, payment, wealth & asset management, and insurance to
6.9 million individual customers, 636,000 professionals and very small
enterprises, 31,500 corporates (SMEs, mid-sized and large corporates)
and some 58,000 associations. Combining the best in digital and
human interaction, it provides them with broad interface capabilities,
ranging from essential banking services, through a self-care solution, to
customised guidance using dedicated teams and experts.

French Retail Banking is structured around 10 regions covering 156
territories, making it possible to provide all our customer bases with the
right level of proximity whilst maintaining synergies between business
lines.

ALl customer bases have dedicated areas appropriate to their needs:

m for individual and professional customers, 1,750 branches and 4,427
ATMs operating under the BNP Paribas and BNP Paribas - Banque de
Bretagne brands;

m for Private Banking customers, BNP Paribas has Private Banking centres
located throughout France (for customers with more than EUR 250,000
in financial assets) and 11 Wealth Management offices (for customers
with more than EUR 5 million in financial assets), making BNP Paribas
the leading private bank in France;

m for corporate clients and entrepreneurs, a sizeable organisation:

= 22 generalist business centres dedicated to corporate customers,
2 business centres specifically for customers with simple needs
(in particular Small Associations, French subsidiaries of foreign
groups) who seek a digital banking relationship, 4 specialised
business centres (Innovation, Real Estate, Institutions/Associations/
Foundations and Images & Media) offering tailored solutions to meet
corporate customers' specific needs and 1 skills centre (Banking &
Financial Services) to address corporate sector challenges,

= 80 SME centres to support small businesses, SMEs and very small
enterprises, and their managers, to manage their wealth planning
and company life-cycle,

(1) Source: Euromoney.

(2) Source: WorldFinance.

(3) Source: Greenwich Share Leaders.
(4) Source: Leasing Life Awards 2020.

(5) We Are Innovation.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
Presentation of operating divisions and business lines

= 63 WAI® hubs to support innovative start-ups and companies by
providing products and services dedicated to their specific needs
and 2 sites dedicated to innovation: WAI Paris and WAI Massy-
Saclay, places for innovation and connection;

m teams dedicated to the French overseas territories (4 regional
subsidiaries, several teams and an economic interest group in
mainland France) which benefit from close proximity and in-depth
knowledge of local issues;

m specialised subsidiaries, including BNP Paribas Factor, one of the
European leaders in factoring, which offers trade receivables
and payables management solutions, as well as BNP Paribas
Développement, a private equity provider, Protection 24, a remote
surveillance company, and by Portzamparc, which supports private
clients, SMEs and medium-sized companies wishing to invest in or
raise financing on the stock market and Copartis, which offers fully
subcontracted securities and savings services for financial institutions;

m customer support centres such as a business assistance service -
Service dAssistance aux Entreprises (SAE) and a Cash Customer
Service (CCS);

m lastly, 52 production and sales support branches, back offices that
handle all transaction processing.

FRB also provides its customers with a full online relationship capability,
based on:

m Hello bank!, BNP Paribas’ fully online bank with more than 600,000
customers;

B a mabanque.bnpparibas website and the mobile app “Mes Comptes”,
offering services used by more than 3.5 million unique customers
per month, including 2.6 million on mobile devices (smartphones
and tablets) and 1.7 million smartphone-only customers, with usage
averaging 15.8 visits per month;

m 4 customer relationship centres in Paris, Lille, Orléans and Mérignac,
which handle requests received by e-mail, phone, chat or secure
messaging, and 3 specialist contact centres, Net Epargne/Bourse, Net
Crédit and Net Assurance.

FRB continued its transformation in 2020, whether it be digital with the
launch in France of the first biometric bank card or organisational with
the gradual roll-out throughout the “Customer Service” network, whose
objective is to manage, analyse and route all customer requests to the
best available skill, to ensure that they are dealt with quickly.

BNP Paribas was voted best private bank in France by Euromoney, PWM-
The Banker and World Finance magazines in 2020. BNP Paribas was
ranked as the leading retail bank for the 4th consecutive year in the
annual 2020 D-Rating survey for its digital offer and Hello bank! ranked
2nd amongst digital banks.

In the unique context of the health crisis, FRB has mobilised all its teams
to support all its customers:

B communication via social networks, media and customer emails/SMS
(more than 7 million emails sent during lockdown) to inform, reassure
and make self-care second-nature;

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS




PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
Presentation of operating divisions and business lines

| rapid implementation of state-guaranteed loans (more than 69,000
loans for nearly EUR 17.9 billion euros as of 31 December 2020) and
adapted solutions to respond individually to each situation (corporates,
professionals, individuals, students);

m increased solidarity with a support plan: a donation of EUR 1 million
to the Institut Pasteur, 20,000 Samu Social lunch vouchers, donations
of computers and masks;

m doubling of equity investments in France by the BNP Paribas Group in
medium and intermediate-sized companies (EUR 4 billion by 2024) to
support their long-term strategy (international development, digital
transformation and energy transition).

BNL BANCA COMMERCIALE

BNL b is Italy’s 6th-largest commercial bank in terms of its balance
sheet and customer loans®. It provides a comprehensive range of
banking, financial and insurance products and services for diversified
customer base:

m roughly 2.7 million individual customers;

m 53,000 Private Banking clients;

m 135,000 small businesses;

m 11,000 medium and large corporates;

m 3,600 local authorities and non-profit organisations.

Its range of products and services draw on the Group's extensive expertise
and its integrated model by developing business Line cooperation.

BNL bc has a significant position in lending to households, especially
residential mortgages (market share of 6.7%@) and has a deposit base
(3.6%@ of household current accounts) abave the market penetration
rate (3.1%® in terms of number of branches).

BNL be is well established in the corporate markets (4.7%®@ of loans
market share) and local authority, with recognised expertise in cash
management, cross-border payments, project finance, structured finance
and factoring, via its subsidiary Ifitalia (ranked 3rd in Italy®).

BNL bc has innovative and client-tailored offer models, leveraging on
a multi-channel distribution network, organised by regions (direzioni
regionali) and separate departments for Retail Banking (including
a network of more than 520 financial advisors), Private Banking and
Corporate Banking. The distribution network includes:

m 705 branches, with Open BNL multi-channel branches (77) serving
customers 24/7;

m 34 Private Banking centres;
m 45 small business centres;

(1) Source: annual and periodic reports of BNL and its competitors.
(2) Source: Bank of Italy, 3rd quarter 2020.

(3) Source: Bank of Italy, data as of 31 December 2020.

(4) Source: Assifact, ranking by turnover.

(5) SACE: Servizi Assicurativi del Commercio Estero, the Italian export credit agency.

B 43 centres for SMEs, large corporates, local authorities and public
sector organisations;

m 1 trade centre for clients' cross-border activities;

| 2 ltalian desks to assist Italian companies abroad and multinational
companies with direct investments in Italy.

In addition, there are 1,700 ATMs, about 93,000 devices (POS) for card
payments, and a growing range of digital, on-line and mabile banking
solutions.

During the health crisis of 2020, BNL mobilised its resources and
demonstrated a strong commitment to customer needs, using all the
tools provided by digitisation, in order to avoid business difficulties
or interruption, and implemented a tailored system to preserve its
employees’ health.

The initiatives involved the Bank both at internal and external level:

B Branches activities have been re-organized in terms of time and
procedures (cash activities limited in the morning, other activities
scheduled with appointment, etc.);

® The communication initiatives have been spread across all our internal
communication channels and external channels for customers and
the entire community;

m BNL and all the companies of BNP Paribas in Italy, together with the
BNL Foundation, joined to support the Italian Red Cross;

m BNL granted loans guaranteed by the Italian State and SACE® to more
than 26,000 companies for EUR 4.1 billion and suspended collection
of mortgages payments for 18 months in accordance with Italian law.

BELGIAN RETAIL BANKING (BRB)

BNP Paribas Fortis is the No. 1 bank for retail customers® in Belgium
and has a strong position in the corporate and small business sector,
with 3.4 million customers. BNP Paribas Fortis is also the leading Private
Bank in Belgium.

BNP Paribas Fortis is furthermore No. 1 in Belgium for Corporate
Banking®, and offers a full range of financial services to corporates,
public sector entities and local autharities.

Retail & Private Banking (RPB) serves individual customers, entrepreneurs,
and small and medium enterprises through its different integrated
networks, thus fitting into a hybrid banking strategy where the customer
chooses between the branch network and digital channels:

m the commercial network comprises 463 branches (of which 217 are
independent) and 18 centres of a new dedicated structure, Banque
des Entrepreneurs (the bank for small businesses). This set-up

(6) Source: Financial Market Data Monitor 2019. 2020 (Market survey on a representative sample of 2,000 households in December 2020).

(7) Source: Greenwich 2019, in terms of market penetration.

(8) In December 2020, Fintro had 249 branches, 1,011 employees and EUR 12.47 billion in assets under management (excluding insurance business) for 332,553 active clients.
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is supplemented by 249 franchises under the Fintro brand® and
660 points of sale in partnership with bpost bank. Its 463 branches
are organised into 38 branch groups reporting to 9 regions;

m RPB's digital platform manages a network of 1,423 ATMs, online
banking services (Easy Banking) and mobile banking (2.3 million total
aggregate active users);

| the bank is also available for customers thanks to the Easy Banking
Centre which handles up to 72,500 calls per week.

The offer is completed by the Hello bank! digital bank which has more
than 505,000 customers.

Private Banking services are aimed at individual customers with invested
assets of more than EUR 250,000. The Wealth Management Department
within Private Banking caters to customers with invested assets of more
than EUR 5 million. Private Banking customers are served via 30 Private
Banking centres, a Private Banking Centre by James® and 2 Wealth
Management centres.

With a very sizeable client base of large and medium-sized companies,
Corporate Banking Belgium is a market leader in these two segments and
a preferred banking partner in the public and non-commercial markets.

BNP Paribas Fortis continued its digital development and customer
experience improvement, in particular with the application of remote
banking services from Easy Banking with new features and improved
performance. A new robotics and Al-based customer service centre was
also set up to optimise the handling of customer queries.

BRB strongly mobilized to support the economy and its customers
confront the health crisis. Thus, BRB granted more than 4,500 state-
guaranteed loans. The business increased the number of contacts
with customers: for example at the end of June 2020, 94% of corporate
customers were contacted to assess their needs since the beginning
of the crisis. Moreover, 99% of branches remained open or accessible
during lockdown.

LUXEMBOURG RETAIL BANKING (LRB)

With a 17%@ market share of the Retail Banking market and 24%® of the
SME market, BGL BNP Paribas is the No. 2 bank in Luxembourg.

LRB is actively involved in financing the economy and constantly fine-
tunes its strategy and network to align it with changing customer
behaviour patterns, with a particular focus on digital.

With nearly 700 employees®, LRB supports its customers to bring their
plans to fruition, with:

B a Retail Banking network supporting more than 182,000 customers on
a daily basis, based on:

(1) Private Banking centre providing remote services through digital channels.
(2) Source: TNS ILRES - Bank survey July 2020.

(3) Source: TNS ILRES - SME Bank Survey February 2021.

(4) Excluding functions.

(5) Financial communication of main competitors.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
Presentation of operating divisions and business lines

= 34 branches throughout the country and 122 ATMs for individual
and business customers,

= acomprehensive and diverse range of products and services offered
through its innovative multi-channel presence, encompassing a
branch network, online, phone and mobile banking,

= teams of savings and investment specialists assisting customers in
the management of their portfolios, teams of mortgage specialists
advising customers on loans for their acquisition and construction
projects, as well as specialists for professionals and liberal
professions;
m a Corporate Bank serving 2,900 corporates, with dedicated business
managers;

m a Private Bank organised around 5 centres serving 3,500 customers
with assets of EUR 4.4 billion, and offering tailored financial and asset
management services.

Since the start of the health crisis, BGL BNP Paribas has mobilized its teams
and resources to support its customers and the economy. Beyond the
moratoria granted to help its customers cope with imminent cash flow
difficulties, BGL BNP Paribas granted more than EUR 200 million in loans
in partnership with the Office du Ducroire Luxembourg for additional cash
needs and over EUR 15 million in State-guaranteed loans.

The bank has also implemented solidarity initiatives to support the people
most affected by the health crisis. For any donation made by an employee
to associations in the Grande Région, active in the fields of health, aid
to vulnerable people and medical research, the bank has doubled the
amount of the donation.

ARVAL

Within the BNP Paribas Group, Arval is the specialist in vehicle leasing and
sustainable mobility. It offers corporate clients (from large multinationals
to small and medium enterprises), their employees and individuals,
customised solutions that optimise their mability.

Arval had over 7,000 employees at the end of 2020, in the 30 countries
where the company operates, and managed a total leased fleet of nearly
1.4 million vehicles to its 300,000 customers. Arval mainly operates in
Europe where it has become the leader in multibrand vehicle leasing
in 2020®). Arval expanded its presence in South America in 2020 with
Colombia, in addition to Peru, Chile and Brazil. Arval relies, in addition, on
strategic partnerships, thanks to the Element-Arval Global Alliance, the
world leader in the sector, with a total of more than 3 million vehicles
in 50 countries.

In October 2020, Arval announced the launch of its strategic plan for
2020-2025 "Arval Beyond”, which aims to position Arval as the leader in
sustainable mobility. Thus, Arval offers vehicle leasing services (financing,
insurance, maintenance, etc.), complementary sustainable mobility
solutions (car-sharing, bike-sharing and scooter-sharing, car-pooling,
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Maas$ (Mobility-as-a-Service) application, bike leasing, etc.), as well
as digital tools for fleet managers and drivers to facilitate their daily
mobility. Arval makes social and environmental responsibility a priority
and supports its customers in their energy transition.

In the context of the health crisis, Arval has mobilized to support its
customers by extending contracts. The company also provided nearly
350 vehicles free of charge to healthcare workers in 12 countries.

BNP PARIBAS LEASING SOLUTIONS

BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions offers corporates and small business
clients leasing and finance solutions for equipment for business use.

As a major player in the usage economy, BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions
provides businesses with the flexibility they need to stay competitive and
to grow both sustainably and responsibly.

With more than 3,300 employees, BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions supports
its customers’ and partners’ growth in 20 countries in Europe, but also
in China, the United States and Canada.

These solutions are offered via three sales channels:

m industrial partners (professional equipment manufacturers,
distributors and software publishers), with finance solutions for their
end customers;

B companies, with leasing and fleet management offers;

m BNP Paribas banking network business customers, by supporting their
investment plans.

BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions finances in particular two main categories
of equipment:

m logistics rolling stock: farm machinery, construction and public works
equipment, light commercial and industrial vehicles;

m technological equipment: IT, office equipment, telecoms, medical and
specialised technologies.

In 2020, BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions financed over 310,000 projects
totalling EUR 12.8 billion. Its total outstandings under management at
the end of December 2020 amounted to EUR 34 billion®.

In 2020, BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions was named “European Lessor of
the Year” by Leasing Life, the leading leasing magazine in Europe.

In the face of the health crisis in 2020, BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions
teams also mobilised to launch solidarity initiatives in conjunction with
local associations to prioritise helping healthcare workers, vulnerable
peaple and young people.

(1) Of which 13.9 billion in outstandings across the 4 Domestic Markets retail networks.

(2) Excluding captive direct generalist banks of automobile manufacturers.
(3) Financial communication of main competitors.
(4) Ranking based on data communicated by the National Stock Exchange in India.

(5) Ranking based on data from modern-banking.at.

BNP PARIBAS PERSONAL INVESTORS

BNP Paribas Personal Investors is a digital banking and investment
services specialist.

It offers a broad range of banking, credit, savings and short- to long-term
investment services to 3.8 million customers, on mobile applications,
online, by phone or face-to-face. It provides decision-making tools, advice
and analyses.

BNP Paribas Personal Investors also provides services and its IT platform
to independent financial advisors, asset managers and fintechs. Services
include market access, transactions, account management and custody
services.

Covering Germany, Austria, and India, BNP Paribas Personal Investors
today has 3,900 employees:

m in Germany, BNP Paribas Personal Investors operates under three
brand names, Consorsbank for individual customers, DAB BNP Paribas
for B2B and BNP Paribas Wealth Management Private Banking for
wealthy customers. Consorsbank is the 4t largest full-service direct
bank in the market® by number of customers and the 2nd largest
online broker by number of orders executed by individuals®. DAB
BNP Paribas is market leader in platforms for financial portfolio
managers. Personal Investors offers its services to nearly 1.7 million
customers in Germany;

m in India, Sharekhan is one of the largest online broker®. Its footprint
extends to 575 towns through a network of 141 branches and over
3,000 franchisees, serving 2.2 million customers;

m in Austria, Hello bank! Austria is the 5th largest online bank in the
Austrian market®. It serves more than 80,000 customers.

In 2020, faced with the health crisis, BNP Paribas Personal Investors was
capable of maintaining service and accessibility for customers without
any restrictions but also able to manage extraordinarily high additional
business, such as an outstanding amount of trades due to highly volatile
markets.

NICKEL

With the acquisition of Compte Nickel in 2017, BNP Paribas responded
to customers' need to pay, and be paid, via a simple and handy digital
service. The 3rd largest distribution network in France with 5,800 partner
buralistes, Nickel is a leader in the neabank market.

Thanks to its digital model and a distribution method not affected by the
lockdown measures, Nickel recorded a record number of new accounts
in October 2020 with 44,000 monthly account openings, thus reaching
nearly 1.9 million accounts opened as at 31 December 2020 since its
launch.

After entering the Spanish market in 2020, Nickel has the ambition, as
part of its strategic plan for 2024 to expand into other European countries.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES

International Financial Services comprises the following activities serving
a broad range of individual, corporate and institutional customers:

m International Retail Banking, which brings together:

= Retail Banking activities in 12 countries outside the eurozone, where
BNP Paribas’ integrated model is deployed to serve individuals,
SMEs, professionals and corporates,

m BNP Paribas Personal Finance is the number one in financing for
individuals in Europe®, with a presence in around thirty countries.
The company offers a complete range of loans available in stores,
car dealerships or directly from customers via its customer relations
centres and on the internet;

m BNP Paribas Cardif, offers savings and protection solutions in
33 countries to insure people, their projects and assets;
m 3 leading specialist businesses in Wealth and Asset Management:
= BNP Paribas Wealth Management: a global benchmark in Private
Banking with close to 6,700 employees, an international presence

particularly in Europe, Asia, and the United States EUR 390 billion
in assets under management,

= BNP Paribas Asset Management: a significant player in asset
management, it has nearly 2,300 employees in 37 countries, with
EUR 483 billion in assets under management,

= BNP Paribas Real Estate Services: a leading provider of real estate
services to corporates in Europe, with over 4,500 employees and
EUR 29 billion in assets under management.

International Financial Services employs more than 75,000 people in
59 countries and enjoys strong positions in the key development regions
for the Group, the Asia-Pacific region and the Americas, where it offers
BNP Paribas’ products and services to customers.

INTERNATIONAL RETAIL BANKING (IRB)

IRB includes Retail Banking for individuals, professionals and corporates
in 12 non-eurozone countries. It is structured around 3 regions:

m the United States;

m Central Europe, Eastern Europe and Turkey (Europe-Mediterranean);
m Africa.

IRB also has a stake in China in Bank of Nanjing.

Founded on solid local knowledge, IRB uses the BNP Paribas universal

integrated model and its varied expertise to offer a wide variety of
financial and non-financial services.

IRB supports its customers sustainably and responsibly across all its
regions, through 3 business lines:

B Retail Banking, whose multichannel and local services (nearly 2,500
branches) serve over 14 million individual customers and SMEs;

m Wealth Management, in conjunction with the corresponding business
line within International Financial Services;

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
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m Corporate Banking, with a network of 77 business centres, 24 trade
centres and 13 desks for multinational companies, providing
local access to BNP Paribas offers and support in all countries, in
cooperation with CIB.

Bank of the West

The Retail Banking business in the United States is conducted through
Bank of the West, headquartered in San Francisco. It operates 555
branches and offices in 20 states (primarily in the western and mid-
western parts of the country), employs over 9,000 staff, and serves nearly
1.8 million customers. With a total balance sheet size of USD 96 billion in
assets and USD 78 billion in deposits at the end of 2020, it has a deposit
market share of 3.2% in the top three states (California, Colorado, and
Oregon) which account for 80% of its deposits.

Bank of the West markets a very broad range of Retail Banking
products and services to individuals, small businesses and corporate
clients. It also has strong positions across the United States in several
specialised financing activities, such as marine, recreational vehicles,
and agribusiness.

It partners with CIB New York as well as with the “One Bank” initiative at
the Group level to help better address client needs and realise revenue
synergies. And it is also working with CIB New York and the US IHC
towards a streamlined operating model for common functions.

Bank of the West is strategically incorporated into the Group's positioning
on sustainability, global reach and diversity. The Bank is developing
an ESG vertical across its lines of business to accelerate sustainable
financing and has committed to USD 1 billion in energy transition
financing over five years.

Bank of the West was one of the first financial institutions to invest
in Grameen America’s Social Business Fund which has raised flexible,
long-term capital to help small businesses including those affected by
the pandemic.

During the pandemic and ensuing economic difficulties, the Bank
responded by safely continuing to operate its physical branch network,
transitioning more than 95% of its non-branch workforce to remote
working, increase it digital capabilities to help customers (particularly
with strengthened fraud alerts and digital appointment booking), and
granting 18,000 loans to small businesses under the US federal assistance
“Paycheck Protection Program”, for nearly USD 3 billion.

Europe Mediterranean

With around 29,700 employees and a network of nearly 2,000 branches,
Europe-Mediterranean (EM) now serves close to 13.4 million customers
across 10 countries. The entity includes the banks TEB in Turkey,
BNP Paribas Bank Polska in Poland, UKRSIBBANK in Ukraine, BMCI in
Marocco, UBCI in Tunisia, BNP Paribas EL Djazair in Algeria, the BICIs
of 4 countries in Sub-Saharan Africa and a partnership in Asia (Bank of

(1) Source: Financial communication from consumer loan players for the period 2020. In terms of revenues from consumer credit business.

(2) Total branches, including those in China, an entity consolidated under the equity method.
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Nanjing in China). These banks are developing an integrated model in
their regions, in close cooperation with the Group's other business lines.

Banks have accelerated their digital transformation through the
development of online service solutions. TEB has been rewarded on
several occasions for its mobile application CEPTETEB ISTE (“CEPTETEB
For Business”), specially designed for SMEs and Corporates. It has
received in particular the “Innovation In Digital Banking 2020" award,
in the Mobile category. BNP Paribas Bank Polska has strengthened the
digitalisation of its offer through its partnership with the start-up "Autenti”
for remote document signatures. It won three Golden Arrow awards for
its marketing strategy and Artificial Intelligence.

The engagement strategy was awarded several times in 2020. BMCI
thus maintains its second position in the VIGEO EIRIS ranking of the
most responsible companies in emerging market countries. Similarly,
BNP Paribas Bank Polska was recognised for its commitment by being
represented on the WIG ESG index of the Warsaw Stock Exchange.

In the context of the health crisis, banks have supported their customers
but also local populations by providing them with access to loan and
overdraft facilities and government funding. In Africa, BICIS has notably
created an innovative financing system to enable women farmers to
access loans on preferential terms.

BNP PARIBAS PERSONAL FINANCE

BNP Paribas Personal Finance (PF) is the BNP Paribas Group's consumer
credit specialist via its consumer loan business activities. As the
leading specialised player in Europe® in consumer credit, BNP Paribas
Personal Finance operates in around thirty countries, with more than
20,000 employees.

Operating under different brands such as Cetelem, Findomestic and
AlphaCredit, BNP Paribas Personal Finance markets a full range of loans
to individuals, available in stores, car dealerships or via its customer
relations centres, websites and mobile applications.

BNP Paribas Personal Finance is also developing an active strategy of
partnerships with retail chains, automotive manufacturers and dealers,
e-commerce merchants and other financial institutions (banking and
insurance), drawing on its experience and its ability to integrate services
tailored to the activity and commercial policy of its partners.

The consumer credit business also operates within the BNP Paribas
Group's Retail Banking network in some non-domestic countries.

From the spring of 2020, in the context of the health crisis, BNP Paribas
Personal Finance sought individual solutions to support customers
economically affected by the crisis while maintaining high-quality
customer service provided by 90% of employees working remotely. For
insured customers, claims processing has been accelerated and coverage
extended.

This support was made possible by the digital transformation initiated in
2016, with a rapid increase in the number of transactions carried out by
customers in self-care, representing 91% of the total in 2020. In addition,

71% of contracts were signed electronically in 2020 and 89% of monthly
statements are digitalised.

In 2020, innovation remained at the heart of its strategic development.
Technologies providing a value-added service such as Artificial
Intelligence (Al) and natural language processing (NLP) are used to offer
customers a distinctive, integrated and harmonious experience.

BNP Paribas Personal Finance's purpose was born in 2020: “Promote
access to more responsible and sustainable consumption to support our
customers and our partners”, demonstrating a willingness for long-term
transformation of the company and its activities and supporting the
BNP Paribas Group’s ambition to become the leader in sustainable finance.

BNP PARIBAS CARDIF

Operating in 33 countries, BNP Paribas Cardif designs, develops and
markets savings and protection offers to insure people, their projects
and their assets.

BNP Paribas Cardif offers savings solutions to build and grow capital
and prepare for the future, in particular through products adapted to
customers' needs and projects.

As the world leader in creditor insurance®, BNP Paribas Cardif also offers
non-Life insurance, health insurance, budget insurance, income protection
and means of payment insurance, protection against unforeseeable
events (unemployment, injury, death), and personal data protection, to
meet consumers’ changing needs.

As a committed player, BNP Paribas Cardif works to have a positive
impact on society and make insurance more accessible. Building on a
unique model, BNP Paribas Cardif co-creates its products and services
with more than 500 partner distributors, be they internal or external to
the BNP Paribas Group. This multi-sector partner network comprises
banks and financial institutions, automotive sector companies, retailers,
telecommunications companies, as well as financial advisors and brokers.

In 2020, in response to the health crisis, the insurer took exceptional
measures to support its customers and partners. BNP Paribas Cardif
simplified the underwriting process for policyholders to make insurance
more accessible by reducing the number of documents requested and
simplifying the medical process. BNP Paribas Cardif has worked with its
partners to take measures in several countries, including the removal of
the pandemic exclusion for private individuals, the extension of coverage
and the increase in the coverage term for policyholders in the event of
unpaid amounts.

Several solidarity actions were carried out to support companies
and people particularly exposed to the health crisis. The insurer has
invested in medium-sized companies, SMEs and the health sector and
has mobilized its initiatives through the BNP Paribas “Emergency and
Development” fund. Volunteering actions were carried out as well as
several donations to support University of Nanterre students and the
teams of two hospitals in the Paris region.

(1) Source: Financial communication published by companies specialised in consumer credit for the 2020 period. In terms of revenues from consumer credit businesses.

(2) Source: Finaccord.
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BNP PARIBAS WEALTH MANAGEMENT

BNP Paribas Wealth Management is developing its Private Banking
model across 18 countries around the world, supporting a client base of
entrepreneurs, family offices and high net worth clients.

With EUR 390 billion in assets under management in 2020, nearly
6,700 employees and thanks to its presence in Europe, Asia, the United
States and the Middle East, BNP Paribas Wealth Management is a leading
global private bank and the leading private bank in the eurozone.

Relying on the BNP Paribas integrated model, BNP Paribas Wealth
Management benefits from the Group’s full range of resources and is
structured to support its customers in different markets. In Europe and
the United States in particular, the development of the Private Banking
business is backed by BNP Paribas’ Retail Banking networks. In Asia, the
private bank is supported by the Bank's historic presence in the market
and by Corporate & Institutional Banking's businesses to meet the most
sophisticated needs.

Well recognized globally in its industry for its experience and know-how,
BNP Paribas Wealth Management offers its clients a wide range
of products and services: wealth management, financial expertise
(financial management, financial investments), tailor-made financing and
specialised expertise (e.g. real estate, vineyards, philanthropy, art) as well
as privileged access to all the BNP Paribas Group’s expertise. BNP Paribas
Wealth Management is thus able to meet the expectations of each client,
both for their current needs and for their most sophisticated projects.

For many years, sustainable investment and responsible innovation
have been at the heart of BNP Paribas Wealth Management's culture.
Launched in 2006 to respond to the emerging incentives of investors
keen to combine financial performance with a social and environmental
dimension, the Responsible Investment offering is based on in-depth
expertise and convictions shared with clients. BNP Paribas Wealth
Management continued to deploy responsible investment, in particular
by extending its offer of sustainable products and services to all its assets
classes. In 2020, all these responsible assets accounted for 1/3 of the
assets invested in the business. Thanks to the digital educational path
mylmpact, clients today have the opportunity to define their priorities in
terms of sustainability and philanthropy. The year 2020 was marked by
the launch of the new sustainability rating, “Trefle methodology”, which
enables clients to identify and select sustainable investments that meet
their search for positive impact.

With a constant focus on innovation, BNP Paribas Wealth Management's
range of digital solutions continues to expand to offer a personalised
client experience. Accelerated by the health crisis, digital uses have
enabled BNP Paribas Wealth Management teams to remain as close as

(1) Private Banker International.

(2) PWM/The Banker.

(3) World Finance.

(4) Wealthbriefing.

(5) Euromoney Private Banking and Wealth Management Survey.
(6) The Asset Triple A.

(7) MEA Finance Awards.

(8) The Digital Banker.

(9) Source: IPE Top 500 2020.
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possible to customers during this unprecedented period by ensuring the
best quality of service. Discussions took the form of virtual conferences,
podcasts or articles on the web and on social networks.

BNP Paribas Wealth Management was recognised in 2020 as:

| Best private bank in Europe® for the ninth consecutive year, ranked as
No. 1 in France for the eighth time in nine years®, No. 1 in Belgium®,
No. 1 in Italy for the sixth consecutive year® as well as No. 1 in
Poland®, in Monaco®, and in Turkey®;

Best private bank in Hong Kong®;

Best private bank in the Middle East?” and in the United Arab Emirates;
Best private bank for ultra high net warth clients globally®;

Best private bank in philanthropic consulting®;

Best bank for robo advisory globally®;

Best digital innovation for clients globally®;

Best global growth strategy®.

BNP PARIBAS ASSET MANAGEMENT

BNP Paribas Asset Management is the BNP Paribas Group's dedicated
asset management business and has nearly 2,300 peaple in 37 countries
with a large presence in Europe and the Asia-Pacific region. Through the
BNP Paribas integrated model, it has access to a broad international
client base and has close relationships with BNP Paribas’ distribution
networks. Ranked the 10th largest asset manager in Europe®, the
company managed assets totalling EUR 483 billion as at 31 December
2020 and has 500 investment professionals.

BNP Paribas Asset Management offers investment solutions for both
individual investors (through internal distributors - BNP Paribas Private
Banking and Retail Banking - and external distributors), corporate and
institutional investors (insurance companies, pension funds, official
institutions and consultants). It offers them a range of management
expertise in line with their long-term sustainable performance
expectations, including: active, conviction-based strategies, emerging
markets, multi-asset investments, private debt and liquidity solutions.

BNP Paribas Asset Management's priority is to achieve long-term
sustainable investment returns for its clients by placing sustainability at
the heart of its strategy and investment decision-making. As such, and as
part of its Global Sustainability Strategy, BNP Paribas Asset Management
has upgraded its flagship range of active funds to a 100% sustainable
offering, involving a rigorous process of integrating ESG criteria into all
its funds.

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS
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A study conducted in June 2020 by BNP Paribas Asset Management, in
collaboration with Greenwich Associates®, highlighted investors’ desire
for greater awareness of social considerations in investment decision-
making as a result of the pandemic. This trend confirms BNP Paribas
Asset Management's convictions and choices in terms of sustainable
investment.

In 2020, BNP Paribas Asset Management continued to strengthen its
position as a leader in Socially Responsible Investment. With 52 SRI-
certified funds® representing more than EUR 46 billion in assets, it is the
market leader in France®. It is also the leader in Belgium for Febelfin-
certified funds®.

It won the ESG Asset Management Company of the Year award in Asia-
Pacific for a second successive year, strengthening its leading position
in sustainable investment.

The company also uses its ability to influence companies and governments
to promote a low-carbon ecanomy that is environmentally friendly and
accessible to all, thus ensuring long-term sustainable returns for its
clients’ investments. It was recognized by InfluenceMap as a leader in
Sustainable Finance Policy Engagement®.

BNP PARIBAS REAL ESTATE SERVICES

With its extensive range of services, BNP Paribas Real Estate Services can
support its customers across all stages of the property life cycle, from
building design to everyday management:

m Property Development - construction begun on 2,086 housing units
in France in 2020 and 156,000 m? of offices in France and Madrid
(leading French Business Property Developer - 32nd edition of the
Innovapresse ranking);

B Advisory (Transaction, Consulting, Expertise) - 4.3 million m? invested
(2,763 transactions) and EUR 21.9 billion of investments supported
in 2020;

m Investment Management - EUR 29 billion in assets under management
in Europe, mainly in France, Germany and ltaly;

CORPORATE & INSTITUTIONAL BANKING

With close to 34,000 people in 56 countries, BNP Paribas CIB serves
to two types of clients - corporate and institutional (banks, insurance
companies, asset managers, etc.) - tailored solutions in capital markets,
securities services, financing, risk management, cash management and
financial advice.

Acting as a bridge between corporate and institutional clients, it aims at
connecting the financing needs from corporate clients with institutional
clients seeking investment opportunities. In 2020, 31% of BNP Paribas’
revenues from operating divisions were generated by BNP Paribas CIB.

B Property Management - 44.3 million m? of commercial real estate
managed in Europe.

This multi-sector offering covers all asset classes: offices, homes,
warehouses, logistics platforms, retail, hotels, serviced residences, land,
etc.

With over 4,500 employees, the Group can offer a wide array of services,
based on the needs of clients, whether they are institutional investors,
owners, corporates (SMEs, large corporate groups), public entities, local
authorities or individuals.

With its geographic network in 14 countries on the continent, BNP Paribas
Real Estate is one of the European leaders in commercial real estate.
Its major markets are France, Germany and the United Kingdom. The
company also has platforms in Hong Kong, Dubai and Singapore, as well
as a network of business alliances with local partners in some fifteen
other countries.

In residential development, BNP Paribas Real Estate Services operates for
the most part in France's major cities, but has also developed projects
in London, Milan and Rome.

Faced with the health crisis, BNP Paribas Real Estate Services' business
lines have mobilised to support clients in managing many issues.

In the development of offices and housing units, BNP Paribas Real Estate
has mabilised so that 100% of the 58 construction sites could be restarted
by the end of May in compliance with all health regulations.

In housing development, five major innovations were developed to offer
“post-Covid" housing: accessible and shared outdoor spaces, development
of contactless, customised and modular housing, WiFi for all and home
office package.

The company also made a commitment to caregivers by donating
protective coveralls to the Saint-Louis hospital, providing financial support
to the #ProtegeTonSoignant collective, and paying for 1,470 overnight
stays (alongside the company Sucres et Denrées) to accommodate
caregivers from all over France in support of the Pitié-Salpétriére hospital.

CIB's streamlined and efficient structure is designed to meet the needs
of BNP Paribas’ corporate and institutional clients. CIB is thus organised
around three main businesses:

m Corporate Banking, with its own organisation in each region;
m Global Markets, grouping together all capital market activities; and
| Securities Services.

(1) Study carried out on behalf of BNP Paribas Asset Management by Greenwich Associates: 129 professionals, including 96 institutional investors and 33 leading distributors in the
United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands and the Nordic countries were interviewed in June 2020.

(2) SRI: Socially Responsible Investment.

(3) Source: lelabelisrfr, Morningstar.

(4) Source: Towardssustainability.be, Morningstar.
(5) Source: InfluenceMap Report 2020.
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The regional approach is present in three main regions:
m EMEA (Europe, Middle East, Africa);

B Americas;

B APAC (Asia Pacific).

In the context of the health crisis, CIB's platforms raised EUR 396 billion
in financing for its clients in the syndicated loan, bond and equity markets
worldwide in 2020, thanks to the mobilisation of its teams, particularly
in Europe.

2020 Awards

m World's Best Bank for Corporates (Euromoney Global Awards 2020);

m Western Europe’s Best Investment Bank and Best Bank for Financing
(Euromoney Awards 2020);

m Investment Bank of the Year for Sustainability-linked Loans and IPOs
(The Banker Awards 2020);

m Best Bank for Corporate Bond Funding Advice and Support During
Covid-19 Pandemic and Best Bank for Funding Advice and Support
to Financial Institutions During Covid-19 Pandemic (Global Capital
Awards 2020);

B Interest Rate Derivatives House of the Year (Global Capital Awards 2020);
m Sustainable Finance House of the Year (FinanceAsia Awards 2020).

CORPORATE BANKING

Corporate Banking offers a full range of products and services to
BNP Paribas’ Corporate clients globally, including:

m debt financing solutions (traditional loans and specialised financing,
including export, project, acquisition and leveraged finance);

m mergers and acquisitions (advisory mandates for acquisitions or
disposals, strategic financial advice, privatisation advice, etc.);

W primary activity on the equity markets (IPOs, capital increases,
convertible and exchangeable bond issues, etc.);

W transaction banking solutions (liquidity management, cash
management, deposit collection, trade finance and supply chain
management).

To better anticipate their needs, the teams are structured by geographic
area, thereby combining global expertise and local knowledge. In addition,
tasked with developing and managing long-term client relationships, the
Corporate Coverage teams provide access to the BNP Paribas’ global
product offerings and extensive international network.

Thanks to this set-up and the strong coordination between the regions,
any client entering a business centre (One Bank) can have access to a
global Corporate Banking platform and can benefit from the expertise of
all other business centres for its activities.

In EMEA, Corporate Banking activities have a geographic presence in
34 countries. This set-up reinforces the One Bank for Corporates approach
developed in close cooperation with the Group’s four domestic markets
and included a network of 69 trade centres in 2020. Global Banking
EMEA now combines financing activities (debt and equity), securitisation,
syndication and distribution of CIB on the Capital Markets platform, a
joint venture with Global Markets, with M&A capabilities and industry
expertise.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
Presentation of operating divisions and business lines

In Asia Pacific, Corporate Banking and Advisory activities encompass
the full suite of M&A advisory services, financing, capital raising (debt
and equity capital markets), transaction banking (cash management,
international trade, deposit taking) as well as related risk hedging
services in conjunction with Global Markets. Corporate Banking offers
clients comprehensive and integrated end-to-end banking facilities in
major currencies as well as local currencies through the intermediary
of branches or subsidiaries in twelve different markets.

In the Americas region, the Global Banking platform is comprised of three
product areas to support the Bank's corporate and institutional clients.
Global Credit Markets integrates all primary origination, financing and
syndication, structuring, secondary sales, trading and research activities
accross credit products on one platform - bridging Global Banking with
Global Markets. Its core sub-businesses are Asset Finance, High Grade
Finance and Leveraged Finance. Trade & Treasury Solutions provides
trade, working capital and Liquidity solutions to the Bank's corporate
and institutional clients. Investment Banking provides M&A capabilities
as well as strategic advice for key clients and also covers several sectors.
Global Banking Americas has a multi-local presence in the United States,
Canada and in six countries across LatAm.

2020 Awards

m Western Europe’s Best Investment Bank and Western Europe’s Best
Bank for Financing (Euromoney 2020);

m Most Impressive Bank for Corporate Bonds (Glabal Capital Awards 2020);

B Lead Manager of the Year for Corporate Green Bonds (Environmental
Finance Awards 2020);

B Best Transaction Bank, Best ESG Transaction Bank and Best Supply
Chain Finance Bank (The Asset Asia Awards 2020).

2020 Rankings
m No. 1 European bank & No. 4 Investment Bank in EMEA in revenue
(Dealogic, 2020);

m No. 1 EMEA Syndicated Loan Bookrunner by volume, number of deals,
and revenue (Dealogic, 2020);

m No. 1 DCM Investment Grade Corporate bonds in revenue (Dealogic
9M 2020);

m No. 1 European Large Corporate Trade Finance and Quality leader
(Greenwich Share Leaders 2020);

m No. 3 EMEA Equity-Linked by volume and number of transactions
(Dealogic, 2020);

m No. 2 Global Green Bonds (Bloomberg, November 2020);
m No. 1 Arranger of Global Sustainability-Linked Loans (Bloomberg, 2020);

m No. 1 Underwriter of Global Pandemic Corporate and Government
Bonds (Bloomberg, 2020);

m No. 1 Cash Management and Corporate Banking by market penetration
for large European Corporate (Greenwich Share Leaders, March 2020);

B Exane BNP Paribas: No. 1 Equity Sector Research (4th consecutive
year), No. 1 Developed Europe Research, No. 1 Equity Sales, No. 1
Specialist Sales (institutional investor ex- Extel survey, August 2020).
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GLOBAL MARKETS

Global Markets (GM) serves a wide range of corporate customers
(companies, institutions, private banks, distributors, etc.) with investment,
hedging, financing, research and market intelligence products and
services across all asset classes.

Global Markets is an industry leader, with significant market shares
on global stock markets, and regularly ranked as one of the leading
providers, Global Markets’ aim is to offer a wide range of financial
products and services in the equity, interest rate, foreign exchange, local
and credit markets. With over 3,200 employees, Global Markets has
global coverage, operating in a number of large-scale business centres,
in particular, London, Paris, Brussels, New York, Hong Kong, Singapare
and Tokyo.

The business comprises 5 global business lines, with 2 core activities:

| Fixed Income, Currencies & Commodities:
= foreign exchange and Local Markets & Commodity Derivatives,
= G10 Rates,
= Primary & Credit Markets;
| Equity & Prime Services:
= Equity Derivatives,
= Prime Solutions & Financing (brokerage and financing solutions).

Global Markets Sustainable Finance aims to facilitate the emergence of a
carbon neutral economy and a socially responsible world, innovating new
ways to help our clients integrate ESG into all their markets activities,
and scaling up sustainable finance markets solutions.

In 2020, BNP Paribas was joint-lead manager for a total of USD 17.6 billion
in sustainable bonds (“Pandemic bonds") issued by various issuers in
response to the Covid-19 crisis. Beyond its standing in primary markets,
solid positions in secondary markets and as market makers, BNP Paribas
Global Markets played a critical role in facilitating these issuances.

2020 Awards
m Investment Bank of the Year for Social Bonds and for Sustainable FIG
Financing (The Banker Investment Banking Awards 2020);

m Americas Interest Rate Derivatives House of the Year (Global Capital
Derivatives Awards 2020);

m Currency Derivatives House of the Year (Risk Awards 2020);
m Commodity Derivatives House of the Year (EnergyRisk Asia Awards 2020);

B ABS Bank of the Year (Global Capital European Securitisation Awards
2020);

| Best FX Prime Broker (FX Markets e-FX Awards 2020);

m Most Impressive Bank for Corporate Bonds, African Bonds, CEE Bonds

(Global Capital Bond Awards 2020);

m Most Impressive SSA House, FIG House and Corporate Bond House in
Euros (Global Capital Bond Awards 2020).

2020 Rankings

m No. 1 DCM all euro-denominated bonds by amount, number of
transactions and revenues (Dealogic, 2020);

m Forex: Top 3 in terms of volumes®;

m Rates: Top 3 for interest rate swaps in euros, Top 3 for euro-
denominated government bonds®;

m Credit: Top 3 for Euro bonds®,
m Equity derivatives: No. 1 for listed warrants and certificates in Europe®.

BNP PARIBAS SECURITIES SERVICES

BNP Paribas Securities Services is one of the major global players
in securities services with assets under custody up 4.2% on 2019
to EUR 10,980 billion and assets under administration up 5.8% to
EUR 2,658 billion.

Securities Services offers solutions to all participants across the
investment cycle:

B investment banks, broker-dealers, banks and market infrastructures
(sell-side operators) are offered solutions in execution services,
derivatives clearing local and global clearing, settlement and custody
for all asset classes worldwide. Outsourcing solutions for middle and
back-office activities are also provided;

m institutional investors - asset managers, hedge funds, private equity
funds, real estate and sovereign wealth funds, insurance companies,
pension funds, fund distributors and promoters (buy-side operators)
- enjoy a wide range of services: global custody, custodian and
fiduciary services, transfer agent and fund distribution support,
fund administration and middle-office outsourcing, investment, risk
assessment and performance reporting;

W issuers (originators, arrangers and corporates) have access to a wide
range of fiduciary management services: securitisation and structured
finance services, debt agency services, issuer advisory, stock-option
plans and employee shareholding management, shareholder services
and management of Shareholders’ Meetings;

m market and financing services are offered to all operators: securities
lending and borrowing, foreign exchange, credit and collateral
management, triparty collateral management, trading service and
financing.

(1) Average rankings on the main platforms; source: Forex: FX All, 360T and Bloomberg, Rates: Bloomberg and Tradeweb, Credit: Bloomberg, Tradeweb and MarketAxess.
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During the health crisis, Securities Services' global operating model
enabled the bank to manage high volumes at a time of high market
volatility. To help alleviate the impact of the pandemic on the economy
and society, Securities Services provided services for the issuance of a
number of social and Covid-19 response bonds, as well as for the creation
of several solidarity funds across markets and jurisdictions (including
Bpifrance’s Lac 1 fund in France, Fondo Italiano d'Investimento’s minority
growth fund in Italy, MAPFRE's Compromiso Sanitario Fondo fund and
Mutuactivos’ social fund in Spain).

CORPORATE CENTRE

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS

Principal Investments manages the Group's portfolio of unlisted and
listed industrial and commercial investments with a view to supporting
clients and extracting value over the medium- and long-term.

The Private Equity Management unit specialises in providing support
for transmission and development projects of unlisted companies by
taking minority equity stakes or through private debt financings. It
recently opened this strategy to the Bank's clients with the launch of
the BNP Paribas Agility Capital fund.

It also provides indirect financing support for the economy through
private equity funds.

The Listed Investment Management unit acquires and manages minority
interests in predominantly French listed companies.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
Presentation of operating divisions and business lines

2020 Awards

m 3awards including Multi-Market Excellence - Western Europe (Global
Custodian Leaders in Custody Awards 2020);,

m Custodian of the Year, Clearing Bank of the Year (Asia Risk Awards 2020);

m European Alternative Administrator of the Year (Funds Europe Awards 2020);

B Best Bank for Cross Border Custody (Asian Investor Asset Management
Awards 2020);

B 7 awards including Best Subcustodian - Broker-Dealers (The Asset
Triple A Sustainable Investing Awards for Institutional Investor, ETF,
and Asset Servicing Providers 2020).

As part of the commitment made by BNP Paribas at the COP 21 to support
the financing of the energy transition, a budget of EUR 100 million by 2020
was decided by the Group at the end of 2015. The mission of Principal
Investments was then extended to the management of this budget,
ie. creating and managing a portfolio of minority stakes in innovative
companies (start-ups) linked to the energy transition.

PERSONAL FINANCE’'S MORTGAGE
BUSINESS
Inthe context of the Group's 2014-2016 business development plan, Personal

Finance's Mortgage Business, a significant portion of which is managed in
run-off, was allocated to the Corporate Centre as at 1 January 2014.
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1.5 BNP Paribas and its shareholders

SHARE CAPITAL

At 31 December 2019, BNP Paribas SA's share capital stood at
EUR 2,499,597,122 divided into 1,249,798,561 shares. Details of historical
change in share capital are provided in chapter 6, note 6a Changes in
share capital.

No transactions affecting the share capital took place in 2020 and
S0, as at 31 December 2020, BNP Paribas share capital still stood at

CHANGES IN SHARE OWNERSHIP

EUR 2,499,597,122, divided into 1,249,798,561 shares with a par value
of EUR 2 each.

The shares are all fully paid-up and are held in registered or bearer form
at the choice of their holders, subject to compliance with the relevant
legal provisions. None of the Bank's shares entitles their holders to
an increased dividend or double voting rights or limit the exercise of
voting rights.

» CHANGES IN THE BANK'S OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE OVER THE LAST THREE YEARS

bates | aeewe| wpewe| s

Number % of Number %of | Number of % of

of shares (% of share voting | ofshares % of share voting shares (% of share voting

Shareholders (in millions) capital rights | (in millions) capital rights | (in millions) capital rights
SFPI® 96.55@ 7.7% 7.7% 96.55@ 7.7% 7.7% 96.55@ 7.7% 7.7%
BlackRock Inc. 63.22) 5.1% 5.1% 62.76" 5.0% 5.0% 74.780 6.0% 6.0%
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg 12.87 1.0% 1.0% 12.87 1.0% 1.0% 12.87 1.0% 1.0%
Employees 51.58 4.1% 4.1% 52.36 4.2% 4.2% 54.91 4.4% 4.4%
m of which Group FCPE® 37.78 3.0% 3.0% 39.17 3.1% 3.1% 4141 3.3% 3.3%

m of which direct ownership 13.80 1.1% 1.1% 13.19 1.1%0 1.1%" 13.50 1.16 1169
Corporate officers 0.19 NS NS 0.20 NS NS 0.25 NS NS
Treasury shares® 116 0.1% - 1.16 0.1% - 1.26 0.1% =
Retail shareholders 4870 3.9% 3.9% 4350 3.5% 3.5% 52.08 4.2% 4.2%
Institutional investors 957.26 76.6% 76.7% 961.10 76.9% 77% 918.45 73.5% 73.6%
m European 559.04 44.7% 44.8% 572.42 45.8% 45.9% 543.17 43.5% 43.5%

m Non-European 398.22 31.9% 31.9% 388.68 31.1% 31.1% 375.28 30.0% 30.1%
Other and unidentified 18.27 1.5% 1.5% 19.30 1.6% 1.6% 38.65 3.1% 3.1%
TOTAL 1,249.8 100% 100% 1,249.8 100% 100% 1,249.80 100% 100%

(1) Société de Participations et d'Investissement: a public-interest limited company (société anonyme) acting on behalf of the Belgian government.
(2) According to the statement by SFPI, AMF Document No. 217C1156 dated 6 June 2017.

(3) According to the statement by BlackRock, AMF Document No. 217C0939 dated 9 May 2017.

(4)  According to the statement by BlackRock, AMF Document No. 219C0988 dated 19 June 2019.

(5) According to the statement by BlackRock dated 4 January 2021.

(6) The voting rights of the FCPE (profit-sharing scheme) are exercised, after the decision taken by the Supervisory Board, by its Chairman.

(7)  Excluding trading desks’ inventory positions.

(*)  Of which 0.5% for the shares referred to in article L.225-102 of the French Commercial Code to determine the threshold above which the appointment

of a Director representing employee shareholders must be proposed.

(**) Of which 0.5% for the shares referred to in article L.225-102 of the French Commercial Code to determine the threshold above which the appointment

of a Director representing employee shareholders must be proposed.
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> BNP PARIBAS SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE AT
31 DECEMBER 2020 (IN % OF VOTING RIGHTS)
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To the best of the Company's knowledge, no shareholder, other than
SFPI (Société Fédérale de Participations et d'investissements) and
BlackRack Inc., held mare than 5% of the share capital or voting rights
at 31 December 2020.

SFPI became a shareholder in BNP Paribas at the time of the merger
with the Fortis group completed in 2009. During 2009, SFPI made two
threshold crossing disclosures to the French Financial Markets Autharity
(AMF):

m on 19 May 2009 (AMF disclosure No. 209C0702), SFPI disclosed that its
interest in BNP Paribas’ capital and voting rights had risen above the 5%
and 10% disclosure thresholds following its transfer of a 74.94% stake
in Fortis Bank SA/NV in return for 121,218,054 BNP Paribas shares,
which at the time represented 9.83% of BNP Paribas’ share capital
and 11.59% of its voting rights. The disclosure stated in particular
that neither the Belgian government nor SFPI were considering taking
control of BNP Paribas.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
BNP Paribas and its shareholders

At the same time, BNP Paribas notified the AMF (AMF disclosure
No. 209C0724) that an agreement had been reached between the
Belgian government, SFPI and Fortis SA/NV (renamed Ageas SA/NV at
end-April 2010), giving Fortis SA/NV an option to buy the 121,218,054
BNP Paribas shares issued as consideration for SFPI's transfer of its
shares in Fortis Bank, with BNP Paribas having a right of subrogation
regarding the shares concerned;

m on 4 December 2009 (AMF disclosure No. 209C1459), SFPI disclosed
that it owned 10.8% of BNP Paribas' share capital and voting rights.
This change resulted mainly from:

= BNP Paribas’ capital increase through the issuance of ordinary
shares in 2009,

= the capital reduction through the cancellation, on 26 November
2009, of preferred shares issued on 31 March 2009 to Société de
Prise de Participation de |'Etat.

On 27 April 2013, the Belgian government announced the buy-back via
SFPI of the purchase option that had been granted to Ageas.

On 6 June 2017 (AMF disclosure No. 217C1156), SFPI disclosed that it
owned 7.74% of the share capital and voting rights of BNP Paribas; this
drop below the 10% capital and voting rights thresholds resulted from
the sale of shares on the market.

Since then, BNP Paribas has received no threshold crossing disclosures
from SFPI.

0n 9 May 2017 (AMF disclosure No. 217C0939), BlackRock Inc. disclosed
that its interest in BNP Paribas’ capital and voting rights had risen, as at
8 May 2017 above the 5% disclosure thresholds. On this date, BlackRock
held 63,223,149 BNP Paribas shares on behalf of its clients and the
funds it manages.

On 18 June 2019 (AMF document No. 219C0988 dated 19 June),
BlackRock Inc. stated that it held 62,764,366 BNP Paribas shares. Since
that date, BlackRock Inc. has disclosed statutory threshold crossings
without crossing legal thresholds.
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LISTING INFORMATION

When the shareholders of BNP and Paribas approved the merger
between the two banks at the Combined General Meeting of 23 May
2000, BNP shares became BNP Paribas shares. The Euroclear-France
code for BNP Paribas is the same as the previous BNP code (13110).
Since 30 June 2003, BNP Paribas shares have been registered under
ISIN code FRO000131104. To help increase the number of shares held by
retail shareholders, BNP Paribas carried out a two-for-one share split on
20 February 2002, reducing the par value of the shares to EUR 2.

BNP shares were first listed on the Cash Settlement Market of the Paris
Stock Exchange on 18 October 1993, following privatisation, before
being transferred to the Monthly Settlement Market on 25 October of
that year. When the monthly settlement system was discontinued on
25 September 2000, BNP Paribas shares became eligible for Euronext's
Deferred Settlement Service (SRD).

The share has been traded in London on the LSE Composite OTC, on
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and in Milan on the Global Equity Market
since 24 July 2006. Since privatisation, a Level 1 144A ADR (American

Depositary Receipt) programme has been active in the United States,
where JP Morgan Chase is the depositary bank (2 ADRs correspond to 1
BNP Paribas share).

The ADRs have been traded on OTCQX International Premier since 14 July
2010 in order to provide better liquidity and visibility to US investors.

BNP Paribas has been part of the CAC 40 index since 17 November 1993
and became part of the EURO STOXX 50 index on 1 November 1999. Since
18 September 2000, it has been part of the STOXX 50 index. BNP Paribas
also joined the DJ Banks Titans 30 Index, an index comprising the 30
largest banks worldwide. It is also included in the EURO STOXX Banks
and STOXX Banks indices. BNP Paribas shares are also included in the
main sustainable development benchmarks (see chapter 7), including
Euronext Vigeo Eiris, FTSE4Good Index Series, Dow Jones Sustainability
World & Europe Indices and Stoxx Global ESG Leaders index.

All of these elements foster liquidity and share price appreciation, as the
BNP Paribas share is necessarily a component of every portfolio and fund
that tracks the performance of these indexes.

> BNP PARIBAS SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE BETWEEN 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 31 DECEMBER 2020

Comparison with the EURO STOXX Banks, STOXX Banks and CAC 40 indexes (rebased on share price)
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Source: Bloomberg.

In the three-year period from 29 December 2017 to 31 December 2020,
BNP Paribas’ share price fell 30.8% from EUR 62.25 to EUR 43.105,
outperforming other eurozone banks (Euro Stoxx Banks: -43.5%), European
banks (Stoxx Banks: -41.2%), but significantly under performing the
CAC 40 (+4.5%).

In the last year, since early 2020, BNP Paribas' share price fell 18.4% from
EUR 52.83 to EUR 43.105, outperforming not only other eurozane banks
(-23.7%) and European banks (-24.5%) but underperforming the CAC 40
(-7.1%). During this period, European banking stocks were impacted by
the effects of the Covid-19 health crisis and by the European Central
Bank's recommendation to suspend dividend payments.
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> BNP PARIBAS MONTHLY AVERAGES AND HIGH AND LOW MONTHLY CLOSING PRICES SINCE JANUARY 2019
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Source : Bloomberg

B At 31 December 2020, BNP Paribas’ market capitalisation was EUR 53.9 billion, ranking it 11th among CAC 40 stocks; BNP Paribas’ free float also put
the bank in 8th place on the Paris market index and in 18th place in the EURO STOXX 50 index.

m Daily trading volume on Euronext Paris averaged 5,607,809 shares in 2020, up 24.83% from the previous year (4,492,458 shares per trading session

in 2019). Including the volumes traded on multilateral trading facilities (MTFs), daily trading volume in 2020 averaged 9,585,550 shares, up 24.39%
from 2019 (7,705,820 shares traded daily).

» TRADING VOLUME ON EURONEXT PARIS IN 2020 (DAILY AVERAGE)
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Source: Euronext.
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> TOTAL TRADING VOLUME ON EURONEXT AND MTFS IN 2020 (DAILY AVERAGE)
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Source: Bloomberg Composite EU Quote BNPP.

SHAREHOLDER DASHBOARD

i I ™ N I ™

Earnings per share® 6.00 6.05 573 6.21 531
Net book value per share® 7390 75.1 74.7%) 79.0 82.3
Net dividend per share 2.70 3.02 3.02 0.0 111®
Pay-out ratio (%)® 450 50.0 52.72 0.0® 20.9%
Share price

Highest® 62.00 68.89 68.66 53.81 54.22
Lowest® 35.27 54.68 38.18 38.14 24.51
Year-end 60.55 62.25 39.475 52.83 43.105
CAC 40 index on 31 December 4,862.31 5,312.56 4,730.69 5,978.06 5,551.41

(1) Based on the average number of shares outstanding during the fiscal year.

(2)  Before distribution. Revaluated net book value based on the number of shares outstanding at year-end.

(3) Following ECB/2020/19 recommendation of the European Central Bank of 27 March 2020 on dividend distribution policies during the Covid-19 pandemic,
the distribution of EUR 3.10 per share initially proposed to the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020, was appropriated to “Other reserves”.

(4)  Subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021, taking into account only the distribution of the 2020 dividend.

(5)  Dividend distribution recommended at the Annual General Meeting expressed as a percentage of net income attributable to shareholders.

(6) Recorded during the meeting.

(*)  Impact of the first-time application of IFRS 9 on shareholders’ equity at 1 January 2018: - EUR 2.5 billion, i.e. EUR 2 per share.
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CREATING VALUE FOR SHAREHOLDERS

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN (TSR) W Returns stated are gross, i.e. before any tax payments or brokerage
fees.
Calculation parameters

Calculation results
m Dividends are reinvested in BNP shares then in BNP Paribas shares;

50% tax credit was included until this system was abolished at the The following table indicates, for various periods ending on 31 December
beginning of 2005. 2020, the total return on a BNP share, then on a BNP Paribas share, as

well as the effective annual rate of return.

B Exercise of preferential subscription rights during the rights issues of
March 2006 and October 2009.

Share price at the Number of shares Initial

investment date at the end of the investment Effective annual

Holding period Investment date (in EUR) calculation period multiplied by rate of return
Since privatisation of BNP 18/10/1993 36.59 5.6770 6.6878 7.23%
27 years 03/01/1994 4331 5.1695 5.1450 6.25%
26 years 03/01/1995 37.20 5.0753 5.8809 7.05%
25 years 02/01/1996 33.57 49695 6.3810 7.69%
24 years 02/01/1997 30.40 4.8249 6.8414 8.34%
23 years 02/01/1998 48.86 4.6747 41241 6.35%
22 years 04/01/1999 73.05 4.5782 2.7015 4.62%
Since the creation of BNP Paribas 01/09/1999 72.70 4.4542 2.6410 4.65%
21 years 03/01/2000 92.00 4.4542 2.0870 3.56%
20 years 02/01/2001 94.50 4.3332 1.9765 3.46%
19 years 02/01/2002 100.4 41924 1.7999 3.14%
18 years 02/01/2003 39.41 2.0287 2.2189 4.53%
17 years 02/01/2004 49.70 1.9512 1.6923 3.14%
16 years 03/01/2005 53.40 1.8706 1.5100 2.61%
15 years 02/01/2006 68.45 1.8044 1.1363 0.85%
14 years 02/01/2007 83.50 1.7289 0.8925 -0.81%
13 years 02/01/2008 74.06 1.6708 0.9725 -0.21%
12 years 02/01/2009 30.50 1.5898 2.2468 6.98%
11 years 02/01/2010 56.11 1.5130 1.1624 1.38%
10 years 03/01/2011 48.30 1.4689 1.3109 2.74%
9 years 02/01/2012 30.45 14125 1.9995 8.00%
8 years 02/01/2013 4393 1.3537 1.3283 3.61%
7 years 02/01/2014 56.70 1.3095 0.9955 -0.06%
6 years 02/01/2015 49.43 1.2731 1.1102 1.76%
5 years 04/01/2016 51.75 1.2400 1.0329 0.67%
4 years 02/01/2017 60.12 1.1816 0.8472 -4.06%
3 years 02/01/2018 62.68 1.1337 0.7796 -7.97%
2 years 02/01/2019 38.73 1.0744 1.1957 9.36%
1 year 02/01/2020 53.20 1.0000 0.8102 -19.02%
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

BNP Paribas endeavours to provide all shareholders with clear, consistent,
high-quality information at regular intervals, in accordance with best
market practice and the recommendations of stock market authorities.

The Investor Relations team informs institutional investors and financial
analysts about the Group's strategy, major events concerning the Group's
business and the Group's quarterly results.

In 2021, the timetable is as follows®:

m 5 February 2021: publication of 2020 full year results;
m 30 April 2021: publication of the first quarter 2021 results;
m 30]July 2021: publication of second quarter and first half 2021 results;

B 29 October 2021: publication of the third quarter and the first nine
months of 2021 results.

Informative briefings are organised several times a year for all market
participants, in particular when the annual and half-year results are
released, or on specific topics, providing senior management with an
opportunity to present the BNP Paribas Group and its strategy. More
specifically, an Investor Relations Officer is responsible for liaising with
managers of ethical and socially responsible funds.

The Shareholder Relations team provides information and deals with
queries from the Bank's 345,000 retail shareholders (internal sources
and TPI Survey at 31 December 2020). Twice a year, shareholders receive
a financial newsletter outlining the Group’s main developments, and the
minutes of the Annual General Meeting are sent in early July. During the
year, shareholders are invited to meetings in various French cities where
the Company's achievements and strategy are presented by Executive
Management.

The members of the Cercle des actionnaires de BNP Paribas (BNP Paribas
Shareholders’ Group), set up in 1995, are the 43,200 retail shareholders
holding at least 200 shares. They receive the financial newsletters
each half-year and the minutes of the Annual General Meeting. They
are also sent two printed editions of the magazine, La Vie du Cercle, in
addition to two emails outlining forthcoming events. They are invited
to attend artistic, sporting and cultural events with which BNP Paribas
is associated, as well as online training sessions. These include share
trading (technical and financial analysis, portfolio diversification etc.), and
economic updates sessions in partnership with the relevant BNP Paribas
teams. In 2020, due to the health crisis, the Cercle expanded its range
of regular newsletters with articles on the history of BNP Paribas,

(1) Subject to change at a later date.

cinema, tennis, etc. and launched the Cercle’s podcasts, interviews with
historians, speakers, artists, etc.

To facilitate access these services, a website dedicated to the Cercle
des Actionnaires (www.cercle-actionnaires.bnpparibas) features all the
available products and services. Each Cercle member has a personal
and secure access to the site which can be used to manage their event
registrations and retrieve their invitations. A freephone number has also
been made available, 0800 666 777; it provides the market price and
allows members to leave a voice message for the Cercle team. Messages
can also be sent by email to cercle.actionnaires@bnpparibas.com.

The BNP Paribas website (https:/invest.bnpparibas.com/en), available
in French and English, offers users access to all information on the
BNP Paribas Group (including press releases, key figures, coverage of
the main events, etc.). All documents such as Integrated Reports and
Registration documents, or Universal registration documents, can also
be viewed and downloaded. The financial calendar gives the dates of
important forthcoming events, such as the Annual General Meeting,
results announcements and shareholder seminars. The website also
features the latest share performance data and comparisons with major
indexes, as well as a tool for calculating returns.

Reports and presentations relating to BNP Paribas’ business and strategy
aimed at all audiences (institutional investors, asset managers and
financial analysts) are also available. The “Individual Shareholder”
section shows information and features specifically designed for retail
shareholders, in particular, access to information such as proposed
events.

A section dedicated to Social and Environmental Responsibility describes
the Bank's goals, the policy that it follows and its main achievements
in this area.

In addition, there is a specific section dedicated to the Annual General
Meeting which includes information regarding attendance at the meeting,
ways to vote and practical matters, as well as a presentation of the
resolutions and the complete text of all speeches made by corporate
officers. Webcasts of the Annual General Meeting can be viewed on the
Bank's website. In response to the expectations of individual shareholders
and investors, and to meet strict transparency and regulatory disclosure
requirements, BNP Paribas regularly adds sections to its website and
improves existing sections with enhanced content and new functions.
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SHAREHOLDER LIAISON COMMITTEE

After its formation in 2000, BNP Paribas decided to create a Shareholder
Liaison Committee to help the Group imprave communications with its
retail shareholders. At the Annual General Meeting that approved the
BNP Paribas merger, the Chairman of BNP Paribas initiated the process
of appointing members to this committee, which was fully established
in late 2000.

Chaired by Jean Lemierre, it includes ten shareholders who are
both geographically and socio-professionally representative of the
retail shareholder population, along with two employees or former
employees. Each member serves a three-year term. When their terms
expire, announcements are published in the Group's various financial
publications, any shareholder may apply to become a candidate.

At its last meeting at the end of September 2020, the Liaison Committee
was composed of:

® MrJean Lemierre, Chairman;

B Mr Jean-Louis Busiere, residing in the Moselle department;

B Mr Michel Cassou, residing in the Tarn department;

B Mr Jean-Marc Cornier, residing in Meudon;

| Mr Patrick Cunin, residing in the Essonne department;

B Ms Anne Doris Dupuy, residing in the Gironde department;

B Mr Jean-Marie Lapoirie, residing in the Rhone department;

B Mr Jacques Martin, residing in the Alpes Maritimes department;
B Ms Francoise Rey, residing in Paris;

B Mr Jean-Jacques Richard, residing in Toulon;

DIVIDEND

The Board of directors will propose to the shareholders’ Annual General
Meeting to pay out a dividend of 1.11 euro per share in May 2021 in
cash®, equivalent to 21% of 2020 net income, the maximum amount
based on the European Central Bank recommendation of 15 December
2020@.

The total amount of the proposed distribution is EUR 1,387 million.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
BNP Paribas and its shareholders

B Mr Jean-Jacques Rohrer, residing in the Hauts-de-Seine department;
m Mr Ugo Cuccagna, BNP Paribas employee;
m Ms Christine Valence, BNP Paribas employee.

In accordance with the Charter, the Internal Rules that all committee
members have adopted, the Committee met twice in 2020, on 19 March
(remotely due to Covid-19) and on 25 September.

The main topics of discussion included:
m BNP Paribas’ capital structure and changes therein, particularly among
“retail shareholders”;

m the proposals made to the Cercle des actionnaires (BNP Paribas
Shareholders’ Group), which were seriously disrupted due to the
coronavirus epidemic;

| the draft 2020 Universal registration document, and specifically, the
chapters on “Shareholder Relations”, “Corporate governance” and
“Social and Environmental Responsibility”;

B the Integrated Report;

m quarterly results;

B the initiatives taken in preparation for the Annual General Meeting, in
particular due to the Covid-19 pandemic;

m the presentation of the economic outlook, in particular following

the health crisis, Brexit and various political events such as the US
presidential election.

The additional restitution of 29% of 2020 net income is intended after the
end of September 2021 in the form of share buybacks® or distribution
of reserves® as soon as the ECB repeals its recommendation, which
it is expected to do by the end of September 2021 “in the absence of
materially adverse developments”.

(1) Subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021: detached on 24 May 2021 and paid out on 26 May 2021.

(2) “[...] until 30 September 2021 [...] the ECB expects dividends and share buy-backs to remain below 15% of the cumulated profit for 2019-20 and not higher than 20 basis points of

the CET1 ratio.”
(3) Subject to European Central Bank approval.

(4) Subject to European Central Bank and Annual General Meeting approval.
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CHANGE IN DIVIDEND (IN EUROS PER SHARE)
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(*) Following ECB/2020/19 recommendation of the European Central Bank of 27 March 2020 on dividend distribution policies during the Covid-19 pandemic, the distribution of EUR 3.10
per share initially proposed to the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020, was appropriated to “Other reserves”.

(**) Subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021.

The 2008 dividend has been adjusted for the capital increase with
preferential subscription rights, completed between 30 September and
13 October 2009.

BNP PARIBAS REGISTERED SHARES

At 31 December 2020, 25,576 shareholders held BNP Paribas registered
shares.

REGISTERED SHARES HELD DIRECTLY

WITH BNP PARIBAS

Shareholders who hold registered shares directly with BNP Paribas:

m automatically receive all documents regarding the Bank that are sent
to shareholders;

m can call a French freephone number: +33(0)800 600 700 to place buy
and sell orders® and to obtain any information;

| benefit from preferential brokerage rates;

B have access to “PlanetShares” (https:/planetshares.bnpparibas.com/
login), a fully secure dedicated web server, allowing them to view
registered share accounts and account movements, as well as
place and track orders®; this server is also available on tablets and
smartphones;

B are automatically invited to Annual General Meetings without the need
for an ownership certificate;

B may receive notice of Annual General Meetings online;

(1) Subject to prior signature of a “brokerage services agreement” (free of charge).

Limitation period for dividends: any dividend unclaimed five years after
its due date is forfeited, as provided by law. Dividends for which payment
has not been sought are paid to the Public Treasury.

B pay no custody fees.

Registered shares held directly with BNP Paribas cannot be registered
in a PEA (Share Savings Plan), given the regulations and procedures
applicable to this vehicle. Investors whose shares are held in a PEA and
who want to hold them “in registered” form can opt to hold them in an
administered account (see below).

REGISTERED SHARES HELD
IN AN ADMINISTERED ACCOUNT

BNP Paribas is also extending its administered share account services
to institutional shareholders. For institutional shareholders, this type of
account combines the main benefits of holding shares in bearer form with
those of holding registered shares directly with BNP Paribas:

B shares can be traded at any time, through the shareholder’s usual
broker;

m the shareholder can have a single share account, combined with a
cash account;

m the shareholder is automatically invited to attend and vote at Annual
General Meetings, without the invitation being sent through a third party;

m shareholders may receive notice of meetings and vote at Annual
General Meetings online.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The procedures for BNP Paribas' Annual General Meetings are defined in
article 18 of the Bank's Articles of association.

The Board of directors calls an Ordinary General Meeting at least once
a year to vote on the agenda set by the Board.

The Board may call Extraordinary General Meeting for the purpose of
amending the Articles of association, and especially to increase the
Bank's share capital. Resolutions are adopted by a two-thirds majority
of shareholders present or represented.

The combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting may be called
in a single notice of meeting and held on the same date.

The quorum broke down as follows:

> BREAKDOWN OF QUORUM

The Bank's last Annual General Meeting took place on 19 May 2020 on
first notice. The text of the resolutions and the video of the meeting can be
viewed on the BNP Paribas website, where the original live webcast was
shown. The composition of the quorum and the results of the votes cast
on resolutions were posted online the day after the meeting. A specific
letter to shareholders included the minutes of this Meeting.

Following the publication of Order No. 2020-321 of 25 March 2020,
adapting the rules, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, covering meetings
and discussions at annual meetings and governing bodies of private
law entities, the Annual General Meeting in 2020 was held without the
physical presence of the shareholders.

Number of
I = I = NS

Present - 0.00% - 0.00%
Appointment of proxy - 0.00% - 0.00%
Proxy given to Chairman 7,726 53.76% 16,240,773 1.87%
Postal votes 6,644 46.24% 850,713,016 98.13%
TOTAL 14,370 100.00% 866,953,789 100.00%
of which online 12,671 88.18% 289,933,058 33.44%

Number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury stock) 1,248,477,854 69.44%

Of the 12,671 shareholders who took part in our last Annual General Meeting online:
B 6,867 had given the Chairman a proxy;

m 5,804 had voted by post.

All resolutions proposed to the shareholders were approved.
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» COMBINED GENERAL MEETING OF 19 MAY 2020

Results
ORDINARY MEETING
First resolution: approval of the parent company financial statements for 2019
Second resolution: approval of the consolidated financial statements for 2019
Third resolution: appropriation of net income for the year ended 31 December 2019
Fourth resolution: agreements and commitments referred to in articles L.225-38 et seq. of the French Commercial Code
Fifth resolution: authorisation for BNP Paribas to buy back its own shares
Sixth resolution: renewal of the term of office of Jean Lemierre as Director
Seventh resolution: renewal of the term of office of Jacques Aschenbroich as Director
Eighth resolution: renewal of the term of office of Monique Cohen as Director
Ninth resolution: renewal of the term of office of Daniela Schwarzer as Director
Tenth resolution: renewal of the term of office of Fields Wicker-Miurin as Director
Eleventh resolution: vote on the components of the compensation policy attributable to Directors
Twelfth resolution: vote on the components of the compensation policy attributable to the Chairman of the Board of directors

Thirteenth resolution: vote on the components of the compensation policy attributable to the Chief Executive Officer
and to the Chief Operating Officer

Fourteenth resolution: vote on the information on the compensation paid or granted in respect of 2019 to all corporate officers

Fifteenth resolution: vote on the components of the compensation paid or granted in respect of 2019
to Mr Jean Lemierre, Chairman of the Board of directors

Sixteenth resolution: vote on the components of the compensation paid or granted in respect of 2019
to Mr Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, Chief Executive Officer

Seventeeth resolution: vote on the components of the compensation paid or granted in respect of 2019
to Mr Philippe Bordenave, Chief Operating Officer

Eighteenth resolution: advisory vote on the overall amount of compensation of any kind paid during 2019
to Executive Officers and certain categories of staff

EXTRAORDINARY MEETING
Nineteenth resolution: capital increase with preferential subscription rights
Twentieth resolution: capital increase without preferential subscription rights

Twenty-first resolution: capital increase without preferential subscription rights to remunerate contributions
of securities up to a limit of 10% of the share capital

Twenty-second resolution: overall limit on authorisations to issue shares with, or with cancellation of,
preferential subscription rights

Twenty-third resolution: capital increase by capitalising reserves, retained earnings,
additional paid-in capital or merger or contribution premiums

Twenty-fourth resolution: overall limit on authorisations to issue shares maintaining,
cancelling or without preferential subscription rights

Twenty-fifth resolution: transactions reserved for members of the BNP Paribas Group Company Savings Plan,
with cancellation of preferential subscription rights

Twenty-sixth resolution: authorisation to reduce the share capital by cancelling shares

Twenty-seventh resolution: amendment of the Articles of association to allow the appointment
of a Director representing employee shareholders

Twenty-eighth resolution: amendment of the Articles of association to enable the Board of directors
to take certain decisions by written consultation

Twenty-ninth resolution: simplification and adaptation of the Articles of association

Thirtieth resolution: powers for formalities

Rate of

approval

99.94%
99.94%
99.95%
99.98%
99.28%
98.13%
85.96%
99.19%
99.34%
99.23%
99.59%
96.12%

96.61%
95.79%

96.36%

98.76%

98.71%

99.84%

92.74%
92.27%

94.31%

95.35%

99.92%

94.18%

94.14%
96.97%

99.97%

99.97%
99.98%
99.98%
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NOTICES OF MEETING
BNP Paribas will hold its next Combined General Meeting on 18 May 2021@.

The meeting notices and invitations are available on the “invest.
bnpparibas.com” website in French and English from the time of their
publication in the French Bulletin of Compulsory Legal Announcements
(BALO). Staffs at all BNP Paribas branches are specifically trained to
provide the necessary assistance and carry out the required formalities.

Holders of registered shares are automatically notified, regardless of the
number of shares held, with a complete notice of meeting containing
in particular the agenda, the draft resolutions and a voting form. A
significant and fast-growing proportion (23.2%, compared with 14.9% a
year earlier) of notices of meeting to registered shareholders were sent
via the internet after the shareholders concerned had given their prior
agreement to this information procedure.

BNP Paribas informs holders of bearer shares via the internet regardless
of the number of shares held, subject to their custodians being part of
the market system known as Votaccess. Shareholders notified of the
Annual General Meeting may take part quickly and easily. The Bank also
provides custodians with notices of meetings and printed postal voting
forms, which can then be sent to those shareholders who request them.

DISCLOSURE THRESHOLDS

In addition to the legal thresholds, and in accordance with article 5 of
the Articles of association, any shareholder, whether acting alone or
in concert, who owns or may hold directly or indirectly at least 0.5%
of the capital or voting rights of BNP Paribas, or any multiple of that
percentage up to 5%, is required to notify BNP Paribas by registered
letter with return receipt.

Once the 5% threshold is reached, shareholders are required to disclose
any increase in their interest representing a multiple of 1% of the share
capital or voting rights of BNP Paribas.

(1) Subject to change at a later date.

(2) Except in the case of specific government measures.

PRESENTATION OF THE BNP PARIBAS GROUP
BNP Paribas and its shareholders

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

Holders of shares may gain admittance to a General Meeting® provided
these shares have been recorded in their accounts for at least two
trading days. Holders of bearer shares must also present an entry card
or certificate proving their ownership of the shares.

VOTING

Using the internet voting platform gives shareholders access to the notice
of the Annual General Meeting. They can then either vote or appoint a
proxy, or print their admission card if they wish to attend the Annual
General Meeting in person®.

More than 88% of the shareholders who took part in the vote in 2020
used the platform, a proportion that has risen sharply compared with
the nearly 74% recorded in 2019. This significant increase is the result of
information that, in the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, had been given
to shareholders in March 2020 to encourage them to use the internet
and vote “remotely.”

Shareholders not using the online platform returned the printed form
enclosed with the notice of meeting to BNP Paribas. Before the Annual
General Meeting, this document may be used to:

B request an admission card®; or

| vote by post; or

| give proxy to another individual or legal entity; or
| give proxy to the Chairman of the Meeting.

The disclosures described in the previous two paragraphs shall also apply
when the shareholding falls below the above-mentioned thresholds.

In the case of failure to comply with these disclosure requirements, either
legal or statutory, the undisclosed shares will be stripped of voting rights
at the request of one or more shareholders who hold a combined interest
of at least 2% of the share capital or voting rights of BNP Paribas.
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2.1 Report on Corporate governance

This Corporate governance report was prepared by the Board of directors AMF Recommendation No. 2012-02® amended on 3 December 2019, the
in accordance with the last paragraph of article L.225-37 of the French AMF's 2020 report® and the November 2020 Annual Report of the High
Commercial Code. Committee for Corporate governance (Haut Comité de Gouvernement

The information contained herein notably takes into account annex | of dEntreprise - HCGE).

the Commission delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 of 14 March 2019,

(1) AMF recommendation No. 2012-02 - Corporate governance and executive compensation in companies referring to the Afep-Medef Code - Consolidated presentation of the
recommendations contained in the Annual Reports of the AMF.

(2) 2020 AMF report on Corporate governance and executive compensation of listed companies (November 2020).
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2.1.1 PRESENTATION OF DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE OFFICERS

» MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Jean LEMIERRE

Principal function: Chairman of the Board of directors of BNPParibas

Date of birth: 6 June 1950
Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: 19 May 2020 - 2023 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 1 December 2014 ratified
by the Annual General Meeting of 13 May 2015

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 35,826

Business address: 3, rue d’Antin
75002 PARIS,
FRANCE

Education

Graduate of the Institut d'Etudes Politiques de Paris
Graduate of the Ecole Nationale d’Administration

Law Degree

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Chairman of the Board of
directors: BNP Paribas
Director: TEB Holding AS
(Turkey), Total SA

Chairman: Centre for Prospective
Studies and International
Information (CEPII)
Vice-Chairman: Paris Europlace
Member: French Association

of Private Companies, Institute
of International Finance (IIF),
International Advisory Board of
Orange, International Advisory
Council of China Development
Bank (CDB), International
Advisory Council of China
Investment Corporation (CIC),
International Advisory Panel
(IAP) of the Monetary Authority of
Singapore (MAS)

2018:

Chairman of the Board of
directors: BNP Paribas
Director: TEB Holding AS
(Turkey), Total SA

Chairman: Centre for
Prospective Studies and
International Information
(CEPII)

Vice-Chairman: Paris
Europlace

Member: French Association
of Private Companies, Institute
of International Finance (IIF),
International Advisory Board of
Orange, International Advisory
Council of China Development
Bank (CDB), International
Advisory Council of China
Investment Corporation (CIC),
International Advisory Panel
(IAP) of the Monetary Authority
of Singapore (MAS)

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas

Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas(, Chairman of the Board of directors

TEB Holding AS (Turkey), director

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside

the BNP Paribas Group, in France or abroad

Total SA®), director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign

companies

Total SA, member of the Corporate governance and Ethics Committee
and member of the Strategy & CSR Committee

Others®

Centre for Prospective Studies and International Information (CEPII),

Chairman
Paris Europlace, Vice-Chairman

Association francaise des entreprises privées, member

Institute of International Finance (IIF), member

Orange International Advisory Board, member

International Advisory Council of China Development Bank (CDB),

member

International Advisory Council of China Investment Corporation (CIC),

member

International Advisory Panel (IAP) of the Monetary Authority of

Singapore (MAS), member

2017:

Chairman of the Board of
directors: BNP Paribas
Director: TEB Holding AS
(Turkey), Total SA

Chairman: Centre for Prospective
Studies and International
Information (CEPII)

Member: Institute of
International Finance (IIF),
Orange International Advisory
Board, International Advisory
Council of China Development
Bank (CDB), International
Advisory Council of China
Investment Corporation (CIC),
International Advisory Panel
(IAP) of the Monetary Authority
of Singapore (MAS)

2016:

Chairman of the Board of
directors: BNP Paribas
Director: TEB Holding AS
(Turkey), Total SA

Chairman: Centre for
Prospective Studies and
International Information
(CEPII)

Member: Institute of
International Finance (IIF),
Orange International Advisory
Board, International Advisory
Council of China Development
Bank (CDB), International
Advisory Council of China
Investment Corporation (CIC),
International Advisory Panel
(IAP) of the Monetary Authority
of Singapore (MAS)

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*) Listed company.
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Jean-Laurent BONNAFE

Principal function: director and Chief Executive Officer of BNPParibas

Date of birth: 14 July 1961
Nationality: French
Term start and end dates: 23 May 2019 - 2022 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 12 May 2010
Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 106,603?
Business address: 3, rue d’Antin

75002 PARIS

FRANCE
Education
Graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique
Graduate of the Ecole des Mines

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®), director and Chief Executive Officer

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the
BNP Paribas Group, in France or abroad

Pierre Fabre SA, director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

Pierre Fabre SA, member of the Strategic Committee

Others®

Association pour le Rayonnement de |'Opéra de Paris, Chairman
Entreprise pour 'Environnement, Chairman

Fédération Bancaire Frangaise (French Banking Federation), Vice-
Chairman of the Executive Committee

La France s'engage, director

(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019: 2018:

Director and Chief Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer: BNP Paribas Officer: BNP Paribas
Chairman: Association pour le Chairman: Association pour le
Rayonnement de 'Opéra de Paris, Rayonnement de ['Opéra de
Entreprise pour l'Environnement Paris

Director: Vice-Chairman: Entreprise
Carrefour, La France s'engage, pour l'Environnement

Pierre Fabre SA Director: Carrefour

Member of the Executive Member of the Executive
Committee: Fédération Bancaire Committee: Fédération
Francaise Bancaire Francaise

2017: 2016:

Director and Chief Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer: BNP Paribas Officer: BNP Paribas
Chairman: Fédération Bancaire Director: Carrefour
Frangaise, Association pour le

Rayonnement de 'Opéra de Paris

Vice-Chairman: Entreprise pour

UEnvironnement

Director: Carrefour

(1) At 31 December 2020.

(2)  Includes 25,228 BNP Paribas shares held as units in the shareholders’ fund under the Company Savings Plan.

(*)  Listed company.
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Jacques ASCHENBROICH
Principal function: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Valeo Group

Date of birth: 3 June 1954
Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: 19 May 2020 - 2023 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 23 May 2017

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000

Business address. 43 rue Bayen
75017 PARIS,
FRANCE

Education

Graduate of the Ecole des Mines
Corps des Mines

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: Valeo Group

Director: BNP Paribas

Véolia Environnement, French
association of private companies
Chairman: Ecole Nationale
Supérieure Mines ParisTech
Co-Chairman: Club d'affaires
Franco-Japonais

2018:

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: Valeo Group

Director: BNP Paribas

Veolia Environnement
Chairman: Ecole Nationale
Supérieure Mines ParisTech
Co-Chairman: Club d'affaires
Franco-Japonais

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held under the principal function

Valeo Group®, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the BNPP
Group, in France or abroad

Veolia Environnement(*), director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, member of the Financial Statements Committee

Veolia Environnement, member of the Audit Committee and Chairman
of the Research, Innovation and Sustainable Development Committee
Others

Ecole Nationale Supérieure Mines ParisTech, Chairman

Club d'affaires Franco-Japonais, Co-Chairman

Association francaise des entreprises privées, member

2017: 2016:

Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: Valeo Group Officer: Valeo Group

Director: BNP Paribas Director: BNP Paribas,

Veolia Environnement Veolia Environnement
Chairman: Ecole Nationale Chairman: Ecole Nationale
Supérieure Mines ParisTech Supérieure Mines ParisTech
Co-Chairman: Club d'affaires Co-Chairman: Club d'affaires
Franco-Japonais Franco-Japonais

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.

Pierre-André de CHALENDAR

Principal function: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Compagnie de Saint-Gobain

Date of birth: 12 April 1958
Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: 24 May 2018 - 2021 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 23 May 2012

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 7,000

Business address: Les Miroirs

92096 LA DEFENSE CEDEX

FRANCE

Education

Graduate of Ecole Supérieure des Sciences Economiques

et Commerciales (ESSEC)

Graduate of the Ecole Nationale d’Administration

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: Compagnie de Saint-
Gobain

Chairman: La Fabrique de
l'Industrie, Supervisory Board of
Essec

Director: BNP Paribas, French
Association of Private Companies

2018:

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: Compagnie de Saint-
Gobain

Director: BNP Paribas

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held under the principal function

Compagnie de Saint-Gobain®, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
GIE SGPM Recherches, director

Saint-Gobain Corporation, director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of
the Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee
Others

Essec Supervisory Board, Chairman

La Fabrique de l'Industrie, Co-Chairman

Association francaise des entreprises privées, member

2017: 2016:

Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: Compagnie de Saint- Officer: Compagnie de Saint-
Gobain Gobain

Director: BNP Paribas Director: BNP Paribas

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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Monique COHEN
Principal function: Partner of Apax Partners

Date of birth: 28 January 1956

Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: 19 May 2020 - 2023 AGM

Date first elected to the Board of directors: 12 February 2014, ratified
by the Annual General Meeting of 14 May 2014

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 9,620
Business address. 1, rue Paul-Cézanne
75008 PARIS
FRANCE

Education

Graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique
Master's Degree in Mathematics
Master’s Degree in Business Law

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held under the principal function

Proxima Investissement SA (Luxembourg), Chairwoman of the Board of
directors

Fides Holdings, Chairwoman of the Board of directors

Fides Acquisitions, member of the Board of directors

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the

BNP Paribas Group, in France or abroad

Hermes®, Vice-Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board

Safran®, senior director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, Chairwoman of the Corporate governance, Ethics,
Nominations and CSR Committee, member of the Internal Control,
Risk and Compliance Committee

Hermes, Chairwoman of the Audit and Risks Committee

Safran, Chairwoman of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee

(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Chairwoman of the Board

of directors: Proxima
Investments SA (Luxembourg),
Fides Holdings
Vice-Chairwoman of the
Supervisory Board: Hermes
Director: BNP Paribas, Safran,
Apax Partners SAS

Member: Fides Acquisitions

2018:

Chairwoman of the Board

of directors: Proxima
Investments SA (Luxembourg),
Fides Holdings
Vice-Chairwoman of the
Supervisory Board: Hermes
Director: BNP Paribas, Safran,
Apax Partners SAS

Member: Fides Acquisitions

Apax Partners SAS

2017:

Chairwoman of the Board

of directors: Proxima
Investments SA (Luxembourg),
Fides Holdings, Fides Acquisitions
Vice-Chairwoman of the
Supervisory Board: Hermes
Director: BNP Paribas, Safran,

2016:

Chairwoman of the Board

of directors: Proxima
Investment SA (Luxembourg)
Vice-Chairwoman and member
of the Supervisory Board:
Hermes

Director: BNP Paribas, Safran,
Apax Partners Midmarket SAS
Member: Special Committee
(advisory body) of Global
Project SAS, Supervisory Board
of IC Decaux

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Report on Corporate governance

Principal function: Chief Executive Officer of ZNA (hospital group in Antwerp, Belgium)

Date of birth: 5 April 1965

Nationality: Belgian

Term start and end dates: 23 May 2019 - 2022 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 26 May 2016

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000
Business address: Leopoldstraat 26
B-2000 ANTWERPEN/ANVERS
BELGIUM

Education

Master’s degree and Doctorate in Economics from the University of
Michigan, Ann Arbor (United States of America)

Master's in Economics (Magna cum Laude) and Philosophy, University
of Leuven (Belgium)

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

Vanbreda Risk & Benefits NV, director

Unibreda NV, director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, member of the Financial Statements Committee
Others®

Gasthuiszusters Antwerpen, director

Regroupement GZA-ZNA, director

BlueHealth Innovation Center, director

Chamber of Commerce bureau, VOKA Antwerp - Waasland (Belgium),
Vice-Chairman

(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Director: BNP Paribas, Vanbreda
Risk & Benefits NV (Belgium),
Unibreda NV (Belgium),
BlueHealth Innovation Center,
Gasthuiszusters Antwerpen,
Regroupement GZA-ZNA
Vice-Chairman: Chamber of
Commerce bureau, VOKA Antwerp
- Waasland (Belgium)

2018:

Director: BNP Paribas,
Vanbreda Risk & Benefits NV
(Belgium), Unibreda NV
(Belgium), BlueHealth
Innovation Center,
Gasthuiszusters Antwerpen,
Regroupement GZA-ZNA
Vice-Chairman: Chamber

of Commerce bureau, VOKA
Antwerp - Waasland (Belgium)

2017:

Director: BNP Paribas, Vanbreda
Risk & Benefits NV (Belgium),
Unibreda NV

Vice-Chairman: Chamber of
Commerce bureau, VOKA Antwerp
- Waasland (Belgium)

Member: Belgian - American
Educational Foundation
(Belgium)

Adviser to the Board of
directors: Lannoo publishing
company (Belgium)

2016:

Member of the Supervisory
Board: GIMV XL

Director: BNP Paribas
Vice-Chairman: Waasland
(Belgium)

Chairman: Board of directors of
the Museum of Contemporary
Art, Antwerp (Belgium)
Member: Belgian - American
Educational Foundation
(Belgium), of the Board of
directors of Haute Ecole Odisee
(Belgium)

Adviser to the Board of
directors: Lannoo publishing
company (Belgium)

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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Hugues EPAILLARD
Principal function: Real estate business manager

Date of birth: 22 June 1966
Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: elected by BNP Paribas executive

employees for three years from 16 February 2021 - 15 February 2024

Date first elected to the Board of directors: 16 February 2018
Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 519®

Business address. 83, La Canebiére

13001 MARSEILLE

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:
Director: BNP Paribas

2018:
Director: BNP Paribas

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Participation in specialised committees of French or foreign companies
BNP Paribas, member of the Internal Control, Risk and Compliance
Committee and of the Remuneration Committee

Others®

Judge at the Marseille Employment Tribunal, Management section
Commission Paritaire de la Banque (AFB - Recourse Commission),
member

(1) At 31 December 2020.

(2) Includes 490 BNP Paribas shares held under the Company Savings Plan.

(*) Listed company.

Rajna GIBSON-BRANDON

Principal function: Professor in Finance at the University of Geneva

Date of birth: 20 December 1962
Nationality: Swiss

Term start and end dates: 28 November 2018 - 2021 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 28 November 2018

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000
Business address. 40, Boulevard Pont d'/Arve

CH-1211 GENEVA 4

SWITZERLAND

Education

Doctorate in Social & Economic Sciences (Specialization in Finance),

University of Geneva

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Director:

BNP Paribas,

Applic8 SA

Chairwoman:

BUlach Investment Professionals’
Scientific and Training Board
Director:

Geneva Institute for Wealth
Management Foundation
Deputy director:

Geneva Finance Research
Institute

Member:

Strategic Committee and
Sustainable Finance Supervisory
Committee in Geneva

2018:

Director:

BNP Paribas,

Applic8 SA

Chairwoman:

Bilach Investment
Professionals’ Scientific and
Training Board

Director:

Geneva Institute for Wealth
Management Foundation
Deputy director:

Geneva Finance Research
Institute

Member:

Strategic Committee

and Sustainable Finance
Supervisory Committee in
Geneva

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, member of the Internal Control, Risk and Compliance
Committee

Others

Geneva Finance Research Institute, Deputy director

Geneva Institute for Wealth Management Foundation, director
Bulach Investment Professionals’ Scientific and Training Board,
Chairwoman

Strategic Committee and Sustainable Finance Supervisory Committee
in Geneva, director

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*) Listed company.

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS



Marion GUILLOU
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Report on Corporate governance

Principal function: Independent director of companies

Date of birth: 17 September 1954
Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: 23 May 2019 - 2022 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 15 May 2013

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000

Business address. 42, rue Scheffer
75116 PARIS
FRANCE

Education

Graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique

Graduate of the Ecole Nationale du Génie Rural, des Eaux et des

Foréts
Doctor of Food Sciences

Institut francais des administrateurs

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Director: BNP Paribas, Imerys,
Veolia Environnement

Member: Board of directors

of Universcience, Board of
directors of Care - France (NGO),
Board of directors of Bioversity
International, Board of directors
of Bioversity-CIAR Alliance, Board
of directors of the International
agricultural research centre
(IARC), Board of directors of IFRI

2018:

Chairwoman of the Board of
directors: |AVFF-Agreenium
(public institution)

Director: BNP Paribas, Imerys,
Veolia Environnement
Member: Board of directors

of Universcience, Board of
directors of Care - France
(NGO), Board of directors of
Bioversity International, Board
of directors of the International
agricultural research centre
(IARC), Board of directors of
IFRI

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the

BNP Paribas Group, in France or abroad

Veolia Environnement®), director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, member of the Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations
and CSR Committee and of the Remuneration Committee

Veolia Environnement, member of the Research, Innovation and
Sustainable Development Committee and the Remuneration Committee

Others®

Care - France (NGO), Vice-Chairwoman

Bioversity-CIAT Alliance, director
Bioversity, director

CIAT, director

IFRI, director

2017:

Chairwoman of the Board of
directors: IAVFF-Agreenium
(public institution)

Director: BNP Paribas, Imerys,
Veolia Environnement

Member: Board of directors of
Universcience, Board of directors
of Care - France (NGO), Board of
directors of IHEST (Institut des
Hautes Etudes en Sciences et
Technologies), Academic Council
of the Academy of Technologies,
Board of directors of Bioversity
International

2016:

Chairwoman of the Board of
directors: IAVFF-Agreenium
(public institution)

Director: BNP Paribas,
Apave, CGIAR, Imerys, Veolia
Environnement

Member: Board of directors
of Care - France (NGO),
Board of directors of IHEST
(Institut des Hautes Etudes
en Sciences et Technologies),
Board of directors of Bioversity
International

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*) Listed company.
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Denis KESSLER

Principal function: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of SCORSE

Date of birth: 25 March 1952

Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: 24 May 2018 - 2021 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 23 May 2000

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 2,684
Business address. 5, avenue Kléber

75016 PARIS

FRANCE

Education

Degree in Economic Science

Degree in Social Science

Doctor of Economic Science

Graduate of the French Ecole des Hautes Etudes Commerciales
Institute of Actuaries, qualified member

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held under the principal function

SCOR SE®, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the
BNP Paribas Group, in France or abroad

Invesco Ltd®™ (United States), director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, Chairman of the Financial Statements Committee
Invesco Ltd, Member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nominations and Corporate governance Committee

SCOR SE, Chairman of the Strategic Committee and member

of the Crisis Management Committee

Others®

Association de Geneve, director

Global Reinsurance Forum - Reinsurance Advisory Board, member
Institute of Moral and Political Sciences, member

Institute of Actuaries, qualified member

(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019: 2018:
Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: SCOR SE Officer: SCOR SE
Director: BNP Paribas, Director: BNP Paribas,
Invesco Ltd (United States) Invesco Ltd (United States)
Member: Board of directors of Member: Board of directors
Association de Geneve, Global of Association de Genéve,
Reinsurance Forum - Reinsurance = Global Reinsurance Forum -
Advisory Board, Institut des Reinsurance Advisory Board,
sciences morales et politiques, Institut des sciences morales
Institute of Actuaries et politiques, Institute of
Actuaries

2017: 2016:

Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer: SCOR SE Officer: SCOR SE

Director: BNP Paribas, Director: BNP Paribas,
Invesco Ltd (United States) Invesco Ltd (United States)
Member: Board of directors Member: Board of directors
of Association de Genéve, of Association de Genéve,
Global Reinsurance Forum - Global Reinsurance Forum -
Reinsurance Advisory Board, Reinsurance Advisory Board,
Conference Board (Global Conference Board (Global
counsellor), Institut des sciences counsellor)

morales et politiques, Institute of

Actuaries

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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Report on Corporate governance

Principal function: director of think tank, DGAP (Deutsche Gesellschaft fir Auswartige Politik) (German Council on Foreign Relations)

Date of birth: 19 July 1973

Nationality: German

Term start and end dates: 19 May 2020 - 2023 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 14 May 2014

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000
Business address.: Rauchstrasse 17-18

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®), director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign

companies
BNP Paribas, member of the Governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR

10787 BERLIN
GERMANY

Education

Doctorate in Economics from the Free University of Berlin
Master's degree in Political Science and in Linguistics from the

University of Tdbingen

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Director: BNP Paribas

Member: Board of directors of
the Jacques-Delors Institute,
Board of directors of United
Europe (Germany), Open Society
Foundation, Advisory Committee,
Federal Security Academy,
Advisory Committee

Research Professor at Johns-
Hopkins University, Department
of European and Eurasian Studies
(Bologna and Washington, DC)

2018:

Director: BNP Paribas
Member: Board of directors of
the Jacques-Delors Institute,
Board of directors of United
Europe (Germany), Open
Society Foundation, Advisory
Committee

Research Professor at
Johns-Hopkins University,
Department of European and
Eurasian Studies (Bologna and
Washington, DC)

Committee
Others
Jacques-Delors Institute, director

Foundation United Europe (Germany), director

Open Society Foundation, member of the Advisory Committee
Académie fédérale de sécurité, member of the Advisory Committee
Special advisor to the Vice-President of the European Commission

2017:

Director: BNP Paribas

Member: Board of directors of
the Jacques-Delors Institute,
Board of directors of United
Europe (Germany)

Research Professor at Johns-
Hopkins University, Department
of European and Eurasian Studies
(Bologna and Washington, DC)

2016:

Director: BNP Paribas
Member: Board of directors of
the Jacques-Delors Institute,
Board of directors of United
Europe (Germany)

Research Professor at
Johns-Hopkins University,
Department of European and
Eurasian Studies (Bologna and
Washington, DC)

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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Michel TILMANT

Principal function: director of companies

Date of birth: 21 July 1952

Nationality: Belgian

Term start and end dates: 23 May 2019 - 2022 AGM

Date first elected to the Board of directors: 12 May 2010

(Michel Tilmant served as non-voting director (censeur) of
2 BNP Paribas from 4 November 2009 to 11 May 2010)

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000
Business address: Rue du Moulin 10
B-1310 LA HULPE

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held under the principal function

Strafin sprl (Belgium), manager

Other offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the
BNP Paribas Group, in France or abroad

Sofina SA™ (Belgium), director

Groupe Lhoist SA (Belgium), director

42

BELGIUM

Education

Graduate of the University of Louvain

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

Foyer Group:

CapitalatWork Foyer Group SA (Luxembourg), Chairman

Foyer SA (Luxembourg), director
Foyer Finance SA, director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign

companies

BNP Paribas, Chairman of the Internal Control, Risk and Compliance

Committee

Sofina SA, member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee
Groupe Lhoist SA, member of the Audit Committee

Others®

Royal Automobile Club of Belgium (Belgium), director
Zoute Automobile Club (Belgium), director
Université Catholique de Louvain (Belgium), director

2019: 2018: 2017: 2016:
Chairman: CapitalatWork Foyer Chairman: CapitalatWork Foyer Chairman: CapitalatWork Foyer Director: BNP Paribas,
Group SA (Luxembourg) Group SA (Luxembourg) Group SA (Luxembourg) CapitalatWork Foyer Group SA

Director: BNP Paribas

Foyer SA (Luxembourg), Foyer
Finance SA, Groupe Lhoist SA
(Belgium), Sofina SA (Belgium)
Manager: Strafin sprl (Belgium)
Member: Board of directors of
Royal Automobile Club of Belgium
(Belgium), Board of directors

of the Zoute Automobile Club

Director: BNP Paribas

Foyer SA (Luxembourg), Foyer
Finance SA, Groupe Lhoist SA
(Belgium), Sofina SA (Belgium)
Manager: Strafin sprl
(Belgium)

Member: Board of directors of
Royal Automobile Club of
Belgium (Belgium), Board

Director: BNP Paribas

Foyer SA (Luxembourg), Foyer
Finance SA, Groupe Lhoist SA
(Belgium), Sofina SA (Belgium)
Manager: Strafin sprl (Belgium)
Member: Board of directors of
Royal Automobile Club of Belgium
(Belgium), Board of directors of
Université Catholique de Louvain

(Luxembourg), Foyer SA
(Luxembourg), Groupe

Lhoist SA (Belgium), Sofina SA
(Belgium)

Manager: Strafin sprl (Belgium)
Member: Board of directors of
Royal Automobile Club of
Belgium (Belgium), Board

of directors of Université

(Belgium), Board of directors of of directors of Université (Belgium) Catholique de Louvain
Université Catholique de Louvain Catholique de Louvain Senior advisor: Cinven Ltd (Belgium)

(Belgium) (Belgium) (United Kingdom) Senior advisor: Cinven Ltd
Senior advisor: Cinven Ltd Senior advisor: Cinven Ltd (United Kingdom)

(United Kingdom) (United Kingdom)

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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Principal function: Production and sales support assistant

Date of birth: 9 April 1979

Nationality: French

Term start and end dates: elected by BNP Paribas technician
employees for three years from 16 February 2021 - 15 February 2024
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 16 February 2015

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 20

Business address: 150, rue du Faubourg Poissonniére
75450 PARIS CEDEX 09
FRANCE

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®), director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, member of the Financial Statements Committee
Others®

Ile de France Economic, Social and Environmental Council, Member

(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:
Director: 2018:
BNP Paribas Director: BNP Paribas

2017:
Director: 2016:
BNP Paribas Director: BNP Paribas

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.

Fields WICKER-MIURIN
Principal function: director of companies

Date of birth: 30 July 1958

Nationalities: British and American

Term start and end dates: 19 May 2020 - 2023 AGM
Date first elected to the Board of directors: 11 May 2011

Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 1,000

Business address: 11-13 Worple Way
RICHMOND-UPON-THAMES
SURREY TW10 6DG
UNITED KINGDOM

Education

Graduate of the Institut d'Etudes Politiques de Paris

Master’s Degree from the School of Advanced International Studies,
Johns Hopkins University

BA, University of Virginia

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies of the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

BNP Paribas®, director

Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies outside the BNP Paribas
Group, in France or abroad

Prudential Plc®, director

SCOR SE®, director

Participation® in specialised committees of French or foreign
companies

BNP Paribas, member of the Financial Statements, Remuneration,
Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee

Prudential Plc, member of the Remuneration Committee

SCOR SE, member of the Strategic Committee, Risk Committee,
Nominations and Remuneration Committee, Financial Statements and
Audit Committee, member of the Crisis Management Committee and
Chairwoman of the CSR Committee

Others®

Co-founder and Partner at Leaders' Quest (United Kingdom)

(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Director: BNP Paribas,
Prudential Plc, SCOR SE
Co-founder and Partner at:
Leaders’ Quest (United Kingdom)
Independent member of

the Ministry Council and
Chairwoman of the Audit and
Risks Committee: UK Department
of Digital, Culture, Media and
Sports

2018:

Director: BNP Paribas,
Prudential Plc, SCOR SE
Co-founder and Partner at:
Leaders’ Quest (United
Kingdom)

Independent member of
the Ministry Council and
Chairwoman of the Audit
and Risks Committee: UK
Department of Digital, Culture,
Media and Sports

2016:

Director: BNP Paribas, Control
Risks Group, SCOR SE
Co-founder and Partner at:
Leaders’ Quest (United
Kingdom)

Independent member of

the Ministry Council and
Chairwoman of the Audit

and Risks Committee: UK
Department of Digital, Culture,
Media and Sports

2017:

Director: BNP Paribas, Control
Risks Group, SCOR SE
Co-founder and Partner at:
Leaders’ Quest (United Kingdom)
Independent member of

the Ministry Council and
Chairwoman of the Audit and
Risks Committee: UK Department
of Digital, Culture, Media and
Sports

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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SCHEDULE OF THE TERMS OF THE DIRECTORSHIPS OF COMPANY DIRECTORS

On the Board's proposal, the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting of 23 May 2000 decided to limit the term of office of new directors to three years.

2021 2022 2023
(AGM called to approve (AGM called to approve (AGM called to approve
2 the 2020 financial the 2021 financial the 2022 financial
statements) statements) statements)
J. Lemierre v
J.-L. Bonnafé v
J. Aschenbroich v
P-A. de Chalendar 4
M. Cohen v
W. De Ploey 4
H. Epaillard V0
R. Gibson-Brandon v
M. Guillou 4
D. Kessler 4
D. Schwarzer 4
M. Tilmant 4
S. Verrier V(i)
F. Wicker-Miurin 4

(i) Director elected by executive employees - Start and end date of previous term: 16 February 2018 - 15 February 2021. Re-elected by executive
employees in the first round of voting on 20 November 2020 (took office on 16 February 2021).

(i) Director whose term of directorship was ratified by the Annual General Meeting of 23 May 2019, appointed to replace Laurence Parisot. Her term will
run for the remainder of Laurence Parisot’s term of directorship.

(iii) - Director elected by technician employees - Start and end of term of previous term: 16 February 2018 - 15 February 2021. Re-elected by technician
employees in the second round of voting on 20 Noverber 2020 (took office on 16 February 2021).
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OTHER CORPORATE OFFICER

Philippe BORDENAVE
Principal function: Chief Operating Officer of BNPParibas

Date of birth: 2 August 1954 Offices® held under the principal function
Nationality: French BNP Paribas®, Chief Operating Officer
Number of BNP Paribas shares held®: 105,474 Verner Investissements, director
Business address: 3, rue d’Antin Exane BNP Paribas, non-voting director (censeur)
75002 PARIS Others®
FRANCE Fondation Grancher, Vice-Chairman
Education

Graduate of the Ecole Polytechnique
Graduate of the Ecole Nationale d’Administration
DEA in Economics

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019: 2018: 2017: 2016:

Chief Operating Officer: Chief Operating Officer: Chief Operating Officer: Chief Operating Officer:
BNP Paribas BNP Paribas BNP Paribas BNP Paribas

Director: Verner Director: Verner Director: Verner Investissements Director: Verner
Investissements, Fondation Investissements, Fondation Non-voting director: Exane Investissements

Grancher Grancher BNP Paribas Non-voting director: Exane
Non-voting director: Exane Non-voting director: Exane BNP Paribas

BNP Paribas BNP Paribas

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.

NON-VOTING DIRECTOR
Christian NOYER
Principal function: Honorary Governor of Banque de France
Date of birth: 6 October 1950 Offices® held in listed or unlisted companies, in France or abroad
Nationality: French Power Corporation Canada®, director
Term start date: 1 May 2019 NSIA Banque Cote d'lvoire, director

Lloyd's Insurance Company SA, director

Business address: 9, rue de Valois Setl Ltd, director

75001 PARIS
FRANCE

Education

Ecole Nationale d’Administration

Graduate of the Institut des sciences politiques
Masters in Law, University of Paris

Law degree, University of Rennes

Offices held at 31 December in previous financial years
(the companies mentioned are the parent companies of the groups in which the functions were carried out)

2019:

Director: Power Corporation
Canada,

NSIA Banque Cote d'lvoire,
Lloyd's of London, Setl Ltd

(1) At 31 December 2020.
(*)  Listed company.
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2.1.2 BNP PARIBAS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate governance Code that BNP Paribas referred to on a
voluntary basis in this report is the Corporate governance Code for
Listed Companies, published by the French employers’ organisations,
Association Frangaise des Entreprises Privées (Afep) and the Mouvement
des Entreprises de France (Medef). BNP Paribas declares that it complies
with all of the recommendations of this Code, hereinafter referred to
as the Corporate governance Code or Afep-Medef Code, which can be
viewed on the BNP Paribas website (http:/invest.bnpparibas.com/en),
the Afep website (http:/www.afep.com/en) and the Medef website
(http:/www.medef.com/en).

The detailed rules on the participation of shareholders at the
Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting are laid out in article 18, Title V
“Shareholders’ Meetings”, of BNP Paribas' Articles of association
published in the Universal registration document in the section Founding
Documents and Articles of association. Moreover, a summary of these
rules and a report on the organisation and running of the Shareholders’
Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020 are provided in the “BNP Paribas
and its shareholders” section of said document.

In addition to the above, BNP Paribas is governed in accordance with
French and European banking regulations, and the guidelines issued
by the European Banking Authority (EBA) and is subject to permanent
supervision of the European Central Bank (ECB) pursuant to the Single
Supervisory Mechanism (SSM).

1. PRINCIPLES OF GOVERNANCE

The Internal Rules adopted by the Board of directors define the duties of
the Board and of its specialised committees. They are updated periodically
to comply with current laws, regulations and market guidelines, and to
keep pace with best practice in the area of corporate governance.

The Internal Rules were extensively revised in 2015 to reflect the
provisions of Directive 2013/36/EU on access to the activity of credit
institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and
investment firms (hereinafter the "CRD 4"), then amended in Octaber 2016
with, in particular, the development of three procedures applicable to
non-executive directors (number of directorships; conflicts of interest;
identification, selection and succession of directors). In 2018, the Internal
Rules were revised once again and the three existing procedures were
replaced by a Suitability policy for Members of the management body
and Key function holders, hereinafter “Suitability policy”. The proposed
amendments comply with the Afep-Medef Code, revised in January 2020,
the EBA Guidelines on both internal governance and the assessment of
the suitability of members of the management body and key function
holders (the “Fit and Proper Guidelines”) published on 26 September
2017 and applicable from 30 June 2018 and the Ordinance No. 2017-1162
of 12 July 2017. These documents and the Bank's Articles of association
were updated, a part of which was approved by the Annual General
Meeting of 19 May 2020, in order to harmonise them with the provisions
of the Pacte law of 22 May 2019 and are included in this report.

The Group Code of conduct, approved by the Board of directors, was
introduced in 2016.

Code of conduct (article 1.2 of the Internal Rules)

The Board of directors and Executive Management of BNP Paribas
share the conviction that the success of the Bank depends on the
behaviour of each employee. The Code of conduct “sets out the rules
to uphold our values and perform the Bank's missions. This Code,
which shall be integrated by each business line and each employee,

governs the actions of each employee, and guides the decisions at
every level of the organisation. For this purpose, the Board ensures
the Executive Management implements this Code into business lines,
countries and regions”.

Note that the Internal Rules emphasise the collegial nature of the Board
of directors, which jointly represents all shareholders and must act in the
Company's best interest at all times. It details the Board responsibilities
(article 1).

The Board of directors is backed by four specialised committees
(the Financial Statements Committee, the Internal Control, Risk and
Compliance Committee, the Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations
and CSR Committee, the Remuneration Committee) as well as any ad
hoc committees. The Internal rules detail each committee’s missions, in
line with the provisions of the CRD 4 and EBA Guidelines. They provide
for joint meetings between the Financial Statements Committee and the
Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee whenever required.

Neither the members of the Executive Management nor the Chairman of
the Board of directors have sat on any Committee since 1997.

As far as the Board is aware, no agreement has been entered into
directly, or through an intermediary, between on the one hand, one of
BNP Paribas’ directors and corporate officers and, on the other, another
company in which BNP Paribas owns, directly or indirectly, over half the
share capital (article L.225-37-4 paragraph two of the French Commercial
Code), without prejudice to any agreements relating to current operations
concluded under normal conditions.

The Internal Rules and Suitability policy mentioned above have been
adopted by the Board of directors and are included in this report.
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Missions and controls in the following areas:

m Orientations and strategic operations

m CSR promotion

m Governance, Internal Control and financial statements
m Supervision of risk management

m Financial communication

m Remuneration

m Preventive recovery plan

m Monitoring the application of the Code of conduct

Financial Statements
Committee
(cdc)

Members

Denis Kessler (C) (i)
Jacques Aschenbroich (i)
Wouter De Ploey (i)
Sandrine Verrier (ii)
Fields Wicker-Miurin (i)

Missions

m Monitoring the preparation of the
financial information

m Monitoring the efficiency of
the Internal Control systems and of
risk management systems regarding
accounting and financial matters

® Monitoring the statutory auditing of
the annual financial statements
and of the consolidated financial
statements by the Statutory
Auditors as well as the
independence of the Statutory
Auditors

!

Internal Control,
Risk Management and
Compliance Committee (CCIRC)

Members

Michel Tilmant (C) (i)
Monique Cohen (i)
Hughes Epaillard (ii)
Rajna Gibson-Brandon (i)
Fields Wicker-Miurin (i)

Missions

m Reviewing the global strategy
concerning risks

® Monitoring the remuneration
principles in relation to risks

m Reviewing issues relating to
Internal Control and compliance

m Reviewing the prices of products
and services in relation to the
risk strategy

Joint meetings of the CdC and the CCIRC
Chairman: Denis Kessler (i)

financial impacts

Missions

m Examining the mission plan of the General Inspection and the audit plan
of the Statutory Auditors and preparing the work of the Board on the
assessment of the risk policies and risk management measures

m Dealing with the common issues relating to the risk policies and their

Each committee is composed of members with expertise in the relevant
areas and complies with the provisions of the French Monetary and
Financial Code and the recommendations of the Afep-Medef Code. Thus,

m most of the members of the Financial Statements Committee have
qualifications and experience in company's financial management,
accounting and financial information. In consideration of his financial
skills, reinforced by his position as Chief Executive Officer of SCOR, a
major international reinsurance company, Denis Kessler is Chairman

!

Corporate Governance, Ethics,
Nominations and CSR
Committee (CGEN)

Members

Monique Cohen (C) (i)
Pierre-André de Chalendar (i)
Marion Guillou (i)

Daniela Schwarzer (i)

Missions
m Oversight and monitoring of
the compliance of governance
principles with changes in
regulations and best practice
in the area of corporate
governance

n Identification of, selection of,
and succession plan for
directors and committee
members

m Assessment of the Board of
directors

m Periodic review of the selection
of, appointment of and
succession process for corporate
officers

B Monitoring Executive
Management’s application of the
Suitability policy for Key function
holders under EBA guidelines

m Assessment of corporate officers
m Appraising the independence of
the directors

® Maintaining the general balance
of the Board of directors

® Regular monitoring of updates to
the Code of conduct

B Monitoring CSR issues
(Group's contribution to
economic, sustainable, and
responsible development)

Remuneration Committee
(cR)

Members

Pierre-André de Chalendar (C) (i)
Hughes Epaillard (ii)

Marion Guillou (i)

Fields Wicker-Miurin (i)

Missions
m Annual review of the principles
that underpin the Group's
remuneration policy

Annual review of the
remuneration, allowances and
benefits in kind granted to the
directors and corporate officers
of the Company and of the
Group's major French
subsidiaries

Annual review of the
remuneration of the Group's
regulated staff categories

Control of the remuneration
of the Head of the Risk
Management Function and
Head of Compliance

(C) Chairman.

(i) Independent director according to the
provisions of the Afep-Medef Code.

(ii) Director elected by employees.

of the Committee. Given the length of his term of office, Denis Kessler
did not wish to seek the renewal of his term of office, which expires
at the end of the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021. The Board
of directors will appoint a new Chairman;

m most of the members of the Internal Control, Risk and Compliance
Committee having particular expertise in financial matters and in the
area of risk through their training or experience. Its Chairman has
international experience in banking management. One of its members
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has been a member of the Board of the Autorité des Marchés Financiers
(AMF) and another has long-term financial risk experience. In addition,
a member of the Internal Control, Risks and Compliance Committee
is also a member of the Financial Statements Committee in order to
promote the work of the Committees on the appropriateness of the
risks and provisions recognised by the Bank;

B the members of the Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations and
CSR Committee are independent directors who have expertise in
corporate governance and in putting together management teams in
international companies. Some deal with CSR issues professionally;

m the Remuneration Committee is made up of independent members
who have experience of remuneration systems and market practices in
this area and includes a director elected by employees. Two members
of the Remuneration Committee are also members of the Internal
Control, Risk and Compliance Committee. This composition is intended
to facilitate the Board's work on the appropriateness of BNP Paribas’
remuneration principles with the risk policy.

The Chairman of the Board of directors attends the meetings of the
committees but is not a member of any of them and may add any subject
he considers relevant to the agenda.

European and French regulations applicable to BNP Paribas require
members of the Board of directors and executive corporate officers to
have integrity at all times, and to have the knowledge skills, experience
and time needed to perform their duties. The ECB is notified of their
appointment or re-appointment so that it can assess them on the basis
of these criteria. To date, BNP Paribas has not received any notification
from the ECB that these criteria have not been met.

In addition, the ECB did not issue any objections as regards the
composition of the Board of directors or its specialised committees.

1.a Separation of the functions of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer

As of 11 June 2003, BNP Paribas has dissociated the offices of Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. This decision complies with
the obligations imposed on credit institutions since 2014 by French law
transposing the CRD 4.

The duties of the Chairman
They are described in article 3.1 of the Internal Rules.

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the quality of the
relationship with shareholders is maintained, coordinating closely with
any steps taken by Executive Management in this area. In this connection,
the Chairman chairs the Shareholders Liaison Committee, whose task is
to assist the Bank in its communications with individual shareholders;
several times a year, he invites the shareholders to meetings where the
Company's strategy is explained. He reports on his duties to the Board
of directors.

The Chairman maintains a close and trusting relationship with Executive
Management and provides the team with assistance and advice while
respecting its executive responsibilities. The Chairman organises his
activities so as to ensure his availability and put his experience to the
Group's service. His duties are contributory in nature and do not confer
any executive power on him. They do not in any way restrict the powers
of the Chief Executive Officer, who has sole operational responsibility
for the Group.

Coordinating closely with Executive Management, the Chairman can
represent the Group in its high-level relationships, particularly with
major clients, public authorities and institutions, at national, European
and international levels. He plays an active part in discussions concerning
regulatory developments and public policies affecting BNP Paribas, and,
more generally, the financial services sector.

The Chairman contributes to promoting the values and image of
BNP Paribas, both within the Group and externally. He expresses his
views on the principles of action governing BNP Paribas, in particular in
the field of professional ethics. He contributes to enhancing the Group's
image through the responsibilities he exercises personally in national or
international public bodies.

At the request of the Chief Executive Officer, he can take part in any
internal meeting on subjects relating to Strategy, organisation, investment
or disinvestment projects, risks and financial information. He expresses
his opinions without prejudice to the remit of the Board of directors; he
provides support to the teams responsible for covering major companies
and international financial institutions; he also contributes to the
development of BNP Paribas’ advisory activities, particularly by assisting
in the completion of major corporate finance transactions.

He ensures that principles of corporate governance are defined and
implemented.

The Chairman is the custodian of the proper functioning of the Board of
directors of BNP Paribas. As such:

m with the support of the Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations
and CSR Committee, with the approval of the Board of directors and
of the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting, where appropriate, he
endeavours to build an efficient and balanced Board, and to manage,
both in the short- and long-term, the replacement and succession
processes related to the Board of directors and nominations which
will acknowledge the Company’s strategic ambitions;

m on the basis of the dissociation of the functions of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, his role is to ensure directors’ independence and
freedom of speech;

m he ensures that the directors have the documentation and information
necessary to carry out their duties in a timely manner and in a clear
and appropriate form.

The powers of the Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer has the broadest powers to act in all
circumstances on behalf of BNP Paribas, and to represent the Bank in
its relation with third parties. He is responsible for the organisation
of internal control procedures and for all the information required by
regulations in that regard.

He exercises his powers within the limitations of the corporate object, and
subject to any powers expressly attributed by law to the Shareholders’
Annual General Meeting and Board of directors.

The Internal Rules of the Board of directors provide that the Chief Executive
Officer shall request its prior approval for all investment or disinvestment
decisions (other than portfolio transactions) in excess of EUR 250 million,
and for any proposal to acquire or dispose of shareholdings in excess
of that threshold (other than portfolio transactions) (article 1.1). The
Chief Executive Officer must also ask the Board's Financial Statements
Committee for prior approval of any non-audit related assignment
involving fees in an amount of over EUR 1 million (excluding taxes)
(article 7.1.3).
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1.b Membership of the Board - Independence of directors

Membership of the Board of directors: a collegial body with collective competence

On the proposal of the Board of directors, the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020 reappointed Monique Cohen, Daniela Schwarzer,
Fields Wicker-Miurin, Jean Lemierre and Jacques Aschenbroich.

At the end of the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020 and as of 31 December 2020:

Number of Board 0/w elected Nationalities Percentage Independence
members Board members of women
14 2 5 41.7% > 50%

Independence of directors (as of 31 December 2020)

The following table shows the position of each director with regard to the independence criteria contained in the Afep-Medef Code to define an
independent director:

BONNAFE
CHALENDAR
BRANDON
Daniela
SCHWARZER
MIURIN

ke .
e =
e o
z |5
el -
—r [ —
= | &
8 | =
-_

ASCHENBROICH
Pierre-André de
Monique COHEN
Rajna GIBSON-
Marion GUILLOU
Denis KESSLER
Michel TILMANT
Wouter DE PLOEY
Sandrine VERRIER
Fields WICKER-

Hugues EPAILLARD

1 Not be, or have been, in the
last five years (i) an employee
or corporate officer of the
Company or of a consolidated
subsidiary of the Company;
(ii) a director of a consolidated
subsidiary 0 0 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 v/ 4 4 0 v

2 Whether or not corporate
offices are held in another

company 4 v v 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
3 Whether or not significant
business relationships exist v v v v v v v v v v v v v v

4 Whether or not there are close
family ties to a corporate
officer v v v v v v v v v v v v v v

5 Not have been a Statutory
Auditor of the Company in

the previous five years v v v v v v v v v v v v v v
6 Not a director of the Company

for more than 12 years 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 o v 4 4 4 4
7 Status of the non-executive

corporate officer 4 N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A N.A
8  Major shareholder status 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

v/ represents compliance with an independence criterion defined in the Afep-Medef Code.
represents non-compliance with an independence criterion defined in the Afep-Medef Code.
(*)  See below.

(]
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m The following directors meet the independence criteria contained in
the Corporate governance Code and reviewed by the Board of directors:
Monique Cohen, Rajna Gibson-Brandon, Marion Guillou, Daniela
Schwarzer, Fields Wicker-Miurin, Jacques Aschenbroich, Pierre-André
de Chalendar, Wouter De Ploey and Michel Tilmant.

In particular, for Monique Cohen, Jacques Aschenbroich, Pierre-André
de Chalendar and Denis Kessler, the Board of directors confirmed that
the business relations between BNP Paribas and respectively (i) Apax
Partners, as well as the companies in which Apax Partners holds
interests, (i) Valeo and its group, (iii) Saint-Gobain and its group, and
(iv) the SCOR SE group are not significant (the revenue generated by
each of these business relations accounted for less than 0.5% of the
total revenue reported by BNP Paribas).

m Finally, during the period that Denis Kessler has sat on the Board, he
has served under three successive Chief Executive Officers each having
managed the Bank in accordance with his own personality and his own
methods and practices. Consequently, the Board of directors deems
that Denis Kessler's critical faculties were renewed with each effective
change of management, thereby guaranteeing his independence. The
Board also took into consideration Denis Kessler's financial expertise,
a critical factor in understanding banking mechanisms (Doctorate
in economics and HEC graduate), reinforced by his position as the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of one of the world's major
reinsurance companies. Denis Kessler did not wish to seek the renewal
of his term of office as director, which expires at the end of the Annual
General Meeting of 18 May 2021.

B The two employee representatives on the Board, Sandrine Verrier and
Hugues Epaillard, do not qualify as independent directors pursuant to
the criteria contained in the Afep-Medef Code, despite their status and
the method by which they were elected, which nevertheless guarantee
their independence.

m Two directors appointed by the shareholders - the Chairman of the
Board of directors Jean Lemierre, and the Chief Executive Officer Jean-
Laurent Bonnafé - do not fulfil the independence criteria laid down by
the Corporate governance Code.

Over half of the directors of BNP Paribas are therefore independent in
terms of the criteria for independence contained in the Afep-Medef Code
and the Board of directors’ assessment.

Directors’ knowledge, skills and experience -
Diversity and complementarity

When the Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee
(CGEN) reviews the skills and experience of potential directors, it is
careful to maintain the diversity and collective skills of the Board of
directors in light of changes to the Bank's strategy and in accordance with
the Suitability policy. Thus, the Board brings together expertise in banking
and finance, risk management, international digital transformation and
CSR, as well as experience in Executive Management of large corporate
groups.

These candidates are identified and recommended by the committee on
the basis of criteria that combine personal and collective skills, according
to the procedures in the Internal Rules (article 4.2.1) and by the Suitability
policy (section Il Identification of, selection of and succession plan for
Members of the management body and Key function holders), which
ensure their independence of mind:

m competence, based on experience and the ability to understand the
issues and risks, enabling the directors to make informed and effective
decisions;

W courage, in particular to express opinions and make judgements,
enabling the directors to remain objective;

m availability and assiduity, which allow for the necessary detachment
and promote the directors’ commitment and sense of responsibility
regarding the exercise of their office;

m loyalty, which fosters directors’ commitment to the Company and
to their duties within the Board, which collectively represents the
shareholders;

m directors’ proper understanding of the Company's culture and ethics.

Directors all have a range of skills and experience that they have
acquired during their professional careers. The table below aims to
reflect this diversity within the Board of directors and lists more specific
contributions made by each of the directors.
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End of term
Nationality | Areas of expertise of office

Jean LEMIERRE French  Banking/Finance 2023
(Chairman) Risks/Regulation monitoring
International
Jean-Laurent BONNAFE 59 M French  Banking/Finance 2022
Chief Executive Officer and director Business operations
International
Jacques ASCHENBROICH 66 M French  Industrial 2023
International
Transformation
Pierre-André de CHALENDAR 62 M French  Industrial 2021
International
CSR
Monique COHEN 64 F French  Banking/Finance 2023
Business operations
CSR
Wouter DE PLOEY 55 M Belgian  Banking/Finance 2022
Digital
Transformation
Hugues EPAILLARD 54 M French  Organisation representing employees 2021
(director elected by employees)
Rajna GIBSON-BRANDON 58 F Swiss  Financial markets 2021
Risks/Regulation monitoring CSR
Marion GUILLOU 66 F French  Risks/Regulation monitoring CSR 2022
Technology
Denis KESSLER 68 M French  Insurance 2021

Business operations
Risks/Regulation monitoring

Daniela SCHWARZER 47 F German  Money markets 2023
Geopolitics
International
Michel TILMANT 68 M Belgian  Banking/Finance 2022
Risks/Regulation monitoring
International
Sandrine VERRIER 41 F French ~ Organisation representing employees 2021
(director elected by employees)
Fields WICKER-MIURIN 62 F British/  Banking/Finance 2023
American  Financial markets
International

In addition, the additional information referred to in Article L.22-10-10° of the French Commercial Code relating to employees is shown in Sections 7.3
entitled “Strong results” and section 7.6 entitled "Our Employees” of this document®.

(1) This information supplement the description of the diversity policy applied to members of the Board of directors.
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1.c Directors’ Ethical Conduct

| As far as the Board is aware, there are no conflicts of interests between
BNP Paribas and any of the directors. The Suitability policy requires
directors to report any situation likely to constitute a conflict of interest
to the Chairman, the Board of directors may then ask the director in
question to refrain from taking part in voting on the relevant issues.

| As far as the Board is aware, none of the Board members has been found
guilty of fraud or been associated, as member of an administrative,
management or supervisory body, or as Chief Executive Officer, with
any insolvency, receivership or liquidation proceedings during at least
the last five years.

| As far as the Board is aware, no member of the Board of directors is
subject to any official public accusation and/or penalty. No director
has been prohibited from acting in an official capacity during at least
the last five years.

m There are no arrangements or agreements with key shareholders,
customers, suppliers or other persons that involve the selection of
any member of the Board of directors.

m The directors must carry out their duties in a responsible manner,
particularly as regards the regulations relating to insider dealing.
They are notably required to comply with legal requirements
relating to being in possession of insider information. Under the
terms of the Internal Rules, they must also refrain from carrying out
any transactions in BNP Paribas shares that could be regarded as
speculative (article 4.3.1 of the Internal Rules). They are informed of
the periods during which they may, except in special circumstances,
carry out any transactions in BNP Paribas shares (article 4.3.1 of the
Internal Rules).

1.d Directors’ training and information

m Pursuant to the Internal Rules, every director can ask the Chairman
or the Chief Executive Officer to provide them with all the documents
and information required to enable them to carry out their duties, to
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participate effectively in the meetings of the Board of directors and to
make informed decisions, provided that such documents are necessary
to the decisions to be taken and connected with the Board's powers
(article 3.4.1 of the Internal Rules).

The directors have unrestricted and continuous access to the minutes
of meetings of the Board's specialised Committees and the minutes of
Board meetings using a special digital tool. This system also provides
directors with a range of useful information in a secure and timely
manner to facilitate them in their work. Since 2017, it has been
possible to use this system to deliver e-learning training modules
to directors.

Committee meetings provide an opportunity to update the directors on
the topical issues on the agenda. In addition, the Board is kept informed
of changes in the banking regulations and reference texts concerning
governance and can be trained on such occasions.

During three training days (March, June and September 2020), the
directors received training on (i) the Arval and Leasing Solutions
business, (ii) the operational resilience within the Group, (iii) the extra-
financial rating agencies, (iv) the role and architecture of information
systems within the Group and (v) the RISK program to harmonise the
Group's internal models. It was also the opportunity for directors to
meet with the relevant managers in the Group.

Pursuant to the provisions of the French Commercial Code on the
training of directors elected by employees and the time allotted to
them for the preparation of the meetings of the Board of directors and
its committees, the Board determined that the content of the training
programme would include the Bank's activities and organisation and
applicable regulations.

Regarding 2020, one director elected by the employees began a
diploma course at the Bank's Technical Institute for a total of 96 hours.
Moreover, like any other directors, they receive the training provided
by BNP Paribas as described below in addition to the training modules
delivered by external training providers.
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l.e Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings in 2020

Specialised Individual
Board of directors committees | attendance rates

J. LEMIERRE 100% 100%
J.-L. BONNAFE 100% 100%
J. ASCHENBROICH 100% 100% 100%
P-A. de CHALENDAR 100% 100% 100%
M. COHEN 92% 100% 97%
W. DE PLOEY 100% 100% 100%
H. EPAILLARD 100% 100% 100%
R. GIBSON-BRANDON 92% 100% 96%
M. GUILLOU 100% 100% 100%
D. KESSLER 100% 100% 100%
D. SCHWARZER 100% 100% 100%
M. TILMANT 100% 100% 100%
S. VERRIER 100% 100% 100%
F. WICKER-MIURIN 100% 100% 100%
Average 99% 100%

2. THE WORK OF THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES IN 2020

2.a The work of the Board in 2020

Meetings Including ext_raordinary Average attendance Stra.!:egy
meetings rate seminar
12 2 99% 1

The Board of directors, which determines BNP Paribas’ strategy and = decided to hold the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020 behind

overall business abjectives based on proposals submitted by Executive closed doors as part of the measures taken by the government to

Management and with the aim of promoting long-term value creation “simplify and adapt company law relating to the holding of General

in the light of social and environmental issues: Meetings” due to the health crisis;

m monitored the last year of the implementation of the 2017-2020 = considered that the variable compensation structure for corporate
transformation plan, marked by the Covid-19 health crisis. The results officers and significant risk takers met the ECB's wish for moderation
of the first nine months of the year demonstrate the strength of the stated in its press release of 28 July 2020;

Group's diversified and integrated model; the increase in the cost = approved the draft response to the ECB's letter received on
of risk is under control and the solvency ratios are higher than the 4 December 2020 on the identification and measurement of credit
requirements of the supervisors; risk in the context of the health crisis;

m in this unprecedented context, the Board of directors: m examined the Group's budget for the financial year 2021;
= closely monitored the Bank's operational, business and human m acknowledged the achievements of the year 2019 and the outlook

resources situation, as well as the impact in terms of risks; for 2020 in terms of the Bank's CSR policy, under the aegis of the 17
= proposed to reserve the full dividend for 2019 at the 2020 Annual United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, in particular the two
General Meeting in accordance with the recommendations of the ECB; major commitments made by the Group in 2019 to fight against global

warming and protect biodiversity;

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS 53



54

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Report on Corporate governance

B acknowledged the Bank's action plan to develop and strengthen the
analysis of the environmental, social and governance ("ESG") risks of
the Group's loan portfolio;

m approved the creation of an alternative Private Equity fund for the
Principal Investments business;

m monitored the disposals of the Group's equity investments in North
and West Africa;

m was informed of the action plan defined by the Bank following
the recommendations issued by the ECB on credit risk under the
Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) adapted in the
context of the health crisis;

m monitored the implementation of the Bank's IT and information
systems strategy;

B approved the Bank's outsourcing strategy;

B examined the adjustments required by Brexit on the Bank's organisation
and its consequences;

B acknowledged the Group's Code of tax conduct;
m monitored changes in the shareholding structure and share price;

m reviewed the Bank's relative performance compared with its
competitors;

m reviewed the regulatory ratios of the main systemically important
banks;

m was informed of the way in which the Group had decided to adapt its
system of listening to employees and the results of targeted surveys
among employees measuring their satisfaction at work;

m examined the opinion of the Central Works Council on the Bank's
strategic guidelines and acknowledged the clarifications provided by
the Human Resources Department;

B examined the issuance amounts of debt securities in the form of senior
and subordinated debt;

m continued to monitor the amount of funds allocated to the various
objectives of the Company's share buyback program authorised by the
Annual General Meeting during the first half of 2020;

m understood the Executive Management's comments on the net margin
generated on new lending in 2019 and in the first half of 2020;

m authorised the delegations of authority for the issuance of debt
securities, particularly for bonds and similar;

m examined the related-party agreements entered into and authorised
in previous years but still in force in the past year;

m renewed the delegation of responsibility for the internal control of
regulated subsidiaries so requesting and received a report from the
subsidiaries in question;

m reviewed and approved the answers to written questions submitted
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting;

m renewed the Group's American Depositary Receipt program.

For the sixth time, SSM representatives from the ECB and representatives
of the Autorité de contréle prudentiel et de résolution (ACPR) attended a
Board meeting (on 26 February 2020). They outlined their priorities for
banking supervision for 2020, which were followed by an exchange of
views with the members of the Board.

As in previous years, the Board of directors met on 17 December 2020
for a strategic seminar devoted, among other things, to the impact of the

Covid-19 crisis on the businesses within Domestic Markets, Corporate
and Institutional Banking and International Financial Services as well as
the challenges of the next strategic plan.

2.b Work performed by the Financial Statements
Committee and work approved by the Board

of directors in 2020
omberof N mestings ) Aaree
5 4 100%

Examination of the financial statements and financial
information
The Financial Statements Committee:

m conducted quarterly reviews of the financial statements based on the
documents and information provided by Executive Management and
the work carried out by the Statutory Auditors;

m each quarter, analysed summary reports of the consolidated results
and annualised return on equity, as well as results and profitability
by field of activity;

m each quarter, reviewed the Group's consolidated balance sheet and
changes to said balance sheet; on that occasion, it was given an update
on off-balance sheet commitments;

m each quarter, examined the report on internal audit control points
flagged by Group entities in the context of the certification of their
financial statements. It analysed the change in the risk level observed
for each of the thirty major accounting controls;

m each quarter, reviewed the work to make models used to calculate
credit risk provisions more reliable under IFRS 9;

m reviewed changes in equity and the capital adequacy ratio with regard
to the new prudential solvency regulations and new requirements
imposed by the regulator;

B examined trends in revenues and the cost/income ratio by business
for each quarter;

m reviewed the dividend distribution policy in view of the ECB's
recommendation on compliance with prudential and solvency rules
and the recommendation issued regarding the Covid-19 crisis;

B kept track of the changes in prudential requirements and reviewed
changes in risk-weighted assets;

m examined the provisions for litigation on a regular basis;
m reviewed goodwill;

m conducted a detailed analysis of the composition of the Group's
balance sheet;

m read the explanations relating to Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA)
adjustments.

Each quarter, when reviewing the results, it:

m heard the comments of the Chief Financial Officer and senior executive
in charge of accounting and financial reporting

m interviewed the Chief Financial Officer, without the presence of the
Executive Management;
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m heard the Statutory Auditors' comments and conclusions on the
quarterly and annual financial statements, where applicable;

m asked the Statutory Auditors the questions it considered necessary,
without the presence of the Executive Management or the Chief
Financial Officer;

m reviewed the accounting certification mechanisms as part of the
internal control procedures.

It reviewed the section of the management report concerning the
internal control procedures relating to the preparation and processing of
accounting and financial information in respect of 2019; it recommended
approval by the Board of directors.

The Board:

= was informed of all the work of the Financial Statements
Committee and the findings of the Statutory Auditors at the
end of each reporting period;

= examined and approved the results of the fourth quarter of
2019, full-year 2019 and the first three quarters of 2020;

= reviewed and approved draft press releases at each meeting
held to discuss the financial statements;

= acknowledged the report of the discussions held by the
Financial Statements Committee with the Statutory Auditors
and the Chief Financial Officer, without the presence of the
Executive Management;

= approved the section of the management report on the
preparation and processing of accounting and financial
information in respect of 2019.

Relations with the Statutory Auditors

The Financial Statements Committee received a written certificate of
independence from each of the Statutory Auditors.

It was informed of the amount of fees paid to the Statutory Auditors and
reviewed the summary report on assignments not directly related to
the statutory audit, without the presence of the Statutory Auditors. In
accordance with the Internal Rules (§ 7.1.3), it authorised one assignment
of this nature, which was submitted for its approval, and two assignments
relating to non-prohibited services for which the prior approval of the
Committee is required.

2.c Work performed by the Financial Statements
Commiittee and the Internal Control, Risk and
Compliance Committee in their joint meetings,
and work approved by the Board of directors

in 2020
Numb: . Attenda
el Meetings “ate
10 3 100%

The committees:

B acknowledged the stress tests carried out by the Bank to measure its
resistance to the impacts of the Covid-19 crisis;
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m reviewed the calculation methodology used by the Group to estimate
the ex ante provisions for credit risk under IFRS 9;

B acknowledged the Statutory Auditors’ audit plan for the financial year
2020;

m discussed whether the prices of the products and services proposed to
customers are compatible with the risk strategy (in accordance with
the provisions of CRD 4);

m reviewed the main ongoing legal disputes and proceedings for which
provisions have been, or may be, made;

B reviewed the economic assumptions used to prepare the budget;

m examined the EBA's new definition of default which will apply from
1 January 2021 and its impacts for the Group;

B monitored changes in the prudential capital requirement and have
been informed on how the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process
(SREP) had been adapted due to the health crisis;

m reviewed the ACPR's letter containing the Group's Global Systemically
Important Bank score.

The Board:

= was informed of all the work performed by the Financial Statements
Committee and the Internal Control, Risk and Compliance
Committee;

2.d Work performed by the Internal Control,
Risk and Compliance Committee and work
approved by the Board of directors in 2020

Number o . Attendance
rls:embersf Meetings rate
5 9 100%

Since 19 May 2020, the Internal Control, Risks and Compliance Committee
and the Financial Statements Committee have a joint member to support
the work of the committees on the appropriateness of the risks and
provisions recognised by the Bank.

Risks and liquidity
The Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee:

m reviewed the Risk Appetite Statement (RAS), the aggregate risk
thresholds, taking into consideration changes in relation to liquidity
risk, interest rate risk in the banking book and operational risk;

m was advised of the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process
report and reviewed the tolerance threshold above which it may
be deemed that the liquidity position complies with the Bank's risk
tolerance;

m reviewed the 2019 internal control report, including the report

on operational risk, including IT, permanent control and business
continuity as well as the control of outsourced activities;
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m monitored the deployment of the cybersecurity program within the
Group, its action plan, the priority topics and the related budget. It
was informed of the achievements of the year, in particular the way in
which the program has been adapted in the context of the health crisis
and the objectives for the following financial years. The Committee
reviewed the degree of maturity of each business and each region
according to the standards set by the Group;

m reviewed the dashboard presented quarterly by the Head of RISK
and reviewed trends in market, counterparty and credit risk as well
as liquidity. It regularly analysed the impacts of the health crisis on
the various risk categories. It deliberated on the basis of information
presented by RISK. The Head of Risk responded to the Committee's
questions during the meeting;

m was informed of any risk indicator limits that had been exceeded and,
where applicable, any action plans decided by Executive Management;

m examined the renewal of risk limits for specific sectors and activities;

m decided whether the Group's remuneration policy was compatible with
its risk profile.

The Board:

= was informed of all the Committee’s work on Group risks and
liquidity, in particular it was regularly informed of the impact
of the health crisis on risks;

= approved changes to the Group's RAS;

= approved the liquidity risk tolerance level and the policies,
procedures and internal systems relating to liquidity risk;

= approved the forwarding to the ACPR of the operational risk,
permanent control and business continuity components of the
internal control report;

= approved the renewal of risk limits for specific sectors and
activities.

Ad hoc work
The Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee:

m was informed of the impact of the health crisis on the IT system, in
particular the massive deployment of remote working and increased
vigilance in terms of cyber-attacks;

m acknowledged the Bank's proposed response to the ECB's letter of
28 July 2020 on the Bank's operational capability to deal with debtors
in difficulty,

m was informed of the implementation of the action plan defined
following the IT incidents during the first quarter of 2019;

m reviewed the outsourcing strategy as defined by Executive Management
in response to the follow-up letter relating to the ECB's Deep Dive on
the Third Party Risk Management;

m acknowledged the follow-up letters and the Bank's responses to the
ECB's missions on (i) IT Continuity Management, (i) Commercial Real
Estate and (iii) non-performing loans at BNL,

m was informed of the risk management framework for institutional
investors.

-

The Board:

= approved the Bank's draft response letter to the ECB's letter of
28 July 2020 on the Bank's operational capability to deal with
debtors in difficulty;

= approved the outsourcing strategy proposed and implemented
by Executive Management;

= was informed of the Committee's review of the ECB's
monitoring letters and of the Bank's responses to the missions
on i) IT Continuity Management, (i) Commercial Real Estate
and (iii) non-performing loans at BNL.

Compliance, internal control,
litigation and periodic control

The Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee:

m reviewed the section of the management report on internal control
and submitted it for the approval of the Board;

m reviewed the 2019 internal control report including the Compliance
Risk Assessment report, the key compliance points across all business
lines and geographical areas, and the periodic control report;

m reviewed reports on the organisation of internal control systems
on anti-money laundering and terrorism financing, as well as on
asset freezing in accordance with the provisions of the Decree of
21 December 2018 relating to the report on the organisation of the
Bank's systems in this area;

m examined the report prepared for 2019 on the assessment and
monitoring of risks, in accordance with the provisions of the order of
3 November 2014 on the internal control of companies in the banking,
payment services and investment services subject to the control of
the ACPR. It assessed the effectiveness of the policies and systems
put in place;

m reviewed the annual update of the recovery plan and resolution
documentation and was informed of any requests for additional
modifications made by supervisors to the recovery plan and resolution
documentation; it proposed that the Board approve the recovery plan;

m reviewed the European regulatory developments in terms of resolution
and was informed of the initial estimates of the Minimum Requirement
for own funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL) of the Group to be reached
by 1 January 2024 set by the Single Resolution Board;

| reviewed, at each of its meetings, the list of ongoing legal disputes
and proceedings, as well as the developments in each of the cases;

m discussed the main outcomes of the periodic control carried out in
2019,

m reviewed the General Inspection’s half-year report;
m analysed the Compliance Function’s half-year report;
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B continued to monitor the implementation of the remediation plan
initiated in 2014 at the US authorities' request (commitments made
by BNP Paribas to control activities carried out in US dollars);

m continued to monitor the outcome of the General Inspection review
of remediation;

m was informed of the way in which the audit plan for the financial year
2020 had been adjusted in the context of the health crisis;

m was informed of the changes related to the adoption in October 2019 of
the final Volcker rule called “Volcker 2.0”, which includes reductions in
the obligations relating to proprietary trading activities and its impact
on the Group's Compliance program;

m regularly reviewed the fines imposed on the Bank by supervisors.

The Board:

= was informed of all the Committee's work on internal control,
risks and compliance;

approved the section of the management report on 2019
internal control;

approved the forwarding to the ACPR of the compliance and
periodic control sections of the internal control report;

approved the forwarding to the ACPR of reports on the
organisation of internal control systems on anti-maney
laundering and terrorism financing, as well as on asset freezing;

= heard the results of the work done based on a report drawn up
for the assessment and monitoring of risks in 2019; confirmed
that the report on the assessment and monitoring of risks had
been forwarded to the ACPR;

approved the recovery plan, the updated version of which was
submitted to the ECB;

reviewed the modifications made to the resolution documents,
of which the updated version was submitted to the ACPR;

was informed of legislative work on the Bank resolution carried
out by the European authorities;

acknowledged the impacts on the Group's policy on the
changes related to the adoption in Octaber 2019 of the final
Volcker rule called "Volcker 2.0".

Ad hoc work
The Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee:
m was informed of the AMF control report on the governance of EMIR

(European Market Infrastructure Regulation) reporting and the
remediation plan prepared by Compliance;

m acknowledged the mission of the Banque Nationale de Belgique on the
anti-money laundering system (AML) of BNP Paribas Fortis.
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The Board:

= was informed of the review by the Committee of the remediation
plan prepared by Compliance following the AMF control report
on the governance of EMIR reporting.

The Committee interviewed the heads of the Risk, Compliance, General
Inspection and Legal Functions, without the presence of Executive
Management, and considered the impact of the health crisis on the
organisation and missions of these functions.

The Board:

= heard the report of the interviews.

2.e Work performed by the Corporate governance,
Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee and
work approved by the Board of directors

in 2020
Numb: . Attendance
n:’::n I:grgf Meetings rate
4 6 100%

Changes in the membership of the Board
and its specialised committees

The Governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee:

B examined the expiry dates of the directors’ terms of office and proposed
that the Board submit to the vote of the Shareholders’ Annual General
Meeting the renewal of the terms of office expiring in 2020, namely
those of Jean Lemierre, Jacques Aschenbroich, Monique Cohen, Daniela
Schwarzer and Fields Wicker-Miurin;

m proposed the reappointment of Jean Lemierre as Chairman of the Board
of directors;

| reviewed, on the proposal of the Chief Executive Officer, the extension
of the term of office of Philippe Bordenave, the Chief Operating Officer,
for one year, ie. until the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting in
2021, in accordance with the option provided for in Article 16 of the
Articles of association;

m reviewed the position of each of the directors and proposed to the
Board to appoint:

= Fields Wicker-Miurin as a joint member of the CCIRC and the
Financial Statements Committee, subject to the renewal of her term
of office at the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020, replacing
Marion Guillou. Fields Wicker-Miurin remains a member of the
Remuneration Committee,
= Marion Guillou as a member of the Remuneration Committee;
m examined the situation of directors asked to take up corporate offices
outside the Group, as provided for in the Suitability policy;
m examined the report on the current agreements entered into between
BNP Paribas and the directors in accordance with the procedure

relating to current agreements concluded under normal conditions
approved in 2019 by the Board.
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The Board:

= proposed that the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting
renews the terms of office of the directors in question;

= approved the reappointment of Jean Lemierre as Chairman
of the Board of directors effective immediately following the
Annaul General Meeting of 19 May 2020;

= approved the extension of the term of office of Philippe
Bordenave, Chief Operating Officer, i.e. until the Annual General
Meeting in 2021,

= appointed with immediate effect after the Annual General
Meeting of 19 May 2020 the directors proposed as members
of the various committees;

= concluded that all the agreements that were examined are in
fact current agreements concluded under normal conditions.

Governance
The Governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee:
| reviewed the updated pool of potential directors;

m examined and discussed with the director and Chief Executive Officer
the principles of the reorganisations expected in the Group over the
next two years, particularly in the context of the succession of the Chief
Operating Officer whose term expires in May 2021,

m proposed that the Board approve the gender balance target of 40%
on the Group's Executive Committee by 2025 on the basis of the
implementation terms and the action plan presented by Executive
Management;

m checked on the skills of Key function holders with the Human Resources
Department;

m was informed of the implementation and outcome of the controls
related to the Corporate governance Policy applicable to all subsidiaries
within BNP Paribas’ prudential consolidation scope;

m took note of the minutes of the Nominations Committees of the
subsidiaries with a balance sheet total of over EUR 5 billion;

m was informed of the content of exchanges between the Chairman of
the Board of directors and investors about the Bank's governance;

m examined the report on Corporate governance with respect to 2019;
it recommended approval by the Board of directors.

The Board:

= approved the gender balance target of 40% on the Group's
Executive Committee by 2025% on the basis of the implementation
terms and the action plan presented by Executive Management.
Executive Management will annually inform the Board of the
outcomes;

= approved the Corporate governance report for 2019.

(1) See Chapter 7 - page 572 for more détails.

Assessment of the Board of directors
The Committee:

m acknowledged the results of the 2019 internal assessment of the Board
of directors. The assessment confirmed the directors’ satisfaction with
the way in which the Board operates and the quality of the Chairman’s
discussions. It noted the professionalism of the management team,
the quality of the Board and the complementarity of its members;

m it monitored the implementation of the action plan arising from the
assessment conducted in 2019. This resulted in (i) regular discussions
within the Committee and the Board on the succession process for
corporate officers and holders of key positions in the Group, (ii) an in-
depth look at IT issues, particularly on cybersecurity via consultations
with the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Information Officer (CIO);

m proposed an action plan to the Board that was in keeping with the
action plan set out the previous year, in particular:

= (i) continuing discussions with the Group's operational managers,
in particular the CIO,

= (ii) deepening the understanding of CSR topics and those related
to operational risk,

= (iil) changes in and the composition of the shareholder base.

The Board approved the action plan following the 2019
assessment.

® In addition, in accordance with the 2014 Board decision, the 2020
assessment will be conducted by an outside firm. The Committee
selected the firm following a call for tenders and validated the content
of the questionnaire proposed for the completion of the Board of
directors’ assessment. This questionnaire includes aspects relating
to the functioning of the Board during the health crisis.

The Board approved the choice of the firm to conduct the
assessment for the year 2020.

Code of conduct

The Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee,
in accordance with its powers, dedicated a session to examining the
implementation of the Code of conduct within the subsidiaries and
the Group's geographical regions. In particular, it was informed of the
Covid-19 health crisis-related consequences which contributed to
strengthening the conduct dimension with the widespread use of remote
working, the acceleration of digitisation and the change in interactions
with customers.

The Board of directors continued to monitor the deployment
of the Code of conduct within the Group's subsidiaries and
geographical areas.

Remuneration of directors and the non-voting member

In light of the Remuneration Committee’s approval of the allocation
of remuneration paid to individual directors for 2020, the Corporate
governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee examined the
actual attendance of each director and of the non-voting member at the
Committees and Board in 2020.
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Social and Environmental Responsibility

As part of the extension of its powers, the Corporate governance, Ethics,
Nominations and CSR Committee examined the report on the Group's
social and environmental responsibility and proposed some amendments
and modifications.

The Committee:

m examined the Group’s CSR report and noted that the Group's progress
was recognised by extra-financial rating agencies, with overall scores
well above the banking average;

m reviewed the Bank's statement under the British Modern Slavery Act
which aims to ensure that the Bank's business activity does not involve
slavery or human trafficking. This statement is included in the Group's
CSR report;

B acknowledged the press release published by the Group on 11 May
2020 relating to its coal policy, in which the Group announced its
withdrawal from the financing of coal developers;

m was informed of the Group’s diversity and inclusion policy, particularly
in terms of gender equality.

The Board of directors:

= approved the Group's social and environmental responsibility
report, including the Extra-Financial Performance Statement,
with the amendments proposed by the Committee;

= approved the Bank's statement on the “Modern Slavery Act".

2f Work performed by the Remuneration
Committee and work approved by the Board
of directors in 2020

Number o . Attendance
members:f Meetings rate
4 5 100%

Two members of the Remuneration Committee are also members of the
Internal Control, Risk and Compliance Committee promoting therein
the work of the Committee on the appropriateness of BNP Paribas’
compensation principles and risk policy, thus meeting the requirements
of the French Monetary and Financial Code.

The Remuneration Committee:

In respect of the year 2019

m after receiving detailed information on Group employees whose
responsibilities within the Bank have a significant impact on the
Group's risk profile (“material risk takers”):
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B examined the issues relating to their remuneration;
m reviewed the final scope of the Group’s material risk takers;

m reviewed the 2020 published report on compensation paid to the
Group's material risk takers for 2019;

m examined the final parameters for determining the variable
remuneration package for the Global Markets business line and was
informed of the final package awarded and the way in which individual
awards were made for this business line;

m reviewed the list of the highest paid employees in 2019;

m audited the 2019 compensation of the Group’s Head of Risk and Head
of Compliance;

m examined, without the presence of the corporate officers, the
quantitative and qualitative performance criteria related to the annual
variable compensation of the corporate officers and proposed to the
Board to approve their variable compensation for 2019;

m reviewed the Say on pay files relating to each of the corporate officers
of BNP Paribas as well as the information shown in the Corporate
governance report concerning, in particular, the total compensation
and benefits in kind for all directors and corporate officers of
BNP Paribas (SA);

m was informed of the impacts of the Pacte law, which introduces
new disclosure requirements on the compensation of directors and
corporate officers of Listed companies as from the 2020 Shareholders’
Annual General Meeting, including the publication of the compensation
multiple for corporate officers;

m acknowledged the principles of the remuneration policy, actual
compensation, allowances and benefits in kind granted for the 2019
performance year to the corporate officers and the Heads of Risk and
Compliance of Group subsidiaries that meet the threshold set by law
and that have delegated these missions to the Committee;

m reviewed the resolution on compensation paid to the Group's
material risk takers that is subject to an annual advisory vote at the
Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting

m was informed of the summary of the General Inspection report
concerning the implementation of the review of material risk takers'
compensation in respect of 2019;

In respect of the year 2020

m reviewed the scope of the Group’s material risk takers identified as an
initial estimate in respect of 2020;

m examined the rules on deferred compensation and the variable
compensation payment terms applicable to the Group’s material risk
takers in 2020;

m examined the initial parameters used to determine the variable
compensation package for Global Markets’ employees for the 2020
performance year;
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| reviewed the remuneration policy applicable to directors and corporate
officers regarding performance in respect of the 2020 financial year;

m examined the impact of the health crisis on the compensation
of the Group's regulated population and that of corporate officers
and proposed that the Board consider that the current variable
compensation structure (i) would strongly impact the amounts that
would be actually paid to the MRTs and executive corporate officers
both for 2019 and in the longer term, (ii) fulfils the objective initially
set and (iii) responds to the desire for restraint expressed by the
authorities;

m renewed the terms and conditions of directors’ compensation in
an identical manner and reviewed the distribution of directors’
remuneration and the individual amount allocated to each director for
the financial year 2020 on the basis of the verification of the directors’
actual attendance at Board and Committee meetings as well as the
amount allocated to compensate the non-voting member based on
his actual attendance;

In respect of the year 2021

m reviewed the changes to the Group's remuneration policy, mainly
reflecting the provisions relating to the European CRD 5 directive
applicable from the 2021 financial year and proposed that the Board
approve the amended policy;

m proposed to the Board, as from the financial year 2021, to modify
terms and conditions of the directors’ and the non-voting member's
remuneration by aligning the variable portion paid to all the directors
at EUR 3,000 when the scheduled Board of directors’ meetings take
place by way of videoconferencing or telecommunication means;

m proposed to the Board to submit to the vote of the Shareholders’ Annual
General Meeting of 18 May 2021 the increase in the global amount
of directors’ remuneration from EUR 1.3 million to EUR 1.4 million,
an increase in proportion to the expansion of the Board of directors
due to the appointment of the director representing the employee
shareholders (ARSA) as from that date. This increase will be capped
for the financial year 2021 in proportion to the attendance of the ARSA.

The Board:

was informed of all the Remuneration Committee's work;

examined and approved, without the presence of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer, the assessment made by
the Committee of the quantitative and qualitative criteria related to the annual variable compensation of the corporate officers for the
performance year 2019;

ensured that the change in the variable compensation of executive corporate officers was appropriate;

approved the Say on Pay files for the financial year 2019 for the corporate officers as well as the information included in the Corporate
governance report concerning, in particular, total remuneration and benefits in kind for all directors and corporate officers of BNP Paribas
(SA), to be submitted to the vote of the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting;

considered that the existing compensation mechanisms for the Group’s regulated population and corporate officers make it possible to
“moderate” the amounts paid in the event of a crisis;

heard the Committee Chairman’s report on the appropriateness of the compensation of the Heads of Risk and Compliance for the 2019
performance year,

was informed by the Committee Chairman of the approach used to identify those employees whose professional activities have a significant
impact on the Company's risk prafile and the principles for their remuneration as proposed by Executive Management for the 2020 performance
year;

approved, without the presence of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer, the remuneration policy for directors and
corporate officers for the financial year 2020;

approved the individual split of the remuneration allocated to the directors and that allocated to the non-voting member for the financial
year 2020;

approved as from the financial year 2021 the proposed modification of the terms and conditions to compensate directors in the case of
scheduled meetings of the Board of directors held by videoconference or telecommunication means;

approved the changes to the Group's remuneration policy as from the financial year 2021;

approved the submission to the vote of the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021 to increase the global amount of directors'
remuneration from EUR 1.3 million to EUR 1.4 million as of that date.
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INTERNAL RULES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PREAMBLE
The rules concerning:

m the Board of directors;

m the members of the Board of directors, including their rights and
obligations;

m the Board of directors’ Committees;

are set by the statutory and regulatory provisions, the Company's Articles
of Association, and these rules (in addition to these Internal rules of the
Board of directors, there is the Policy on the suitability of Members of
the management body and Key function holders mentioned in 1.3 below).
The Board of directors also takes into account the French market
guidelines concerning corporate governance and, in particular, the
provisions of the corporate governance Code for listed companies
published by the French employers' organisations Association Frangaise
des Entreprises Privées (Afep) and the Mouvement des Entreprises
de France (Medef), hereinafter called the Afep-Medef Code, to which
BNP Paribas (the “Company") refers.

The Board of directors is a collegial body that collectively represents all
shareholders and acts in all circumstances in the corporate interests
of the Company.

The Board of directors is assisted by specialised committees:

m financial statements Committee;

m internal control, risk management and compliance Committee;

B corporate governance, ethics, nominations and CSR Committee; and
m remuneration Committee;

as well as by any ad hoc committee.

PART ONE - THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
COLLEGIAL BODY

ARTICLE 1. DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of directors discusses any question coming within the scope
of its statutory and regulatory duties and contributes to promoting the
corporate values aimed, in particular, to ensuring that the conduct of
BNP Paribas’ activities by its employees complies with the highest ethical
requirements in order to protect the reputation of the Bank.

In particular and non-exhaustively, the Board of directors is competent
in the following areas:

1.1. ORIENTATIONS AND STRATEGIC OPERATIONS
The Board of directors:

m determines BNP Paribas’ s business orientations and supervises their
implementation by the Executive Management, taking the social and
environmental challenges of BNP Paribas’ activities into consideration;

B subject to the powers expressly allocated to the shareholders’
meetings and within the limit of the corporate purpose, it handles
any issue concerning the smooth running of the Company and settles
by its decisions any matters concerning it;

| gives its prior approval with respect to all investment or disinvestment
decisions (other than portfolio transactions) in an amount in
excess of EUR 250 million, and any proposal to acquire or dispose
of shareholdings (other than portfolio transactions) in excess of
that threshold, submitted to it by the Chief Executive Officer. It is
also regularly informed by the Chief Executive Officer of significant
transactions which fall below this limit;

| gives its prior approval to any significant strategic operation which
falls outside the approved arientations;

m promotes long-term value creation by BNP Paribas.

12. CODE OF CONDUCT

The Board of directors and the Executive Management have developed
a Code of conduct of BNP Paribas Group which defines the standards of
conduct in line with the values and missions determined by the Bank.
This Code, which shall be integrated by each business line and each
employee, gaverns the actions of each employee and guides the decisions
at every level of the organisation. For this purpose, the Board ensures
the Executive Management implements this Code into business lines,
countries and regions.

1.3. GOVERNANCE, INTERNAL CONTROL
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of directors:

m appoints the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and, on the
recommendation of the latter, the Chief Operating Officer(s) (COO);

B sets any limits to the powers of the Chief Executive Officer and of the
Chief Operating Officer(s);

B examines the system of governance, which includes, in particular,
a clear organisational structure with well defined, transparent and
consistent sharing of responsibilities, efficient processes to identify,
manage, monitor and report the risks to which the Company is or
might be exposed to; it periodically assesses the efficiency of this
governance system and ensures that corrective measures have been
taken to remedy any failings;

B determines the orientations and controls their implementation by the
actual managers of the monitoring measures in order to guarantee
an effective and prudent management of the Company, including the
segregation of duties in the organisation of the Company and the
prevention of conflicts of interests;

m ensures the fulfilment of the obligations which are incumbent on it
concerning internal control, and, in particular, examines, at least twice
a year, the activity and the results of the internal control;

W approves the management report and the corporate governance report
attached to it;

| carries out the controls and verifications which it deems appropriate;

B ensures that the Chief Executive Officer and/or Chief Operating
Officer(s) implement a policy of non-discrimination and of diversity
including gender balance in management bodies;

m ensures the implementation of process for preventing and detecting
corruption and influence-peddling for which it receives all the
information required for that purpose;
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m examines and closes the financial statements and ensures their
sincerity;

| reviews, at least once a year, the draft budgets and the drafts of the
various statutory and regulatory reports which the Chief Executive
Officer submits to it;

B prepares a suitability policy that defines the assessment of Members
of the management body and of Key function holders (the "Policy on
the suitability of Members of the management body and Key function
holders"); the Board of directors (and its committees) apply this policy
and revise it regularly to account in particular for any regulatory
changes;

| gives its approval prior to the dismissal of the Heads of the following
functions: Risk Management, Compliance, or the General Inspection.

14. RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of directors:

m regularly examines, in connection with the strategy it has defined, the
opportunities and risks, such as financial, legal, operational, social,
and environmental risks, as well as the measures taken as a result;

B as such, approves and regularly reviews the strategies and policies
governing the taking, management, monitoring and reduction of the
risks to which the Company is or might be exposed to, including the
risks caused by the economic environment. In particular, the Board of
directors approves the global risk limits and puts into place a specific
process organising its information and, as the case may be, the referral
of the matter to it in the event these limits are exceeded.

15. COMMUNICATION
The Board of directors:

m ensures that the financial information disclosed to the shareholders
and the markets is of high quality;

| controls the process of financial publication and communication,
quality and reliability of the information intended to be published
and communicated by the Company.

1.6. REMUNERATION
The Board of directors:

m allocates, without prejudice to the powers of the Annual General
Meeting, the directors’ attendance fees;

m adopts and regularly reviews the general principles of the remuneration
policy of the Group which relates, in particular, to the categories of staff
including the risk takers, staff engaged in control functions and any
employee who, given his overall income, is in the same remuneration
bracket as those whose professional activities have an impact on the
risk profile of the Group;

m decides, without prejudice to the powers of the Annual General
Meeting, the remuneration of the managers who are corporate officers
(dirigeants mandataires sociaux), in particular their fixed and variable
remuneration as well as any other means of remuneration or benefit
in kind.

1.7. RESOLUTION

The Board of directors settles the preventive recovery plan of the
institution, as well as the items necessary to establish the resolution
plan communicated to the competent regulatory authorities.

ARTICLE 2. FUNCTIONING OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

2.1. ORGANISATION OF THE MEETINGS

The Board of directors meets at least four times a year and as often as
circumstances or BNP Paribas’ interest requires this.

Notices of meetings may be communicated by the Secretary of the Board.

The Secretary of the Board prepares all of the documents necessary
to the Board meetings and arranges to place all of the documentation
at the disposal of the directors and other participants in the meetings.

An attendance register is kept, which is signed by the directors taking
part in the meeting. It mentions the names of the directors considered
as present.

The Board of directors' decisions are recorded in minutes by the Secretary
of the Board which are entered into a special register, in accordance with
the laws in force. The Secretary of the Board of directors is authorized
to issue and certify copies or excerpts of the Board minutes. Each set of
Board minutes must be approved at a subsequent Board meeting.

The decisions of the Board of directors are carried out either by the
Chief Executive Officer, or a Chief Operating Officer, or by any special
representative appointed by the Board of directors.

2.2. MEANS OF PARTICIPATION

Directors taking part in the meeting by videoconference (visioconference)
or telecommunication means enabling their identification, guaranteeing
their effective participation, transmitting at least the voices of the
participants, and meeting, through their technical features, the needs
of confidentiality, of continuous and simultaneous retransmission, with
the exception of Board meetings closing out the financial statements
and the annual report, shall be deemed to be present for the purpose of
calculating both the quorum and the majority. The minutes state, as the
case may be, the occurrence of any technical incidents if they disturbed
the conduct of the meeting.

PART TWO - THE MEMBERS
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ARTICLE 3. COMPOSITION, INFORMATION
AND SKILLS

3.1. CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3.1.1.  Relations with the Company’s other bodies

and with parties outside the Company

In relations with the Company's other bodies and with parties outside the
Company, the Chairman of the Board of directors alone has the power
to act on behalf of the Board of directors and to express himself in its
name, except in exceptional circumstances, and except where specific
assignments or duties are entrusted by the Board of directors to another

director.

The Chairman makes sure that he maintains a close and trusting relationship
with Executive Management. He provides him with his assistance and his
advice while respecting his executive responsibilities. He organises his
activities so as to ensure his availability and put his experience at the
Company's service. He contributes to promoting the values and image of
the Company, both within the Group and externally.
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Coordinating closely with Executive Management, he can represent
the Group in its high level relationships, and particularly with major
clients, public authorities and the institutions on national, European and
international levels.

He ensures that the quality of relations with shareholders is maintained,
in close coordination with the work of Executive Management in this area.
He reports on this mission to the Board.

He ensures that principles of corporate governance are defined and
implemented.

The Chairman is the custodian of the proper functioning of the Board of
directors of BNP Paribas. As such:

m with the support of the corporate governance, ethics, nominations
and CSR Committee, with the approval of the Board of directors and
of the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting, where appropriate, he
endeavours to build an efficient and balanced Board, and to manage
replacement and succession plan processes related to the Board of
directors and nominations on which it will have to opine;

B he can attend all committee meetings and can add any subject to the
agenda of the latter which he considers to be relevant;

m he ensures that the directors have the documentation and information
necessary to carry out their duties in a timely manner and in a clear
and appropriate form.

3.1.2. Organisation of the work of the Board of directors
The Chairman organises and manages the work of the Board of directors
in order to allow it to carry out all of its duties. He sets the timetable and
agenda of Board meetings and convenes them.

He ensures that the work of the Board of directors is well organised, in
amanner conducive to constructive discussion and decision-making. He
directs the work of the Board of directors and coordinates its work with
that of the specialised committees.

He sees to it that the Board of directors devotes an appropriate amount
of time to issues relating to the future of the Company and particularly
its strategy.

The Chairman is kept regularly informed by the Chief Executive Officer and
other members of the Executive Management of significant events and
situations relating to the business of the Group, particularly those relating
to: deployment of strategy, organisation, investment or disinvestment
projects, financial transactions, risks, financial statements.

The Chief Executive Officer provides the Chairman with all information
required under French law regarding the internal control report.

He may ask the Chief Executive Officer or any manager, and in particular,
the heads of the control functions, for any information likely to assist the
Board and its committees in the carrying out of their duties.

He may hear the Statutory Auditors in order to prepare the work of the
Board of directors and of the financial statements' Committee.

3.2. DIRECTORS

They undertake to act in the corporate interest of BNP Paribas and
to comply with all of the provisions of these Internal rules that are
applicable to them, and more specifically the procedures of the Board
of directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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3.3. OTHER PARTICIPANTS

3.3.1. Non-voting director (censeurs)

The non-voting directors attend the meetings of the Board and of the
specialised committees in an advisory capacity.

3.3.2. Statutory Auditors

The Statutory Auditors attend the meetings of the Board and of the
specialised committees which examine or close the annual or interim
financial statements and may attend the meetings of the Board and of
the specialised committees when the Chairman of the Board considers
it necessary.

3.3.3. Persons invited

The Board can decide to invite one or several persons to attend the
meetings.

3.3.4. Representative of the Central Works Committee

The representative of the Central Works Committee attends the meetings
of the Board in an advisory capacity.

3.3.5. Secretary of the Board
The Secretary of the Board is appointed by the Board and attends the
meetings of the latter.

3.3.6. Heads of the control functions

If necessary, in the case of particular events affecting or Likely to affect
BNP Paribas, the heads of the control functions can report directly to
the Board and, as the case may be, to its committees, to express their
concerns without referring to the actual managers.

The individuals specified in point 3.3 are subject to the same rules of
ethics, confidentiality and professional conduct as the directors.

3.4. ACCESS TO INFORMATION

3.4.1. Information and documentation

For the purpose of efficiently participating in the Board of directors’
meetings and making enlightened decisions, each director may ask that
the Chairman or the Chief Executive Officer communicates to him all
documents and information necessary to perform his duties, if these
documents are useful for making decisions and are related to the Board
of directors’ powers.

Requests are sent to the Secretary of the Board of directors who informs
the Chairman thereof.

When the Secretary of the Board of directors considers this preferable,
for reasons of convenience or confidentiality, the documents thus placed
at the disposal of the directors as well as of any person attending the
meetings of the Board are consulted through the Secretary of the Board
or through the competent employee of the Group.

34.2. Systems

The placing at disposal of the directors or of any person attending the
Board meetings of all of the documentation with a view to meetings of the
Board, may be done by any means, including dematerialised. In this case,
all the measures of protection considered necessary are taken to protect
the confidentiality, the integrity and the availability of the information
and each member of the Board or any person who has received the
documentation is responsible not only for the systems and media thus
placed at disposal but also for their access.
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3.5. TRAINING, INDIVIDUAL AND COLLECTIVE SKILLS

The directors of BNP Paribas possess, both individually and collectively,
the expertise, experience, skills, understanding and personal qualities
necessary, notably in terms of professionalism and integrity, to properly
perform their duties in connection with each of the significant activities
of BNP Paribas and guaranteeing efficient governance and supervision.

The directors shall ensure that their knowledge is kept updated
in compliance with the Policy on the suitability of Members of the
management body and Key function holders.

The directors representing employees and the director representing
employee shareholders are given time dedicated to training determined
by the Board in accordance with the regulations in force. At the end
of the training, the training centre chosen by the Board must issue a
certificate of regular attendance, which the director must remit to the
Secretary of the Board.

ARTICLE 4. OBLIGATIONS

4.1. HOLDING AND KEEPING OF BNP PARIBAS
SHARES

Every director appointed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting must
personally hold 1,000 shares. The director must hold all of the shares
within twelve months of his appointment. At the expiry of this period,
every director concerned shall make sure to keep the minimum number
of BNP Paribas’ shares throughout his term of office.

The directors undertake not to engage in any individual hedging or
insurance strategies to cover their risk on such shares.

This obligation does not concern directors representing employees and
director representing employee shareholders.

4.2. ETHICS - CONFIDENTIALITY

4.2.1. Ethics

4.2.1.1. Availability and regular attendance

The members of the Board of directors shall devote the time and the effort
necessary to carry out their duties and responsibilities, in compliance
with the Policy on the suitability of Members of the management body
and Key function holders.

The directors representing employees and the director representing
employee shareholders are given a preparation time determined by
the Board in accordance with the Guidelines on the assessment of the
suitability of Members of the management bady and Key function holders.

42.1.2. Independence and loyalty

Every member of the Board of directors shall at all times maintain his or
her independence of mind, in compliance with the Policy on the suitability
of Members of the management body and Key function holders.

He shall act with loyalty towards the other directors, shareholders and
BNP Paribas.

He shall refuse any benefit or service liable to compromise his
independence.

4.2.1.3. Duty of vigilance

Every member of the Board of directors is bound by a duty of vigilance
with respect to the keeping, use and, as the case may be, the return of
the systems, documents and information placed at disposal.

4.22.  Confidentiality

Any director and any person participating in the work of the Board is
bound by an obligation of absolute confidentiality about the content of
the discussions and decisions of the Board and of its committees as well
as the information and documents which are presented therein or which
are provided to them, in any form whatsoever.

Except as provided by law, he is prohibited from communicating to any
person outside of the Board of directors any information that has not
been made public by BNP Paribas.

4.3. ETHICAL CONDUCT - LIMITATION ON
DIRECTORSHIPS - CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS -
PERSONAL DECLARATIONS

4.3.1. Ethical conduct

If directors have any questions related to ethical conduct, they may
consult the head of the Group Compliance Function.

The legislation relating to insider trading applies particularly to directors
both in a personal capacity and when carrying out their duties within
companies that hold shares in BNP Paribas. They are required, in particular,
to respect the legal requirements governing the definition, communication
and exploitation of privileged information, the principal provisions of which
are communicated to them when they take directorship.

Directors can only deal in securities of BNP Paribas on a personal basis
during the period of six-weeks beginning on the day after the publication
of the quarterly and annual financial statements, or after the publication
of a press release on the Company's running, unless they are in possession
during that period of information that puts them in the position of an
insider with respect to the stock exchange regulations.

Directors shall refrain from any transactions that could be considered as
speculative, and in particular from leveraged purchases or short sales,
or short-term trading.

The director as well as the persons with close connections with him
are under the obligation to declare to the French Financial Markets
Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers - AMF), which ensures the
publication thereof, and to BNP Paribas the transactions that they execute
in BNP Paribas shares and the financial instruments related thereto.

4.3.2.  Limitation on directorships

The director complies with the statutory and regulatory provisions which
are applicable to him or her, or which are applicable to BNP Paribas,
concerning limitation on directorships, as well as the Policy on the
suitability of Members of the management body and Key function holders.

4.3.3.  Conflicts of interests

The director complies with the applicable statutory and regulatory
provisions regarding conflicts of interests - in particular the so-called
“related-party agreements” (conventions réglementées) regime as well
as with the Policy on the suitability of Members of the management body
and Key function holders.

Whatever the circumstances, in the event of breach of the obligations
with respect to conflict of interests by a director, the Chairman of the
Board of directors shall take all the statutory measures necessary in
order to remedy it. He can, furthermore, keep the relevant regulators
informed of such acts.
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4.34.  Personal declarations

The director undertakes to inform the Secretary of the Board as soon
as possible of any change in his personal situation (change of address,
appointment, directorships, duties carried out, or criminal, civil, or
administrative convictions, etc.).

In particular, and in compliance with the Policy on the suitability
of Members of the management body and Key function holders, the
director shall inform, as soon as possible, the Chairman of the Board of
directors of any criminal or civil conviction, management prohibition,
administrative or disciplinary sanction, or measure of exclusion from a
professional organisation, as well as any proceedings liable to entail such
sanctions against him or her, any dismissal for professional misconduct,
or any dismissal from a directorship of which he or she may be the
subject. Similarly, the director informs the Chairman of the Board of
directors of any criminal or civil order entered against it, administrative
or disciplinary sanction or measure of exclusion from a professional
organisation, as well as of any Court-ordered reorganisation or liquidation
measure of which a company of which he is the manager, shareholder or
partner is the subject or would be liable to be the subject.

ARTICLE 5. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
AND NON-VOTING DIRECTORS
(CENSEURS)

The overall amount of remuneration given to the directors is determined
by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

The individual amount of remuneration given to directors is determined
by the Board of directors pursuant to a proposal by the remuneration
Committee. It comprises a predominant variable portion based on
actual participation in meetings, regardless of the means. Directors
residing abroad receive an increased amount, except where they may
participate in meetings of the Board of directors by videoconference or
telecommunications means.

Actual participation in the committees entitles committee members to
an additional remuneration, the amount of which may differ depending
on the committees. Committee members receive this additional
remuneration for their participation in each different Committee. The
Chairmen of Committees also receive an additional remuneration.

The remuneration of the non-voting directors is determined by the Board
of directors pursuant to a proposal of the Remuneration Committee.

PART THREE - THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
SPECIALISED COMMITTEES

To facilitate the performance of their duties by BNP Paribas’ directars,
specialised committees are created within the Board of directors.

ARTICLE 6. COMMON PROVISIONS

6.1. COMPOSITION AND SKILLS

They consist of members of the Board of directors who do not carry
out management duties within the Company. They include the required
number of members who meet the criteria required to qualify as
independent, as recommended by the Afep-Medef Code. The members
of the committees have the knowledge and skills suited to carry out of
the missions of the committees in which they participate.
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The remunerations Committee includes at least one director representing
the employees.

Their remits do not reduce or limit the powers of the Board of directors.

The Chairman of the Board of directors sees to it that the number,
missions, composition, and functioning of the committees are adapted
at all times to the statutory and regulatory provisions, to the Board of
directors’ needs and to the best corporate governance practices.

By decision of the Board, the internal control, Risk management and
compliance Committee (CCIRC), the remunerations Committee (RemCo),
the corporate Governance, ethics, nominations and CSR Committee
(CGEN) may, in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 511-91 of the
French Monetary and Financial Code (Code Monétaire et Financier) ensure
their missions for the companies of the Group under the supervision of
the regulator on a consolidated or sub-consolidated basis.

6.2. MEETINGS
The committees shall meet as often as necessary.

6.3. MEANS PLACED AT THE DISPOSAL
OF THE COMMITTEES

They may call upon outside experts when needed.

The Chairman of a Committee may ask to hear any officer within the
Group, regarding issues falling within this Committee’s jurisdiction, as
defined in the present Internal rules.

The Secretary of the Board prepares all of the documents necessary to
the meetings of the specialised committees and organises the placing of
the documentation at the disposal of the directors and other participants
in the meetings.

This documentation can be placed at disposal by any means, including
dematerialised. In this case, all the measures of protection considered
necessary are taken for the purposes of protecting the confidentiality,
integrity and the availability of the information and each member of the
specialised Committee concerned or any person who has received the
documentation is responsible not only for the systems and media and
their provision but also for their access.

6.4. OPINIONS AND MINUTES

They express opinions intended for the Board of directors. The Chairmen
of committees, or in case of their impediment another member of the
same committee, present a verbal summary of their work at the next
Board of directors’ meeting.

Written reports of committees’ meetings are prepared by the Secretary
of the Board and communicated, after approval at a subsequent meeting,
to the directors who so request.

ARTICLE 7. THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
COMMITTEE

7.1. MISSIONS

In accordance with the provisions of the French Commercial Code,
the Committee ensures the monitoring of the issues concerning the
preparation and verification of the accounting and financial information.

7.1.1. Monitoring of the process of preparation

of the financial information
The Committee is tasked with analysing the quarterly, half-yearly and annual
financial statements issued by the Company in connection with the closing
of financial statements and obtaining further explanations of certain items
prior to presentation of the financial statements to the Board of directors.
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The Committee shall examine all matters relating to these accounts
and financial statements: the choices of accounting principles and
policies, provisions, analytical results, prudential standards, profitability
indicators, and all other accounting matters that raise methodological
issues or are liable to give rise to potential risks.

It makes, as the case may be, recommendations, in order to ensure
integrity of the elaboration process of the financial information.

7.1.2. Monitoring of the efficiency of the internal
control systems and of risk management
concerning accounting and financial matters
The Committee shall analyse, at least twice a year, the summary of
the operations and the results of the internal accounting and financial
control, as well as those originate from controls on the elaboration
pracess and the processing of accounting, financial and extra-financial
information, based on the information communicated to it by the
Executive Management. It shall be briefed of incidents revealed by the
accounting and financial internal control, reported on the basis of the
thresholds and criteria defined by the Board of directors and shall report
on its findings to the Board of directors.

It is informed by the Chairman of the Board of directors of any possible
failure to implement corrective measures decided within the framework
of the accounting and financial internal control system that has been
brought to his direct knowledge by the head of periodic control and
reports on its findings to the Board of directors.

7.1.3. Monitoring of the statutory auditing of the annual
financial statements and of the consolidated
financial statements by the Statutory Auditors
as well as of the independence of the Statutory
Auditors

The Committee shall steer the procedure for selection of the Statutory

Auditors, express an opinion on the amount of fees charged for conducting

the legal auditing engagements and report to the Board of directors on

the outcome of this selection process.

It shall review the Statutory Auditors’ audit plan, together with their
recommendations and their monitoring.

It shall be notified on a yearly basis of the amount and breakdown of
the fees paid by the BNP Paribas Group to the Statutory Auditors and
the networks to which they belong, calculated using a model approved
by the Committee. It shall ensure that the amount or the portion of the
audit firms or the networks' revenues that BNP Paribas represents is not
likely to compromise the Statutory Auditors’ independence.

Its prior approval shall be required for any engagement entailing total
fees of over EUR 1 million (before tax). The Committee shall approve,
a posteriori, all other engagements, based on submissions from
the Finance Department. The Committee shall validate the Finance
Department's fast-track approval and control procedure for all “non-
audit” engagements entailing fees of over EUR 50,000. The Committee
shall receive, on a yearly basis from the Finance Department, a report
on all “non-audit” engagements carried out by the networks to which
the Group's Statutory Auditors belong.

It receives from the Statutory Auditors a written report on their main
observations concerning the weaknesses of internal control and
reviews it, as well as most significant recommendations issued in the
framework of their mission and reviews it. It takes notes of the most
significant statements and recommendations issued by the internal audit
in the framework of their missions regarding accounting and financial
information.

Each Statutory Auditor shall report on a yearly basis to the Committee on
its internal control system for guaranteeing its independence, and shall
provide a written statement of its independence in auditing the Group.

The Committee accounts for the statements and conclusions of the Haut
Conseil des Commissaires aux comptes (H3C) resulting from the controls
provided by the H3C in the professional activity of Statutory Auditors.

At least twice a year, the Committee shall devote part of a meeting to a
discussion with the team of Statutory Auditors, without any member of
the company's Executive Management being present.

The Committee meets in the presence of the team of Statutory Auditors,
to review quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial statements.

However, the Statutory Auditors shall not attend all or part of Committee
meetings dealing with their fees or their re-appointment.

The Statutory Auditors shall not attend all or part of Committee meetings
dealing with specific issues that concern a member of their staff.

Except in the event of exceptional circumstances, the files containing
the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and financial statements
shall be sent to Committee members at least three days prior to the
Committee meetings.

Where questions of interpretation of accounting principles arise in
connection with quarterly, half-yearly and annual results, and involve
choices with a significant impact, the Statutory Auditors and FINANCE
shall submit, on a quarterly basis, a memorandum to the Committee
analysing the nature and significance of the issues at play, presenting
the pros and cons of the various possible solutions and explaining the
rationale for the choices ultimately made.

They present, at least twice a year, a note on the works on certification of
the financial statements. Based on it, the Committee reports to the Board
on the results of this mission and on the way this mission has contributed
to the integrity of the financial information and on his own role in it.

7.2. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Committee shall review that part of the draft of the Chairman's report
on internal control procedures relating to the preparation and processing
of accounting and financial information.

7.3. HEARINGS

With regard to all issues falling within its jurisdiction, the Committee may,
at its initiative, hear the heads of finances and accounting of the Group,
as well as the head of Asset/liability management.

The Committee may ask to hear the head of Finances Group with regard
to any issue within its jurisdiction, for which he may be held liable, or
the Company’s management may be held liable, or that could call into
question the quality of accounting and financial information disclosed
by the Company.
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ARTICLE 8. THE INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK
MANAGEMENT AND COMPLIANCE
COMMITTEE

8.1. MISSIONS

8.1.1. Missions concerning the global risk strategy

The Committee advises the Board of directors on the adequacy of the
global strategy of the Company and the overall current and future risk
appetite. It assists the Board of directors when the latter verifies the
implementation of this strategy by the actual managers and by the head
of risk management.

For this purpose, the Committee examines the key orientations of the
Group's risk policy, including social and environmental orientations, based
on measurements of the risk and profitability of the operations reported
to it, in accordance with the regulations in force, as well as any specific
issues related to these matters and methods.

In the event that a global risk Limit is exceeded, a procedure to refer
the matter to the Board of directors is provided for: the Executive
Management informs the Chairman of the Committee, who can decide
to convene the Committee or to request the convening of the Board of
directors.

8.1.2. Missions concerning the examination of the prices

of the products and services proposed to customers
In the framework of its mission and according to the terms it shall
define, the Committee examines whether the prices of the products and
services proposed to customers are compatible with the risk strategy.
Where prices do not properly reflect the risks, it presents to the Board
of directors an action plan to remedy this.

8.1.3. Missions concerning remuneration

Without prejudice to the missions of the remunerations Committee, the
Risk committee examines whether the incentives provided for by the
policy and the remuneration practices of the Company are compatible
with its situation with respect to the risks to which it is exposed, its
capital, its liquidity and the probability and the spreading over time of
the expected profits.

To carry out this mission, the Chairman of the Committee shall attend
the Remunerations Committee's meeting and presents to it the position
upheld.

8.1.4. Missions concerning internal control

and compliance
The Committee also reviews all compliance-related issues, particularly
those in the areas of reputation risk or professional ethics.

The Committee analyses the risk measurement and monitoring report.
Twice a year it examines the internal control operations and findings
(excluding accounting and financial internal control, which is the
responsibility of the Financial Statements Committee) based on the
information provided to it by Executive Management and the reports
presented to it by the heads of permanent control, compliance and
periodic controls. It reviews the Company's exchanges of correspondence
with the Secretariat General of the Prudential Control and Resolution
Authority (Autorité de Controle Prudentiel et de Résolution - ACPR).

The Committee is briefed on incidents revealed by internal control that
are reported on the basis of the thresholds and criteria defined by the
Board of directors and reports on its findings to the Board of directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Report on Corporate governance

It analyses the status of recommendations made by the General
Inspection unit that were not implemented. It is informed by the Chairman
of the Board of directors of any possible failure to implement corrective
measures decided within the framework of the internal control, of which
it would have been informed directly by the head of periodic control and
reports on its findings to the Board of directors.

8.2. HEARINGS

It proceeds with the hearing, excluding the presence of the Executive
Management, of the heads of the Group control functions (General
Inspection, Compliance, Risk and Legal).

It presents the Board of directors with its assessment concerning the
methods and procedures employed.

It expresses its opinion concerning the way these functions are organised
within the Group and is kept informed of their work programme.

8.3. ACCESS TO THE INFORMATION

The Committee has all the information about the situation of the Company
with respect to risks. It may, if this is necessary, use the services of the
head of risk management or of outside experts.

8.4. MEETINGS COMMON TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS COMMITTEE AND THE
INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The financial statements Committee and the internal control, risk
management and compliance Committee shall meet at the request of
the Chairman of the Internal control, risk management and compliance
Committee, or at the request of the Chairman of the financial statements
Committee or at the request of the Chairman of the Board of directors.

In that context, the members of these committees:

m shall be briefed of the mission plan of the General Inspection and of
the audit plan of the Statutory Auditors and shall prepare the work of
the Board of directors in assessing the risk policies and management
systems;

m deal with common subjects concerning the risks and financial
impacts policy (including provisioning). They carry out, in particular,
a systematic review of the risks that can in the future have a significant
impact on the financial statements.

This meeting shall be chaired by the Chairman of the financial statements
Committee.

ARTICLE 9. THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, ETHICS,
NOMINATIONS AND CSR COMMITTEE

9.1. MISSIONS CONCERNING CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Committee is tasked with monitoring corporate governance issues.
Its role is to help the Board of directors to adapt corporate governance
practices within BNP Paribas and to assess its functioning.

It ensures the follows up on a regular basis of the evolution in the
governance disciplines at the global, European and national levels. At
least once a year, it presents a summary thereon to the Board of directors.
It selects measures that are suitable for the Group and which are likely to
bring its procedures, organisation and conduct in line with best practice
in this area.

It examines the draft report on corporate governance and all other
documents required by applicable laws and regulations.
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The Committee is in charge of the follow up of questions related to
the social and environmental responsibility (“CSR"). For this purpose,
it handles more specifically the Group's contribution to sustainable
economic development, in particular by an ethical financing of the
economy, by promoting the development and the commitment of the
employees, by the protection of the environment and the fight against
climate change, as well as the positive impact of the Group in the society.

9.2. CODE OF CONDUCT

The Committee carries out regular monitoring of the update of
BNP Paribas Group's Code of conduct.

9.3. MISSIONS CONCERNING THE IDENTIFICATION
OF, SELECTION OF, AND SUCCESSION PLAN
FOR DIRECTORS, COMMITTEE MEMBERS,
AND NON-VOTING DIRECTORS (CENSEURS)

For the identification of, selection of, and succession plan for the directors,
the Committee applies the principles and procedure described in the
Policy on the suitability of Members of the management body and
Key function holders. The Committee regularly reviews this policy and
proposes any amendments it deems advisable to the Board of directors.

The Committee sets an objective to achieve with respect to gender
balance on the Board of directors. It draws up a policy aimed at achieving
this objective. This objective and this policy, once set, are approved by
the Board of directors.

As the case may be, the Committee proposes to the Board of directors
the appointment of the non-voting directors.

9.4. MISSIONS CONCERNING THE ASSESSMENT
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Committee assesses periodically, and at least once a year, the balance
and diversity of the Board in compliance with the Policy on the suitability
of Members of the management body and Key function holders.

Furthermore, an assessment of the Board of directors is made by a firm
of external expert advisors every three years.

9.5. MISSIONS CONCERNING THE SELECTION OF,
APPOINTMENT OF, AND SUCCESSION PLAN
FOR THE CHAIRMAN, MEMBERS OF EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT, AND KEY FUNCTION HOLDERS

The Committee periodically examines the Policy on the suitability of
Members of the management body and Key function holders regarding
the selection of, appointment of, and succession plan for the executive
officers, the Chief Operating Officer(s), the Chairman, and the Key function
holders as defined in this Policy, and makes recommendations in the
matter.

The Committee contributes to the selection and appointment of, as well
as the establishment of succession plans for, the Chairman and members
of the Executive Management, pursuant to the Policy on the suitability of
Members of the management body and Key function holders.

With regard to the key function holders, it ensures that the Policy on the
suitability of Members of the Management body and Key function holders
is applied by Executive Management.

9.6. MISSIONS CONCERNING THE ASSESSMENT
OF THE CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AND CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER(S)

The Committee assesses the action of the Chairman.

It makes an assessment of the performance of the Chief Executive Officer
and of the Chief Operating Officer(s) in the light of the strategic directions
of the business established by the Board of directors and taking into
consideration their capacities for anticipation, decision, organisation and
exemplarity.

9.7. MISSIONS CONCERNING THE INDEPENDENCE
OF THE DIRECTORS

The Committee is tasked with assessing the independence of the
directors, within the meaning of the Afep-Medef Code, and reporting its
findings to the Board of directors.

9.8. MISSIONS CONCERNING THE GENERAL BALANCE
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Committee ensures that the Board of directors is not dominated by
one person or, a small group of persons in a manner that is detrimental to
the interests of the Company. For this purpose, it applies the Policy on the
suitability of Members of the management body and Key function holders.

ARTICLE 10. THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Committee prepares the decisions that the Board of directors
approves concerning remuneration, in particular that which has an effect
on risk and the management of risks.

The Committee makes an annual examination:
m of the principles of the remuneration policy of the Company;

B of the remuneration, allowances and benefits of any kind granted to
the directors and corporate officers of the Company;

m of the remuneration policies of the categories of staff, including the
executive managers, risk takers, and staff engaged in control functions
and any employee, who given his overall income, is in the same
remuneration bracket as those whose professional activities have a
material impact on the risk profile of the Company or of the Group.

The Committee directly controls the remuneration of the head of RISK
and of the head of Compliance.

Within the framework of the missions described above, the Committee
prepares the work of the Board of directors on the principles of the
remuneration policies, in particular concerning Group staff whose
professional activities have a material impact on the Group’s risk profile,
in accordance with the regulations in force.

It is tasked with studying all issues related to the personal status of
the directors and corporate officers, and in particular the remuneration,
the amount of retirement benefits and the allotment of subscription or
purchase options to the Company's shares, as well as the provisions
governing the departure of the members of the Company’s management
or representational bodies.

It examines the conditions, the amount and the distribution of the
subscription or purchase stock option plans. Similarly, it examines the
conditions for the allotment of free shares.

With the Chairman, it is also within its remit to assist the Chief Executive
Officer with any matter relating to the remuneration of senior executives
that the latter might submit to it.
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GUIDELINES ON THE ASSESSMENT OF THE SUITABILITY OF MEMBERS
OF THE MANAGEMENT BODY AND KEY FUNCTION HOLDERS

I. Background and definitions

a. Background

The purpose of the Policy on the suitability of Members of the
management body and Key function holders is, while complying with
the legal and regulatory provisions applicable to the Company, to specify
and detail the procedures for implementing the provisions of the Internal
Rules and of the regulations applicable to BNP Paribas in the French
Monetary and Financial Code (hereinafter "CoMoFi"), the European
Banking Authority (“EBA") Guidelines on the assessment of the suitability
of members of the management body and key function holders (the “Fit
and Proper Guidelines”) published on 26 September 2017, and on Internal
Governance, from the comply or explain process (defined below).

Pursuant to these provisions, these guidelines cover the following topics:
II.  Identification of, selection of, and succession plan for Members of
the management body and Key function holders:
a. ldentification of, selection of, and succession plan for directors,
b. Identification of, selection of, and succession plan for the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer(s),
c. Identification of, selection of, and succession plan for Key function
holders;
III.  Independence of mind and management of conflicts of interest of
the Members of the management body:
a. General principles,
b. Cases of conflicts of interests,
c¢. Management of conflicts of interests;
IV. Compliance with the rules on limitation of directorships and on
availability of the Members of the management body:
a. Compliance with rules when appointing a Member of the
management body,

b. Compliance with rules while holding directorship as a Member
of the management body;

V. Good repute, honesty, and integrity of the Members of the
management body;

VI. Diversity of the Members of the management body and collective
competence of the Board of directors;

VIL Induction and training of the Members of the management body.

These guidelines are approved by the Board of directors. Updates shall
also be submitted for approval to the Board of directors.

b. Definitions

Members of the management body means the directors, the Chief
Executive Officer, and the Chief Operating Officer(s).

Key function holders means, for the purposes of the Fit and Proper
Guidelines, the Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Compliance, the Head
of RISK and the Head of the General Inspection, the Head of Legal, the
Head of Human Resources, and the individuals to whom the Company has
decided to confer the title of Deputy Chief Operating Officers.

Fit and Proper means the assessment conducted by BNP Paribas on the
collective suitability of the Board and of the relevant individuals with
regard to the following criteria:

m knowledge, skills and experience;
| good repute, honesty, and integrity;
m independence of mind;

m compliance with the rules on limitation of directorships and on
availability.

Comply or explain process means the procedure in the Single Supervisory

Mechanism by virtue of which the European Central Bank ("ECB") and

the competent national authorities announce their intention to comply,

fully, partially, or not at all, with the guidelines issued by that authority.

Company means BNP Paribas.

CGEN means the Governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee
of BNP Paribas.

SCA means the Secretariat of the Board of directors of BNP Paribas.

Il. Identification of, selection of, and succession plan
for Members of the management body and Key
function holders

a. Identification of, selection of, and succession plan

for directors
The CGEN is tasked with the identification of the persons that are likely to
be appointed as directors, regardless of their role on the Board of directors,
to establish and to maintain at all times a list of these persons, which
will be periodically monitored by the CGEN, without precisely determining
the circumstances requiring their nomination to the Board of directors.

Identification by the CGEN of the persons

likely to be appointed as directors

The CGEN shall identify and recommend to the Board of directors
candidates suitable for the non-executive directorship of director,
with a view to proposing their candidacy to the General Meeting. In
the determination of the potential candidates, the CGEN assesses the
balance of skills, experience, diversity, as well as the integrity and the
capacity of understanding the stakes and the risks, both personal and
collective, of the members of the Board. It ensures, furthermore, that
the candidates are able to act objectively, critically and independently,
notably with respect to other directorships they hold, that they have
the courage necessary to express their thoughts and their judgements,
sufficient availability to have a strong commitment in their duties and
the objectivity indispensable for their directorship and, lastly, the desire
to protect the interests of the Company and ensure its proper running.

The CGEN specifies the missions and the necessary qualifications for the
duties to be carried out within the Board of directors and calculates the
time to be devoted to such duties.

For the purposes of identifying the candidate, the CGEN,

m on the one hand, mandates, if it wishes so, one or several specialised
agencies in the research for independent directors with the meaning
of the provisions provided in Afep-Medef Code; this or these specialised
agencies are selected further to a tender organised in coordination
with the SCA;

m on the other hand gathers inputs on this from other Board members.
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Upon receipt of a proposal, the CGEN conducts a careful examination
of the provisions of these guidelines as well as on the following criteria
based on both personal and collective skills:

m knowledge and skill in requested areas, based on experience and the
ability to understand the issues and risks of key activities for the Bank,
including social and environmental issues, enabling directors to make
informed and effective decisions;

W courage, in particular to express opinions and make judgments,
enabling directors to remain objective and independent;

B availability, i.e. sufficient time for the director to dedicate to his
directorship and related training, and the assiduity, which allow the
necessary hindsight and promote the director's commitment and sense
of responsibility regarding the exercise of their directorship;

| loyalty, which fosters the director's commitment to the Company and
to their duties within the Board, which collectively represents the
shareholders;

m director's proper understanding of the Company's culture and ethics;

B good repute and propriety: a person should not be considered of good
repute and meeting the propriety criterion if his or her personal or
business conduct gives rise to any material doubt about his or her
ability to ensure his or her directorship as independent director.

The CGEN ensures the regular updating of the list of persons that are
likely to be selected, and, once a year, reports to the Board the work
performed in order to identify the persons that are likely to be appointed
directors so that the Board can deliberate on it.

As appropriate, the CGEN shall identify those individuals likely to be
selected for the non-executive directorship of Chairman in consideration
of the criteria set out above.

Selection by the Board of directors of the persons likely to
become members of the Board

When the Board has to decide the appointment of a new member, the
CGEN decides upon the submission of the candidacy to the Board in
order, if the Board decides so, to propose such candidacy to the General
Meeting. First, it shall communicate to the Chairman of the Board the
name of the person who is likely to be appointed setting out the reasons
for its proposal. The Chairman of the Board of directors contacts the
relevant person and, in the case of an agreement with this person, asked
the SCA to review the situation of the person in accordance with the above
provisions. The Chairman of the CGEN and the Chairman of the Board
met potential candidates.

A candidate for the non-executive directorship of Chairman of the Board
of directors is submitted to the Chairman of CGEN so that this latter may
contact the relevant candidate.

If the review and interview regarding the duties of both director and
Chairman of the Board of directors are deemed to be satisfactory, the
CGEN can then propose to the Board of directors to adopt the proposal
for the submission of the candidacy.

The SCA can ask the candidates for any document required for its
review, which it will retain pursuant to legal and regulatory provisions
on personal data.

For specialised committees, the CGEN makes recommendations to the
Board of directors on the appointment of the members in cooperation
with the Chairman of the relevant committee, and of the Chairmen of
the committees when they are to be renewed.

Succession plan for directors and review of the composition
of the Board

The CGEN is responsible for examining the provisions allowing for the
succession of the directors as well as, where applicable, the Chairman.

Once a year, the SCA, under the responsibility of the CGEN, reviews the
compasition of the Board of directors in accordance with the provisions
relating to the identification of persons likely to become members of
the Board of directors. The CGEN presents to the Board of directors the
outcome of such review, which is subject to Board's deliberation.

b. Identification of, selection of, and succession plan
for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating
Officer(s)
The Board of directors appoints the Chief Executive Officer and, on the
recommendation of the latter, the Chief Operating Officer(s), and sets
any limits to their powers.

For this purpose, acting jointly with the Chairman, the CGEN puts forward
recommendations for the selection of the Chief Executive Officer for
consideration by the Board, and, acting on recommendation of the Chief
Executive Officer, it puts forward recommendations for the selection of the
Chief Operating Officer(s). The CGEN ensures, at the time of identifying
and putting forward recommendations for the Chief Operating Officer
position(s), upon proposal from the Chief Executive Officer and where
applicable with the support of the Company’s Human Resources, that
there is a gender balance and guarantees the presence of at least one
woman and one man until the end of the selection process.

To identify the candidate, the CGEN conducts a careful examination of
his or her candidacy in consideration of the provisions of this policy as
well as the following criteria:

m knowledge and skill in requested areas, based on experience and
ability to understand the issues and risks of key activities for the Bank,
including social and environmental issues, enabling them to make
informed and effective decisions;

W courage, in particular to express opinions and make judgements,
enabling directors to remain objective and independent;

m availability, i.e. the sufficient time which the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Operating Officer(s) must dedicate to their duties and to
the relevant training;

m loyalty, which fosters the commitment of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Operating Officer(s) to the Company and its shareholders;

m good repute and propriety: a person shall not be considered of good
repute or meeting the propriety criterion if his or her personal or
business conduct gives rise to any material doubt about his or her
suitability as Chief Executive Officer or Chief Operating Officer, as the
case may be.

The SCA can ask the candidate or the Company, as the case may be, for
any document required for its review, which it shall retain pursuant to
the legal and regulatory provisions on personal data.
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It is also responsible for examining the provisions allowing the succession
of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer(s).

c. Identification and appointment of the Key function
holders

The CGEN ensures that in the identification and appointment of the

Key function holders by Executive Management, with the support of the

Company's Human Resources, as the case may be, the following are

considered:

m skills, qualification, and experience;
m and good repute, honesty, and integrity.

lil. Independence of mind and management

of conflicts of interest of the Members

of the management body
In consideration of the so-called “related-party agreements” regime
in articles L.225-38 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, provisions
regarding independence of mind and conflicts of interest set out in
section 9 of the Fit and Proper Guidelines and Principle 3 of the Guidelines
on Corporate governance principles for banks, published in July 2015 by
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, and with the objective to
embrace the best practices observed in the governance area, the aim
of this section is to (i) recall the general principles applied to ensure
the independence of mind of every Member of the management body,
(ii) define the situations of conflicts of interest to which directors may
face in light of the various activities that the Group conducts and which
could be in competition with the interests of the concerned director,
shall it be directly or indirectly, and (iii) provide details, in case such
conflict of interest occurs, concerning the necessary measures to be
adopted in order to take the situation into account and handle it in an
appropriate manner.

a. General principles

Every Member of the management body shall at all times maintain
his or her independence of mind, analysis, assessment, decision, and
action so as to be able to issue opinions and make decisions in an
informed, judicious and objective manner. For this purpose, the Member
of the management body shall respect both the legal and regulatory
provisions applicable to conflicts of interest - specifically the so-called
“related-party” agreements - and the provisions below on the measures
to be adopted in recognizing conflicts of interest and managing them
appropriately.

More specifically, the Members of the management body shall refuse
any benefit or service liable to compromise their independence, and
undertake to avoid any conflict of interest (as described below).

Each member of the Board of directors shall freely express his or her
positions, possibly minority positions, about the subjects discussed in the
meetings of the Board or specialised committee.

It is recalled that any conflict of interest may question the fact that a
director qualifies as an independent director according to the provisions
of the Afep-Medef Code.
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b. Cases of conflicts of interests

Besides the so-called “conventions réglementées” regime provided for
by articles L.225-38 and subseg. of the French Commercial Code, the
following situations may give rise to conflicts of interest:

a) each agreement entered into directly, or through an intermediary
person®, between a company that BNP Paribas controls within the
meaning of article L.233-16 of the French Commercial Code and one
of the Members of the Company’s management body;

b) each agreement to which one of the Members of the Company's
management body is indirectly interested, meaning that without
being directly party to the said agreement entered into by one of
the companies controlled by the Company within the meaning of
article L.233-16 of the French Commercial Code, the Member of the
management body benefits in a way or another from the agreement;

c) each agreement entered into between one of the companies
controlled by the Company, within the meaning of article L.233-16
of the French Commercial Code, and a company owned by a Member
of the Company's management body or of which such director
is also an owner, general partner, manager, director, Member of
the Supervisory Board or, generally, in a senior manager of this
company;

d) each situation where Members of the management body are or
might be, in relation with the exercise of his or her non-executive
directorship, the recipient of privileged information (i) concerning
a company in which he or she is an executive director within the
meaning of c) or in which he or she exercises a function or holds
interests whatever, or (i) concerning the Company or one of the
companies under its control within the meaning of article L.233-16
of the French Commercial Code which may be interests concerning
the activity of a company in which he or she is an executive director
within the meaning of c) or in which he or she exercises a function
or holds interests whatever they may be;

e) each situation where the Member of the management body could
take part to a Board meeting to which would be interested any
person with whom he or she has family or professional links, or
tight relations;

f)  the undertaking of a new directorship whether in a listed or unlisted
entity, French or foreign, not belonging to a group of which he is
a manager, or any participation in the specialised committee of a
corporate body or any other new directorship®;

g) each currently valid commitment made under directorship
previously held in France or abroad (e.g. a non-competition clause);

h) more generally, each situation that may constitute a conflict of
interest between the Member of the management body and
the Company or one of its subsidiaries within the meaning of
article L.233-16 of the French Commercial Code.

c. Management of conflicts of interests

The assessment of current agreements is subject to a separate procedure
by the Board of directors entitled “Procedure for current agreements
entered into under normal conditions”.

(1) The interposition of an intermediary corresponds to a situation in which the Member of the management body is the ultimate real beneficiary of the agreement between one of
the companies that BNP Paribas controls and the co-contracting party of that controlled company.

(2) This includes those of a political nature.
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Situations covered by the “related-party agreements” regime
The Members of the management body acknowledge having read and
understood the related-party agreement regime and the obligations
resulting from such regime.

Other situations

If one of the situations described in a) through e) or g) or h) above should
occur, the Member of the management body shall immediately inform the
Chairman of the Board of directors, who shall in turn inform the CGEN
so that the latter, based on the analysis of the presented situation, may
give an opinion which may consist of one or more measures described in
the following paragraph. This opinion is then submitted to the Board of
directors and, if followed by the said Board, is notified by the Chairman
of the Board, to the concerned director. The decision of the Board of
directors will be included in the minutes of the meeting.

More specifically, if one of the situations described in a) through e) or g)
or h) above should occur during a Board of directors meeting or one of
its committees, and without prejudice to the application of the preceding
paragraph, the Board of directors or the Committee, as the case may be,
shall immediately determine the measures to be taken, which may take
different forms including the fact the concerned director or Committee
would not participate to the debate or the votes, would not receive
the information on the issue that gives or may give rise to a conflict of
interest, or even would have to leave the meeting of the Board or the
Committee during the discussion of the concerned issue. The minutes of
the Board or the Committee includes the measures adopted.

If the situation covered in f) above should occur, he or she shall inform the
Chairman of the Board of directors of his or her intention to accept (i) a
new directorship, whether in a listed or unlisted, French or foreign entity
that does not belong to a group of which he or she is an executive director,
or (i) each participation in the specialised committees of a corporate
body, or (iii) any other new directorship, such that the Board of directors,
on the recommendation of the CGEN, may decide on the compatibility of
such an appointment with the non-executive directorship of a Member
of the management body in the Company. If necessary, the provisions
on limitation of directorships and on the availability of Members of the
management body set forth below shall be applied mutatis mutandis.

In any case, if the Board considers that the relevant Member of the
management body is no longer able to perform his or her duties therein
because of a conflict of interest, he or she shall resign.

More generally, in the event of a breach of obligations with respect to
conflicts of interest by a Member of the management body, the Chairman
of the Board of directors shall take all legal measures required to remedy
it. He or she may, furthermore, keep the relevant regulators informed
of such acts.

IV. Compliance with rules on limitation

of directorships and on availability of

the Members of the management body
The Member of the management body complies with legal and regulatory
provisions, specifically those set out in articles L.511-52 and R.511-
17 of the CoMoFi (the “CoMaFi Provisions”) and in the Fit and Proper
Guidelines, which are applicable to him or her or applicable to the
Company in matters of limitation of directorships and of availability as
well as those in the Afep-Medef Corporate governance Code.

a. Compliance with rules when appointing a Member

of the management body
Once a candidate is chosen by the CGEN and prior to submitting it to the
Board of directors, the SCA, under the responsibility of the Chairman of
the Board of directors:

a) contacts the candidate in order to request the list of directorships
as well as any other functions he or she may hold, and how much
time is spent on them each year;

b) ensures that the candidate is in compliance with the Provisions of
the CoMaFi regarding the number of directorships;

c) ensures that the candidate has the time required for the duties and
training he or she would perform for the directorship in question;

d) and checks that these directorships and other functions are
suitable with the position of a Member of the management body,
in accordance with the above provisions on independence of mind
and management of conflicts of interest.

The candidate shall certify that the List of directorships and functions
is complete and provide on request of the SCA any document (company
bylaws, extracts from trade registers or equivalent, certificate, statement,
etc). that the SCA deems useful to have.

The SCA then analyses the directorships declared by the candidate so as
to ensure that the Provisions of the CoMoFi are complied with. It records
the written documents on which the analysis and the conclusions were
based, in accordance with personal data laws and regulations. As part
of this review, the SCA may proceed to the researches he deems useful.

At the outcome of the SCA's review,

a) either the candidate is in compliance with the Provisions of the
CoMoFi and has the time required to serve as a director: the SCA
shall report to the Chairman of the Board of directors, who shall
inform the Chairman of the CGEN. The CGEN shall then propose
the candidate to the Board of directors which shall take a decision
on his appointment or his co-option, as the case may be;

b) or the candidate is not in compliance with the Provisions of the
CoMoFi or does not have the time required to serve as a director:
the SCA shall inform the Chairman of the Board, who shall in
turn notify the Chairman of the CGEN, so that the measures for
remedying this situation can be reviewed with the candidate. If
the candidate is willing to make the necessary arrangements prior
to his nomination or his co-option, the SCA states this in minutes
which will then be submitted to the Board of directors which will
decide, his nomination or his co-option, as the case may be.

If the candidate is not willing or cannot implement the necessary steps,
the SCA established minutes to the attention of the CGEN, which acts the
end of the selection process.

b. Compliance with rules while holding directorship as a
Member of the management body

At all times, the Members of the management body shall comply with
the rules on limitation of directorships and dedicate the time and effort
required to carrying out their duties and responsibilities. They accept
the discipline involved in working together in the respect of each other's
opinions and they exercise their sense of responsibilities towards
shareholders and the other stakeholders of the Group.
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In addition, directors shall actively and regularly participate in meetings
of the Board of directors and of the committees, and shall attend the
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting. Furthermore, the directors
representing employees and the directors representing employee
shareholders, are given preparation time determined by the Board, in
accordance with the laws in force.

To this end, every Member of the management body shall inform the
Chairman of the Board of directors of his or her intention to accept (i) a
new directorship, whether in a listed or unlisted, French or foreign entity,
not belonging to a group of which he or she is an executive officer, or
(if) any participation in the specialised committees of a corporate body,
or (iii) any new directorship, in France or abroad, such that the Board of
directors, on the recommendation of the Corporate governance, Ethics,
Nominations and CSR Committee may decide on the compatibility of such
an appointment with the non-executive directorship in the Company.

In this case, the SCA shall follow the analysis and verification procedure
for the appointment of a Member of the management body.

At the end of the analysis referred to above, one of two situations may
arise:

a) either the Member of the management body accepting this new
directorship complies with the Provisions of the CoMoFi, in which
case the SCA informs the Chairman of the Board of directors, who
in turn informs the CGEN. The CGEN then ensures that this new
directorship complies specifically with the conflicts of interest rules
on set out above;

b) or the Member of the management body, by accepting this new
directorship, is no longer in compliance with the Provisions of the
CoMoFi, in which case the SCA shall inform the Chairman of the
Board of directors, who shall report it to the Chairman of the CGEN,
so that the measures for complying with the CoMoFi Provisions can
be reviewed with the Member of the management body.

Whatever the case, if he or she no longer has the time to perform his or
her duties, the SCA shall inform the Chairman of the Board of directors,
who shall report it to the Chairman of the CGEN so that the measures
for remedying the situation can be reviewed with the Member of the
management body.

If the Member of the management body is willing to maintain his or
her directorship in the Company, he or she shall either not accept the
proposed directorship, or resign from a directorship he or she already
holds. The SCA shall include this in minutes that shall then be submitted
to the Board of directors.

If the Member of the management body decides to accept this new
directorship without resigning from any directorship he or she already
holds, the Member of the management body shall tender his or her
letter of resignation as Member of the management body. The SCA shall
mention this in a report to be addressed to the CGEN which acts this
resignation, with the effective date to be decided on by the Board of
directors. Any Member of the management body who considers him- or
herself unable to continue on the Board of directors, or on the committees
of which he or she is a member shall resign.

At least once a year, the SCA asks the Members of the management body
to update the form known as the “EBA Form”, under which are listed all
the directorships held by each Member of the management body, and
to which is appended their availability table.

This update shall enable the SCA to ensure that all Members of the
management body are in compliance with the Provisions of the CoMoFi
and available on an ongoing basis.
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V. Good repute, honesty, and integrity of

the Members of the management body
At all times, the Members of the management body shall meet the
requirements of good repute and show honesty and integrity.

Candidates and Members of the management body undertake to
immediately notify the Chairman of the Board of directors and the SCA of:

a) any conviction (including on appeal, in criminal, civil, or
administrative proceedings);

b) any disciplinary measure;

c) any prior refusal of validation by competent banking or financial
authorities in France or abroad;

d) any refusal, withdrawal, revocation, or prohibition on management
of any registration, authorisation, membership, or licence to conduct
a business or profession;

e) any sanction by public authorities or professional organisations,
or investigations or enforcement proceedings ongoing in France or
abroad;

f)  any dismissal for professional misconduct or any dismissal from a
directorship he or she may be the subject;

g) any situation mentioned in a) through f) above concerning a
company of which he or she is an executive officer, shareholder, or
partner.

The SCA shall retain the written evidence and documents on which the
analysis and the conclusions of the CGEN were based, in accordance
with personal data laws and regulations. As part of this review, and at
the request of the Chairman of the Board of directors, or, as applicable,
the Chairman of the CGEN, the SCA may carry out any searches it deems
useful, including questioning the relevant person.

If the Chairman of the Board of directors, or, as applicable, the Chairman
of the CGEN, is notified of the occurrence of one of the aforementioned
cases, he or she shall inform the CGEN so that this latter, based on the
analysis of the reported situation, can issue an opinion as to the good
repute of the Member of the management body and decide whether to
ask him or her to resign. This opinion is then submitted to the Board of
directors and if, followed by the said Board, is notified by the Chairman
of the Board, to the concerned director. The decision of the Board of
directors will be included in the minutes of the meeting.

In addition, every Member of the management board undertakes to act
with loyalty and integrity toward the Members of the management board,
the shareholders, and the Company alike. Failing this, the Chairman of
the Board of directors, or, as applicable, the Chairman of the CGEN, may
refer the matter to the CGEN so that the latter can issue an opinion as
to the loyalty and integrity of the Member of the management body and
may decide to ask him or her to resign.

VI. Diversity of the Members of the management
body and collective competence of the Board
of directors

The CGEN shall set the objectives to achieve with respect to gender
balance on the Board of directors, age diversity, professional qualifications
and experience, and nationality among the Members of the management
body, so as to ensure that at all times they have the skills necessary to
understand the risks, issues, including social and environmental issues,
and potential developments in the Company.

For this purpose, the CGEN periodically assesses and at least once a year,
the structure, the size, the composition and the effectiveness of the Board
of directors with respect to the missions with which it is entrusted, and
makes any useful recommendations to the Board.
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VII. Induction and training of the Members
of the management body

The Members of the Company’'s management body shall possess,
both individually and collectively, the expertise, experience, skills,
understanding, and personal qualities necessary, specifically in terms
of professionalism and integrity, to properly perform their duties in
connection with each of the significant activities of the Company,
guaranteeing effective governance and supervision.

The Members of the management body shall maintain their knowledge in
the following fields: finance and banking, risk management, regulations
applicable to the Company, and, more broadly, any field related to the
development and strategy of the Company.

The Company shall dedicate the human and financial resources required
for the training of the Members of the management body. With this aim,

annual training courses are administered by the managers of the topics
presented, and strategy seminars are held.

In addition to the training courses mentioned above, any director may
request additional training. For this purpose, he or she shall initiate
a dialogue with the Chairman and the SCA, who shall determine the
arrangements for the requested training.

The directors representing employees and the directors representing
employee shareholders are given time dedicated to training determined
by the Board, in accordance with the laws in force. At the end of the
training, the training centre chosen by the Board must issue a certificate
of regular attendance, which the director representing employees and the
director representing employee shareholders must give to the Secretary
of the Board.

The Board of directors shall ensure that new directors meet with the
Key function holders.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROCEDURE FOR CURRENT AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO

UNDER NORMAL CONDITIONS

Pursuant to article L.22-10-12 of the French Commercial Code, the Board
of directors has put in place a procedure to evaluate on a regular basis
whether agreements covering current operations and agreed on an arm's
length basis (so-called “free” agreements) meet these conditions.

This procedure covers agreements concluded between BNP Paribas and
the directors, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Operating Officer or natural persons closely associated with them, their
holding companies and legal entities in which they have an interest
(directorship or equity holding).

The procedure has two components:
m Agreements between BNP Paribas and the natural persons or holding
companies mentioned above:

Each year, the Bank reviews the list of agreements entered into
between BNP Paribas and the natural persons or asset holding
companies mentioned above. The Compliance function ensures that
these agreements do cover current operations and are concluded

under normal conditions and prepares a report that it sends to the
Secretary of the Board of directors.
m Agreements between BNP Paribas and legal entities (other than

holding companies) mentioned above:

This procedure relies upon existing policies (such as the “Code of

conduct” or “Customer Interests Protection Policy”) and also provides

for:

= the declaration by the directors and corparate officers of the legal
entities with which they are associated;

= the verification by the Bank of any business relationships between
each of these legal entities;

= in-depth monitoring of agreements identified using a risk-based
approach.

Areport is prepared for each of these elements and submitted every year
to the CGEN which informs the Board of directors.

2.1.3 REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS AWARDED TO THE DIRECTORS AND

CORPORATE OFFICERS

The provisions of the French Commercial Code provide for ex ante
approval each year by the Ordinary General Meeting of the remuneration
policy for directors and corporate officers. The remuneration policy for
directors and corporate officers at BNP Paribas is presented below on
pages 75 to 80.

The remuneration of these same directors and corporate officers is
also subject to the ex post vote of the Ordinary General Meeting on the
information on remuneration referred to in article L.22-10-9 | of the

French Commercial Code (this information is set out below on pages 81
et seq). When the Annual General Meeting does not approve these items,
the Board of directors submits an amended remuneration policy, taking
into account the shareholders' vote, for the approval of the next Annual
General Meeting. The payment of directors' remuneration for the current
year is suspended until the amended remuneration policy is approved.
When the payment is reinstated, payments are backdated to the last
Annual General Meeting.
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Lastly, the remuneration of each corporate officer is subject to a second
ex post vote on the total remuneration or benefits in kind paid during the
previous year or awarded in respect of the same year (the information
relating to this remuneration is outlined in tables 1a and b, 2a and b and
3aand b on pages 82 et seq). The variable components of remuneration
awarded to the corporate officers in respect of the previous year can only
be paid after they have been approved by the Annual General Meeting
on the basis of this second vote.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS
AND CORPORATE OFFICERS SUBMITTED
FOR SHAREHOLDERS’ EX ANTE APPROVAL,
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE L.22-10-8
OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL

CODE, AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING ON 18 MAY 2021

In this report, the Board of directors provides details of the fixed
and variable components of total remuneration and benefits in kind,
attributable to the directors, the Chairman of the Board of directors, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officers for their corporate
offices within BNP Paribas (SA), over a three-year period.

The term of office of Philippe Bordenave as Chief Operating Officer will
expire at the end of the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting to be
held in 2021. Two new Chief Operating Officers, respectively in charge
of the CIB scope and the Retail Banking scope, will take office as from
that same date.

The elements of the remuneration policy presented below are the subject
of resolutions submitted for the approval of the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders voting under the qguorum and majority conditions required
for Ordinary Annual General Meetings. If the Annual General Meeting does
not approve these resolutions, the previous remuneration policy, already
approved by the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020, will continue to
apply. In this case, the Board of directors will submit for the approval of
the next Annual General Meeting a draft resolution outlining an amended
remuneration policy, indicating how the shareholders’ vote was taken into
account and, where appropriate, the opinions stated during the Annual
General Meeting.

The remuneration policy for the directors and corporate officers complies
with applicable legislation and regulations, the Afep-Medef Code and
the BNP Paribas Code of conduct. The policy, as detailed below (in
particular the performance criteria), is aligned with the Company’s
corporate interest, contributes to the commercial strategy as well as
the sustainability of the Company and takes into consideration the
compensation and employment conditions of the employees within the
Company.

Without prejudice to the powers of the Annual General Meeting in
this respect, the determination of the remuneration of directors and
corporate officers is the responsibility of the Board of directors and
is based on proposals from the Remuneration Committee, which
drafts the decisions which the Board of directors approves regarding
remuneration. In particular, the Remuneration Committee annually
reviews the remuneration, compensation and benefits in kind granted to
the Company's directors and corporate officers. This Committee is made
up of three independent members who have experience of remuneration
systems and market practices in this area and includes a director elected
by employees.
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Measures aimed at avoiding and managing conflicts of interest are
established in the Internal Rules of the Board of directors as well as the
policy on the suitability of Members of the management body and Key
function holders. Corporate officers are not present during the discussions
of the Board of directors and the Remuneration Committee regarding
their own compensation.

The remuneration of corporate officers takes account, in its principles,
of the following objectives:

m alignment with the Bank's social interest and with that of its
shareholders:

= consistency with a medium to long-term outlook, especially in terms
of the growth of the Bank's value, good risk management and the
relative performance of its share,

= integration of extra-financial assessment criteria,

= by taking into account CSR aspects to determine the remuneration
(for the portion aligned with the CSR objectives considered for
certain employees),

= guaranteeing sufficient variability in the amounts allocated to reflect
changes in the Bank's results without weighing too heavily on fixed
expenses;

| the transparency of compensation:

= all components (fixed, annual variable, multi-annual variable) are
used in the overall assessment of the remuneration,

= balance between the components of remuneration, which must
contribute to the general interest of the Bank and reflect best
market practices and legal and regulatory constraints,

= the rules must be stable, strict and intelligible;

m remuneration that is sufficiently attractive to facilitate the selection of
profiles that are particularly competent in the Group's business areas.

I. Directors’ remuneration

In accordance with the law, the global amount of directors' remuneration
is set by the Shareholders' Annual General Meeting.

The individual amount of directors’ remuneration is determined by the
Board of directors pursuant to a proposal of the Remuneration Committee.
It consists of a fixed portion and a portion based on actual participation
in meetings, regardless of the means. Directors residing abroad receive
an increased amount, except where they may participate in meetings of
the Board of directors by videoconference or telecommunications means.
Additional remuneration is paid for actual participation in committees.
Committee members receive this additional remuneration for their
participation in each different committee.

At the end of the year, the Remuneration Committee examines the
allocation of directors’ remuneration and the amount paid to each of
them in respect of the year on the basis of an audit of director's actual
attendance at Board and committee meetings. Where applicable, the
remainder of the global amount fixed by the Annual General Meeting is
allocated in proportion to the amount paid to each director. In the event
of an additional extraordinary meeting of the Board or committees, the
amount of the remuneration due to each director is adjusted in proportion
to the amounts paid to each director.

The Board of directors then approves the individual distribution of the
directors’ remuneration in respect of the year and its payment to the
directors (subject to the provisions of article L.22-10-34 | of the French
Commercial Code).
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Il. Remuneration of the Chairman of the Board

of directors
The Chairman'’s fixed annual remuneration amounts to EUR 950,000
gross.

The Chairman does not receive any annual or multi-annual variable
remuneration. The absence of variable remuneration reflects the
independence of the Chairman with respect to the Executive Management.

Should a new Chairman be appointed, on the proposal of the Remuneration
Committee and under this remuneration policy, the Board of directors
will set the amount of their fixed remuneration in line with the new
Chairman'’s profile and experience.

lll. Remuneration of Executive Management
Remuneration includes:

B a fixed component;

B an annual variable component;

m a conditional long-term incentive plan (long-term incentive plan or
LTIP).

The levels of these different components are determined using
established market benchmarks.

Remuneration takes into account the cap on total variable remuneration
in relation to fixed remuneration (including awards under long-term
incentive plans) in accordance with article L.511-78 of the French
Monetary and Financial Code, applicable specifically to credit institutions.

In accordance with paragraph 2 of the said article, the Shareholders’
Annual General Meeting of BNP Paribas of 24 May 2018 decided that
this cap would be set at twice the amount of fixed remuneration; this
decision will be submitted to the vote of the Annual General Meeting of
18 May 2021.

For the purposes of calculating the aforementioned ratio, a discount
rate may in addition be applied to no more than 25% of the total
variable remuneration inasmuch as the payment is made in the form of
instruments deferred for at least 5 years, in accordance with article L.511-
79 of the French Monetary and Financial Code.

The remuneration of the Chief Operating Officer, whose term of office
will expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting to be held on
18 May 2021, remains subject to the remuneration policy approved by
the Annual General Meeting of 19 May 2020, until the end of his term as
Chief Operating Officer. The fixed annual remuneration and the annual
variable remuneration with respect to 2021 will be determined pro rata
temporis based on his office as Chief Operating Officer in 2021. No LTIP
will be awarded to him for 2021.

1. Fixed remuneration

The Chief Executive Officer's annual fixed remuneration amounts to EUR
1,562,000 gross.

The annual fixed remuneration of the new Chief Operating Officer
responsible for the CIB scope will amount to EUR 1,500,000 gross. For
2021, this remuneration will be paid to him as from his assumption
of the position, i.e. after the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders of 2021, pro rata temporis based on his office as Chief
Operating Officer in 2021.

The annual fixed remuneration of the new Chief Operating Officer
responsible for the Retail Banking scope will amount to EUR 900,000

gross. For 2021, this remuneration will be paid to him as from his
assumption of the position, i.e. after the Shareholders’ Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders of 2021, pro rata temporis based on his office
as Chief Operating Officer in 2021.

Should a new Chief Executive Officer or a new Chief Operating Officer
be appointed (other than those discussed above), the Board of directors
will, on the proposal of the Remuneration Committee and under this
remuneration policy, set their fixed remuneration in line with their
profile and experience. Annual and multi-annual variable remuneration
components will be set in line with the principles appearing in this
remuneration policy.

2. Annual variable remuneration

The variable component is intended to reflect the effective contribution
of executive corporate officers to the success of BNP Paribas in respect
of their functions as executive managers of an International Financial
Services Group.

General principles

The variable remuneration of members of the Executive Management is
determined from a target remuneration equal to 100% of their annual
fixed remuneration for the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating
Officers.

For 2021, the variable portion of the remuneration of the Chief Operating
Officers will be determined pro rata temporis based on their office as
Chief Operating Officers, i.e. from the time they assume their positions
after the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting in 2021.

It varies in accordance with criteria representative of the Group's results,
CSR-linked criteria and the qualitative assessment by the Board of
directors.

In addition, the payment of the annual variable remuneration includes
a deferred period, a “malus” and “claw-back” arrangements, as well
as a cancellation clause in the event of a bank resolution measure, in
accordance with same terms and conditions as those described below
for the LTIP (see 3 below).

Criteria linked to the Group's financial performance

Criteria linked to the Group's financial performance accounts for 75% of
the target variable remuneration and enables the corresponding portion
of the remuneration to be calculated in proportion to the change in
numerical indicators. There are two Group-based quantitative criteria for
the Chief Executive Officer and four for the Chief Operating Officers, half
of which are Group-based and the other half based on their respective
areas of responsibility.

If objectives based on quantitative criteria are exceeded (or not achieved),
the fraction of the target remuneration in question changes proportionally
within the limits of the cap mentioned below.

m For the Chief Executive Officer, the quantitative criteria apply to the
Group's overall performance based on the following equally weighted
criteria:
= ratio of net earnings per share for the year to net earnings per

share for the previous year (37.5% of target variable remuneration);
= achievement of the Group's budgeted gross operating income (37.5%
of the target variable remuneration).

m For the Chief Operating Officers, half of the quantitative criteria are
based on the Group's overall performance and the other half on the
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performance of their respective areas of responsibility based on the

following equally weighted criteria:

= ratio of net earnings per share for the year to net earnings per
share for the previous year (18.75% of target variable remuneration);

= achievement of the Group's budgeted gross operating income
(18.75% of the target variable remuneration);

= change in pre-tax net income for the year compared to the previous
year for their respective areas of responsibility (18.75% of the target
variable compensation);

= achievement of the budgeted gross operating income of their
respective areas of responsibility (18.75% of the target variable
compensation).

Criteria linked to the Group’s CSR performance
A portion of 10% of the target variable remuneration is linked to the
Group's CSR performance.
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The allocation of this portion of the annual variable remuneration is based
on multi-criteria measurement based on a holistic approach of actions
undertaken by the BNP Paribas Group outside the Company with respect
to social, societal and environmental issues.

With this in mind, this remuneration structure includes three weighted
criteria, each at 3.33%:

(i) the Board of directors’ assessment of the year's highlights, primarily
with regard to climatic and social challenges;

(ii) publications of extra-financial rating agencies measuring the quality
of the BNP Paribas’ CSR positioning relative to its peers;

(iii) an alignment with the CSR objectives included in the remuneration
due to retention plans granted to the Group's key employees.

10%

Group's CSR Performance

1/3

(i) By the Board

(ii) By the market

1/3

(iii) Alignment with key

employees of the Group

Annual measurement by the Board
of directors if achievements and key
developments around a line of action

focused on climate and social
challenges

Positioning of BNP Paribas in the top
quartile of the Banks sector in the
extra-financial performance rankings
of FTSE, SAM and Vigeo Eiris

Achievement of the three-year CSR
objectives set for key Group
employees in the retention plan that
expired during the year
(basket of 9 indicators)

Qualitative criteria

The portion of the variable remuneration linked to the Board of directors’
qualitative assessment is 15% of the target variable remuneration.

The Board of directors considers it essential to carry out this qualitative
assessment, particularly given its enhanced responsibilities in terms of
supervision and control pursuant to the French Monetary and Financial
Code. In addition to the Bank's strategy, which it must approve by taking
into account social and environmental issues, the Board of directors must

also assess the performance of Executive Management based on their
capacities for anticipation, decision-making, leadership and exemplary
behaviour.

To do this, the Board of directors assesses the qualitative portion of the
annual variable remuneration in view of a persistently low interest rate
environment, the implementation of the Bank's strategic guidelines, in
particular the adaptation of the business model to the pandemic context
and the resulting major organisational and human challenges.
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» SUMMARY OF THE CRITERIA FOR SETTING THE ANNUAL VARIABLE REMUNERATION APPLICABLE
TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICERS

Woffcedromoneration ||

Criteria applicable

0, 0,
Criteria linked to the Group's 37.50% 18.75%
financial performance 37.50% 18.75%
N.A. 18.75%
N.A. 18.75%

Criteria linked to the Group's
CSR performance 10.00% 10.00%
Qualitative criteria 15.00% 15.00%

Chief Executive Chief Operating
Officer Officers Type

Change in earnings per share

Achievement of budgeted Group gross operating income

Change in pre-tax net income in the area of responsibility
for the year compared to the previous year

Achievement of budgeted gross operating income in the area
of responsibility

Multicriteria assessment of the actions taken by BNP Paribas
Group with respect to social, societal and environmental issues

Assessment with regard to implementation of the Bank's strategic
guidelines, particularly the human, organisational and technical
dimensions of its transformation plan, and taking into account the
general context of the year under consideration

Ceiling

The Board of directors ensures the consistency of the annual variable
remuneration with changes in the Group's results and the area of
responsibility of each of the Chief Operating Officers.

In any case:

m each of the criteria related to the Group's financial performance (two
in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and four in the case of the
Chief Operating Officers) is capped at 130% of its target weight and
cannot therefore result in an annual variable remuneration exceeding
respectively 48.75% of the fixed remuneration for the Chief Executive
Officer and 24.38% for the Chief Operating Officers;

| the criteria related to the Group's CSR performance, as well as the
qualitative criteria, are capped at 100% of their target weight and
cannot therefore result in an annual variable remuneration greater
than, respectively, 10% and 15% of the fixed remuneration;

m the amount of annual variable compensation awarded to each executive
corporate officer is capped at 120% of their fixed compensation.

Terms and conditions of payment

The payment terms for variable remuneration of BNP Paribas Group's
corporate officers, in accordance with the provisions of the French
Monetary and Financial Code and the European Banking Authority's
Guidelines on remuneration policy, are:

B 60% of annual variable remuneration is deferred over five years, at the
rate of one-fifth per year;

m regarding the non-deferred portion of the variable remuneration:

= half will be paid in cash in May of the year of the award, subject to
the approval of the Shareholders' Annual General Meeting under the
terms pravided for by article L.22-10-34 Il of the French Commercial
Code, and less payments received for directorships, where
applicable, within the Group for entities other than BNP Paribas (SA),

= and half will be paid in cash indexed to BNP Paribas share
performance, at the end of a one-year holding period starting on
the award date (award date is the date of the Board of directors’
decision), i.e. in practice, in March of the year following the year in
which the remuneration is awarded;

m the deferred portion of the variable remuneration will be paid annually
in fifths over 5 years, the first payment being paid only at the end of
a deferred period of one year from the award date of the variable
remuneration. Each instalment will be paid:

= half in cash in March every year,

= and half in cash indexed to BNP Paribas share performance, in
March of the following year, at the end of a one-year holding period,

= provided that the Group's pre-tax ROE for the year preceding the
payment is greater than 5%.

3. Conditional Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

over five years
To align the interests of executive corporate officers with the medium to
long-term performance of the BNP Paribas Group without compromising
risk management, in 2011, the Board of directors introduced a conditional
LTIP over 5 years.

The LTIP, which amounts to the target annual variable remuneration
awarded in respect of the previous year, is split into two equal parts: one
to reward an increase in the intrinsic value of the share, and the other
potential outperformance relative to peers.

First half of the award amount: intrinsic share performance
The first half of the award amount is dependent on the change in share
price® given that no payment will be made for 50% of the award amount
if the BNP Paribas share price does not increase by at least 5% from the
date of the award by the Board of directors to the end of a five-year
period from the award date.

(1) The initial and final amounts used to measure the performance of the share price over five years are as follows:

the initial value is the average of the opening price of the BNP Paribas share for the rolling 12-month period preceding the award date;

the final value is the average of the opening price of the BNP Paribas share in the rolling 12-month period preceding the payment date.
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If the share price increases by at least 5% during this period, a factor is applied to the initial amount, resulting in the amount being increased or reduced,

in line with the table below:

Change in the BNPParibas share price over 5 years Factor applied to the first half of the award

Strictly under 5%

Equal to or higher than 5% and under 10%
Equal to or higher than 10% and under 20%
Equal to or higher than 20% and under 33%
Equal to or higher than 33% and under 50%
Equal to or higher than 50% and under 75%
Equal or higher than 75%

0 (No payment)
40%

80%

120%

130%

150%

175%

Thus, the first half of the award amount will only be paid in full at the
end of the five-year period if the share price increases by more than 20%
in the five years. The first half of the award will, in any event, always be
less than or equal to the change in the share price and cannot, under
any circumstances, exceed 175% of the award amount, assuming that
the share price has increased by more than 75% at the end of the five-
year period.

Second half of the award: outperformance

of the BNP Paribas share relative to peers

Fulfilment of this condition is assessed by measuring the performance of
the BNP Paribas share price relative to the "EURO STOXX Banks” index
of main eurozone banks.

It only takes into account outperformance of the BNP Paribas share
relative to the average index measured over the 12 months prior to the
award date, compared with the average for this same index for a period
of 12 months prior to payment. The second half of the target amount
under the LTIP will only be paid in full if the share price outperforms the
index by at least 10%.

Relative performance of the BNPParibas share in relation to the
performance of the EURD STOXX Banks index Factor applied to the second half of the award

Lower or equal to O points
0 to 5 points included

5 to0 10 points included
10 points higher

0%
50%
80%

100%

The amount determined by applying each of the conditions over the plan’s
five-year period is the remuneration paid under the LTIP.

Ceiling

According to the provisions of article L.511-78 of the French Monetary
and Financial Code relating to the cap on the variable component
as a percentage of the fixed component, total variable remuneration
awarded, including amounts awarded under the LTIP, may not be more
than twice the fixed remuneration, in accordance with the decision of
the Shareholders' Annual General Meeting on 24 May 2018. This decision
will again be submitted to the vote of the Shareholders' Annual General
Meeting on 18 May 2021. To calculate the ratio, a discount rate may in
addition be applied to no more than 25% of the total variable remuneration
inasmuch as the payment is made in the form of instruments deferred
for at least five years.

Payment of LTIP

Based on the change in the BNP Paribas share price, the first half of the
amount paid under the LTIP may not, under any circumstances, exceed
175% of the initial award amount. Payment of the second half of the
award may not, under any circumstances, exceed the total award amount.

Thus, under no circumstances can payments under the LTIP exceed
137.5% of their award value.

Continued presence requirement

LTIP rules require continued presence throughout the entire duration of
the plan. Departure from the Group would result in the LTIP not being
paid. Nonetheless, in the event of retirement or death after the end
of the first year of the plan, payments would be made provided that
performance conditions are met and subject to assessment by the Board
of directors.

Malus and Claw-back clauses

The LTIP provides for “malus” and “claw-back” arrangements. Accordingly,
should the beneficiary adopt a behaviour or perform acts which do not
comply with BNP Paribas’ requirements as defined, in particular, as regard
compliance with the Code of conduct, applicable Internal Rules and
regulations, assessment and management of risks applicable to Group
employees, the Board of directors may decide not only not to proceed
with the payment of the set amount whether the employee still works
for the Company or not, but may also request reimbursement for all
or part of the sums paid under previous plans over the past five years.

Moreover, this rule provides that in the event of the implementation of a
bank resolution measure under the French Monetary and Financial Code,
the LTIP rights shall be definitively cancelled.
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The Board of directors reserves the right to reduce awards under the LTIP
in particular in the event of non-compliance with the above-mentioned
ceiling.

IV. Extraordinary remuneration

No extraordinary remuneration may be paid to the directors, the
Chairman of the Board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the
Chief Operating Officers.

V. Benefits in kind

The Chairman of the Board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Operating Officers have a company car and a mobile phone.

VL. Stock option or share purchase subscription plans

The directors and corporate officers do not benefit from any stock option
or share purchase subscription plans.

VII. Performance shares

The directors and corporate officers do not receive any performance or
free shares.

VIil.Post-employment benefits

1. Payments or benefits due or likely to become due

upon termination or change in functions
Directors and corporate officers do not receive any contractual
remuneration for termination of their term of directorship.

2. Retirement benefits

Directors and corporate officers, with the exception of the Chief Operating
Officers, do not receive post-employment benefits when they leave the
Company or when they retire.

The Chief Operating Officers are entitled to the standard retirement
benefits awarded to all BNP Paribas SA employees pursuant to their
initial employment contract.

3. Supplementary pension plans

The corporate officers benefit solely from the defined-contribution top-up
pension plan set up for all BNP Paribas (SA) employees, in accordance
with article 83 of the French General Tax Code.

4. Welfare benefit plans

The Chairman of the Board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Operating Officers are entitled to the same flexible welfare benefits
(death and disability insurance, as well as the common healthcare benefit
scheme) as all BNP Paribas (SA) employees.

They also benefit from the Garantie Vie Professionnelle Accidents
system (death and disability insurance), which covers all employees of
BNP Paribas (SA).

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officers are also
entitled to the supplementary plan set up for members of the Group
Executive Committee, which pays out additional capital of EUR 1.10 million
in the event of work-related death or total and permanent disability. The
employer contribution under this scheme is recognised as a benefit in
kind.

5. Non-compete agreement

Please note that the Chief Executive Officer signed a non-compete
agreement with BNP Paribas (SA) on 25 February 2016. This agreement
was approved by the Annual General Meeting of 26 May 2016 pursuant
to the provisions of article L.225-38 of the French Commercial Code.

Under this agreement, if he ceases to hold any role or position in
BNP Paribas, Jean-Laurent Bonnafé undertakes, for a period of 12 months,
not to take any role whatsoever, either directly or indirectly, for a credit
institution, investment or insurance firm whose securities are traded
on a regulated market in France or abroad, or in France for a credit
institution, investment or insurance firm whose securities are not traded
on a regulated market. Decisions to apply the agreement will be taken in
due time with sincerity and loyalty.

Under this agreement, the Chief Executive Officer will receive a payment
equal to 1.2 times the total of his fixed and variable remuneration
(excluding LTIP) received during the year prior to his departure. One-
twelfth of the indemnity would be paid each month.

In accordance with the Afep-Medef Code and article R.22-10-4 of the
French Commercial Code which stipulate that the payment of a non-
compete indemnity must be excluded if the person concerned claimed
his pension rights or has exceeded the age of 65 and in line with the
stipulations of said non-compete agreement, the Board of directors and
the Chief Executive Officer have confirmed that they comply with this
provision.

IX. Loans, advances and guarantees granted
to the Group's directors and corporate officers

BNP Paribas directors and corporate officers and their spouses may be
granted loans.

These loans, representing normal transactions, are granted on an arm’s
length basis.
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COMPONENTS OF REMUNERATION PAID IN 2020 OR ALLOCATED IN RESPECT
OF THE SAME YEAR SUBMITTED TO THE EX POST VOTE OF SHAREHOLDERS
DURING THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF 18 MAY 2021 IN ACCORDANCE
WITH ARTICLE L.22-10-34 OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL CODE

The total remuneration of directors and corporate officers, as described below, complies with the remuneration policy adopted during the Annual

General Meeting of 19 May 2020.
» DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (AMOUNTS IN EUROS)

Amounts paid in 2019in

respect of the year Amounts paid in 2020 in

Directors (as areminder) respect of the year
Aschenbroich Jacques 79,255 76,919
Bonnafé Jean-Laurent 60,222 58,447
De Chalendar Pierre-André 93,756 102,135
Cohen Monique 124,270 120,607
De Ploey Wouter 87,110 88,647
Epaillard Hugues 103,726 103,308
Gibson Brandon Rajna 96,777 97,737
Guillou Marion 102,014 90,114
Kessler Denis 100,403 97,444
Lemierre Jean 60,222 58,447
Schwarzer Daniela 85,901 86,009
Tilmant Michel 133,635 128,231
Verrier Sandrine 70,493 76,919
Wicker-Miurin Fields 102,216 115,036
TOTAL 1,300,000 1,300,000

For information, the rules for allocating directors’ remuneration are as follows:

Share based on actual attendance

Fixed portion® Scheduled meeting  Extraordinary meeting
Directors resident in France €21,000 €3,000/meeting €4,400/meeting
Directors resident outside of France €21,000 €4,200/meeting €4,600/meeting®
Chairman of a specialised committee €5,700/meeting €5,700/meeting
Member of a specialised committee €2,700/meeting €2,700/meeting

(1) The fixed part is calculated pro rata temporis of the term of directorship during the year in question.
(2)  Or EUR 4,400 per meeting if participation is via videoconference or telecommunication means.

Directors representing employees receive remuneration in respect of their employment contract as described in the section “Remuneration and benefits

of the directors representing employees” of this document.
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Remuneration and benefits for the corporate officers

> TABLE NO. 1: REMUNERATION PAID DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2020 OR AWARDED FOR THE
SAME FINANCIAL YEAR TO JEAN LEMIERRE, CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUBMITTED
TO THE VOTE OF THE SHAREHOLDERS (AMOUNTS IN EUROS)

»  a. Components of remuneration awarded in respect of the 2020 financial year to Jean Lemierre, Chairman of the Board of directors

Fixed remuneration 950,000 The remuneration paid to Jean Lemierre is determined by the method recommended
(paid) by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board of directors. His fixed
remuneration has not changed since December 2014.

Annual variable remuneration None Jean Lemierre is not entitled to annual variable remuneration. The absence of variable
remuneration reflects the independence of the Chairman with respect to the Executive
Management.

Long-term compensation None Jean Lemierre is not entitled to annual variable remuneration. The absence of variable
remuneration reflects the independence of the Chairman with respect to the Executive
Management.

Remuneration linked to 58,447 Jean Lemierre does not receive any remuneration in respect of directorships that he

the term of directorship (paid) holds in the Group’s companies other than BNP Paribas (SA).

Extraordinary remuneration None

Stock options awarded during the period None

Performance shares None

awarded during the year

Benefits in kind 4,491 Jean Lemierre has a company car and a mobile phone.

TOTAL 1,012,938

> b.The components of remuneration paid to Jean Lemierre, Chairman of the Board of directors during financial year 2020
in respect of previous financial years (having been subject to a shareholders’ vote at the time of their award)

None

> cAl types of commitments undertaken corresponding to remuneration components, compensation or benefits in kind due
or likely to be due as a result of the assumption, termination or change in functions or after performing these to the benefit
of Jean Lemierre, Chairman of the Board of directors

Sign-on bonuses and None Jean Lemierre receives no sign-on bonuses or severance payments.
severance payments

Top-up pension plan None Jean Lemierre does not benefit from any supplemental defined-benefit pension plans.
with defined benefits

Top-up pension plan 1,769 lean Lemierre benefits from the defined-contribution plan set up for all BNP Paribas
defined-contribution (SA) employees, in accordance with pension plans (article 83 of the French General

Tax Code). The amount of contributions paid by the Company under the plan to
Jean Lemierre in 2020 was EUR 1,769.

Welfare benefit and healthcare plans 4,014 Jean Lemierre benefits from the disability, invalidity and death, and healthcare
insurance plans offered to employees of BNP Paribas (SA). He also benefits from death
and disability insurance covering all employees of BNP Paribas (SA). This amount is
the total received.
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> TABLE NO. 2: REMUNERATION PAID DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2020 OR AWARDED FOR THE SAME FINANCIAL
YEAR TO JEAN-LAURENT BONNAFE, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, SUBMITTED TO THE VOTE OF THE SHAREHOLDERS

(AMOUNTS IN EUROS)

>» a Components of remuneration paid in respect of financial year 2020 to Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, Chief Executive Officer

Fixed remuneration

Annual variable remuneration®

Conditional long-term remuneration
programme (fully deferred for a period
of five years)

Remuneration linked to the term
of directorship

Extraordinary remuneration
Stock options awarded during the period

Performance shares awarded during the
year

Benefits in kind

Amounts Comments

1,562,000
(paid)

1,479,214

649,636

58,447

None
None

None

6,507

The remuneration paid to Jean-Laurent Bonnafé is determined by the method
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board of directors.
The most recent increase in fixed remuneration is dated 25 February 2016 effective as
of 1 January 2016 when the Board of directors revised the components of remuneration
of the corporate officers to comply with the new EBA rules, the sum of the fixed
remuneration and target annual variable remuneration remained unchanged.

The variable remuneration of Jean-Laurent Bonnafé changes on the basis of criteria
representative of Group results and his managerial performance. It is expressed
as a percentage of a target variable remuneration corresponding to 100% of fixed
remuneration for the year. The quantitative criteria apply to the Group’s overall
performance and are as follows:

m ratio of net earnings per share for the year to net earnings per share for the previous
year (37.5% of target variable remuneration);

m achievement of the Group's budgeted gross operating income (37.5% of the target
variable remuneration);

m multi-criteria assessment of the actions taken by the Group with respect to social,
societal and environmental issues (10% of target variable remuneration).

The qualitative criteria represent 15% of the target variable remuneration.

After taking into account both quantitative, CSR and qualitative criteria, and the

evolution of the Group’s results, the Board of directors set the annual variable

remuneration of Jean-Laurent Bonnafé for 2020 at

EUR 1,479,214 i.e. 94.7% of the target annual variable remuneration;

m half of the non-deferred portion of the variable remuneration will be paid in
May 2021, and half in March 2022, indexed to the performance of the BNP Paribas
share;

m the deferred portion of the variable remuneration will be paid in fifths as of 2022.
Each payment will be made half in March every year, and half in March of the
following year, indexed to the performance of the BNP Paribas share. The last
payment in respect of 2020 will be made in March 2027. The annual payment of
the deferred variable remuneration is subject to the condition that the ROE before
tax of the Group for the year preceding the payment is greater than 5%.

The ratio between the annual fixed remuneration and variable remuneration, as

required under the French Commercial Code, was 94.7%.

The fair value of the LTIP awarded to Jean-Laurent Bonnafé on 4 February 2021 with
respect to 2020 amounted to EUR 649,636.

The term of the LTIP is five years. The two conditions of the LTIP, one recognising an
increase in the intrinsic value of the BNP Paribas share and the other recognising
the potential outperformance of its peers, are assigned equal weighting in order
to measure their effects separately.

Thus, payments under the LTIP may not exceed 137.5% of their award value.

Jean-Laurent Bonnafé receives remuneration for his term of directorship at BNP Paribas
(SA).

Jean-Laurent Bonnafé has a company car and a mobile phone. This amount also
includes the employer contribution under the Executive Committee professional life
insurance policy, offering an additional EUR 1.10 million in the event of death or total
permanent disability linked to the employment activity. BNP Paribas (SA)'s annual
employer contribution was EUR 1,460 per beneficiary for 2020.

TOTAL

3,755,804

(1) Payment subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021 pursuant to article L.22-10-34 Il of the French Commercial Code.
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> b. Components of remuneration paid to Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, Chief Executive Officer, during financial year 2020 in respect
of previous years (having been subject to the shareholders’ vote at the time of their award)

Date of submission to the AGM
In euros and resolution number Amounts paid in 2020

Annval variable remuneration 1,151,790
19 May 2020

2 Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2019 (16th resolution) 322,303
23 May 2019

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2018 (14th resolution) 461,750
24 May 2018

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2017 (15th resolution) 175,118
23 May 2017

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2016 (14th resolution) 192,619
26 May 2016

Long-term compensation (11th resolution) 0

> c.Al types of commitments corresponding to components of remuneration, compensation or benefits in kind due
or likely to be due as a result of the assumption, termination or change in functions or after performing these
to the benefit of Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, Chief Executive Officer

Sign-on bonuses and None
severance payments

Non-compete indemnity None  Under the non-compete clause signed on 25 February 2016, and subject to the conditions detailed

below, Jean-Laurent Bonnafé would receive remuneration equal to 1.2 times the sum of his fixed
and variable remuneration (excluding multi-annual variable remuneration) received during the
year prior to his leaving the Group. One-twelfth of the indemnity would be paid each month.
Under this agreement, if he ceases to hold any role or position in BNP Paribas, Jean-Laurent
Bonnafé undertakes, for a period of 12 months, not to take any role whatsoever, either directly or
indirectly, for a credit institution, investment or insurance firm whose securities are traded on a
regulated market in France or abroad, or in France for a credit institution, investment or insurance
firm whose securities are not traded on a regulated market. Decisions to apply the agreement
will be taken in due time with sincerity and loyalty.
In accordance with the Afep-Medef Code and article R.22-10-14 of the French Commercial
Code, which stipulate that the payment of a non-compete payment must be excluded if the
person concerned claimed his pension rights or has exceeded the age of 65 and in line with
the stipulations of said non-compete agreement, the Board of directors and the Chief Executive
Officer have confirmed that they comply with this provision.

Top-up pension plan None  Jean-Laurent Bonnafé does not benefit from any supplemental defined-benefit pension plans.

with defined benefits

Top-up pension plan 1,769  Jean-Laurent Bonnafé benefits from the defined-contribution plan set up for all BNP Paribas (SA)

defined-contribution employees, in accordance with article 83 of the French General Tax Code. The amount of
contributions paid by the Company in this respect for Jean-Laurent Bonnafé was, in 2020,
EUR 1,769.

Welfare benefit and 4,014  Jean-Laurent Bonnafé benefits from the disability, invalidity and death and healthcare insurance

healthcare plans plans offered to employees of BNP Paribas (SA). He also benefits from death and disability

insurance covering all employees of BNP Paribas (SA).
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> TABLE NO. 3: COMPONENTS OF REMUNERATION PAID DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2020 OR AWARDED
FOR THE SAME FINANCIAL YEAR TO PHILIPPE BORDENAVE, CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, SUBMITTED TO THE VOTE OF

THE SHAREHOLDERS (AMOUNTS IN EUROS)

>» a Components of remuneration paid in respect of financial year 2020 to Philippe Bordenave, Chief Operating Officer

Fixed remuneration due
with respect to the year

Annual variable remuneration
awarded in respect of the year®

Conditional long-term
remuneration programme
(fully deferred for a period
of five years)

Remuneration linked to
the term of directorship

Extraordinary remuneration

Stock options awarded
during the period

Performance shares
awarded during the year

Benefits in kind

1,000,000
(paid)

947,000

415,900

None

None

None

None

3,953

The remuneration paid to Philippe Bordenave is determined by the method recommended by
the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board of directors. The most recent increase
in fixed remuneration is dated 25 February 2016 effective as of 1 January 2016 when the Board
of directors revised the components of remuneration of the corporate officers to comply with
the new EBA rules, the sum of the fixed remuneration and target annual variable remuneration
remained unchanged.

The variable remuneration of Philippe Bordenave changes on the basis of criteria representative

of Group results and his managerial performance. It is expressed as a percentage of a target

variable remuneration corresponding to 100% of fixed remuneration for the year. The quantitative
criteria apply to the Group's overall performance and are as follows:

® ratio of net earnings per share for the year to net earnings per share for the previous year
(37.5% of target variable remuneration);

m achievement of the Group's budgeted gross operating income (37.5% of the target variable
remuneration);

m multi-criteria assessment of the actions taken by the Group with respect to social, societal and
environmental issues (10% of target variable remuneration).

The qualitative criteria represent 15% of the target variable remuneration.

After taking into account the quantitative and qualitative criteria, and the evolution of the Group's

results, the Board of directors set the annual variable remuneration of Philippe Bordenave for

2020 at EUR 947,000, or 94.7% of the annual variable remuneration target:

m half of the non-deferred portion of the variable remuneration will be paid in May 2021, and
half in March 2022, indexed to the performance of the BNP Paribas share;

m the deferred portion of the variable remuneration will be paid in fifths as of 2022. Each payment
will be made half in March every year, and half in March of the following year, indexed to the
performance of the BNP Paribas share. The last payment in respect of 2020 will be made in
March 2027;

m The annual payment of the deferred variable remuneration is subject to the condition that the
ROE before tax of the Group for the year preceding the payment is greater than 5%.

The ratio between the annual fixed remuneration and variable remuneration, as required under

the French Commercial Code, was 94.7%.

The fair value of the LTIP awarded to Philippe Bordenave on 4 February 2021 with respect to
2020 amounts to EUR 415,900.

The term of the LTIP is five years. The two conditions of the LTIP, one recognising an increase in the
intrinsic value of the BNP Paribas share and the other recognising the potential outperformance
of its peers, are assigned equal weighting in order to measure their effects separately.

Thus, payments under the LTIP may not exceed 137.5% of their award value.

Philippe Bordenave does not receive remuneration in respect of the directorships that he holds
in the Group's companies.

Philippe Bordenave has a company car and a maobile phone. This amount also includes the
employer contribution under the Executive Committee professional life insurance policy, offering
an additional EUR 1.10 million in the event of death or total permanent disability linked to
the employment activity. BNP Paribas (SA)'s annual employer contribution was EUR 1,460 per
beneficiary for 2020.

TOTAL

2,366,853

(1) Payment subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021 pursuant to article L.22-10-34 Il of the French Commercial Code.
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> b. The components of remuneration paid to Philippe Bordenave, Chief Operating Officer, during financial year 2020 in respect of
previous financial years (having been subject to a shareholders’ vote at the time of their award)

Date submitted to the AGM and
In euros resolution number Amounts paid in 2020

Annval variable remuneration 737,294
19 May 2020

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2019 (17th resolution) 206,340
23 May 2019

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2018 (15th resolution) 295,591
24 May 2018

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2017 (16th resolution) 112,068
23 May 2017

Including partial payment of the annual variable remuneration in respect of 2016 (15th resolution) 123,295
26 May 2016

Long-term compensation (12th resolution) 0

> c.Al types of commitments corresponding to components of remuneration, compensation or benefits in kind
due or likely to be due as a result of the assumption, termination or change in functions or after performing these
to the benefit of Philippe Bordenave, Chief Operating Officer

Sign-on bonuses and None  Philippe Bordenave receives no sign-on bonuses or severance payments.
severance payments

Top-up pension plan None  Philippe Bordenave benefits from no supplemental defined-benefit pension plans.

with defined benefits

Top-up pension plan 1,769 The corporate officers benefit from the defined-contribution plan (article 83 of the French General

defined-contribution Tax Code) set up for all employees of BNP Paribas (SA). The amount of contributions paid by the
Company under the plan in 2020 to Philippe Bordenave was EUR 1,769.

Welfare benefit and 4,014 Philippe Bordenave benefits from the disability, invalidity and death and healthcare insurance

healthcare plans offered to employees of BNP Paribas (SA). He also benefits from death and disability insurance

covering all employees of BNP Paribas (SA).

Details relating to the annual variable remuneration of corporate officers

Assessment of the achievement of the targets set for 2020
At its meeting of 4 February 2021, the Board of directors assessed the achievement of the objectives set in accordance with the remuneration policy.

Group performance criteria
The Board of directors reviewed the achievement of the quantitative portion of the annual variable remuneration in terms of the criteria linked to the
Group's performance provided for in the remuneration policy.

As regards the criterion of ratio of net earnings per share to net earnings per share for the previous year, its measure was equal to 32.07% of the target
variable remuneration for 2020.

As regards the criterion of achievement of the budgeted gross operating income, its measure was equal to 37.63% of the target variable remuneration
for 2020.

Application to

37.5% of fixed

2019 2020 compensation

Net earnings per share EUR6.21 EUR5.31 -14.49% 32.07%
Budget 2020:  Achieved in 2020:

Gross operating income EUR 14,034 million EUR 14,081 million +0.34% 37.63%
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Criteria linked to the Group’s CSR performance

The Board of directors reviewed the achievement of the multi-criteria
measurement with regard to the three criteria linked to the Group's CSR
performance provided for in the remuneration policy, each of which has
a 3.33% weighting.

(i) Board's assessment of the CSR policy

With respect to the qualitative assessment, the Board of directors
considered that this criterion had been achieved taking into account the
2020 highlights in terms of climate and social issues:

BNP Paribas has an ambitious policy of societal engagement, with
initiatives to promote ethical responsibility and consideration of social
and environmental issues with a clear energy strategy. The Bank's aim is
to be a leader in sustainable finance.

a) Interms of social issues, it promotes a more inclusive society:

= Nearly EUR 60 million in emergency donations were made to address
the health crisis (support for the health sector, aid to the most
disadvantaged via NGO partners, assistance to young people);

= BNP Paribas is ranked world's best bank for financial inclusion for
its support of microfinance and its inclusive products and services
by Euromoney;

= the #lamaisSansElles Charter has been extended to BNP Paribas
G100 members.

b) Interms of energy and ecological transition:

= the Bank has announced a timetable for the complete exit from
thermal coal by 2030 in the EU and the OECD and by 2040 in the
rest of the world;

= BNP Paribas and four other international banks adopted the PACTA
methodology in order to assess the alignment of the Bank's loan
portfolio with the conclusions of the Paris Agreement.
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c) Interms of the management of environmental and social issues:

= implementation of the ESG Action Plan, a multi-year programme
aimed at strengthening the ESG risk management processes.

The Group's actions in these different areas are recognised:

= the Group is rated A1+ and ranked fourth worldwide by Vigeo Eiris for
all its CSR actions and is ranked as the leading French bank SAM's
in SAM’s 2020 rating;

= BNP Paribas was recognised in 2020 as the world's best bank for
financial inclusion (Euromoney awards for excellence);

= for the sixth consecutive year, BNP Paribas has been included in
the Corporate Knights' ranking of the "Global 100 Most Sustainable
Corporations” and is ranked second amongst European banks in 2020;

= the Group is ranked first among the CAC 40 companies for climate
strategy and actions according to the EcoAct ranking.

(i) Market assessment of the CSR policy

The CSR criterion linked to the Group's position, in relation to its peers, in
the extra-financial performance rankings of FTSE, SAM and Vigeo-Eiris, was
met as BNP Paribas was in the top quartile of their banking sector ratings.

(iii) Assessment of the CSR policy by alignment with employees
Regarding the criterion of alignment with the Group’s key employees,

the three-year CSR targets set in the retention plan for the Group's key
employees were also met.

Thus, the multi-criteria measurement, as a percentage of the target
variable remuneration, amounts to 10.00% for 2020.

CSR - Assessment of the CSR policy

(iii) Alignment Multi-criteria
(ii) By the market with employees measurement

(i) By the Board
Weighting 3.33% 3.33% 3.33%
Measurement 3.33% 3.33% 3.33% 10.00%

Qualitative criteria

The Board of directors assessed the quantitative portion of the annual
variable remuneration in terms of the application of the criteria provided
for in the remuneration policy.

For 2020, the Board determined that Jean-Laurent Bonnafé had principally
achieved the following:

m resilient operating results in 2020 marked by a contained increase in
the cost of risk, the achievement of the cost savings provided for in
the strategic plan 2017-2020 enabling a positive scissor effect and the
increase in the CET1 ratio over the year,

| his decisive action in the management of the Bank during the Covid-19
crisis with (i) the maintenance of the Bank's services ensured by the use
of remote working, (ii) his key role vis-a-vis major clients in particular.
as part of the Group’s mobilisation to support the economy, which

resulted in an increase in CIB's market share in Europe, (iii) adapting
working conditions for employees by implementing health measures
in accordance with the recommendations of the public authorities;

m his commitment to making the Bank a recognised leader for its CSR
strategy and his strong leadership as Chairman of the Enterprise for
the Environment think tank;

m his commitment to increase the number of women in governing bodies
by defining objectives for the promotion of women in the medium term;

and for Philippe Bordenave, consistent with the outcomes assessed for
Jean-Laurent Bonnafé:

m resilient operating results in 2020 with, in particular, his involvement in
the achievement of the cost control objectives defined in the strategic
plan 2017-2020 and his role in the management of the Bank's balance
sheet and liquidity, ensuring a solid financial structure;
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B his involvement in the improvement and sustainable transformation
of the Group’s information systems to ensure the continuity of
BNP Paribas services during the health crisis through remote working
and high-performance telecommunications, while improving the

Summary

After taking into account all the criteria used to set annual variable
remuneration, and the evolution of the Group's operating results, the
Board of directors, on the proposal of the Remuneration Committee, set

systems aimed at countering more widespread cyber-attacks in the
context of the pandemic;

the variable remuneration awarded in respect of 2020 at:

EUR 1,479,214 for Jean-Laurent Bonnafé (representing 94.7% of his target
variable remuneration);

EUR 947,000 for Philippe Bordenave (representing 94.7% of his target
variable remuneration).

| his role in the operational integration of Deutsche Bank's prime
2 brokerage activities according to the terms initially agreed;

m his monitoring of the implementation of the Group’s CSR policy
commitments;

m his involvement in the reviews requested by the SSM teams in
connection with the health crisis.

The result in respect of each criterion is set out in the following table:

Criteria related to
Financial Performance
Gross :
: Reminder
nlﬁz:::;';g CSR Variable of target
performance Qualitative | withrespect variable
In evras criteria criteria t02020 |remuneration
Jean-Laurent Bonnafé Weighting® 37.50% 37.50% 10.00% 15.00%
Measurement® 32.07% 37.63% 10.00% 15.00% 1,479,214 1,562,000
Philippe Bordenave Weighting® 37.50% 37.50% 10.00% 15.00%
Measurement® 32.07% 37.63% 10.00% 15.00% 947,000 1,000,000

(1) As a percentage of target variable remuneration.
(2)  Ratio of earnings per share (EPS) for the year to earnings per share for the previous year.
(3) Achievement of target Gross Operating Income (GOI).

Terms and conditions of payment b)

a) The payment terms for variable remuneration of BNP Paribas
Group corporate officers in respect of 2020, in accordance with the
pravisions of the French Monetary and Financial Code and the EBA'S
21 December 2015 Guidelines on remuneration policy are:

In addition, the annual payment of the deferred variable
remuneration is subject to the condition that the ROE before tax of
the Group for the year preceding the payment is greater than 5%.

The Board of directors noted that this performance condition was met
in 2020; accordingly, deferred remuneration payable in 2021 in respect
of previous plans will be paid.

60% of variable remuneration is deferred over five years, at the rate
of one-fifth per year; , , . . .
Details relating to the conditional long-term incentive
plan (LTIP) covering a five-year period

LTIP amounts awarded in 2021

In accordance with the remuneration policy and on the proposal of the
Remuneration Committee, the Board of directors set the LTIP amounts
to be awarded in 2021.

half of the non-deferred portion of the variable remuneration is paid
in May 2021, subject to the approval of the Shareholders’ Annual
General Meeting under the terms provided for by article L.22-10-34 I
of the French Commercial Code; and half in March 2022, indexed to
the performance of the BNP Paribas share since the award;

= the deferred portion of the variable remuneration will be paid in
fifths starting in 2022. Each payment will be made half in March
every year, and half in March of the following year, indexed to the
performance of the BNP Paribas share since the award. The last
payment in respect of 2020 will therefore be made in March 2027.

Fair value of the
LTIP awarded on 4 February 2021 (in euros) Total awarded® amount awarded®

Jean-Laurent Bonnafé 1,562,000 649,636
1,000,000 415,900

The amount awarded under the LTIP is equal to the target annual variable
remuneration for 2020.

Philippe Bordenave

(*)  See explanations above.
(**) Fair value in accordance with the IFRS standards of 41.59% of the amount awarded. The calculation is carried out by an independent expert.

88 2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Report on Corporate governance

» STRUCTURE OF THE PAYMENT OF THE REMUNERATION OF CORPORATE OFFICERS IN RESPECT OF 2020 AFTER

TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE EBA GUIDELINES
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@ Awarded in March 2021 and payment deferred until May 2021 subject to the approval of the Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting

under the terms pursuant to article L.22-10-34 I/ of the French Commercial Code.

@ payment at the end of a one-year holding period starting on the date of the annual variable remuneration award.

@ The LTIP is a five-year plan, payment will be made at the end of the five-year period.

Relative proportion of fixed and variable remuneration

of corporate officers

The cap on total variable remuneration provided for by article L.511-78
of the French Monetary and Financial Code was not exceeded. Pursuant
to article L.511-79 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, a
discount rate may in addition be applied to no more than 25% of total
variable remuneration inasmuch as the payment is made in the form of
instruments deferred for at least 5 years.

After applying the discount rate to the variable remuneration amounts
awarded in the form of instruments deferred for five years (39.46%
discount in accordance with European Banking Authority guidelines on
the application of the notional discount rate for variable remuneration,
published on 27 March 2014), the ratio between total variable
remuneration and fixed remuneration is 1.75 for the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Operating Officer for 2020.

Use of “malus” and “claw-back” clauses

The Board of directors has not been called upon to apply the “malus” and
“claw-back” clauses, provided for in the remuneration policy defined above.

Cash

. Cash indexed to
the BNP Paribas
share price

- Cash indexed on the
performance of the BNP
Paribas share compared to
the performance of the
EURO STOXX Banks index

Remuneration paid or granted by a company

included in the consolidation scope

No remuneration has been paid or granted to directors and corporate
officers by a company included in the scope of consolidation of
BNP Paribas within the meaning of article L.233-16 of the French
Commercial Code.

Remuneration multiples and changes

In accordance with the provisions of Article L.22-10-9 of the French
Commercial Code and the Afep guidelines on remuneration multiples
updated in February 2021, the level of remuneration of the Chairman of
the Board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating
Officer, with respect to the average remuneration and the median
remuneration based on full-time equivalent employees of BNP Paribas
(SA), as well as changes in this remuneration, these ratios and the
Company's performance criteria, are shown below.

This information is provided over a five-year period.

The employees considered are those of BNP Paribas (SA) in France and its
branches, continuously present over a financial year. Remuneration due or
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awarded to employees includes the fixed portion and the variable portion Compensation Plan, directors’ remunerations, as well as benefits in kind
of remuneration, commercial bonuses, retention plans, profit-sharing and and information already presented in Chapter 2 of this document for
incentive bonuses, as well as benefits in kind. 2019 and 2020.

The remuneration due or awarded to corporate officers equals the fixed AlL this remuneration, due or awarded, is presented on a gross basis,
compensation, variable compensation, the fair value of the Long-Term excluding employer contributions.

Year
2 I T T
Performance of the Company
Net pre-tax income (in millions of euras) 11,210 11,310 10,208 11,394 9,822
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 1% -10% 12% -14%
Operating income (in millions of euros) 10,771 10,310 9,169 10,057 8,364
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -4% -11% 10% -17%
Net earnings per share (in euros) 6.00 6.05 573 6.21 531
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 1% -5% 8% -14%
Remuneration of employees (in thousands of euros)
Average remuneration 83 83 82 86 88
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 0% -1% 5% 2%
Median remuneration 54 54 54 56 57
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 0% 0% 4% 2%
Chairman of the Board of directors
Remuneration of the Chairman of the Board of directors
(in thousands of euros) 1,012 1,016 1,017 1,014 1,013
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 0% 0% 0% 0%
Average remuneration of employees ratio 12 12 12 12 12
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 0% 0% -2% -2%
Median remuneration of employees ratio 19 19 19 18 18
Change Current yr/Prev. yr 0% 0% -5% -2%
Chief Executive Officer
Remuneration of CEO (in thousands of euros) 4,052 3,686 3,381 3,858 3,756
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -9% -8% 14% -3%
Average remuneration of employees ratio 49 44 41 45 43
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -10% -7% 10% -5%
Median remuneration of employees ratio 75 68 62 69 66
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -9% -9% 11% -4%
Chief Operating Officer
Remuneration of COO (in thousands of euras) 2559 2320 2126 2431 2,367
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -9% -8% 14% -3%
Average remuneration of employees ratio 31 28 26 28 27
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -10% -7% 9% -5%
Median remuneration of employees ratio 48 43 39 43 42
Change Current yr/Prev. yr -10% -9% 11% -4%

(1) The average and median remuneration of employees in respect of 2019 has been updated to take into account the actual awards, which were not all
available at the time of publication of the 2019 URD. The resulting 2019 ratios have also been updated.

Application of the provisions of the second paragraph of Article L.22-10-14 of the French Commercial Code
The provisions of the second paragraph of article L.22-10-14 of the French Commercial Code do not need to be applied in 2020.

90 2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Report on Corporate governance

OTHER INFORMATION ON THE REMUNERATION OF CORPORATE OFFICERS PAID OR AWARDED
IN RESPECT OF THE 2020 FINANCIAL YEAR, NOT SUBMITTED TO THE SHAREHOLDERS’ VOTE

The components below, relating to the remuneration of corporate officers, reiterate some information already presented in this chapter.

> TOTAL REMUNERATION AWARDED IN RESPECT OF 2020 AND COMPARISON WITH 2019

Jean-Laurent Bonnafé Philippe Bordenave

Fixed remuneration amount 1,562,000 1,562,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Annual variable remuneration awarded 1,611,515 1,479,214 1,031,700 947,000
SuB-ToTAL 3,173,515 3,041,214 2,031,700 1,947,000
LTIP amount (fair value)® 617,927 649,636 395,600 415,900
TOTAL 3,791,442 3,690,850 2,427,300 2,362,900

(*) This is an estimated value at the award date. The final amount will be known at the date of payment.

Holding of shares resulting from the exercise
of stock options

The Board of directors has decided that the minimum number of shares
that Jean Lemierre, Jean-Laurent Bonnafé and Philippe Bordenave shall be
required to hold for the duration of their terms of office shall be 10,000,
80,000 and 30,000 shares, respectively. The three interested parties have
complied with this obligation, through the direct ownership of shares or
units in the Company Savings Plan fully invested in BNP Paribas shares.

Quantitative information on the remuneration
of corporate officers

The table below shows the gross remuneration awarded in respect of the
year, including remuneration linked to a term of directorship and benefits
in kind, for each corporate officer.
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» SUMMARY TABLE OF THE REMUNERATION AWARDED TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER

In euros Total awarded Total awarded

Jean Lemierre Fixed remuneration 950,000 950,000

Chairman of the Board Annual variable remuneration None None
of directors i

2 Long-term compensation None None

Value of stock options granted during the year None None

Value of performance shares awarded during the year None None

Sub-total 950,000 950,000

Extraordinary remuneration None None

Remuneration linked to the term of directorship 60,222 58,447

Benefits in kind® 3,632 4,491

TOTAL 1,013,854 1,012,938

Jean-Laurent Bonnafé Fixed remuneration 1,562,000 1,562,000

Chief Executive Officer Annual variable remuneration 1,611,515 1,479,214

Long-term compensation® 617,927 649,636

Value of stock options granted during the year None None

Value of performance shares awarded during the year None None

Sub-total 3,791,442 3,690,850

Extraordinary remuneration None None

Remuneration linked to the term of directorship 60,222 58,447

Benefits in kind® 6,507 6,507

TOTAL 3,858,171 3,755,804

Philippe Bordenave Fixed remuneration 1,000,000 1,000,000

Chief Operating Officer Annual variable remuneration 1,031,700 947,000

Long-term compensation® 395,600 415,900

Value of stock options granted during the year None None

Value of performance shares awarded during the year None None

Sub-total 2,427,300 2,362,900

Extraordinary remuneration None None

Remuneration linked to the term of directorship None None

Benefits in kind(1) 3,953 3,953

TOTAL 2,431,253 2,366,853

(1) The Chairman of the Board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer have a company car and a mobile phone. The
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer receive Executive Committee professional life insurance, for which the Company’s contribution is
recognised as a benefit in kind.

(2)  Value of amount awarded subject to certain performance conditions.
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The tables below show the gross remuneration paid in 2020, including remuneration linked to directorships and benefits in kind, for each corporate officer.

» SUMMARY TABLE OF REMUNERATION PAID AS CORPORATE OFFICER

O Amounts paid Amounts paid

Jean Lemierre Fixed remuneration 950,000 950,000
Chairman of the Board

of directors Annual variable remuneration None None
Long-term compensation None None
Extraordinary remuneration None None
Remuneration linked to the term of directorship 60,222 58,447
Benefits in kind® 3,632 4,491
TOTAL 1,013,854 1,012,938
Jean-Laurent Bonnafé Fixed remuneration 1,562,000 1,562,000
Chief Executive Officer Annual variable remuneration 1,184,433 1,151,790
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2019 None 322,303
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2018 294,049 461,750
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2017 314,087 175,118
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2016 175,568 192,619
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2015 400,729 None
Long-term compensation 0@ 0@
Extraordinary remuneration None None
Remuneration linked to the term of directorship 60,222 58,447
Benefits in kind® 6,507 6,507
TOTAL 2,813,162 2,778,744
Philippe Bordenave Fixed remuneration 1,000,000 1,000,000
Chief Operating Officer Annual variable remuneration 758,670 737,294
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2019 None 206,340
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2018 188,252 295,591
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2017 201,096 112,068
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2016 112,384 123295
of which annual variable remuneration in respect of 2015 256,938 None
Long-term compensation 0@ 0@
Extraordinary remuneration None None
Remuneration linked to the term of directorship None None
Benefits in kind® 3,953 3,953
TOTAL 1,762,623 1,741,247

The average tax and social contribution rate on this remuneration was 38% in 2020 (38% in 2019).

(1) The Chairman of the Board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer have a company car and a mobile phone. The
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer receive Executive Committee professional life insurance, for which the Company’s contribution is
recognised as a benefit in kind.

(2) The LTIP granted in 2014 and 2015 did not give rise to any payment in 2019 and 2020 due to the failure to achieve the performance condition linked
to the change in value of the BNP Paribas share. As a reminder, the amount awarded is subject to the application of two cumulative performance
conditions over a period of five years from the date of grant. Therefore, the associated performance condition (change in value of the BNP Paribas
share compared to that of EURO STOXX Banks) led to 98% of the amount awarded being maintained (86% for the LTIP in 2014), while the minimum
performance of the BNP Paribas share during the reference period of 5%, required to trigger the payment, has not been achieved.
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» STOCK SUBSCRIPTION OR PURCHASE OPTIONS > PERFORMANCE SHARES THAT BECAME AVAILABLE
GRANTED DURING THE YEAR TO EACH CORPORATE DURING THE YEAR FOR EACH CORPORATE OFFICER
OFFICER BY THE ISSUER AND BY EACH COMPANY
IN THE GROUP No performance share became available during the year for the corporate

officers.

No stock subscription or purchase options were awarded during the year
to the corporate officers by the Company or by any other Group company. > HISTORY OF STOCK SUBSCRIPTION
AND PURCHASE OPTIONS

» STOCK SUBSCRIPTION OR PURCHASE OPTIONS

EXERCISED DURING THE YEAR BY EACH CORPORATE None.

OFFICER

> HISTORY OF PERFORMANCE SHARE AWARDS

No stock subscription or purchase options were exercised during the year
by the corporate officers. None.

» PERFORMANCE SHARES GRANTED DURING THE YEAR

TO EACH CORPORATE OFFICER BY THE ISSUER AND
BY EACH COMPANY IN THE GROUP

No performance share was granted during the year to corporate officers
by the Company or any company in the Group.

> VALUATION® OF THE LTIP PLANS AT THE AWARD DATE AND AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Award date
of the plan 04/02/2016 06/02/2017 05/02/2018 05/02/2019 04/02/2020 | 04/02/2021

Maturity date
of the plan 04/02/2021 06/02/2022 05/02/2023 05/02/2024 04/02/2025  04/02/2026
At the award At the award At the award At the award At the award At the award
date of the At date of the At date of the At date of the At date of the At date of the
Valuation® plan 31/12/2020 plan 31/12/2020 plan 31/12/2020 plan 31/12/2020 plan 31/12/2020 plan

Jean Lemierre - - - - - - - R _ - _

Jean-Laurent

Bonnafé 339,885 0 775,767 818410 479,085 576,300 282,644 660,570 617,927 692,435 649,636
Philippe

Bordenave 217,875 0 496,650 523,950 306,700 368,950 180,950 422,900 395,600 443300 415,900
TOTAL 557,760 0 1,272,417 1,342,360 785,765 945,250 463,594 1,083,470 1,013527 1,135,735 1,065,536

(1)  Valuation according to the method adopted for the consolidated financial statements.

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Report on Corporate governance

» ASSUMPTIONS USED TO VALUE THE LTIP IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE METHOD ADOPTED
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Valuation at award date

Award date of the plan 04/02/2020 04/02/2021
Opening BNP Paribas share price EUR 48.72 EUR 42.03
Opening level of the EURO STOXX Banks index EUR92.11 EUR 74.41
Zero-coupon rate Euribor Euribor
Volatility of the BNP Paribas share price 19.48% 21.25%
Volatility of the EURO STOXX Banks index 18.36% 24.11%
Correlation between the BNP Paribas share and the EURO STOXX Banks index 89.77% 92.13%
Financial model used Monte-Carlo Monte-Carlo
Fair value of the plan at award date(*) 39.56% 41.59%

(*)  As a percentage of the amount awarded.

Valuation on closing date

Initial value of Valuation at Valuation at
the share at the Fair value at closing date closing date
awarddate | date of award® 31/12/2019 31/12/2020
Closing price of BNP Paribas shares EUR 52.83 EUR 4311
Closing level of the EURO STOXX Banks index EUR96.71 EUR 73.77
Zero-coupon rate Euribor Euribor
Volatility of the BNP Paribas share price 20.59% 22.00%
Volatility of the EURO STOXX Banks index 21.11% 24.12%
Correlation between the BNP Paribas share
and the EURO STOXX Banks index 90.37% 92.05%
Financial model used Monte-Carlo Monte-Carlo
Fair value of the plan awarded on 4 February 2016 EUR 54.07® 17.43% 14.95% 0.00%®
Fair value of the plan awarded on 6 February 2017 EUR 48.35@ 49.67% 57.41% 52.40%%
Fair value of the plan awarded on 5 February 2018 EUR 63.99@ 30.67% 35.31% 36.90%
Fair value of the plan awarded on 5 February 2019 EUR 53.03@ 18.10% 43.91% 42.29%®
Fair value of the plan awarded on 4 February 2020 EUR 45.27@ 39.56% 44.33%0

(1) The initial amount is the higher of the average opening price of the BNP Paribas share in the rolling 12-month period prior to the award date, and the
opening BNP Paribas share price at the award date.

(2) Theinitial value is the average of the opening price of the BNP Paribas share for the rolling 12-month period prior to the award date.

(3) As a percentage of the amount awarded.
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» DETAILED CONTRACTUAL SITUATION OF THE GROUP'S CORPORATE OFFICERS

Employment contract

Corporate officers at 31 December 2020

Jean Lemierre

Top-up pension plan

Ve | ol es | Mol es | ol Ves | o

Payments or benefits
due or likely to
become due upon
termination or change
in functions

Non-compete
indemnity

Chairman of the Board of directors v V@ v/ v
Jean-Laurent Bonnafé

Chief Executive Officer V@ V@ v/ V@

Philippe Bordenave

Chief Operating Officer VO v 4 v

(1) Waiver of employment contract with effect from 1 December 2014 in accordance with Afep-Medef Code.
(2) Jean Lemierre, Jean-Laurent Bonnafé and Philippe Bordenave are only entitled to the defined-contribution pension plan set up for all BNP Paribas (SA)

employees, in accordance with article 83 of the French General Tax Code.

(3)  Waiver of employment contract with effect from 1 July 2012.
(4)  See section regarding the Non-compete agreement.
(5)  Employment contract suspended.

OTHER INFORMATION ON THE REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS PAID OR AWARDED IN
RESPECT OF THE 2020 FINANCIAL YEAR NOT SUBMITTED TO THE SHAREHOLDER VOTE

Remuneration and benefits awarded to the Group’s
directors

With the exception of directors representing employees, only the
remuneration detailed in “Remuneration of directors” on page 79 of this
document are paid to directors.

Remuneration and benefits awarded to directors
representing the employees

Total remuneration paid in 2020 to directors representing employees
amounted to EUR 123,020 (EUR 111,368 in 2019), excluding directors’
remuneration. directors’ remuneration paid in 2020 to directors
representing employees amounted to EUR 180,227 (EUR 174,219 in
2019). These sums were paid directly to the trade union bodies of the
directors concerned.

Directors representing employees are entitled to the same death/
disability benefits and the same Garantie Vie Professionnelle Accidents
benefits as all BNP Paribas (SA) employees, as well as medical benefits.
The total amount of premiums paid into these schemes by BNP Paribas in
2020 on behalf of these directors representing employees was EUR 2,063
(EUR 1,704 in 2019).

Directors representing employees are entitled to the defined-contribution
pension plan (article 83 of the French General Tax Code) set up for all
BNP Paribas (SA) employees. The total amount of contributions paid by
BNP Paribas to the scheme in 2020 on behalf of these corporate officers
was EUR 1,386 (EUR 1,233 in 2019). They are also entitled, if applicable,
to supplementary industry pensions under the industry-wide agreement
that entered into force on 1 January 1994.
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SUMMARY OF TRANSACTIONS REPORTED ON BNP PARIBAS STOCK

The following table lists the transactions in BNP Paribas stock carried out in 2020 by the directors and corporate officers covered by article L.621-18-2
of the French Monetary and Financial Code and which must be disclosed pursuant to articles 223-22 A to 223-26 of the General Regulation of the AMF.

Transaction
Fullname Transactions Type of financial Nature of the Number of amount
Function carried out instrument transaction transactions (in euros)
BONNAFE Jean-Laurent BNP Paribas
Chief Executive Officer On a personal basis Equities Purchase 1 337,768.50
Subscription under
BONNAFE Jean-Laurent BNP Paribas a life insurance
Chief Executive Officer On a personal basis Equities policy 3 1,248,065.86
Arbitrage within
BONNAFE Jean-Laurent BNP Paribas a life insurance
Chief Executive Officer On a personal basis Equities contract 2 913,696.84
BORDENAVE Philippe BNP Paribas
Chief Operating Officer On a personal basis Equities Purchase 2 930,910
DE CHALENDAR Pierre-André BNP Paribas
Director On a personal basis Equities Purchase 1 71,788
LEMIERRE Jean BNP Paribas
Chairman On a personal basis Equities Purchase 2 169,202.80

2.1.4 OTHER INFORMATION

1 INFORMATION ON SHARE SUBSCRIPTION OR PURCHASE OPTIONS
AND PERFORMANCE SHARES

The Company did not grant any instruments to employees who are not directors or corporate officers in 2020.

No instruments were transferred or exercised in 2020, for the benefit of employees who are not directors or corporate officers.

2 LOANS, ADVANCES AND GUARANTEES GRANTED TO THE GROUP’S DIRECTORS AND
CORPORATE OFFICERS

At 31 December 2020, total outstanding loans granted directly or indirectly to directors and corporate officers amounted to EUR 15,233,737 (EUR 4,775,072
at 31 December 2019). This represents the total amount of loans granted to BNP Paribas’ directors and corporate officers and their spouses. These
loans representing normal transactions were carried out on an arm'’s length basis.
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3. TABLE OF DELEGATIONS

Resolutions adopted at Shareholders’ General Meetings valid for 2020

The following delegations to increase or reduce the share capital have been granted to the Board of directors under resolutions approved by Shareholders’

General Meetings and were valid during 2020:

Resolutions adopted at Shareholders’ General Meetings

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(19th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(20th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(21st resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(22nd resolution)

Capital increase, with preferential subscription rights maintained, through the issue

of ordinary shares and share equivalents giving access immediately or in the future to
shares to be issued.

The nominal amount of capital increases that may be carried out immediately and/or in
the future, by virtue of this authorisation, may not exceed EUR 1 billion (i.e. 500 million
shares).

This authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 16th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 26 May 2016.

Capital increase, without preferential subscription rights, by issue of ordinary shares and
share equivalents giving access immediately or in the future to shares to be issued.

The nominal amount of capital increases that may be carried out, immediately and/

or in the future, by virtue of this authorisation, may not exceed EUR 240 million (i.e.

120 million shares).

That authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 17th resolution ofthe Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 26 May 2016.

Capital increase, without preferential subscription rights, through the issue of ordinary
shares and share equivalents giving access immediately or in the future to shares to be
issued intended to remunerate contributions of securities up to 10% of the share capital.
The nominal amount of capital increases that may be carried out on one or more
occasions, by virtue of this authorisation, may not exceed 10% of the share capital of
BNP Paribas as at the date of the decision of the Board of directors.

This delegation was given for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by the
18th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 26 May 2016.

Overall limit on authorisations to issue shares without preferential subscription rights for
existing shareholders.

The maximum overall amount for all issues with or without preferential subscription
rights for existing shareholders carried out immediately and/or in the future may not
exceed EUR 240 million for shares by virtue of the authorisations granted under the 20th
and 21st resolutions of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.
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in 2020

This authorisation
was not used during
the period

This authorisation
was not used during
the period

This authorisation
was not used during
the period

Not applicable



Use of authorisation
Resolutions adopted at Shareholders’ General Meetings in 2020

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(23rd resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(24th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

24 May 2018
(25th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

23 May 2019

(5th resolution)
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This authorisation
was not used during
the period

Capital increase by capitalising reserves, retained earnings, additional paid-in capital
or contribution premium.

Authorisation was given to increase the share capital up to a maximum amount

of EUR 1 billion on one or more occasions, by capitalising all or part of the reserves,
profits or additional paid-in capital, merger or contribution premiums, successively

or simultaneously, through the issuance and award of free shares, through an increase
in the par value of existing shares, or through a combination of these two methods.
This authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 20th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 26 May 2016.

Overall limit on authorisations to issue shares with or without preferential subscription
rights for existing shareholders.

The maximum overall amount for all issues with or without preferential subscription
rights for existing shareholders carried out immediately and/or in the future may not
exceed EUR 1 billion for shares by virtue of the authorisations granted under the 19th to
21st resolutions of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.

Not applicable

This authorisation
was not used during
the period

Authorisation granted to the Board of directors to carry out transactions reserved for
members of the BNP Paribas Group's Company Savings Plan in the form of new share
issues and/or sales of reserved shares.

Authorisation was given to increase the share capital within the limit of a maximum
nominal amount of EUR 46 million on one or more occasions by issuing ordinary shares
(without preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders), reserved for members
of the BNP Paribas Group’s Company Savings Plan, or by selling of shares.

This authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 22nd resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 26 May 2016.

This authorisation
was not used during
the period

Authorisation given to the Board of directors to set up a share buyback programme for

the Company up to a maximum of 10% of the shares comprising the share capital.

Said acquisitions of shares, at a price not exceeding EUR 73 per share (previously

EUR 73), would be intended to fulfil several objectives including:

m fulfilling obligations arising from the issue of securities giving access to capital, stock option
programmes, the award of free shares, the award or assignment of shares to employees
in connection with the employee profit-sharing scheme or Company Savings Plans, and
all forms of share grants to employees and/or directors and officers of BNP Paribas and
the companies controlled exclusively by BNP as defined in article L.233-16 of the French
Commercial Code;

m cancelling shares in accordance with conditions set by the Shareholders' Combined General
Meeting of 23 May 2019 (17th resolution);

m holding and subsequently remitting them in exchange or payment for external growth
transactions, mergers, spin-offs or asset contributions;

m holding them in connection with a market-making agreement complying with the decision
of AMF (French Financial Markets Authority) n° 2018-01 of 2 July 2018;

m and carrying out investment services for which BNP Paribas is authorised or to hedge them.

That authorisation was granted for a period of 18 months and replaces that granted by
the 5Sth resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.
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Use of authorisation
Resolutions adopted at Shareholders’ General Meetings in 2020

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

23 May 2019
(17th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

19 May 2020

(5th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

19 May 2020
(19th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

19 May 2020
(20th resolution)

Shareholders’
Combined General
Meeting of

19 May 2020
(21st resolution)

Authorisation granted to the Board of directors to reduce share capital by cancelling
shares.

Authorisation is given to cancel, on one or more occasions, through reduction of the
share capital, all or some of the shares that BNP Paribas holds and that it could hold,
up to a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares constituting the share capital
existing as at the date of the transaction, for a period of 24 months.

Delegation of all powers to carry out this reduction in share capital, and allocate the
difference between the purchase price of the cancelled shares and their nominal value to
share premium and retained earnings, including the legal reserve up to 10% of the share
capital cancelled.

That authorisation was granted for a period of 18 months and replaces that granted by
the 26th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.

Authorisation given to the Board of directors to set up a share buyback programme for

the Company up to a maximum of 10% of the shares comprising the share capital.

Said acquisitions of shares, at a price not exceeding EUR 73 per share (previously

EUR 73), would be intended to fulfil several objectives including:

m fulfilling obligations arising from the issue of securities giving access to capital, stock option
programmes, the award of free shares, the award or assignment of shares to employees
in connection with the employee profit-sharing scheme or Company Savings Plans, and
all forms of share grants to employees and/or directors and officers of BNP Paribas and
the companies controlled exclusively by BNP as defined in article L. 233-16 of the French
Commercial Code;

m cancelling shares in accordance with conditions set by the Shareholders’ Combined General
Meeting of 23 Ma¥ 2019 (17th resolution);

m holding and subsequently remitting them in exchange or payment for external growth
transactions, mergers, spin-offs or asset contributions;

m holding them in connection with a market-making agreement complying with the Code of
Ethics recognised by the AMF (French Financial Markets Authority);

m and carrying out investment services for which BNP Paribas is authorised or to hedge them.

That authorisation was granted for a period of 18 months and replaces that granted by
the 5th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 23 May 2019.

Capital increase, with preferential subscription rights maintained, through the issue

of ordinary shares and share equivalents giving access immediately or in the future to
shares to be issued.

The nominal amount of capital increases that may be carried out immediately and/or in
the future, by virtue of this authorisation, may not exceed EUR 1 billion (j.e. 500 million
shares).

That authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 19th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.

Capital increase, without preferential subscription rights, by issue of ordinary shares and
share equivalents giving access immediately or in the future to shares to be issued.

The nominal amount of capital increases that may be carried out, immediately and/

or in the future, by virtue of this authorisation, may not exceed EUR 240 million

(i.e. 120 million shares).

That authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 20th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.

Capital increase, without preferential subscription rights, through the issue of ordinary
shares and share equivalents giving access immediately or in the future to shares to be
issued intended to remunerate contributions of securities up to 10% of the share capital.
The nominal amount of capital increases that may be carried out on one or more
occasions, by virtue of this authorisation, may not exceed 10% of the share capital of
BNP Paribas as at the date of the decision of the Board of directors.

This delegation was given for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by the
21st resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.
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Use of authorisation
Resolutions adopted at Shareholders’ General Meetings in 2020

Shareholders’ Overall limit on authorisations to issue shares with or without preferential subscription This authorisation
Combined General rights for existing shareholders. was not used during
Meeting of The maximum overall amount for all issues with or without preferential subscription the period

19 May 2020 rights for existing shareholders carried out immediately and/or in the future may not

(22nd resolution) exceed EUR 240 million for shares by virtue of the authorisations granted under the 20th

and 21st resolutions of this Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 19 May 2020.

Shareholders’ Capital increase by capitalising reserves, retained earnings, additional paid-in capital This authaorisation
Combined General or contribution premium. was not used during
Meeting of Authorisation was given to increase the share capital up to a maximum amount the period

19 May 2020 of EUR 1 billion on one or more occasions, by capitalising all or part of the reserves,

(23rd resolution) profits or additional paid-in capital, merger or contribution premiums, successively

or simultaneously, through the issuance and award of free shares, through an increase
in the par value of existing shares, or through a combination of these two methods.
That authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 23th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.

Shareholders’ Overall limit on authorisations to issue shares with or without preferential subscription This authorisation
Combined General rights for existing shareholders. was not used during
Meeting of The maximum overall amount for all issues with or without preferential subscription the period

19 May 2020 rights for existing shareholders carried out immediately and/or in the future may not

(24th resolution) exceed EUR 1 billion for shares by virtue of the authorisations granted under the 19th to

21st resolutions of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 19 May 2020.

Shareholders’ Authorization granted to the Board of directors to carry out transactions reserved This authorisation
Combined General for members of the BNP Paribas Group Company Savings Plan, with cancellation of was not used during
Meeting of preferential subscription rights, which may take the form of capital increases and/or the period

19 May 2020 disposals of reserved titles.

(25th resolution) Authorisation was given to increase the share capital within the limit of a maximum

nominal amount of EUR 46 million on one or more occasions by issuing ordinary shares
(without preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders), reserved for members
of the BNP Paribas Group’s Company Savings Plan, or by selling of shares.

That authorisation was granted for a period of 26 months and replaces that granted by
the 25th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 24 May 2018.

Shareholders’ Authorisation granted to the Board of directors to reduce share capital by cancelling This authorisation
Combined General shares. was not used during
Meeting of Authorisation is given to cancel, on one or more occasions, through reduction of the the period

19 May 2020 share capital, all or some of the shares that BNP Paribas holds and that it could hold,

(26th resolution) up to a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares constituting the share capital

existing as at the date of the transaction, for a period of 24 months.

Delegation of all powers to carry out this reduction in share capital, and allocate the
difference between the purchase price of the cancelled shares and their nominal value to
share premium and retained earnings, including the legal reserve up to 10% of the share
capital cancelles. That authorisation was granted for a period of 18 months and replaces
that granted by the 17th resolution of the Shareholders’ Combined General Meeting of 23
May 2019.

4 ITEMS LIKELY TO HAVE AN IMPACT IN THE EVENT OF A PUBLIC TENDER OFFER OR
EXCHANGE OFFER (ARTICLE L.22-10-11 OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL CODE)

Among the items referred to in article L.22-10-11 of the French Commercial Code, there is no item likely to have an impact in the event of a public
tender or exchange offer.
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2.2 Statutory Auditor’s report, prepared in
accordance with article L.22-10-71 of the
French Commercial Code, on the Board
of directors’ report on corporate governance

The comments required by Article L.22-10-71 of the French Commercial Code are covered in the Statutory Auditor's report on the parent company
financial statements (Chapter 6.6).

2.3 The Executive Committee

At 4 February 2021, the BNP Paribas Executive Committee had the following members:

m Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, director and Chief Executive Officer;

m Philippe Bordenave, Chief Operating Officer;

m Jacques d'Estais, Deputy Chief Executive Officer; International Financial Services;

m Michel Konczaty, Deputy Chief Operating Officer;

m Thierry Laborde, Deputy Chief Executive Officer; Domestic Markets;

m Yann Gérardin, Deputy Chief Executive Officer; Corporate and Institutional Banking

® Marguerite Berard, Head of French Retail Banking;

m Laurent David, Deputy Chief Operating Officer of BNP Paribas Personal Finance;

m Stefaan Decraene, Head of International Retail Banking

m Renaud Dumora, Chief Executive Officer of BNP Paribas Cardif;

m Nathalie Hartmann, Head of Compliance;

B Maxime Jadot, director and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Management Committee of BNP Paribas Fortis;
m Sofia Merlo, Head of Group Human Resources;

® Andrea Munari, General Manager and Chief Executive Officer of BNL;

m Alain Papiasse, Chairman of Corporate and Institutional Banking;

m Frank Roncey, Head of Risk Management;

m Antoine Sire, Head of Corporate Engagement;

m Thierry Varéne, Global Head for Large Clients.

The BNP Paribas Executive Committee has had a permanent Secretariat since November 2007.
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BNP PARIBAS ADAPTS ITS ORGANISATION TO MEET NEW HUMAN, TECHNOLOGICAL AND COMMERCIAL CHALLENGES

= The Group is adjusting its management team in consideration of the 2022-2025 strategic plan and continues to increase representation of
women on governing bodies.

BNP Paribas is preparing its 2022-2025 strategic plan at a time when the expectations of its customers, employees, investors and civil society
are evolving at a faster pace.

The Group is adjusting its management team to better meet new human, technological and commercial challenges through an organisation
centred on clients and major priorities: maximising synergies and efficiency in retail activities, accelerating its development in the area of savings,
stepping up the pace of business development with corporate and institutional clients (CIB), and continuing to strengthen its industrial set-up.

These changes will take effect on the day after the Annual General Meeting, scheduled for 18 May 2021.

Succession within General Management

In accordance with the bank's articles of association, Philippe Bordenave will place his mandate as Chief Operating Officer, a position that he
has held since 2011, at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting. He will become Senior Executive Advisor to General Management and the
Chair of the Board.

= Jacques d'Estais, after 39 years of service in the Group, and as Deputy Chief Operating Officer in charge of International Financial Services
since 2011, has decided to step down from his duties and devote himself to various personal projects from the end of 2021.

= Michel Konczaty, Deputy Chief Operating Officer since 2014, becomes Executive Advisor to General Management.
= Alain Papiasse will become Executive Advisor to General Management while retaining the position of Chairman of CIB.
= Thierry Varéne becomes Executive Advisor to General Management while retaining the position of Global Head for Large Clients.

Upon the proposition of Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, director and Chief Executive Officer, the Board of directors, chaired by Jean Lemierre, appointed
Thierry Laborde and Yann Gérardin as Chief Operating Officers at its meeting of 4 February 2021.

= Thierry Laborde, Chief Operating Officer, will take on responsibility for Retail Banking, i.e., all the Group's retail activities, including Domestic
Markets, International Retail Banking and BNP Paribas Personal Finance;

= Yann Gérardin, Chief Operating Officer, will continue to head CIB.
In addition:

= Renaud Dumora was appointed Deputy Chief Operating Officer, in charge of the new Investment & Protection Services division, which will
encompass BNP Paribas Asset Management, Cardif, Wealth Management and Real Estate;

= Laurent David was appointed Deputy Chief Operating Officer, in charge of operational efficiency in all Group processes and will oversee
information systems, facilities management, procurement and internal consulting.

Appointments to the Group Executive Committee

The following persons were appointed to the Group Executive Committee:

= Charlotte Dennery, who becomes Chief Executive Officer of BNP Paribas Personal Finance;
= Elena Goitini, who becomes Chief Executive Officer of BNL;

= Pauline Leclerc-Glorieux, who becomes Chief Executive Officer of BNP Paribas Cardif;

= Yannick Jung, head of CIB Global Banking EMEA;

= Olivier Osty, head of CIB Global Markets;

= Bernard Gavgani, Group Chief Information Officer;

= Lars Machenil, Group Chief Financial Officer.

Greater representation of women on the Group's governing bodies

With these appointments, as well as that of Sofia Merlo as head of Group Human Resources in November 2020, the proportion of women on the
Executive Committee now stands at one-third.

In addition to these appointments to the Executive Committee, nine new members - five women and four men - have been appointed to the
G100 (the Group's top 100 managers). The proportion of women in the G100 also now stands at one-third.

BNP Paribas pledges to raise this proportion to at least 40% by 2025 for both the Executive Committee and the G100. As of today, the goal of
gender parity among the Group's “Emerging Talents” - the pool of the next generation of leaders - is already met.
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Commenting on these decisions, Jean-Laurent Bonnafé said:

‘As Chief Operating Officer, Philippe Bordenave has played a preeminent role in the history of our Group and in its ability to perform at a high
level, to demonstrate solidarity and support for the economy, and to weather challenging times while continuing to serve clients. | am delighted
that he will continue his significant contribution to the Group. | would also like to warmly thank Jacques d'Estais for what he has done for the
success of BNP Paribas, which he will continue to serve as a director of several subsidiaries.

The managers who have been promoted attest to the complementarity of talents and diversity of profiles needed for the success of a banking
group engaged at all levels of the economy. Their experience and unfailing commitment to BNP Paribas and its customers will be essential in
the coming years. The move towards greater representation of women on the Group’s governing bodies is also key to the Group's success, and
this will continue in accordance with the announced timetable.

The new organisation will allow BNP Paribas’ teams to meet the challenges of the years to come, thanks to an even greater operational efficiency
and capacity to innovate. It will help the Group and its teams to continue providing quality service to clients, enhance its capacity to create
value, and focus even more on the environmental and social challenges that affect us all.”

New membership of the Group Executive Committee as of May 19t 2021

General Management

= Jean-Laurent Bonnafé, director and Chief Executive Officer

= Yann Gérardin, Chief Operating Officer in charge of CIB

= Thierry Laborde, Chief Operating Officer in charge of Retail Banking
= Renaud Dumora, Deputy Chief Operating Officer in charge of Investment & Protection Services
= Laurent David, Deputy Chief Operating Officer

Businesses

= Marguerite Bérard, Head of French Retail Banking

= Stefaan Decraene, Head of International Retail Banking

= Charlotte Dennery, CEO of BNP Paribas Personal Finance

= Elena Goitini, CEO of BNL Gruppo BNP Paribas

= Max Jadot, CEOQ and Chairman of the Executive Board of BNP Paribas Fortis
= Yannick Jung, Head of CIB Global Banking EMEA

= Pauline Leclerc-Glorieux, CEO of BNP Paribas Cardif

= Olivier Osty, Head of CIB Global Markets

Functions

= Nathalie Hartmann, Head of Compliance

= Bernard Gavgani, Group Chief Information Officer

= Lars Machenil, Group Chief Financial Officer

= Sofia Merlo, Head of Group Human Resources

= Frank Roncey, Group Chief Risk Officer

= Antoine Sire, Head of Company Engagement
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2.4 Internal control

The following information relating to internal control was submitted to
the Group's Executive Management. The Chief Executive Officer shall
be responsible for the organisation and procedures of internal control
and for all information required by French law regarding the internal
control report. This document is based on the information provided by
the Compliance, RISK, Finance, LEGAL and General Inspection Functions.
It has been approved by the Board of directors.

BNP PARIBAS’ INTERNAL CONTROL
STANDARDS

The principles and procedures for the internal control of banking activities
in France and abroad are at the heart of banking and financial regulations
and are subject to numerous legislative and regulatory provisions.

The main text applicable to BNP Paribas is the Ministerial Order of
3 November 2014. This text sets out the conditions for the implementation
and monitoring of internal control in credit institutions and investment
firms, in compliance with the European Directive CRD 4. In particular, it
specifies the principles relating to internal transaction control systems
and procedures, organisation of accounting and information processing,
risk and result measurement systems, risk monitoring and control
systems, and the information and documentation system for internal
control. Article 258 of the Order provides for the drafting for the Board
of directors of an annual regulatory report on the conditions under which
internal control is implemented.

This Order requires BNP Paribas to have an internal control system
(hereinafter Internal control) comprising specific departments and
persons responsible for permanent control (including the Compliance
and RISK functions) and periodic control. This system must also take
into account, as appropriate, the general regulation of the AMF, the
regulations applicable to foreign branches and subsidiaries and to
specialised activities such as portfolio management and insurance,
and the recommendations of leading international bodies dealing with
issues related to the prudential regulation of international banks, first
and foremost the Basel Committee, the Financial Stability Board, the
European Authorities, the European Securities and Markets Authority, the
European Central Bank and the French Autorité de contréle prudentiel
et de résolution.

DEFINITION, OBJECTIVES AND STANDARDS
OF INTERNAL CONTROL

The BNP Paribas Group's Executive Management has implemented an
internal control system whose main purpose is to ensure overall control
of the risks and to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s
objectives in this respect are achieved.

BNP Paribas’ Internal Control Charter (reworked and updated in 2017)
specifies the framework of this system and constitutes BNP Paribas’ basic
internal control framework. Widely distributed within the Group and

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal control

accessible to all its employees, this charter firstly recalls the objectives
of internal control, which aims to ensure:

® a sound and prudent risk management approach, aligned with
BNP Paribas’ values and Code of conduct in conjunction with the
policies outlined in its corporate social responsibility framework;

m operational security of BNP Paribas’ internal operations;
m the relevance and reliability of accounting and financial information;
m compliance with laws, regulations and internal policies.

Its implementation requires, in particular, that a high-level culture
of risk and ethics be promoted to all employees and in BNP Paribas’
relations with third parties, clients, intermediaries or suppliers as well
its shareholders.

The charter then sets out the rules governing the organisation,
responsibility and scope of operations of the various internal control
entities and establishes the principle according to which the control
functions (Compliance, LEGAL, RISK and General Inspection in particular)
execute these controls independently.

SCOPE OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The BNP Paribas Group's internal control is overarching:

| it covers all types of risks to which the Group may be exposed (credit
and counterparty risk, market risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk in the
banking book, underwriting risk with respect to insurance, operational
risk, risk of non-compliance, equity risk, etc.);

| itis applied at the Group level and at the level of directly or indirectly
controlled entities, irrespective of their line of business and irrespective
of whether they are consolidated entities or otherwise. For other
entities (in particular, legal entities subject to significant influence),
the Group's representatives on the corporate bodies of these entities
are strongly encouraged to promote the same standards of internal
control;

| it also covers the use of outsourced services, in accordance with
principles defined by regulation.

FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF INTERNAL
CONTROL

BNP Paribas’ internal control system is based on its values and the Code
of conduct as well as the principles of the following additional actions:

m clearly identified responsibilities: internal control is the responsibility
of every employee, irrespective of their seniority or responsibilities.
The exercise of a managerial function carries the additional
responsibility of ensuring the proper implementation of the internal
control system within the scope subject to regulation. As such, the
necessary responsibilities and delegations must be clearly identified
and communicated to all stakeholders;
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B a structured risk identification, assessment and management system
(involving, among others, a decision-making system, delegation,
organisational principles, controls, reporting and alert mechanism,
etc);

m control and oversight that is independent of risk: the Heads of the
operational activities have the ultimate responsibility for those risks
created by their activities and as such, the foremost responsibility of
implementing and operating a system that identifies, assesses and
manages risk. The internal control system provides for mandatory
intervention, and as early as possible, of functions exercising
independent control under a second level of control. This intervention
takes the following forms:

= defining the overall normative framewark for risk identification,
assessment and management,

= defining cases where a prior second review by a function exercising a
second-level control shared with the operational entity is necessary
for decision-making,

= independent controls, called second-level controls, carried out
by said function on the system implemented by the Heads of the
operational activities and on their operations (result of the risk
identification and assessment process, relevance and compliance
of the risk control systems and in particular, compliance with the
limits set);

| separation of duties: this is a key element of the risk control system. It
consists of assigning certain operational tasks that contribute to the
performance of a single process to stakeholders at various hierarchical
levels or to separate these tasks by other means, in particular by
electronic means. Thus, for example, tasks related to transaction
initiation, confirmation, accounting, settlement and accounts
reconciliation must be performed by different parties;

m proportionality of risks: the internal control system must be
implemented under an approach and with an intensity that is
proportionate to the risks involved. This proportionality is determined
based on one or more criteria:

= riskintensity as identified in the context of assessment programmes
("Risk ID", RCSA, etc.),

= amount of allocated capital and/or ratios in terms of solvency and
liquidity,

= criticality of activities with regard to systemic issues,

= regulatory conditions governing the exercise of business activities,
size of business activities carried out,

= customer type and distribution channels,

= complexity of the products designed or marketed and/or services
provided,

= complexity of the processes carried out and/or the level of use of
outsourcing with internal/external entities of the Group,

= sensitivity of the environment where the activities are located,
= legal form and/or presence of minority shareholders;

B appropriate governance: the internal control system is subject to
governance involving the different stakeholders and covering the
various aspects of internal control, both organisational and monitoring
and oversight; the Internal Control Committees are a key instrument in
this system; the framework is part of the decision-making processes
managed through a system of delegations in the management

reporting lines. They may involve the input of a third party belonging
to another reporting line, whenever the systems defined by the
Operational Entities and/or the functions exercising a second-level
control so provide. The escalation process allows for disagreements
between the operational entities and functions exercising second-level
control, especially those related to decision-making, to be escalated
to the higher hierarchical and possibly functional levels, to which the
two parties report, and at the end, when these disputes cannot be
resolved in this way, to arbitration conducted by the Group's Executive
Officers. This process is implemented in accordance with the powers
conferred to the Group Risk Officer, who may exercise his right of veto
under the conditions set out in the RISK charter;

B a requirement for formalisation and traceability: Internal Control
relies on the instructions of the Executive Officers, written policies
and procedures and audit trails. As such, the controls, their results,
their implementation and the feedback from the entities to the higher
levels of the Group's governance are documented and traceable;

B a duty of transparency: all Group employees, irrespective of their
position, have a duty to communicate, in a transparent manner, that is,
spontaneously and promptly, to a higher level within the organisation
to which they belong:

= any information required for a proper analysis of the situation of
the entity in which the employee operates, and which may impact
the risks or the reputation of the entity or the Group,

= any question that the employee could not resolve independently in
the exercise of his duties,

= any anomaly of which the employee becomes aware of.

In addition, every employee has the right to confidentially raise
concerns, as provided for by the Group Code of conduct and exercised
within the framework of the whistleblowing system established by
Compliance;

® human resources management taking into account internal control
objectives: the internal control objectives to be considered in employee
career management and remuneration (including: as part of the
employee evaluation process, training, recruitment for key positions,
and in determining remuneration);

B continuous adaptation of the system in response to changes: the
internal control system must be actively managed by its various
stakeholders. This adjustment in response to changes of any kind
that the Group must face must be done according to a periodic cycle
defined in advance but also continuously as soon as events so justify.

Compliance with these principles is verified on a regular basis, in
particular through assignments carried out by the periodic control teams
(General Inspection).

ORGANISATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL

BNP Paribas Group's internal cantrol system is organised around three
lines of defence, under the responsibility of the Executive Officers and
under the oversight of the Board of directors.

Permanent control is the ongoing implementation of the risk management
system and is provided by the first twao lines of defence. Periodic control,
provided by the third line of defence, has an audit and assessment
function that is performed according to its own audit cycle.
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The functions exercising the second and the third lines of defence are so-called functions exercising independent control. They report directly to the Executive
Officers and with respect to Compliance, LEGAL, RISK and General Inspection, they report on the performance of their duties to the Board of directors.

Three lines of defence

Level 3 controls
(L3Cs)
General inspection

~ — - Periodic

Key players in Internal Control

——> Direct hierarchical reporting

- — — > Reports to (for the

control integrated control functions)

Level 2 controls

Operational
Entities

LEGAL**

(*) 2nd level non-integrated functions

(**) 2nd level integrated functions control

KEY PLAYERS IN INTERNAL CONTROL

| The operational entities are the first line of defence: the operational
entities are primarily responsible for managing their risks and are
the front-line in permanent control. They act within the framework
defined by the Group's Executive Officers and reviewed by its Board
of directors, transcribed in the form of policies and procedures and to
the extent necessary, tailored by the corporate bodies of the Group's
entities.

m The risk control system operated by the first line of defence forms what
is called the first-level control system. It is implemented by employees
and/or their reporting line and/or control teams that do not operate
the processes under their control.

The operational entities cover:

= all operating Divisions and Businesses, whether these are profit
centres or their support functions;

= all cross-divisional functions, including the control functions for the
pracesses that they operate directly and not under the responsibility
of the second line of defence;

= all the Territories, attached to an operating Division.

1
Permanent

Management
body

Supervisory
Board

The Compliance, LEGAL, RISK and General Inspection functions report
on the performance of their duties to the Board of directors.

m The functions exercising second-level control (second line of defence):

= the functions exercising second-level control are responsible, under
the delegation given by the Executive Officers, for the organisation
and functioning of the risk control system and its compliance
with laws and regulations on a range of areas (subjects and/or
processes), as defined in their Charter of Responsibility;

= as such, in their field of expertise and, where appropriate, after
having consulted the operational entities, they define the general
normative framework in which they manage the risk for which
they are responsible, the terms of their intervention (thresholds,
delegations, escalation, etc.), implement this system in the
relevant areas and for which they are responsible, for first-level
and second-level permanent control. They challenge and provide
an independent view of risk identification and assessment vis-a-vis
operational entities. They also contribute to spreading a culture of
risk and ethics within the Group;

= the Heads of these functions provide the Executive Officers and
Board of directors with a reasoned opinion on the level of risk
control, current or potential, in particular regarding the “Risk
Appetite Statement” as defined and propose any actions for
improvement that they deem necessary;
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= the Head of a function performing a second Level control performs = LEGAL, responsible for organising and overseeing the legal risk
this mission by relying on teams that can be placed: control system, exercises its responsibility to prevent and manage
either under its direct or indirect hierarchical responsibility, legal risks through its advisory and control roles. It exercises this
where the function is then called integrated. It thus has full control by (i) monitoring the implementation of legal opinions issued
authority over its budget and the management of its human for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating the effects of a major legal
resources, risk and (ii) first and second level control exerted on the legal

processes. The missions entrusted to this function are performed
independently of the business activities and support functions. The
function is integrated hierarchically under the sole authority of its
Department head, i.e. "Group General Counsel”, who reports to the

or under its direct or indirect functional responsibility (so-called
2 non-integrated function) subject to joint decision-making with
the reporting line manager for Human Resources and budget.

The three integrated functions exercising second-level control are: Chief Executive Officer.

= RISK,in charge of organising and overseeing the overall system for The Heads of these functions may be heard by the Board or any of
controlling those risks to which the BNP Paribas Group is exposed, its specialised committees, directly, possibly without the presence of
particularly credit risk and counterparty risk, market risk, funding Executive Officers, or at their request.

and liquidity risk, interest rate and exchange rate risk in the Banking

book, insurance risk and operational risk. The Head of RISK is also The two non-integrated functions exercising a second-level control are:

the Head of Permanent Control, responsible for the consistency m Group Tax Department, as part of the organisation of the Group's tax

and proper functioning of the permanent control system within risk control system and its contribution to its implementation;

the BNP Paribas Group; m Group Finance, under its responsibility in defining and implementing
= Compliance, responsible for organising and overseeing the non- the risk control system related to accounting and financial information.

compliance risk control system. As such, it contributes to the The appointment of the Heads of the Compliance, Finance and RISK

permanent control of compliance with laws and regulations, functions falls within the framework defined by the European Banking

professional and ethical standards and the guidelines of the Board Authority.

of directors and the instructions of the Executive Management;
Permanent control can be outlined as follows:

Permanent control

Level 2 controls
(L2Cs)
[ X X

Operational entities

- Responsible for controlling
______________ their risks
- Deploy and perform the Controls
their respective scopes

Operational

ntiti
entities 00

Control functions

- Perform the level 2 controls :
independent review of the
robustness and effectiveness
of the control system
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B General Inspection (third line of defence): the General Inspection is
responsible for periodic control, performs the Internal Audit function
and contributes to the protection of the Group by independently acting
as its third line of defence on all Group entities and in all areas. It
includes:

= centrally based inspectors who carry out their duties throughout
the Group;

= auditors distributed in the geographical or business line platforms
(called "hubs”).

The General Inspector, responsible for periodic controls, reports to the
Chief Executive Officer.

| Executive Officers: the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating
Officer ensure the effective management of the Company for regulatory
and legal purposes. In practice, the Executive Officers make key
decisions through specialised committees that allow them to rely on
experts with a deep understanding of the issues to be addressed.

Executive Officers are responsible for the internal control system as
a whole. As such and notwithstanding the powers of the Board of
directors, the Executive Officers:

= decide on the key policies and procedures serving as the basis for
this system,

= directly oversee the functions exercising independent control
and provide them with the means to allow them to fulfil their
responsibilities effectively,

= define the Group's risk-taking policies, validate the most important
decisions in this area and, if necessary, make the final decisions in
the context of the escalation process. This process is implemented
in accordance with the powers conferred to the Group Risk Officer,
who may exercise his right of veto under the conditions set out in
the RISK charter,

= periodically evaluate and monitor the effectiveness of the internal
control policies, systems and procedures and implement the
appropriate measures to remedy any deficiencies,

= receive the main reports on internal control within the Group,

= report to the Board of directors or its relevant committees on the
operation of this system;

m The Board of directors: the Board of directors exercises directly or
through specialised committees (Financial Statements Committee,
Internal Control, Risk Management and Compliance Committee,
Corporate governance, Ethics, Nominations and CSR Committee, etc.)
key responsibilities in terms of internal control. Among others, the
Board of directors:

= determines, on the proposal of the Executive Officers, the strategy
and guidelines of the internal control activity and ensures their
implementation,

= reviews the internal control activity and results at least twice per
year,

= regularly reviews, assesses and verifies the effectiveness of
the governance system, including in particular, clearly defined
responsibilities, and internal control, including in particular risk
reporting procedures, and takes appropriate measures to remedy
any failings uncovered,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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= validates the “Risk Appetite Statement”, approves and periodically
reviews the strategies and policies for taking up, managing,
monitoring and controlling risks and approves their overall limits.

The organisation of the Board of directors and its specialised committees
is defined through its Internal Rules. The Heads of General Inspection and
the integrated functions exercising second-level control have the right
to be heard, possibly without the presence of Executive Officers, by the
Board of directors or one of its specialised committees.

Finally, among the specialised committees, the Internal Control, Risk
Management and Compliance Committee (CCIRC) is essential in the
Group's internal control system. Indeed, it assumes the following
responsibilities:

m analyses reports on internal control and on risk measurement and
monitoring, reports on the activities of the General Inspection, and
significant correspondence with the main regulators;

B examines the strategic directions of the risk policy;
| reports to the Board of directors.

COORDINATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL

At the consolidated level, the Group Supervisory & Control Committee
coordinates internal control, and is responsible, in particular, for ensuring
consistency and coordination in the internal control system. It meets
on a bi-monthly basis and brings together the Executive Officers, the
Chief Operating Officer and the Heads of the integrated functions. The
Chief Operating Officer overseeing an operating Division are permanent
invitees.

In those entities and territories that are significant for the Group, their
Executive Officers are responsible for arranging this coordination,
generally within the framework of the Internal Control Committees.

PROCEDURES

The procedures are one of the key elements of the permanent control
system alongside the identification and assessment of risks, controls,
reporting and monitoring of the control system.

Written guidelines are distributed throughout the Group and provide the
organisation and procedures to be applied as well as the controls to be
performed. These procedures constitute the basic framework for internal
control. The RISK function, as part of the oversight of the permanent
control system, regularly monitors the completeness of the procedures’
referentials. The Group's cross-functional procedures framework is
regularly updated with contributions from all Divisions and functions.
Regarding the control framework, investigations into the status of the
system are included in the report on permanent control.
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Among the Group's cross-functional procedures, applicable in all entities,
risk control is critically important in, for example:

m the procedures that govern the process for approving exceptional
transactions, new products and new business activities;

B the procedure for approving credit and market transactions;

B the procedures for compliance with embargoes, anti-money laundering
and anti-corruption.

The processes from these procedural frameworks rely primarily on
committees (Exceptional Transactions Committees, New Business
Activities and Products Committees, Credit Committees, etc.) mainly
covering both operational and related functions such as IT and Operations,
as well as the control functions (RISK, Compliance, Finance, and LEGAL
and Tax Functions), which take a “second-look” on transactions. In the
event of a dispute, they are submitted to a higher level of the organisation.
At the highest level of the Group, there are committees (Credit, Market
Risk, Risk Policy Committees, etc.) chaired by members of Executive
Management.

2020 HIGHLIGHTS

The year 2020 was marked by the Covid-19 pandemic during which
the Group had to implement its operational resilience capabilities by
modifying some of its processes to be able in particular to perform them
outside the Group's sites. The first and second level control systems
have been adapted accordingly to safely and properly perform customer
activities at the same time as employee vigilance and protection systems.
The Group has also set up a system for identifying and closely monitoring
pandemic-related risks.

COMPLIANCE

Integrated globally since 2015, Compliance brings together all Group
employees reporting to the function.

Compliance is organised based on its guiding principles (independence;
integration and decentralisation of the function; dialogue with the
business lines; a culture of excellence) through three operating areas
and two regions, reflecting the Group's organisation, as well as five fields
of expertise and cross-functional activities.

All Compliance Officers in the various operational areas, regions, business
lines and territories, fields of expertise and Group functions report directly
to the Compliance Function.

The Compliance workforce reached 4,217 full-time equivalents (FTEs) at
the end of 2020, stable compared to the 2019 workforce.

Compliance activity in 2020

Compliance continued to oversee the implementation of the Group's
remediation plans initiated as part of its agreements with the authorities
in France and the United States regarding international financial
sanctions. This plan has been largely implemented.

m The review by the independent consultant (IC) of the New York
Department of Financial Services (DFS) following the Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) of 2013 and the Consent Order of 2014 was
positively concluded. The scope of the report includes the tools and
process for screening customer data as well as list management
processes. In addition, as part of its annual audit of the Bank's New
York entity, the DFS “Supervision” department conducted a review of
compliance with the "MOU" and “Consent Order” agreements and
issued a recommendation in favour of lifting the two above-mentioned
agreements;

m In the autumn of 2020, the French and American Supervisors (the
ACPR and the Federal Reserve Bank) jointly conducted a final review
to assess the Bank's compliance with the commitments made under
the Cease & Desist Order of 2014, and are expected to publish their
final report in 2021.

The Group, in terms of Anti-Money Laundering/Combating the Financing
of Terrorism (AML/CFT) and asset freezing, continued to develop its
system by updating several key elements of its regulatory framework
in order to incorporate regulatory changes and prevent the emergence
of new risks. These changes were supported by increased awareness
and accountability of operational staff and IT developments aimed at
improving transaction monitoring capabilities.

Throughout the year, significant IT developments were made to the
management of lists and central tools for screening customers’ names.
Progress in the management of the lists was largely completed in 2020
and the program to roll out the centralised screening tool has met its
overall objectives, knowing that all these efforts must be completed in
2021 as planned.

In the area of "Know Your Customer”, or KYC, the Group's standards
have been updated to ensure compliance with regulatory changes, in
particular the transposition of the EU's 5th AMLD Directive. They were
supplemented by an update of the due diligence measures applicable to
intermediaries and intra-Group entities. The Businesses are continuing
their IT systems development programs, particularly within Corporate
and Investment Banking, and have taken actions to increase internal
operational efficiency and the customer experience. These initiatives are
regularly monitored by Executive Management.

BNP Paribas’ system for the prevention and management of corrupt
practices continues to be further strengthened following the publication
of the “Sapin 2" law of 9 December 2016. The corruption risk mapping
methodology has been aligned with the Risk & Control Self-Assessment
(RCSA) procedure to enable a more detailed analysis of corruption risks
and scenarios by process. The training to raise awareness of these
risks, carried out by all employees in 2019, was followed up in 2020
by mandatory advanced training for 26,000 employees who are mare
specifically exposed to corruption risks. Work has been undertaken to
further improve risk management with regard to supplier relations and
accounting contrals.
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Compliance, in addition to its role of coordinating, steering and
management reporting of cross-functional initiatives, is in charge -
together with RISK and LEGAL - of the second line of defence against risks
related to the rules of conduct. In 2020, its efforts focused on finalising
the adoption by the Businesses of the various components of the Code
of conduct.

In terms of professional ethics, the whistleblowing system continued
to be improved, in particular on the basis of enhanced alert analysis
capabilities. Communication and training in handling alerts continued.
In addition, the Group's Personal Transactions procedure has been
revised, with increased standardisation of processes and rules as well
as strengthened controls.

The Market Integrity area continued to adapt and strengthen its
permanent control system, in accordance with regulatory changes
relating to BMR (Benchmark Regulation) and MIFID Il, and by managing
the Group roll-out of the Bank for International Settlements’ Code of
conduct on the foreign exchange market. The system for managing
information barriers and inside information has been strengthened by
updating procedures and new tools.

The implementation of systems relating to client tax regulations
(Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA), the Automatic Exchange of
Information (AEOI) for tax purposes system or the “Qualified Intermediary”
scheme concerning withholding taxation on American securities) has
been strengthened, in particular, by implementing an annual internal
FATCA/QI certification process, training employees about these regulations
and deploying adequate controls at first and second levels.

Changes to systems relating to international banking laws continued
with, in particular, the publication of first-level generic control plans and
the gradual Group-wide implementation of the new Volcker 2.0 systems,
including an annual internal certification. With regard to the CFTC Swap
Dealer regulation, two internal reviews led to recommendations that
will improve the system.

Controls

Compliance has updated its permanent control system to make the
first line of defence more accountable (Businesses and functions) by
publishing the first-level permanent control plans for each of the areas
and by reviewing the second-level “Independent Testing” and “Check &
Challenge” processes. This transformation work required a change to
data collection (qualitative indicators) and the analysis of risk signals,
thus improving the consolidated presentation of risks to Executive
Management.

Training

In 2020, despite the health crisis, the mandatory Compliance training
courses continued, with an adjusted schedule, allowing employees to
complete them within the appropriate timeframe given the priorities of
their respective business activities. For each of these training courses,
the completion rate is over 94%.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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Mandatory training on compliance topics is based on the following
populations:

m all Group employees: in 2020, 97% of Group employees completed the
training on international sanctions and embargoes;

m specifically exposed populations: Anti-Corruption - Advanced course,
Market Abuse, and training on banking and tax law (Volcker, US CFTC
Swap dealer, AEQI, FATCA);

m all new employees upon joining the Group: six mandatory training
sessions, namely training on the Code of conduct and five specific
compliance training courses (International Sanctions and Embargoes,
Anti-Money Laundering, Anti-Corruption, Protection of Clients’
Interests, Professional Ethics).

Industrialisation of Compliance

The Industrialisation Department continued to set up its organisation and
governance, by appointing various ‘Process Leaders’ and describing the
roles and responsibilities of the main internal and external players in
relation to Compliance. In particular, the quality of the data, which is the
fundamental basis of the alert tools, has been improved by establishing a
dedicated “data office” team and optimising the use of data flows, leading
to a significant reduction in irrelevant alerts.

Established in 2020, the Compliance Information Systems strategic
committee will enable IT architecture to be defined and validated in 2021
to support the implementation of the functional master plan developed
by Compliance. The work carried out in 2020 significantly contributed to
improving the performance of Compliance tools, particularly in terms of
financial security. For 2021, the projects announced cover in particular
the optimisation of alert handling processes and the implementation of
new monitoring tools.

LEGAL

The LEGAL function is an independent function of the Group and is
hierarchically integrated with all the Group's legal teams.

During 2020, the LEGAL function continued to develop its legal risk
management system, in particular through:

m continued strengthening of governance during the first half of the year:
= updating the procedural framework, in particular to align it with the
RISK ORC system in terms of standards and methodology,
= defining a new procedure for risk management and permanent
control in accordance with the Group's requirements,
= establishing a dedicated Global Internal Control Committee (ICC)
with participation from the RISK and Compliance functions as

well as General Inspection, in addition to the Global Legal Risk
Committee already in place for several years;
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| several initiatives were carried out during the year, including:

= strengthening the generic control plan covering the 5 processes
controlled from end to end by the function (Legal and Regulatory
Monitoring; Legal Advice; Outsourcing; Dispute management; Legal
Risk Management), in line with the RISK function’s procedure and
in accordance with the General Inspection’s expectations;

= defining an appropriate RCSA (Risk and Control Self-Assessment)
methodology, followed by a centralised exercise, across the entire
operational scope of the function;

= agrowing role in the RCSA's “check and challenge” of the Businesses
and functions, which will continue in 2021 to ensure more
systematic involvement of the LEGAL function;

= continuous educational support for the first lines of defence of the
Businesses and functions and close collaboration with the various
RISK ORC teams at the Central, Division and Business level,

= issuing guidelines (transposition of an existing procedure) for non-
legal teams, on the management of the legal risk that may arise
from certain processes under their responsibility and the controls
to be implemented,

= contributing to the review of the Group's operational risk incidents
identified as giving rise to a legal risk.

m continued development of tools:

= defining and implementing the reporting tables in the internal
LEGAL tool identifying the major legal risks;

= designing and testing the “Matter Management” application, which
is scheduled to go live in the first half of 2021.

B lastly and more recently, implementing transactional and cross-
functional platforms as part of the “Quality and Lean"” program:

= they will contribute to strengthening controls on specific risk areas
identified by the legal experts of the said platforms, regardless of
the scope within the Group;

= they will make it possible to improve the flexibility, anticipation and
consistency of the controls carried out, and to operate within the
Group, as part of the management of legal risk.

2021 will see the continuation of the various actions undertaken. In this
respect, the developments planned for the tools made available by RISK
ORC are particularly key. Finally, the LEGAL function’s ability to continue
industrialising its processes is also essential.

RISK AND PERMANENT CONTROL

Operational risk management

The operational risk management model from the point of view of the
second-line RISK team is based on both decentralised teams within
the Businesses, under the responsibility of the RISK managers of these
Businesses, close to the processes, operational staff and systems, and
on a central structure (RISK ORC Group) with a steering and coordination
role providing local teams on subjects requiring specific expertise (for
example: anti-fraud or managing risks related to products and services
supplied by third parties).

All of the components of the procedural system for operational risk have
been significantly overhauled since 2018:

| Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA);
m Controls;
m Collection of Historical Incidents;

® Analysis and quantification of operational risk scenarios (“potential
incidents");

m Action plans;
m Qutsourcing risk management.

Work on the taxonomy of risks as well as the mapping of processes and
organisational structures has also been completed to further standardise
guidelines supporting the assessment and management of operational
risk.

In addition to these methodological changes, a new integrated
operational risk management tool (360 Risk Op”), composed of various
interconnected modules, was rolled out in the fourth quarter of 2019.
After the roll-out of the first of these modules, dedicated to the data
collection on Historical Incidents, data on RSCAs, Potential Incidents and
outsourcing arrangements were delivered in 2020. The last remaining
modules (Controls and Action Plans) will be implemented gradually
starting in 2021.

The review of first-level controls by Group entities, begun in 2019, also
continued in 2020 with the contribution of the control functions. It will
be further developed in 2021.

Information and Communication Technology and
data protection risk management

The ongoing implementation of the Bank's digitisation initiatives intended
to create streamlined channels for its customers and partners as well
as new ways for employees to collaborate, introduced new technologies
and new risks. This underlines the need to continue to monitor the Bank's
technological risk profile and to ensure the effectiveness of controls.

In 2020, the RISK teams continued to improve the risk management
framework related to Information and Communication Technologies (ICT)
through the following actions:

m implementing crisis plans related to pandemic scenarios to provide
long-term solutions, in response to the Covid-19 crisis and the
requirements of local authorities. In addition, the Group strengthened
the overall monitoring of operational resilience, provided to both the
Bank's management and regulators, with updated information on the
measures implemented internally;

| incorporating ICT risk elements into the entire IT and cyber risk
reference framework, thus completing the risk management
framework;

m formalising a cloud security baseline encompassing controls to protect
against the risks of data leaks, intrusions and ransomware. In addition,
RISK has put in place a dedicated cloud security governance to
strengthen the alignment of cloud-related projects with the guidelines
set by the Group (Cloud Blueprint);
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m developing the data protection framework to include privacy impact
assessments, Register of processing operations, procedures and
guidelines for reporting personal data breaches and data sharing.

Regulatory changes
In terms of regulations, 2020 was marked by:

| the acceleration, approved by the European Parliament in June 2020,
of the applicability of certain provisions of CRR2, from 30 June 2020;

m the publication on 29 May 2020 of the guidelines of the European
Banking Authority (EBA) on the granting and monitoring of loans,
applicable from 30 June 2021.

The work related to these changes involved the RISK teams as well as
other Group teams (Group Finance ALMT, businesses, etc.).

Changes to the RISK function

The RISK function continued its industrialisation, notably via the
reinforcement of its shared operational platforms in Lisbon and Mumbai
and the roll-out of new platforms in Madrid and Montreal. A number
of initiatives have also continued and new ones have been launched to
simplify, automate and pool certain internal processes and contribute
to the end-to-end review of customer processes, whilst ensuring that
the control system is at the highest level. In addition, the RISK function
continued to introduce new technologies into the key risk management
processes in terms of granting and monitoring loans, in particular
around alerting and the identification of weak signals. This was done
with the support of a dedicated artificial intelligence team and in close
collaboration with various Group businesses.

Environmental, social and governance
risk management

As shown by its commitments in this area, the BNP Paribas Group pays
particular attention to environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
issues and their growing role in the conduct of business and related
risk management.

Since the Paris Agreement of 2015, the Group has taken several steps
to support the energy transition, in line with this Agreement, and to
further incorporate climate change risks into risk management. ESG
criteria, and in particular those related to greenhouse gas emissions,
have been strengthened in sectoral policies and specific credit policies.
The energy mix financed by the Group is calculated each year and the
related indicators are included in the Risk Appetite Statement.

In 2020, continued strengthening of the Group's ESG system was
structured within a specific multi-year program, the ESG Action Plan,
led by the Heads of Engagement and RISK function. The main objectives
of this program are to:

m define Group ESG norms and standards in order to have a common
framework of ESG concepts, transaction classification principles,
indicators and reporting;
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m establish an approach to analyse the performance and specific ESG risk
of the Group's customers, in order to identify companies whose ESG
weakness could translate into credit, investment, reputational risks,
and negative environmental and social impacts. As the second line
of defence on ESG risks, the RISK function will continue, as in 2020,
work to include analyses of these ESG risks in the credit process, while
gradually incorporating changes to the system;

m strengthen portfolio analysis methodologies, by using the PACTA
methodology (Paris Agreement Capital Transition Assessment) to lead
the work to align the loan portfolio with the Paris Agreement and by
actively participating in market exercises, such as those led by the
ACPR, on the analysis of climate scenarios;

m provide the Group with an ESG data platform comprising internal and
external extra-financial information shared within the Group.

Further information on climate change risk management can be found
in Commitment 3 described in chapter 7 of the Universal registration
document.

2021 Projects

In 2021, the RISK function’s main projects will be:

m the delivery and roll-out of the new operational risk information
system within the Group, and the support of operational entities as
part of this roll-out;

m work on finalising the implementation of the “Third Party Risk
Management” system;

| strengthening the system around business continuity and crisis
management, especially for aspects relating to technological risks;

B enhancing the data protection system for the Group;

| continued incorporation of ESG risks into the Group's overall risk
management system;

| supporting the transformation of the Group's business by continuing
with its own industrialisation and improving its integration into
the Businesses’ processes, as well as integrating new technologies
to further advance and improve the efficiency of the Group's risk
management system;

B the implementation of new sites and/or projects enabling the Group
to fully meet the expectations of its regulators and supervisory
authorities.

PERIODIC CONTROL

2020 was marked by the coronavirus pandemic, which necessarily
impacted the activity of the General Inspection. During the lockdown
phases, the inspectors and auditors carrying out missions far from their
bases returned to their home countries. Work was completed remotely
whenever possible. During the year, audit plan missions requiring a
physical presence on site were postponed and replaced by missions that
could be carried out remotely. New collaboration methods have also been
adapted between the central General Inspection teams and those of the
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audit hubs based in the countries. The audit plan was thus dynamically
adapted throughout the year. In total 894 missions were finally completed
in 2020, i.e. 90% of the target for the year. At the height of the first
lockdown, resources were also allocated to assist a few Businesses or
other functions to help them cope with operational adjustments or new
reporting requirements.

In 2020, the General Inspection repeated its annual Risk Assessment
exercise. It was preceded by a coronavirus impact assessment. All
of the nearly 3,000 Audit Units (AUs) were reviewed and a two-page
documentation describing the broad outline of the AU and detailing the
assessment of its inherent risk and the quality of the controls carried
out therein was produced for each. In the end, the Residual Risk profile,
resulting from the combination of the two previous factors, appeared
to have slightly deteriorated in 2020 compared to 2019. This change
is mainly due to certain effects of the pandemic on intrinsic risks,
while the control system has shown good resistance, even a significant
improvement in several areas of business activity. Due to the disrupted
context of 2020, the General Inspection conducted during the last quarter
52 so-called “Covid” missions, dedicated to assessing the adaptation
of the Businesses and functions during the crisis. They confirmed the
general resilience of control models in the various business activities
and regions.

Due to the health crisis and its consequences on its work, General
Inspection reassessed and repositioned its multi-year audit plan.
The purpose of this plan is to make sure the entire auditable scope
is covered at the right frequency. The audit frequency for each AU is
based on the residual risk score. The frequency is shorter when the
residual risk measured is high. If the AU has a specific regulatory audit
cycle, the applicable cycle is the shorter of the regulatory cycle and that
resulting from the Risk Assessment. All the AUs were placed in order
of priority by combining these different elements. The duration of the
audit cycle cannot exceed 5 years in any case. By convention, the year
2018 was considered as the first year of a five-year cycle currently in
progress, which means that the end of 2022 is a deadline to cover the
entire auditable scope at least once during the period. The shock of 2020
complicates achieving this abjective, but it remains close to being reached
at this stage, insofar as the missions from the 2020 audit plan have been

INTERNAL CONTROL EMPLOYEES

for the most part replaced by feasible missions that were in the plans
for 2021 or 2022. Substitution in advance occurred. While this objective
of covering the auditable scope without incurring any significant delay is
therefore still a current issue, too restrictive implementation difficulties
in 2021 would lead to the multi-year audit plan being spread into a few
additional weeks in early 2023.

In 2020, General Inspection continued its efforts to develop the use of
data in its missions. Instigated by the central team, the hubs have put in
place a governance adapted to their environment based on the diversity
of the businesses audited and the number of locations. A progressive
program with five levels of training has been introduced and offered for
the first two levels to a large number of inspectors and auditors. These
training initiatives, enhancing the use cases library and the growing
contribution of Data Analysts in the missions have greatly contributed to
the change in audit techniques and the completion of missions remotely.

The policy of very high investment in training in other areas was also
continued to enable new employees to acquire the required skills base. All
employees of the function receive regulatory training with a high level of
expertise or technical training related to their profiles and specialisations.
In the same vein, a tool to check knowledge of methodological
principles has been deployed for all inspectors and auditors. Due to the
circumstances, the training system was completely reorganised between
face-to-face, distance learning and e-learning in 2020, to provide for
digital and classroom-based at the same time. Guidelines are being
defined to capitalise on these experiences in the future.

Along-term, in-depth audit guide project was continued. 2020 saw the
delivery of a dedicated global tool, which supports and rewrites some
of the library of methodologies, with updating mechanisms to better
support regulatory changes and the procedural framework of the Bank.
This project allows for greater consistency in the audit points carried out
in the various hubs around the world.

The ability of the General Inspection to fulfil all of its missions was based
on average headcount very close to 1,380 FTEs in 2020, the same as in
2019 (the headcount at the end of 2020 actually declined over twelve
months but the figure at the end of 2019 was a temporary peak due to
an atypical level of new joiners at the very end of the year).

The various internal control functions are based on the following headcount (in FTE = Full-Time Equivalents, calculated at the end of the period, and

estimated for 2020):

Change
2017 (2019/2020)

Compliance 3,387 3,759 4,183 4,219 4,217

LEGAL 1,814 1,807 1,846 1,810 1,797 -1%
RISK 5,221 5,367 5,520 5,462 5,351 -2%
Periodic control 1,238 1,296 1,394 1,446 1,393 -4%
TOTAL 11,660 12,229 12,943 12,937 12,758 -1%

(1) The internal control workforce in 2018 does not include FHB (First Hawaiian Bank).
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INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES RELATING TO PREPARING AND PROCESSING
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
PREPARING AND PROCESSING ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Under the authority of the Chief Operating Officer, the Finance Function
is responsible for preparing and processing accounting and financial
information. It also performs an independent control mission which
aims to ensure control of the risk related to accounting and financial
information. The specific missions assigned by the Group to the Finance
Function are defined by a charter. These consist of:

B preparing the financial information and guaranteeing the consistency
and fairness of the financial and prudential information published, in
compliance with the regulatory framework and standards;

m providing Executive Management with support for the Group's
economic management at each level of its organisation;

m defining accounting policies, management and prudential standards
for the Group and overseeing their operational integration;

m defining, deploying and supervising the permanent control system
concerning financial information for the entire Group;

B managing the Group's equity,

| ensuring the Group's financial communication and monitoring of the
BNP Paribas share price, shareholders and market reactions;

® managing relations with market authorities and investors and
organising Annual General Meetings;

m coordinating the Group's banking supervision, in particular the
relationship with the ECB;

m defining and managing the organisation of the Finance Function and
monitoring its resources and costs;

B managing the implementation of the target operational system,
contributing to the definition of the functional architecture and the
design of the Finance systems and deploying them.

All these missions require those involved to be fully competent in their
particular areas, to understand and check the information they produce
and to comply with the required standards and time limits. Particular
attention is paid to compliance, quality and integrity of the information
used and data protection. All those involved in the function have a duty
to alert General Management. The missions of the function are carried
out in conjunction with the Risk and ALM Treasury functions for regulatory
requirements, with the Project Management team for the Finance and
Risk Functions, housed within Group IT, with regard to user processes and
the any changes to the information system. In practice, the responsibility
of the Finance Function is carried out as follows:

m the financial data produced is the responsibility of the Finance
Department of each entity, whether produced at its own level or
by shared regional platforms; when they contribute to the Group's
consolidated results, they are sent to the divisions/businesses for
approval;

m the production of forecast financial data is carried out by the divisions/
businesses, ensuring their consistency with the actual data produced
by the entities or regional platforms;

m centrally, the Finance Function prepares the reporting instructions
distributed to all divisions/business lines and consolidated entities
in order to ensure that the data is homogeneous and complies with
the Group's rules. It gathers all the accounting and management
information produced by the entities and approved by the divisions/
businesses and assembles and consolidates these data for use by
Executive Management or for communication to third parties.

PRODUCTION OF ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DATA

Accounting policies and rules

The local financial statements for each entity are prepared following the
accounting standards prevailing in the country where the entity carries on
business, while the Group consolidated financial statements are prepared
under IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) as adopted by
the European Union.

Within the Finance Function, the “Group Accounting Policies” Department
defines the IFRS-based accounting principles to be applied to the Group
as a whole. It monitors changes to regulations and interprets them
as necessary by issuing new principles. A manual of the Group's IFRS
accounting principles is available for the divisions/businesses and entities
on the internal network communication tools (“intranet”) of BNP Paribas.
It is regularly updated to reflect regulatory changes.

In addition, the “Group Accounting Policies” Department also responds
to requests from the divisions/businesses or accounting entities for
specific accounting studies, particularly when a new financial product
or transaction is designed or recorded in the accounts.

Lastly, it is also responsible for preparing management principles and
standards that take into account the needs identified by the management
teams. These principles and standards can also be accessed using
internal network tools (intranet).

The regulations relating to solvency fall under the Risk Function (with the
contribution of the Finance Function), while regulations on liquidity fall
under the ALM Treasury (with the contribution of the Finance and Risk
Functions) and regulations relating to the leverage ratio fall under the
Finance Function (with the contribution of the Risk Function).
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Data processing system

The data processing system is organised around two channels, the first
structured according to entities, and the second according to businesses:

® “Measure, Control and Explain (MCE)” is the Finance channel
dedicated to the expert and industrialised preparation of the actual
financial data, organised around shared regional platforms and multi-
businesses, meeting any need for financial reporting related to the
actual data produced (financial statements, regulatory, management,
solvency, liquidity, taxes), at Group or local level;

B “Monitor and Foster Performance (MFP)" is the Finance channel which
has an analysis and advisory role in terms of strategic management
of the businesses, based on the financial data provided by the MCE
channel. It is also responsible for preparing forecast financial reports
(estimate, budget, three-year plan, financial information in stressed
scenarios) by interacting closely with the Business heads. This is why
this channel is structured according to the Division, Business, Function.

PERMANENT CONTROL OF ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Internal control within the Finance Function

In order to enable it to centrally monitor risk management related
to accounting and financial information, the Finance Function has an
“Financial Control, Certification and Audit Affairs” team which carries
out the following main missions:

m defining the Group's policy as regards the accounting internal
control system. This system requires accounting entities to follow
rules in organising their accounting internal control environments
and to implement key controls ensuring that the information in their
consolidation packages is reliable. The Group has issued internal
accounting control guidelines for use by the consolidated entities
and a standard accounting control plan listing the major mandatory
controls aimed at covering the accounting risk;

m ensuring that the internal control environment for accounting and
financial information functions properly within the Group, in particular
via the procedure for internal certification of accounts described
below; reporting quarterly to Executive Management and the Board's
Financial Statements Committee on the quality of the Group's financial
statements;

m together with the Risk Function, overseeing the proper functioning
of the system for collecting and processing consolidated credit risk
reporting, including by means of a specific certification and quality
indicator system;

| ensuring the proper functioning of the data collection and processing
system so that liquidity reports can be prepared, in particular by
means of a specific certification and quality indicator system;

B monitoring the implementation by entities of recommendations from
the Statutory Auditors and from General Inspection relating to the
accounting risk, with the support of the divisions/business lines. This

monitoring is facilitated by use of a dedicated tool that enables each
entity to monitor the recommendations made to it and to regularly
report on the progress made on the various action plans. Centralised
monitoring of these recommendations enables Group Finance to
identify improvements to the accounting internal control system made
within the consolidated entities, identify any cross-functional problems
and, if necessary, revise the Group-level procedures and instructions.

Independent central control teams pass these tasks to the Finance
Departments in the divisions/businesses, which supervise the entities
closely and, if necessary, implement accounting controls geared to their
specific situation.

Lastly, within the entities’ Finance Departments, the Group's accounting
internal control principles have led to dedicated and independent
accounting control teams or representatives, depending on the size of
the entities, being set up. As such, the Group's established approach,
in which the reporting production tasks are consolidated on regional
platforms (improving the harmonisation of the reporting and control
processes and increasing their efficiency for the entities concerned), also
ensures that the accounting control teams are the appropriate size and
have the necessary expertise. The main missions of these local teams
are as follows:

m implementing the second-level accounting controls within all
entities within their scope. In a decentralised accounting framewaork,
these controls complete the first level controls carried out by back
offices, and particularly rely on accounting control tools that, for
example, make it possible, in the case of each account, to identify the
department responsible for its justification and control, to reconcile
the balances recorded in the accounting system with the balances in
the operational systems for each business, and to identify, justify and
monitor the clearing of suspense accounts;

m coordinating the “elementary certification” process (described below)
requiring an entity's different departments to report on the controls
that they have carried out;

B to ensure that the accounting internal control system enables the
entity's Finance Department to have sufficient oversight of the process
of preparation of account summaries, and in particular over all the
elements necessary for the Group's certification process (described
below). To assist in achieving this objective, the tasks involved in
accounts closure are formally defined. The use of tools to map the
processes and associated risks and to document the checks as well as
the coordination with other control channels contributes to improving
the quality.

Internal Certification Process

At Group level

The Finance Function uses FACT (Finance Accounting Control Tool) for
the internal certification of the quarterly data produced by each entity
for the consolidation package; for the validation performed within the
Finance Departments of divisions/businesses; and for the consolidation
process for which the Group Reporting Department within Group Finance
is responsible.
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The Chief Financial Officer of each entity concerned certifies to the
Finance Function that:

m the transmitted data have been prepared in accordance with the
Group's norms and standards;

B the accounting internal control system guarantees its quality and
reliability.

The main certificate completed by fully consolidated entities reproduces
the results of all of the major controls defined in the Group's accounting
control plan, and leads to the determination of a rating for each entity.
Entities consolidated by the equity method complete an appropriate
certificate. Finally, non-consolidated entities are certified annually
through a simplified procedure.

This internal certification process forms part of the Group’s monitoring
system for Internal control and enables the Finance Function, which has
the overall responsibility for the preparation and quality of the Group's
consolidated financial statements, to be informed of any problems in
the financial statements and to monitor the entities’ implementation of
appropriate corrective measures. A report on this process is presented
to Executive Management and to the Financial Statements Committee of
the Board of directors at the close of the Group's quarterly consolidated
accounts.

This certification system is also in place, in conjunction with the Risk
Function, for the information included regulatory reporting on credit risk
and the solvency ratio. Those contributing to the reports attest that they
have complied with the standards and procedures and that the data used
is of appropriate quality. They further describe the results of the controls
carried out at the various stages of producing the reports.

On the same principles, a certification system is in place for the
reporting of liquidity-related data. The various contributors report on the
compliance of the data transmitted with the standards, and the results
of key controls performed to ensure the quality of reporting.

At entity level

In order to ensure the oversight of all the processes of preparation of
accounting information at the level of each entity’s Finance Department,
Group Financial Controls recommends implementing an “elementary
certification” (or “sub-certification”) process for accounting data
whenever the processing of transactions and the preparation of
accounting and financial data are organised in a decentralised way that
makes such a process necessary.

This is a process by which the providers of the information used to
prepare accounting and financial data (e.g. middle office, back office,
Human Resources, Risk, Suppliers’ Accounts, etc.) formally certify that
the fundamental controls intended to ensure the reliability of the
accounting and financial data under their responsibility function properly.
The elementary certificates are sent to the local Finance Department,
which analyses them in combination with the accounting controls that
it exercises directly, prepares a summary report intended to be used to
prepare the main certificate, and liaises with the various players in order
to monitor points requiring attention.

The FACT application also makes it possible to automate this sub-
certification process by providing entities with a dedicated environment
in which they can directly manage the processes set up at their level.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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Valuation control of financial instruments and
the use of the valuation to determine the results
of market activities and accounting reports

The Finance Function is responsible for producing and ensuring the
quality of the Group's accounting and management information. It
delegates the production and control of fair value measurements or
models for financial instruments to specialists in this area, who thus form
asingle, integrated channel for valuing such instruments. The processes
covered include in particular:

m verifying the appropriateness of the valuation system as part of the
approval process for new transactions or activities;

m verifying the proper recording of transactions in the systems and
ensuring it is appropriate with the valuation methodologies;

m verifying the development and approval mechanism independent of
the valuation methods;

B determining the market parameters and the procedure for an
independent verification of these parameters;

m determining valuation adjustments for market, liquidity and
counterparty risks;

m determining and reviewing the rules for making parameters observable;

B classifying instruments within the fair value hierarchy, determining day
one profit adjustments, estimating the sensitivity of level 3 valuations
to valuation assumptions.

Through appropriate processes and tools, the channel’s objectives are to
ensure both the correctness and the reliability of the process for valuing
financial instruments, and the quality and comprehensiveness of the
control system. It can thus provide the appropriate data to the various
decision-making bodies, data that also informs the operational processes
for compiling the accounting and management results, and ensures the
transparency of appendices dedicated to fair value.

Control of the valuation channel, which involves all participants, is
supervised by the Finance Function within the framework of a specific
charter and a dedicated governance. This control system is based on a
set of organisational principles defined in the Group's Internal Control
Charter for each organisational level, i.e. Group, CIB and the main entities
that account for market transactions.

To ensure its proper functioning, the Finance Function relies on dedicated
teams (“Standards & Controls - Valuation Risk and Governance, S&C -
VRG"), which oversee the entire system. The Finance Function decides
on the information that must be reported by the various players: this
comprises both quantitative and qualitative data indicating trends in
different businesses as well as the results and quality of upstream
controls carried out.

Several committees that meet on a quarterly or monthly basis are set
up to bring all of the players together to review and examine, for each
process and business line, the methods used and/or the results of the
controls conducted. These committees’ operating methods are governed
by procedures approved by the Finance Function, ensuring that the
Finance Function takes part in the main choices and arbitrations. Lastly,
the S&C - VRG reports at each accounting quarter-end to the Product
Financial Control Committee (PFC), chaired by the Group Chief Financial
Officer, on its work, and informs the committee of the points of arbitration
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or attention concerning the effectiveness of the controls and the degree
of reliability of the valuation and results determination process. This
quarterly committee meeting brings together the Businesses, Group
Finance and the Divisions concerned, the ALM Treasury and the Risk
Function. Intermediary PFC committees complete this system and aim
to define project priorities, monitor their implementation and thoroughly
examine certain technical elements.

Development of the system

The control system is continuously adapted to the Group's requirements.
The procedures described form part of an evolving system that aims to
guarantee an adequate level of control throughout the Group.

In particular, the quality of the accounting certification process is
regularly reviewed with the divisions/business lines, for instance with
the preparation of quantitative indicators for some controls, targeted
cross-functional reviews of a major control and ad hoc reviews with
the divisions/business lines on specific points for improvement in
various areas. These reviews are supplemented by presentations to the
various committees in the Finance channel and training sessions. Group
procedures clarifying some major controls, and detailed instructions
aimed at ensuring consistent responses and adequately-documented
processes are also distributed. These Group procedures and instructions
are extended where necessary at divisions/business lines level to cover
issues specific to them.

Similarly, the certification system of the data contributing to the
calculation of the capital solvency ratio is subject to adjustment in order
to take into account developments in the processes and the organisation,
and to capitalise on indicators and controls in place in the various sectors
in connection with the improvement program on the reporting and the
quality of the data.

In addition, for liquidity reporting, changes in processes and tools are
carried out regularly in order to adapt to the new regulatory reporting
demands, and specific actions are taken with the various contributors in
order to enhance the quality and controls for the channel.

In 2020, the Group continued to adapt its system to improve the quality
and integrity of the data required to produce the reports covering the
different types of risks to which BNP Paribas is exposed (credit, market,
liquidity, operational), and improve the consistency of related reporting
at all levels of the organisation during normal periods as well as during
stress or crisis periods.

After completing the dedicated RaDAR program at the end of 2019 (Risk
Data Aggregation and Reporting) to comply with the principles set by
the Basel Committee for the aggregation of risk data and risk reporting
("Principles for effective risk data aggregation and risk reporting”) and
appointing a Group Chief Data Officer (CDO) and a Risk/Finance CDO
in addition to the existing system of Chief Data Officers within the
Businesses and functions, major initiatives were launched concerning:

m the adaptation of the Group's Data Management strategy, including
data compilation, monitoring and quality control, the organising
the processes supporting these activities, and the use of adapted
technologies and strengthening the data culture within the Group. In
particular, with the introduction of the Data Management by Design
approach, the Single Channel organisational model and improvement
in the system to resolve identified data issues was implemented;

m changes in data governance, with in particular the creation of a Group
Data Board, a Shared Data Council and committees to assess quality
and monitor remedial actions at Group, businesses/functions and
entities;

m emphasising the implementation of the Data strategy as part of the
Group's IT strategy, with the permanent presence of the Group CIO on
the Group Data Board, the assignment of data responsibilities within
the Group IT function and the participation in the main Data projects.

PERIODIC CONTROL

General Inspection has a dedicated Finance channel (called the “Finance
Audit Line") with a team of specialist inspectors in accounting and
financial auditing, thus reflecting the Department's strategy of having
an auditing capability in accountancy, as regards both the technical
complexity of its work and its coverage of accounting and financial risk.

Its action plan is based on an annual risk assessment exercise, the

practical details of which have been established by General Inspection
based on the risk evaluation chart defined by the Risk Function.

The core aims of the team are as follows:

B establishing a hub of accounting and financial expertise in order
to reinforce the capability of General Inspection when carrying out
inspections in these areas;

m disseminating internal audit best practices and standardising the
quality of related audit work;

m identifying and inspecting areas of accounting and financial risk at
Group level.
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RELATIONS WITH THE
STATUTORY AUDITORS

Each year, as part of their statutory assignment, the Statutory Auditors
issue a report in which they give their opinion concerning the consistency
and fairness of the consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas
Group as well as the annual financial statements of the Group's
companies. The Statutory Auditors also carry out limited reviews on the
closing of the half-yearly accounts, and specific tasks in relation to the
quarterly accounts.

Thus, as part of their statutory mission:

B they examine any significant changes in accounting standards
and present their opinions to the Financial Statements Committee
concerning the accounting choices with a material impact;

| they present their conclusions to the Finance Functions in the entities/
business Llines/divisions and at a Group level, and in particular any
observations and recommendations to improve certain aspects of the
internal control system that contributes to the preparation of the
accounting and financial information that they reviewed during their
audit.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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FINANCIAL COMMUNICATION (PRESS
RELEASES, SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS, ETC.)

Financial communications for publication are written by the “Investor
Relations and Financial Information” Department within the Finance
Function. It is directed at retail and institutional shareholders, financial
analysts and rating agencies, and presents the Group's different
activities, explains its results and describes its development strategy,
while maintaining the financial information homogenous with that used
at an internal level.

The team, which reports to Executive Management and the Chief Financial
Officer, devises the format in which financial information is published
by the BNP Paribas Group. It works with the divisions and functions
to prepare the presentation of financial results, strategic projects and
specific topics. It distributes them to the financial community.

The Statutory Auditors are associated with the validation and review
phase of communications relating to the closing of quarterly, half-yearly
or annual financial statements, before their presentation to the Financial
Statements Committee and to the Board of directors, who approve them.
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2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
BNP Paribas consolidated results

3.1 BNP Paribas consolidated results

Revenues 44,275 44,597 -0.7%
Operating Expenses and Dep. (30,194) (31,337) -3.6%
Gross Operating Income 14,081 13,260 +6.2%
Cost of Risk (5,717) (3,203) +78.5%
Operating Income 8,364 10,057 -16.8%
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 423 586 -27.8%
Other Non Operating Items 1,035 751 +37.8%
Non Operating Items 1,458 1,337 +9.0%
Pre-Tax Income 9,822 11,394 -13.8%
Corporate Income Tax (2,407) (2,811) -14.4%
Net Income Attributable to Minority Interests (348) (410) -15.1%
Net Income Attributable to Equity Holders 7,067 8,173 -13.5%
Cost/income 68.2% 70.3% -2.1 pt

MOBILISATION AT THE SERVICE OF THE ECONOMY

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic, many countries worldwide took
public health measures in 2020 to protect their citizens and slow the
spread of the virus. The health crisis has had considerable economic
and social repercussions.

Against this backdrop, BNP Paribas has taken steps to safeguard its
employees’ health and to provide all services that are essential to keeping
the economy functioning.

Moreaver, BNP Paribas is mobilising all its resources and expertise to
support its individual, corporate and institutional customers during these
challenging times and to respond to the economy’s specific needs during
the various phases of this health crisis.

Loans outstanding rose by 4.4% compared to 2019, an increase of
33 billion euros. The Group granted mare than 120,000 state-guaranteed
loans in 2020 in the Group's Retail Banking networks, and raised more
than 396 billion euros in financing for its clients on the syndicated loan,
bond and equity markets®.

RESILIENT RESULTS IN A CONTEXT MARKED BY THE HEALTH CRISIS -

POSITIVE JAWS EFFECT

AlLin all, revenues, at 44,275 million euros, were almost stable (-0.7%)
compared to 2019 at historical scope and exchange rates and rose by
1.3% at constant scope and exchange rates®.

In the operating divisions, revenues were up slightly at historical scope
and exchange rates (+0.2%) and increased mare significantly (+2.0%) at
constant scope and exchange rates. They were down by 2.1% in Domestic

(1) Source: Dealogic, as at 31 December 2020, bookrunner, apportioned amounts.

Markets®, as the very good performance of the specialised businesses
(in particular Personal Investors) only partially offset the impact on the
networks of the persistently low-interest-rate environment and the
health crisis. Revenues at International Financial Services were down
by 7.2%%, due to the effects of the health crisis and despite BancWest's
good performance. CIB achieved strong growth (+13.9%®) with revenues
up in all business lines.

(2) 2020 revenues included a -104 million euro exceptional accounting impact of a swap set up for the transfer of an activity.

(3) Including 100% of Private Banks in the domestic networks (excluding PEL/CEL effects).

(4) -4.6% at constant scope and exchange rates.

(5) +16.2% at constant scope and exchange rates.
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Thanks to the successful digital and industrial transformation, the
Group’s operating expenses, at 30,194 million euros, were down by 3.6%
compared to 2019, in line with the objectives of the 2020 plan. The
Group's operating expenses included the following exceptional items for
atotal of 521 million euros (compared with 1,217 million euros in 2019):
211 million euros in restructuring® and adaptation® costs (compared
with 473 million euros in 2019), 178 million euros in IT reinforcement
costs, and 132 million euros in donations and staff safety measures
relating to the health crisis. As announced, exceptional transformation
costs were nil; they amounted to 744 million euros in 2019.

The operating expenses of the operating divisions were down by 1.0%
compared to 2019. They decreased by 1.6% at Domestic Markets®, with a
more pronounced decrease in the networks® (-2.7%), while the division’s
specialised businesses were up but achieved a positive jaws effect of
4.3 points. Operating expenses were down by 3.7%® at International
Financial Services, thanks to cost-saving measures that were accentuated
with the health crisis. CIB's operating expenses were up by 3.0%, due
to business growth, but were contained by cost-saving measures. CIB
achieved a very positive jaws effect of 10.9 points.

The proven effectiveness of the digital and industrial transformation and
good cost containment thus allowed the Group to generate a positive
2.9-point jaws effect (1.2 points in the operating divisions).

The Group's gross operating income thus came to 14,081 million euros,
up by 6.2%.

Cost of risk, at 5,717 million euros, rose by 2,514 million euros compared to
2019. It stood at 66 basis points of outstanding customer loans, including
16 basis points (1.4 billion euros) related to the provisioning of performing
loans (stages 1 and 2).

The Group's operating income, at 8,364 million euros, was thus down
by 16.8%.

Non-operating items totalled 1,458 million euros, up from 2019
(1,337 million euros). They included +699 million euros in capital gains
from the sale of buildings, a +371 million euro capital gain related to
the strategic agreement with Allfunds, as well as a -130 million euro
impairment of an investment accounted for under equity method. In 2019,
they had reflected the exceptional impact of the 16.8% capital gain from
the sale of SBI Life in India, followed by the deconsolidation of the residual
stake® (+1,450 million euros), the +101 million euro capital gain from the
sale of a building, as well as goodwill impairments (-818 million euros).

Pre-tax income, at 9,822 million euros (11,394 million euros in 2019),
was down by 13.8%.

(1) Related in particular to the restructuring of certain businesses (amongst others CIB).

(2) Adaptation measures related in particular to BancWest and CIB.

(3) Including 100% of Private Banks in the domestic networks (excluding PEL/CEL effects).

(4) FRB, BNL bc and BRB.

(5) -1.6% at constant scope and exchange rates.

(6) 5.2% residual stake in SBI Life.

(7) With 2019 earnings placed into reserves.

(8) Calculated in accordance with Regulation (EU) No. 2020/873, Article 500b.

(9) Revaluated with 2019 earnings placed into reserves

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
BNP Paribas consolidated results

Total corporate income taxes stood at 2,407 million euros. The average
corporate tax rate was 25.6%, compared to 24.2% in 2019. At 1,323 million
euros, taxes subject to IFRIC 21 increased by 158 million euros compared
t0 2019.

The Group's net income attributable to equity holders thus came to
7,067 million euros, down by 13.5% compared to 2019. Excluding
exceptional items, it came to 6,803 million euros, down by 19.2%.

The return on tangible equity not revaluated® was 7.6% and reflected
the good resilience of the results, thanks to the strength of the Group's
diversified and integrated model in a context strongly marked by the
health crisis.

As at 31 December 2020, the comman equity Tier 1 ratio stood at 12.8%,
up by 70 basis points compared to 31 December 2019. The Group's
immediately available liquidity reserve totalled 432 billion euros,
equivalent to more than one year of room to manoeuvre in terms of
wholesale funding. The leverage ratio® stood at 4.9% taking into account
the temporary exemptions related to deposits with Eurosystem central
banks (4.4% excluding this effect).

Tangible net book value per share® reached 73.2 euros, equivalent
to a compound annual growth rate of 7.2% since 31 December 2008,
illustrating the continuous value creation throughout the cycle.

The Board of directors will propose to the shareholders’ Annual General
Meeting to pay out a dividend of 1.11 euro per share in May 2021 in
cash@), equivalent to 21% of 2020 net income, maximum amount based
on the European Central Bank recommendation of 15 December 202000,
The additional restitution of 29% of 2020 net income is intended after the
end of September 2021 in the form of share buybacks® or distribution
of reserves® as soon as the ECB repeals its recommendation, which
it is expected to do by the end of September 2021 “in the absence of
materially adverse developments”.

The Group pursues its ambitious policy of engagement in society through
transformation projects that will continue into 2021 with, in particular, the
strengthening of the ESG™ set-up, the implementation of steering tools
to align the loan portfolio emissions with the Paris Agreement trajectory,
and the mobilisation in favour of thematics having a strong contribution
to meet the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. The Group's
action in this area has been recognised by ShareAction (“European leader
in managing climate risks"), Euromoney magazine (“World Best Bank for
Financial Inclusion”, thanks to the support for microfinance and inclusive
products and services).

The Group continued to reinforce its internal control set-up.

(10) Subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of 18 May 2021: detached on 24 May 2021 and paid out on 26 May 2021.

(11)"[...] until 30 September 2021 [...] the ECB expects dividends and share buy-backs to remain below 15% of the cumulated profit for 2019-20 and not higher than 20 basis points of

the CET1 ratio.”
(12) Subject to European Central Bank approval.
(13) Subject to European Central Bank and Annual General Meeting approval.

(14)Environmental, Social, Governance risks.
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Core Business results

Capital allocation
Revenue from the capital allocated to each division is included in = the regulatory capital requirement for market risks, for adjustment
the division’s profit and loss account. The capital allocated to each of credit valuation and for operational risk, multiplied by 12.5.

division corresponds to the amount required to comply with CRD IV
regulation, also known as Basel 3, and is based on 11% of risk-
weighted assets.

Mareover, elements that are deducted from Tier 1 capital are
allocated to each division.

i ) Last, the capital allocated to the insurance business is based on the
Risk-weighted assets are calculated s the sum of minimum solvency capital requirement as defined by Solvency II.
= the risk-weighted assets for credit and counterparty risk,

calculated using the standard approach or the Internal Ratings
Based Approach (IRBA) depending on the particular entity or

business activity;

3.2 Core Business results

RETAIL BANKING & SERVICES

oo s I T T

Revenues 30,867 32,433 -4.8%
Operating Expenses and Dep. (20,384) (20,946) -2.7%
Gross Operating Income 10,483 11,488 -8.7%
Cost of Risk (4,221) (2,927) +44.2%
Operating Income 6,262 8,561 -26.8%
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 358 489 -26.9%
Other Non Operating Items 72 (26) n.s.
Pre-Tax Income 6,692 9,024 -25.8%
Cost/Income 66.0% 64.6% +1.4 pt
Allocated Equity (€bn) 55.3 54.9 +0.8%

Including 100% of Private Banking in France (excluding PEL/CEL effects), in Italy, Belgium, Luxembourg, at BancWest and TEB for the Revenues to Pre-tax
income line items.
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2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Core Business results
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating ltems

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of Domestic Markets
Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

15,477 15,814 -2.1%
(10,568) (10,741) -1.6%
4,909 5,073 -3.2%
(1,456) (1,021) +42.6%
3,453 4,052 -14.8%
5 1 n.s.

50 1 n.s.
3,508 4,054 -13.5%
(237) (256) -7.4%
3,271 3,798 -13.9%
68.3% 67.9% +0.4 pt
26.2 25.7 +1.7%

Including 100% of Private Banking in France (excluding PEL/CEL effects), Italy, Belgium and Luxembourg for the Revenues to Pre-tax income line items.

For the whole of 2020, and in a context marked by the health crisis,
Domestic Markets' business provided strong support for the economy,
while at the same time achieving operational efficiency gains. The division
mobilised throughout the year to support customers, with in particular
the implementation of state-guaranteed loans, notably in France and
Italy. Loans outstanding rose by 5.4% compared to 2019, up in all
businesses, with good growth in the production of loans to corporate
and individual customers (in particular in mortgages). Deposits rose by
11.6% compared to 2019, due to the effects of the health crisis. Private
Banking reported strong net asset inflows of 6.1 billion euros, including
4.9 billion euros of external inflows.

Lastly, the use of digital tools continued to accelerate, with more than
6.1 million active customers on mobile apps® and an increase of 41.5%
compared to the fourth quarter 2019 in the number of daily connections
(almost 4.6 million). The division rapidly expanded its digital offering,
with increases of +27% in accounts opened at Nickel and 30% in customer
numbers in the electronic portfolio Lyf Pay in one year.

The evolution in customer behaviours and the deployment of innovative
digital solutions helped improve customer service and adapt branch set-
ups (618 branches closed since the end of 2016 in France, Belgium and
Italy).

Revenues®?, at 15,477 million euros, were down by 2.1% compared
to 2019: the impact of low interest rates in the networks was partly
offset by higher loan volumes; the specialised businesses achieved a
good performance, in particular at Personal Investors (+36.0% compared
to 2019 with a strong rise at Consorsbank in Germany).

Operating expenses®, at 10,568 million euros, were down by 1.6%
compared to 2019, with a more pronounced decline in networks® (-2.7%),
mitigated by a 3.4% increase in the specialised businesses, in connection
with their growth.

Gross operating income®, at 4,909 million euros, was down by 3.2%
compared to 2019.

The cost of risk® rose to 1,456 million euros (1,021 million euros in 2019),
due to the effect of the health crisis.

Thus, after allocating one-third of Private Banking's net income to Wealth
Management (International Financial Services division), the division’s
pre-tax income® came to 3,271 million euros, down by 13.9% compared
to 2019.

(1) Customers with at least one connection to the mobile apps per month (on average in 4020) - scope: individual, small business and Private Banking customers of DM networks or

digital banks (including Germany, Austria and Nickel).

(2) Including 100% of Private Banking in France (excluding PEL/CEL effects), Italy, Belgium and Luxembourg.

(3) FRB, BNL bc and BRB.
(4) Excluding PEL/CEL effects of +3 million euros compared to +12 million euros in 2019.
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Core Business results

FRENCH RETAIL BANKING (FRB)

e I ™ 7"

Revenues
Incl. Net Interest Income
Incl. Commissions
Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk
Operating Income
Non Operating Items
Pre-Tax Income
Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income
Cost/Income
Allocated Equity (€bn)

5,944 6,328 -6.1%
3,303 3591 -8.0%
2,641 2,737 -3.5%
(4,490) (4,602) -2.4%
1,454 1,726 -15.8%
(496) (329) +50.8%
958 1,397 -31.5%
38 7 n.s.
995 1,404 -29.1%
(133) (143) -7.0%
862 1,261 -31.6%
75.5% 72.7% +2.8 pt
11.0 10.1 +8.3%

Including 100% of French Private Banking for the Revenues to Pre-tax income line items (excluding PEL/CEL effects).

For the whole of 2020, the business strongly mobilised to serve clients.
More than 69,000 state-guaranteed loans were granted for a total of
almost 17.9 billion euros as at 31 December 2020. The equity investment
package was doubled to 4 billion euros to support the development of
French small and mid-sized businesses between now and 2024.

FRB's level of activity was therefore good despite the health crisis context.
The business drive was strong. Loans outstanding rose by 8.8% compared
to 2019, driven by the increase in loans to individual customers with the
acceleration in mortgage loan production with higher margins, as well as
by the increase in corporate loans. Deposits were up by 16.5% compared
to 2019, due to the effects of the health crisis. Financial savings grew
with net asset inflows of 1.5 billion euros in Private Banking and very
sustained activity in responsible savings (8.2 billion euros in assets under
management, twice as much as at 31 December 2019).

In addition, the strong increase in the use of digital tools continued,
with 2.8 million active customers on mobile apps® (+18% compared
to 31 December 2019). Remote interactions with individual and small
business customers rose strongly and accounted for over 75% of
appointments.

Revenues® totalled 5,944 million euros, down by 6.1% compared to 2019.
Net interest income® was down by 8.0%, as the increase in loan volumes
only partially offset the impact of the low-interest-rate environment and
the lower contribution of specialised subsidiaries, despite the late-year
recovery. Fees® were down by 3.5%, as the increase in financial fees was
offset by the effects of the health crisis on other fees.

Operating expenses®, at 4,490 million euros, were down by 2.4%
compared to 2019, with the ongoing effect of cost-optimisation measures.

Gross operating income® thus came to 1,454 million euros, down by
15.8% compared to 2019.

The cost of risk® was 496 million euros, reflecting a contained increase
compared to 2019 (+167 million euros). It stood at 25 basis paints of
outstanding customer loans.

Thus, after allocating one-third of French Private Banking's net income
to Wealth Management (International Financial Services division), FRB
posted pre-tax income® of 862 million euros, down by 31.6% compared
t0 2019.

(1) Individual (including at Hello bank!), small business and Private Banking customers with at least one connection to the mobile apps per month (on average in 4Q20).

(2) Including 100% of Private Banking in France (excluding PEL/CEL effects).
(3) Excluding PEL/CEL effects of +3 million euros compared to +12 million euros in 2019.
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Core Business results
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of BNL bc
Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

2,671 2,778 -3.8%
(1,746) (1,800) -3.0%
925 978 -5.4%
(525) (490) +7.2%
400 488 -18.1%
@) () -62.8%
398 483 -17.6%
(35) (41) -13.7%
363 443 -18.0%
65.4% 64.8% +0.6 pt
53 53 -0.2%

Including 100% of Italian Private Banking for the Revenues to Pre-tax income line items.

For the whole of 2020, the business strongly mobilised to help customers
cope with the health crisis. As at 31 December 2020, it had granted to
more than 26,000 corporates a total amount of 4.1 billion euros in loans
guaranteed by the Italian state and SACE®.

In this context marked by the health crisis, BNL's business activity grew.
Loans outstanding were up by 1.0% compared to 2019 (+5% excluding
non-performing loans). BNL b raised its market share in corporate clients
compared to 2019, while maintaining a prudent risk profile. Deposits were
up by 15.6% compared to 2019. The private bank achieved good net asset
inflows of almost 1 billion euros in 2020, and life insurance outstandings
were up by 4.5% compared to 31 December 2019.

In addition, digital usage continued to rise, with more than 800,000 active
customers on mobile apps® (+12.4% compared to 31 December 2019).

Revenues® were nonetheless down by 3.8% compared to 2019, at
2,671 million euros. In 2019, they had included a positive non-recurring
item. Net interest income® was down by 4.2%, due to the impact of the
low-interest-rate environment which was partly offset by higher loan
volumes. Fees® were down by 3.2% compared to 2019, due to the effect

(1) SACE: Servizi Assicurativi del Commercio Estero, the Italian export credit agency.

(2) Loan volumes based on a daily average.

of the health crisis and the decrease in financial fees, caused by lower
transaction volumes.

Operating expenses®, at 1,746 million euros, were down by 3.0% compared
t02019. They reflected the effect of cost savings and adaptation measures
("Quota 100" retirement plan). The jaws effect was very positive when
excluding the impact of a non-recurring positive element in 2019.

Gross operating income® thus came to 925 million euros, down by 5.4%
compared to 2019.

The cost of risk®, at 525 million euros, or 69 basis points of outstanding
customer loans, rose by 7.2% compared to 2019, due to the provisioning
of performing loans (stages 1 and 2), while the cost of risk on non-
performing loans (stage 3) continued to decrease.

Thus, after allocating one-third of Italian Private Banking's net income
to Wealth Management business (International Financial Services
division), BNL bc posted pre-tax income of 363 million euros, down by
18.0% compared to 2019.

(3) Customers with at least one connection to the mobile apps per month (on average in 4Q20), scope: individual, small business and Private Banking customers (BNP Paribas and

Hello banki).
(4) Including 100% of Private Banking in Italy.
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Core Business results

BELGIAN RETAIL BANKING

osoraos | ____» w0

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of BDDB
Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

3,432 3,524 -2.6%
(2,408) (2,480) -2.9%
1,024 1,044 -1.9%
(230) (55) ns.
794 989 -19.6%
31 10 n.s.
826 999 -17.3%
(64) (70) -7.9%
762 929 -18.0%
70.2% 70.4% -0.2 pt
54 58 -5.7%

Including 100% of Belgian Private Banking for the Revenues to Pre-tax income line items.

For the whole of 2020, BRB's business activity was up. Loans outstanding
grew by 3.5% compared to 31 December 2019, driven by good growth in
mortgage loans. Deposits rose by 5.3%, with a strong increase in individual
customer deposits. Off-balance sheet savings were up by 4.1% compared
to 31 December 2019, thanks in particular to good net asset inflows into
mutual funds (+1.6 billion euros).

In addition, the use of digital tools continued to accelerate, with more
than 1.5 million active customers on mobile apps® (+12.2% compared
to the fourth quarter 2019) and an average of mare than 45 million
monthly connections in the fourth quarter 2020 (+32.9% compared to
the fourth quarter 2019).

Revenues® were down by 2.6% compared to 2019, at 3,432 million euros.
Net interest income® was down by 6.3%, as higher loan volumes only
partly offset the impact of the low-interest-rate environment. Fees®
were up by 8.0% compared to 2019, due in particular to the very marked
increase in financial fees.

Operating expenses®, at 2,408 million euros, were down compared to
2019 (-2.9%), thanks to cost-saving measures and the ongoing branch
network optimisation. The jaws effect was positive.

Gross operating income®, at 1,024 million euros, was down by 1.9%
compared to 2019.

The cost of risk® rose to 230 million euros compared to 55 million euros
in 2019, due in particular to the increase in provisioning of performing
loans (stages 1 and 2). It stood at 19 basis points of outstanding customer
loans.

After allocating one-third of Belgian Private Banking's net income to
the Wealth Management business (International Financial Services
division), BRB generated 762 million euros in pre-tax income, down by
18.0% compared to 2019.

(1) Individual (including at Hello bank!), small business and Private Banking customers with at least one connection to the mobile apps per month (on average in 4Q20).

(2) Including 100% of Private Banking in Belgium.
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Core Business results

OTHER DOMESTIC MARKETS BUSINESSES (ARVAL, LEASING SOLUTIONS,
PERSONAL INVESTORS, NICKEL AND LUXEMBOURG RETAIL BANKING)
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of others DM

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

3,430 3,184 +7,7%
(1,923) (1,859) +3,4%
1,506 1,325 +13,7%
(205) (146) +40,1%
1,301 1,178 +10,5%
(12) (12) -1,3%

0 2 ns.
1,289 1,168 +10,3%
(5) 3) +76,5%
1,284 1,165 +10,2%
56.1% 58.4% -2,3 pt
45 45 -1,4%

Including 100% of Private Banking in Luxembourg for the Revenues to Pre-tax income line items.

For the whole of 2020, the specialised businesses of Domestic Markets
achieved a very strong overall increase in business activity. Arval's
financed fleet® grew by 7.3% compared to 2019, and used car prices
were holding up well. The business continued its digital transformation,
changed its energy mix, and continued to sign new partnerships (Sixt
and Cdiscount). Leasing Solutions’ outstandings rose by 1.9%® compared
to 2019. In 2020 and for the 5th time, it was recognised as “European
Lessor of the Year” at the Leasing Life Awards. Led by strong market
activity, Personal Investors was on a very strong pace, with a doubling
of the number of orders compared to 31 December 2019 and growth in
assets under management, particularly in Germany (+14.6% compared
to 31 December 2019). Nickel continued its development with close
to 1.9 million accounts opened® (+27.0% compared to 31 December
2019). 2020 also marked the successful launch of Nickel in Spain in
December 2020. Luxembourg Retail Banking (LRB) reported a strong
increase in loans in 2020 (+8.2% compared to 2019) with a significant
rise in all client segments.

(1) Average fleet in thousands of vehicles.

The revenues® of the five businesses, at 3,430 million euros, were up
by 7.7% compared to 2019. The good development in all businesses was
driven by very strong growth in the revenues at Personal Investors (+36%)
and Nickel and a significant rise in LRB in line with the increase in loan
volumes.

Operating expenses® rose by 3.4% compared to 2019, to 1,923 million
euros as a result of business development. The jaws effect was positive
(4.3 points).

The cost of risk® totalled 205 million euros (146 million euros in 2019).
Thus, the pre-tax income of the five businesses, after allocating one-third
of Luxembourg Private Banking's net income to the Wealth Management

business (International Financial Services division), came to 1,284 million
euros, up sharply by 10.2% compared to 2019.

(2) At constant scope and exchange rates, excluding the transfer of an internal subsidiary (-1.6% including the transfer).

(3) Since inception.

(4) Including 100% of Private Banking in Luxembourg.
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INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

15,938 17,183 -7.2%
(10,117) (10,507) -3.7%
5,821 6,676 -12.8%
(2,775) (1,911) +45.2%
3,046 4,765 -36.1%
353 488 -27.7%

22 (27) n.s.
3421 5,226 -34.5%
63.5% 61.1% +2.4 pt
29.2 29.2 -0.1%

For the whole of 2020, the International Financial Services division
maintained a good business drive despite the health context, while
achieving operational efficiency gains. Loans outstanding were up by
1.5%®, with strong business momentum in international retail networks
(a 2.2%® increase in outstandings) and a return to growth in Personal
Finance outstandings from the low point reached in the third quarter
2020. The division achieved very strong net asset inflows of 54.9 billion
euros compared to 31 December 2019, including 40 billion euros at
Asset Management (3.4% of assets under management) in a contrasted
environment marked by a drop in market prices early in the year followed
by a good market performance late in the year. Real Estate Services,
meanwhile, heavily impacted by the health crisis, was recovering
gradually.

The division continued to expand its digitalisation with 4.6 million
digital customers in the international retail networks (+13% compared
to 31 December 2019), more than 5 million loans signed electronically,
and more than 128 million monthly electronic account statements at
Personal Finance.

(1) At constant scope and exchange rates.
(2) -4.6% at constant scope and exchange rates.

(3) -1.6% at constant scope and exchange rates.

The division's revenues, at 15,938 million euros, were down by 7.2%®@
compared to 2019, as BancWest's good performance only partially offset
the revenue decrease in other businesses due to the effects of the health
crisis.

Operating expenses, at 10,117 million euros, were down by 3.7%®, thanks
to ongoing cost savings reinforced with the health crisis.

Gross operating income thus came to 5,821 million euros, down by 12.8%
compared to 2019.

The cost of risk, at 2,775 million euros, was up by 864 million euros
compared to 2019, due in particular to the provisioning of performing
loans (stages 1 and 2).

International Financial Services’ pre-tax income thus came to 3,421 million
euros, down by 34.5% at historical scope and exchange rates and down by
32.6% at constant scope and exchange rates compared to 2019.
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

5,485 5,796 -5.4%
(2,756) (2,857) -3.5%
2,729 2,939 -7.1%
(1,997) (1,354) +47.4%
732 1,585 -53.8%

6 41 -84.5%

(67) (23) n.s.
672 1,602 -58.1%
50.2% 49.3% +0.9 pt
79 79 -0.1%

For the whole of 2020, Personal Finance confirmed its resilience, on the
back of a diversified business profile. Cost-adaptation efforts remained
sustained and amplified with the health crisis. After experiencing a
decrease in business activity, due to the closing of points of sales, in
particular in the first half of 2020, the business achieved a return to
growth in outstandings after the low point reached in the third quarter
2020. Public health measures late in the year had less of an impact than
in the first half on production, and, hence, on average loans outstanding.
As a result, the level of average loans outstanding for the year decreased
by only 0.7% compared to 2019 at historical scope and exchange rates
and rose by 0.9% at constant scope and exchange rates.

Personal Finance's risk profile benefits from its portfolio diversification
and from proactive and efficient risk management. Personal Finance's
portfolio is thus concentrated in continental Europe (89% as at
31 December 2020) and auto loans' portfolio share rose from 20% to
38% between the end of 2016 and the end of 2020.Personal Finance
loans that had been under moratorium were processed efficiently through
proactive support for customers and specific reinforcement of resources
to optimise back-to-payment levels. The back-to-payment levels were
satisfactory and were as anticipated.

(1) -2.5% at constant scope and exchange rates.
(2) -1.4% at constant scope and exchange rates.
(3) Regulatory effective date: 01/01/21.

Personal Finance's revenues, at 5,485 million euros, were down by 5.4%®
compared to 2019 due in particular to lower loan production in 2020.

Operating expenses, at 2,756 million euros, were down by 3.5%®
compared to 2019 thanks to sustained cost-reduction efforts, which were
amplified with the health crisis.

Gross operating income thus came to 2,729 million euros, down by 7.1%
compared to 2019.

The cost of risk came to 1,997 million euros, or 212 basis points. It was
up by 642 million euros compared to 2019, due in particular to the
provisioning of performing loans (stages 1 and 2). The impact of the
regulatory change for the definition of default® was taken into account
as of the fourth quarter of 2020.

Personal Finance's pre-tax income thus came to 672 million euros, down
by 58.1% compared to 2019, at historical scope and exchange rates and
down by 53.3% at constant scope and exchange rates.
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EUROPE-MEDITERRANEAN
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

2,362 2,699 -12.5%
1,711) (1,799) -4.9%
651 900 -27.7%
(437) (399) +9.5%
214 502 -57.3%
187 231 -19.2%
401 733 -45.3%
®) (4) +96.6%
392 728 -46.1%
72.4% 66.6% +5.8 pt
51 53 -3.5%

Including 100% of Private Banking in Turkey and in Poland for the Revenue to Pre-tax income line items.

For the whole of 2020, Europe-Mediterranean achieved sustained
business drive in a contrasted environment. Europe-Mediterranean’s
loans outstanding were up by 3.9%® compared to 2019, with a rebound
in loan production late in the year from a low point in August to monthly
levels higher than in 2019. Deposits were up by 10.9%® compared to
2019 and rose in all countries. Meanwhile, more than 90% of moratoria
have now expired, and the back-to-payment level was satisfactory and
as anticipated.

Europe-Mediterranean continues to promote the use of digital tools, with
3.7 million digital customers as of 31 December 2020 (+15% compared
t0 2019). As at the end of December 2020, more than 210 processes had
been automated (an increase of 89% compared to 31 December 2019)
and fully digital account opening is now available in Poland.

Europe-Mediterranean’s revenues®, at 2,362 million euros, were
nonetheless down by 4.9%®, as the impact of lower interest rates, in
particular in Poland, and of fee caps enacted in several countries, was
only partly offset by the general increase in volumes.

(1) At constant scope and exchange rates.
(2) Including 100% of Private Banking in Turkey and Poland.

Operating expenses®, at 1,711 million euras, were up by 1.4%® compared
to 2019. Wage drift remained at a high level, particularly in Turkey. The
implementation of cost synergies in Poland and the effects of cost-savings
related to the health crisis contribute to mitigating cost increase.

Gross operating income® thus came to 651 million euros, down by
18.0% compared to 2019.

The cost of risk® totalled 437 million euros, or 111 basis points, up
moderately due in particular to the provisioning of performing loans
(stages 1 and 2).

After allocating one-third of Turkish and Polish Private Banking's net
income to the Wealth Management business, Europe-Mediterranean
generated 392 million euros in pre-tax income, down by 39.3% at
constant scope and exchange rates and 46.1% at historical scope and
exchange rates, due to a very unfavourable foreign exchange effect (strong
depreciation of the Turkish lira).
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Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

2,460 2,375 +3.6%
(1,723) (1,712) +0.7%
737 663 +11.2%
(322) (148) n.s.
415 515 -19.4%

0 (3) -98.6%

415 512 -19.0%
(23) (28) -19.4%
392 484 -19.0%
70.0% 72.1% -2.1pt
5.5 54 +0.6%

Including 100% of US Private Banking for the Revenues to Pre-tax income line items.

For the whole of 2020, BancWest maintained a good business drive and
continued to support the economy in the context of the health crisis.
Loans outstanding rose by 1.0%® compared to 2019, with a very good
level of production in individual loans (+4.3% compared to 2019) and
active participation in the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP), the federal
small business assistance program, with close to 18,000 loans granted
for a total of close to 3 billion dollars as at 31 December 2020. Deposits
were up by 16.8%% compared to 2019 and customer deposits® were
up strongly (+18.8%). At 16.8 billion dollars as at 31 December 2020,
Private Banking assets under management were up by 7.0%® compared to
31 December 2019, with a strong increase in responsible savings (assets
under management doubling since 31 December 2019). The number of
active digital clients increased by 7% compared to 31 December 2019
and cooperation with CIB continued with an acceleration of the number
of joint operations (plus de 70 operations, +25% compared to 2019) and
the launch of new common products and services.

Revenues®, at 2,460 million euros, rose by 5.2%® compared to 2019, due
to increased volumes and a positive non-recurring item in the second

(1) At constant scope and exchange rates.
(2) Deposits excluding treasury activities.
(3) Including 100% of Private Banking in the United States.

half of 2020, which was partly offset by the effect of the low-interest-rate
environment and lower fees due to the health crisis.

Operating expenses® were up by 2.0%®, at 1,723 million euros, as a
result of business development. BancWest actively pursued cost savings
and headcount reduction (-4.3% compared to 31 December 2019). The
business thus generated a very positive jaws effect of 3.2 points at
constant scope and exchange rates.

Gross operating income®, at 737 million euros, thus rose by 13.5%®
compared to 2019.

At 322 million euros, the cost of risk® rose strongly by 174 million euros in
2020 compared to 2019, due almost entirely to provisioning of performing
loans (stages 1 and 2). It stood at 58 basis points of outstanding customer
loans.

Thus, after allocating one-third of Private Banking's net income to the
Wealth Management business in the United States, BancWest posted
392 million euros in pre-tax income, down by 19.0% at historical scope
and exchange rates and by 16.5% at constant scope and exchange rates.
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INSURANCE AND WEALTH & ASSET MANAGEMENT

INSURANCE

oo s o b | 00

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

2,725 3,068 -11.2%
(1,463) (1,500) -2.5%
1,263 1,568 -19.5%
Q) (3) -55.5%
1,261 1,564 -19.4%
90 167 -46.0%

31 (15) ns.
1,382 1,716 -19.5%
53.7% 48.9% +4.8 pt
8.6 8.4 +2.7%

WEALTH & ASSET MANAGEMENT

o s ™ S T

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

2,982 3,320 -10.2%
(2,510) (2,682) -6.4%
472 638 -26.0%
17) (6) ns.
455 632 -28.0%

64 57 +12.6%

65 7 n.s.

583 695 -16.1%
84.2% 80.8% +3.4 pt
2.0 2.1 -4.2%

For the whole of 2020, Insurance and Wealth and Asset Management®
achieved a positive business drive led by very good net asset inflows,
in particular late in the year. Assets under management® came to
1,165 billion euros as at 31 December 2020. They were up by 3.8%
compared to 31 December 2019 with a very good level of net asset
inflows (+54.9 billion euros) and a favourable performance effect
(+18.8 billion euras), thanks to the rebound in the financial markets,
in particular in the fourth quarter 2020, but an unfavourable foreign
exchange effect (-21.8 billion euros). The very good net asset inflows were
driven in particular by Asset Management's very strong net asset inflows
(40 billion euros) in money-market and medium- and long-term vehicles
(in particular in diversified and thematic funds), Wealth Management's
very good net asset inflows in Asia and Europe (in particular in Germany),
and Insurance’s good net asset inflows, in particular into unit-linked
policies.

(1) Asset Management, Wealth Management and Real Estate Services.

(2) Including distributed assets.

As at 31 December 2020, assets under management® broke down
as follows: Asset Management (512 billion euros, including 29 billion
euros from Real Estate Investment Management), Wealth Management
(390 billion euros) and Insurance (264 billion euros).

Insurance showed good resilience and continued its business
development. Savings rebounded late in the year, with more dynamic
net asset inflows and an increase in the share of unit-linked policies,
particularly in France. Protection performed well in France and Asia, and
the creditor protection insurance business in France expanded further,
thanks to the development of Cardif Libertés Emprunteur. In addition, the
business continued to diversify by signing new partnerships (in particular
with Brasilseg, a Brazilian leader in life insurance and bancassurance
specialist).
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Insurance’s revenues, at 2,725 million euros, were down by 11.2%
compared to 2019, due to the impact of the health crisis, and in particular
the increase in claims® and the reduction in volumes, despite a good
recovery in activity late in the year. Operating expenses, at 1,463 million
euros, decreased by 2.5%, reflecting good cost containment. Pre-tax
income was down by 19.5% compared to 2019, at 1,382 million euros. It
reflected the impact on associates of the increase in claims.

In Wealth and Asset Management®, Wealth Management achieved strong
drive, with very good net asset inflows, particularly in the domestic
markets and in Asia. Its global expertise was recognised by Private Banker
International for the ninth consecutive year as the “Outstanding Global
Private Bank - Europe”. Activity in Asset Management continued to be
very sustained, with total net asset inflows of about 40 billion euros and
strong momentum in net inflows into thematic and SRI funds® (11 billion
euros). The business continued to strengthen its strong leadership in SR,
particularly in France, with 11 new fund certifications and five renewals.

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Core Business results

Lastly, Real Estate Services completed fewer transactions in Advisory
and suffered delays in works completion in Property Development due
to public health measures.

Wealth and Asset Management® revenues (2,982 million euros) were
down by 10.2% compared to 2019. The impact on net interest income of
the low-interest-rate environment was partly offset by the increase in
financial fees at Wealth Management; the mid-year fall in the markets
drag down Asset Management fees despite strong asset inflows and
the late year recovery in market prices. Real Estate Services revenues
were strongly impacted by public health measures. Operating expenses
came to 2,510 million euros. They were down by 6.4%, due to the sharp
decrease in Real Estate Services costs, but also due to the transformation
plan measures, particularly in Asset Management. Wealth and Asset
Management's pre-tax income, after receiving one-third of the net income
of Private Banking in Domestic Markets in Turkey, Poland and the United
States, thus came to 583 million euros, down 16.1% compared to 2019.

CORPORATE AND INSTITUTIONAL BANKING (CIB)

morsorons | ____am______om | 2w

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating ltems

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

13,763 12,080 +13.9%
(8,920) (8,663) +3.0%
4,843 3417 +41.7%
(1,424) (218) n.s.
3,419 3,200 +6.9%
11 16 -31.4%

24 9) n.s.
3,454 3,207 +7.7%
64.8% 71.7% -6.9 pt
24.5 21.7 +12.5%

(1) Related in particular to claims in creditor protection partly offset by lower claims in property & casualty insurance.

(2) Asset Management, Wealth Management and Real Estate Services.

(3) Thematic and SRI funds: in certified medium- and long-term funds, particularly in socially responsible investment.
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GLOBAL MARKETS

In millions of euras mm 2020/2019

Revenues

incl. FICC

incl. Equity & Prime Services
Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items
Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

6,819
5652
1,166

(4,452)
2,367
117)
2,250

1

3
2,254
65.3%
10.0

5,571
3,563
2,007

(4,231)
1,339

2
1,341
3

©)
1,334
76.0%
83

+22.4%
+58.6%
-41.9%
+5.2%
+76.7%
ns.
+67.8%
-44.1%
n.s.
+68.9%
-10.7 pt
+20.9%

SECURITES SERVICES

omorsoras | _____a» w0

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

2,217
(1,845)
372

1

373

21

394
83.2%
10

2,198
(1,833)
365

4

369

370
83.4%
09

+0.9%
+0.6%
+1.9%
-77.1%
+1.0%

ns.
+6.6%
-0.2 pt
+1.2%

CORPORATE BANKING

omorsors | ____a»_____aw | __om

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Cost/Income

Allocated Equity (€bn)

4,727
(2,623)
2,104
(1,308)
796

9

806
55.5%
135

4,312
(2,599)
1,713
(223)
1,490
13
1,503
60.3%
125

+9.6%
+0.9%
+22.8%
ns.
-46.6%
-28.9%
-46.4%
-4.8 pt
+7.8%
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For the whole of 2020, CIB achieved excellent performances in the service
of all its client segments.

Sales and marketing drive was strong in all its businesses. Financing
was exceptional in syndicated loans early in the year, with momentum
carrying over to bond and equity issuance beginning in the second quarter
of 2020, thus accompanying the strengthening of corporates’ balance
sheets. Market activities experienced a very good level of activity, driven
by client needs. After the extreme shocks of the first half of 20200,
activity normalised in equity derivatives in the second half of 2020. Lastly,
Securities Services achieved a good level of activity, with very sustained
transactions volumes throughout the year.

This period of intense activity was an opportunity to strengthen client
positions in all regions, and to affirm European leadership in EMEA®.
The strengthened commercial set-ups and plans targeted by region and
by country leveraged the Group's global footprint and the offering of
other businesses. Cross-region deals developed in the Americas and the
Asia-Pacific region.

The division's revenues, at 13,763 million euros, were up strongly (+13.9%
compared to 2019). Revenues were up in all three businesses.

Corporate Banking revenues, at 4,727 million euros, rose by 9.6%
compared to 2019. They rose in all regions and particularly in Europe.
Cash management activities held up well, and trade finance recorded
lower volumes due to the health crisis.

Corporate Banking ranked No. 1 in syndicated credits in EMEA® and
for European corporate bond issues®. It also ranked No. 4 and the
1st European player in Investment Banking in the EMEA® region and
No. 1 in Corporate Banking, cash management and trade finance for
large corporates in Europe®, thanks to its constantly rising penetration
of large corporates. Business growth was outstanding. Loans outstanding,
at 161 billion euros?, were up by 11.2%® compared to 2019 with a
normalisation in the second half after a peak in the first half of the year.
Deposits, at 178 billion euros?, were up by 26.3%® compared to 2019.
Volumes were up strongly (+69.9% compared to 2019) in ECM (Equity
Capital Markets) activities, with the business achieving considerable
market share gains in both volume and number of deals.

Global Markets revenues, at 6,819 million euros, were up sharply by 22.4%
compared to 2019, driven by very sustained client activity. The year was
marked by strong growth at FICC® in all businesses and regions to meet
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customer needs. Equity and Prime Services suffered from the impact of
exceptional shacks in the first quarter of 2020 with a return to normal
in the second half. VaR (1 day, 99%), which measures the level of market
risks, came to 45 million euros on average. It decreased in the second
half after its late-March peak but remained above its 2019 low point.

Global Markets activity was very sustained. On the primary market, the
business achieved a good level of bond issuance in 2020 (+23% compared
t02019) and ranked No. 1 for bonds in euros®. The business continued to
implement the agreement with Deutsche Bank in Line with the established
schedule.

At 5,652 million euros, FICC® revenues achieved exceptional growth
compared to 2019 (+58.6%).

Equity and Prime Services revenues, at 1,166 million euros, were down
by 41.9% compared to 2019, due to the exceptional shocks of the first
quarter of 2020.

Securities Services revenues, at 2,217 million euros, were up by 0.9%
at historical scope and exchange rates and by 2.3% at constant scope
and exchange rates compared to 2019, with the growth in transactions
fees and a rebound in assets under custody. The business drive was
well oriented, with the finalisation in the fourth quarter 2020 of the
partnership signed in 2019 with Allfunds to create a world leader in fund
distribution services, as well as the launch of new and very significant
partnerships. Custodial services for the private capital sector grew fast
with a position as No. 1 in Luxembourg®.

CIB's operating expenses, at 8,920 million euros, rose by 3.0% compared
t0 2019, due to the high level of activity, this increase being nonetheless
contained by the continued effect of cost-saving measures. CIB thus
generated a very positive jaws effect (12.5 points at constant scope and
exchange rates).

CIB's gross operating income was thus up sharply by 41.7% to
4,843 million euros.

Corporate Banking's cost of risk came to 1,308 million euros, up
by 1,085 million euros compared to 2019, due to the provisioning of
performing loans (stages 1 and 2), as well as specific files (stage 3).

CIB thus generated 3,454 million euros in pre-tax income in 2020, up by
7.7% compared to 2019.

(1) In particular in 1020, with the -€184m impact of restrictions by European authorities on the payment of 2019 dividends.

(2) Source: Coalition Proprietary Analytics, ranking on the basis of revenues in the first nine months of 2020 - EMEA: Europe, Middle East and Africa.

(3) EMEA: Europe, Middle East and Africa.

(4) Source: Dealogic as at 31 December 2020, bookrunner ranking in volume - Global Corporate Investment Grade Bonds, European Corporate Investment Grade Bonds, EMEA Loans

and EMEA Equity Capital Markets; EMEA: Europe, Middle East and Africa.
(5) Source: Dealogic as at 31 December 2020, rankings in terms of revenues.
(6) Source: Greenwich Share Leaders 2020 European Large Corporates Trade Finance.
(7) Average outstandings.
(8) Change at constant scope and exchange rates.
(9) Fixed Income, Currencies and Commodities.
(10) Source: Dealogic at 31 December 2020; bookrunner and volume ranking.

(11)Source: Monterey Insight Survey.

2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS




138

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Core Business results

CORPORATE CENTRE

oo o s o

Revenues (358) 71
Operating Expenses and Dep. (890) (1,728)

Incl. Transformation, IT Reinforcement, Restructuring and Adaptation Costs (389) (1,217)
Gross Operating Income (1,249) (1,657)
Cost of Risk (72) (58)
Operating Income (1,321) (1,715)
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 54 81
Other Non Operating Items 939 786
Pre-Tax Income (327) (848)

For the whole of 2020, Corporate Centre revenues amounted to
-358 million euros compared to 71 million euros in 2019, with a decrease
in Principal Investments' valuations arising from the crisis, a -104 million
euro accounting impact of a swap set up for the transfer of an activity,
the impact of a negative non-recurring item in the third quarter 2020
and the -15 million euro revaluation of proprietary credit risk included
in derivatives (DVA).

Corporate Centre operating expenses were down strongly at 890 million
euros compared to 1,728 million euros in 2019. They included the
exceptional impact of donations and staff safety measures related to
the health crisis (132 million euros), restructuring costs® and adaptation
costs@ (211 million euros compared to 473 million euros in 2019) and IT
reinforcement costs (178 million euros). In accordance with the plan, no
transformation costs were recognised in 2020 (they came to 744 million
euros in 2019).

The cost of risk was 72 million euros, compared to 58 million euros in 2019.

Other non-operating items came to +939 million euros in 2020 compared
to +786 million euros in 2019. They included the exceptional impact of
a +699 million euro capital gain on the sale of buildings, a +371 million
euro capital gain related to the strategic agreement with Allfunds, and
an impairment of an investment accounted for under equity method
(-130 million euros). In 2019, they had included the exceptional impact of
the capital gain realised from the sale of 16.8% of SBI Life in India, followed
by the deconsolidation of the residual stake® (+1,450 million euros), the
capital gain realised from the sale of a building for +101 million euros,
and goodwill impairments (-818 million euros).

Corporate Centre pre-tax income thus came to -327 million euros,
compared to -848 million euros in 2019.

(1) Related in particular to the discontinuation or restructuring of certain businesses (amongst others at CIB).

(2) Related in particular to Wealth Management, Banc\West and CIB.
(3) 5.2% residual stake in SBI Life.
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3.3 Balance sheet

ASSETS

OVERVIEW

As at 31 December 2020, the total consolidated balance sheet of the
BNP Paribas Group amounted to EUR 2,488.5 billion, up by 15% from
31 December 2019 (EUR 2,164.7 billion). The Group’s main assets include cash
and balances at central banks, financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and advances to customers, debt securities at amortised
cost or at fair value through equity, financial investments of insurance
activities and accrued income and other assets, which, together, account
for 96% of total assets at 31 December 2020 (96% at 31 December 2019).
The 15% increase in assets is mainly due to the increase of:

m cash and balances at central banks which increase by EUR 153.6 billion,
or +99%,

m financial instruments at fair value through prafit or loss, which increase
by EUR 113.4 billion, or +20%, mainly as a result of the increase in
reverse repurchase agreement operations and securities;

B accrued income and other assets which increase by EUR 27.4 billion,
or +24%.

CASH AND BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS

Cash and central banks account for EUR 308.7 billion at 31 December
2020, up 99% from 31 December 2019 (EUR 155.1 billion).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets recognised at market or model value through profit
or loss are composed of trading portfolios, of financial derivatives and
certain assets not held for trading purposes which characteristics do
not permit recognition at amortised cost or at fair value through equity.
Financial assets in the trading portfolio include securities, loans and
repurchase agreements.

These assets are measured at market or model value at each balance
sheet date.

Total financial instruments at market value by profit and loss increased
by 20% (+EUR 113.4 billion) compared to 31 December 2019.

This increase is mainly due to a 27% rise in securities (+EUR 36.0 billion to
EUR 167.9 billion at 31 December 2020), as well as to an increase in loans
and repo operations by 24% (+EUR 48.0 billion to EUR 244.9 billion at
31 December 2020), and to an increase in derivative financial instruments
by 12% (+EUR 29.5 billion to EUR 276.8 billion at 31 December 2020).

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Loans and advances to customers are divided into ordinary accounts,
loans to customers, reverse repurchase agreements and finance leases.

Loans and advances to customers (net of impairment) amounted to
EUR 809.5 billion as at 31 December 2020, compared to EUR 805.8 billion
as at 31 December 2019, increasing by 0.5%. This is due to the increase
in loans to customers (+0.2%, i.e. EUR 735.9 billion as at 31 December
2020, compared to EUR 734.2 billion as at 31 December 2019, as well
as the increase in finance leases, which amount to EUR 38.1 billion as
at 31 December 2020, increasing by 10% compared to 2019. Impairment
provisions were up to EUR 21.4 billion as at 31 December 2020, compared
to EUR 21.2 billion as at 31 December 2019.

DEBT SECURITIES AT AMORTISED
COST OR AT MARKET OR MODEL
VALUE THROUGH EQUITY

Debt securities that are not held for trading purposes and which meet
the cash flow criterion established by IFRS 9 are recognised:

m at amortised cost if managed to collect cash flows by collecting
contractual payments over the life of the instrument; or

B at fair value through equity if held in a business model whose abjective
is achieved through both the collection of contractual cash flows and
the sale of financial assets.

Debt securities at amortised cost

Debt securities at amortised cost are measured using the effective interest
rate method. They totalled EUR 118.3 billion at 31 December 2020 (net
of impairment), compared with EUR 108.5 billion at 31 December 2019,
thus increasing by 9%.

Debt securities at fair value through equity

These assets are measured at market or model value through equity
at each balance sheet date. They increase by EUR 5.6 billion between
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020, amounting to EUR 56 billion.

Debt securities at fair value through equity posted an unrealised gain of
EUR 0.6 billion at 31 December 2020, compared with EUR 0.2 billion at
31 December 2019, an increase of EUR 0.4 billion.
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FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
OF INSURANCE ACTIVITIES
Financial investments of insurance activities include:

m the financial instruments that remain recognised in accordance with
IAS 39 (note 1.f of the consolidated financial statements); they include
investments in representation of the technical reserves of insurance
activities, including unit-linked insurance policies;

derivatives used for hedging purposes with a positive market value;
investment property;
equity-method investments;

and the share of reinsurers in liabilities related to insurance and
investment contracts.

Financial investments of insurance activities amounted to EUR 265.4 billion
at 31 December 2020, an increase by 3% compared to 31 December 2019.
This increase is mainly due to an increase by 3% in financial instruments
designated as at fair value through profit or loss (EUR 119.0 billion at

LIABILITIES

OVERVIEW

The Group's liabilities (excluding equity) amounted to EUR 2,371.1 billion at
31 December 2020, up 16% from 31 December 2019 (EUR 2,052.9 billion).
The Group's main liabilities consist of financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss, deposits from customers, debt securities, accrued
expenses and other liabilities, and technical reserves and other insurance
liabilities. These items together accounted for 98% of the Group's total
liabilities (excluding shareholders’ equity) at 31 December 2020 (97%
at 31 December 2019). The 16% increase in liabilities is mainly due to:

m the 25% or EUR 147.3 billion increase in financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss (EUR 729.5 billion at 31 December 2020);

m the 13% or EUR 106.3 billion rise in deposits from customers
(EUR 941 billion as at 31 December 2020);

m the 75% or EUR 63.1 billion rise in amount due to credit institution
(EUR 147.7 billion as at 31 December 2020).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR OR
MODEL VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The trading portfolio consists mainly of sales of borrowed securities,
repurchase agreements and financial derivatives. Financial liabilities
designated as at fair or model value through profit or loss are mainly
composed of issues originated and structured on behalf of clients, where
the risk exposure is managed in combination with the hedging strategy.
These types of issues contain significant embedded derivatives, whose
changes in value are offset by changes in value of the hedging instrument.

31 December 2020, compared with EUR 115.3 billion at 31 December 2019),
and to an increase by 3.2% in available-for-sale financial assets
(EUR 130.6 billion at 31 December 2020, compared to EUR 126.6 billion
at 31 December 2019).

The financial assets available for sale have an unrealised gain of
EUR 17.1 billion at 31 December 2020, compared with EUR 14.7 billion
at 31 December 2019, an increase of EUR 2.4 billion.

ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS

Accrued income and other assets are divided between guarantee deposits
and bank guarantees paid, collection accounts, accrued income and
prepaid expenses, other debtors and miscellaneous assets.

Accrued income and other assets amounted to EUR 140.9 billion at
31 December 2020, compared with EUR 113.5 billion at 31 December
2019, up 24,1%. This increase is in particular related to guarantee deposits
and bank guarantees paid, up by EUR 27.7 billion (+36,7%).

Total financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss rose
by 25% (+EUR 147.3 billion) compared to 31 December 2019, in link
mainly with the increase in the securities by 44% (+EUR 28.8 billion to
EUR 94.3 billion in 31 December 2020), the increase in pension operations
by 34% (+EUR 73.5 billion to EUR 288.6 billion at 31 December 2020),
and financial derivatives by 19% (+EUR 44.7 billion to EUR 282.6 billion
at 31 December 2020).

DEBTS DUE TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

Amounts due to credit institutions consist primarily of interbank
borrowings, demand deposits and repurchase agreements.. Amounts
due to credit institutions increased by 75% or EUR 63.1 billion to
EUR 147.7 billion at 31 December 2020. This increase mainly results
from the 90% or EUR 62.2 billion increase of interbank borrowings to
EUR 131 billion at 31 December 2020.

DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

Deposits from customers consist primarily of on-demand deposits,
term accounts, savings accounts and repurchase agreements. Deposits
from customers amount to EUR 941 billion, up EUR 106.3 billion from
31 December 2019. This is due to the 19% increase in on-demand accounts
(a EUR 96.4 billion rise, to EUR 613.3 billion as at 31 December 2020).
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DEBT SECURITIES

This category includes negotiable certificates of deposit and bond issues,
but does not include debt securities classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through prafit or Loss (see note 4.h of the consolidated financial
statements). Debt securities are decreasing from EUR 157.6 billion at
31 December 2019 to EUR 148.3 billion at 31 December 2020.

ACCRUED EXPENSE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accrued expense and other liabilities consist of guarantee deposits
received, collection accounts, accrued expense and deferred income,
lease liabilities, as well as other creditors and miscellaneous liabilities.
Accrued expense and other liabilities amounted to EUR 107.8 billion at

MINORITY INTERESTS

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Balance sheet

31 December 2020, compared with EUR 102.7 billion at 31 December
2019, an increase of 5%. This increase is mainly due to other creditors
and miscellaneous liabilities (up by EUR 3.2 billion, or +11%) as well as
guarantee deposits received (up by EUR 2.7 billion, or +4.6%). Accrued
expenses and deferred income decreased by EUR 1.3 billion (-17%).

TECHNICAL RESERVES AND

OTHER INSURANCE LIABILITIES

Technical reserves of insurance companies increased by 2% compared to
31 December 2019 and amounted to EUR 240.7 billion at 31 December

2020 (EUR 236.9 billion at 31 December 2019), mainly due to the increase
in liabilities related to insurance contracts.

Minority interests were up by EUR 0.2 billion, i.e. EUR 4.6 billion at 31 December 2020 compared with EUR 4.4 billion at 31 December 2019.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Shareholders' equity (before dividend payout) amounts to EUR 112.8 billion as at 31 December 2020, compared with EUR 107.5 billion as at 31 December
2019. This EUR 5.3 billion increase is mainly attributable to the profit of the period which amounted to EUR 7.1 billion and to a change of -EUR 2.6 billion

in assets and liabilities recognized directly in equity.

FINANCING AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

FINANCING COMMITMENTS

Financing commitments given mainly consist mostly of documentary
credit, other credit confirmations and other commitments. They rose
by EUR 21 billion compared to 31 December 2019, to EUR 350 billion at
31 December 2020.

Financing commitments given to customers rose by 6% to EUR 343.5 billion
at 31 December 2020 and those given to credit institutions increased by
EUR 1.6 billion to EUR 6.6 billion at 31 December 2020.

Financing commitments received consist mainly of financing commitments
received from credit institutions in the context of refinancing from
central banks. Financing commitments received decreased by 26%, to

EUR 54.1 billion at 31 December 2020, compared with EUR 73.4 billion
at 31 December 2019.

GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

Guarantee commitments given rose by EUR 7% to EUR 161 billion at
31 December 2020 (compared with EUR 150.7 billion at 31 December
2019); this increase comes from the guarantee commitments given to
customers (an increase of +1% to EUR 120 billion at 31 December 2020),
while guarantee commitments to credit institutions increase by 27% to
EUR 40.9 billion at 31 December 2020 (compared with EUR 32.3 billion
at 31 December 2019).
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3.4 Profit and loss account

REVENUES

Year to 31 Dec. Year to 31 Dec. Change
In millions of euros 2020 2019 (2020/2019)

Net interest income 21,312 21,127 0.9%
Net commission income 9,862 9,365 5.3%
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 6,861 7,111 -3.5%
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through equity 249 350 -28.9%
Net gain on derecognised financial assets at amortised cost 36 3 x12
Net income from insurance activities 4,114 4,437 -7.3%
Net income from other activities 1,841 2,204 -16.5%
REVENUES 44,275 44,597 -0.7%
OVERVIEW from the hedged item are recognised as profit or loss in the income

The Group's net banking income remains steady between 2019 and 2020
(or -0.7%).

NET INTEREST INCOME

This line item includes net interest income and expense related to
customer transactions, interbank transactions, debt instruments issued
by the Group, cash flow hedge instruments, derivatives used for interest-
rate portfolio hedge, debt securities at amortised cost or at fair value
through equity, and non-trading instruments at fair value through profit
or loss.

More specifically, the “Net interest income” line item includes:

H net interest income from loans and advances, including interest,
transaction costs, fees and commissions included in the initial value
of the loan. These items are calculated using the effective interest
method, and recognised in the profit and loss account over the Life
of the loan;

B net interest income from debt securities held by the Group, which
are measured at amortised cost or at fair value through equity (for
the interest calculated using the effective interest method), and from
non-trading debt securities at fair value through profit or loss (for the
contractual accrued interest);

m net interest income from cash flow hedges, which are used in
particular to hedge the interest rate risk on variable-rate assets and
liabilities. Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are recorded
in equity. The amounts recorded in equity over the life of the hedge
are transferred to “Net interest income” as and when the cash flows

statement.

Interest income and expense on fair value hedge derivatives are included
with the interest generated by the hedged item. Similarly, interest
income and expense arising from derivatives used for economic hedge
of transactions designated as at fair value through profit or loss are
allocated to the same line items as the interest income and expense
relating to the underlying transactions.

The main factors affecting the level of net interest income are the relative
volumes of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the
spread between lending and funding rates. Net interest income is also
affected by the impact of hedging transactions, and, to a lesser extent,
exchange rate fluctuations.

Volumes of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities can be
affected by various factors, in addition to general market conditions and
growth in the Group's lending activities (either organically or through
acquisitions). One such factor is the Group’s business mix, such as the
relative proportion of capital allocated to interest-generating as opposed
to fee-generating businesses.

The other principal factor affecting net interest income is the spread
between lending and funding rates, which itself is influenced by several
factors. These include central bank funding rates (which affect both
the yield on interest-earning assets and the rates paid on sources of
funding, although not always in a linear and simultaneous manner),
the proportion of funding sources represented by non-interest bearing
customer deposits, government decisions to raise or lower interest
rates on regulated savings accounts, the competitive environment, the
relative weight of the Group's various interest-bearing products, which
have different margins as a result of different competitive environments,
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and the Bank's hedging strategy and accounting treatment of hedging
transactions.

Net Interest income increased by 0.9% to EUR 21,312 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. This variation is mainly attributable to
the increase in net income from debt securities at amortised cost and at
fair value through equity (EUR 2,563 million in 2020, compared with EUR
2,417 million in 2019) and the decrease in net expense on debt issued by the
Group (EUR 2,357 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, compared
with EUR 3,021 million for the year ended 31 December 2019), partially
offset by the decrease of income from loans, deposits and borrowings (EUR
18,333 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, compared with EUR
18,707 million for the year ended 31 December 2019).

Besides, expense on financial instruments designated as at fair value
through profit or loss decreased from EUR 347 million in 2019 to EUR
302 million in 2020, net revenues of cash flow hedge instruments decreased
by EUR 541 million compared with the year ended 31 December 2019.

NET COMMISSION INCOME

Net commission income includes commissions on customer transactions,
securities and derivatives transactions, financing and guarantee
commitments, and asset management and other services. Net
commission income increased by 5.3%, from EUR 9,365 million in 2019
to EUR 9,862 million in 2020.

Insurance activity fees are included in “Net income from insurance
activities”.

NET GAIN ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AT FAIR OR MODEL VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

This line item includes all profit and loss items relating to financial
instruments managed in the trading book, to financial instruments
designated as at fair value through profit or loss by the Group under
the fair value option and to non-trading debt securities that do not
meet the criteria required to be recognised at amortised cost or at fair
value through equity (other than interest income and expense on the
last two categories, which are recognised under “Net interest income”
as presented above). It also includes gains and losses on non-trading
equity instruments that the Group did not choose to measure at fair value
through equity. This includes both capital gains and losses on the sale
and the marking to fair value of these instruments, along with dividends
from equity securities.

This line item also includes gains and losses due to the ineffectiveness of
fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, and net foreign investment hedges.

The gains and losses resulting from cash flows and the remeasurement
of financial instruments, either cash or derivatives, must be appreciated
as a whole in order to give a fair representation of the profit or loss
resulting from trading activities.

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Net gains on financial instruments as at fair value through profit or loss
decreased by 3.5% from EUR 7,111 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 to EUR 6,861 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The income from items designated as at fair value through profit or
loss are partly offset by changes in value of the derivative instruments
hedging these assets.

NET GAIN ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH EQUITY

Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through equity correspond
to gains and losses realised on debt securities recognised at fair value
through equity and to dividends from equity securities that the Group
chose to recognise at fair value through equity.

Changes in fair value of these assets are initially recognised under
“Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity”. Upon
sale of these assets, realised gains or losses are recognised in the profit
or loss account under “Net gains on financial instruments at fair value
through equity” for debt securities, or transferred to retained earnings
for equity securities.

Net gains on financial instruments at fair value through equity amounted
to EUR 249 million in 2020 and EUR 350 million in 2019.

NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

Net income from insurance activities decreased by 7.3% compared to
2019, amounting to EUR 4,114 million. Its main components are: gross
written premiums, net income from financial investments, technical
charges related to contracts, policy benefit expenses and net charges
from ceded reinsurance.

The change in net income from insurance activities is due to a decrease
of net gains from financial investments which correspond to a net gain
of EUR 4,610 million in 2020 and to a net gain of EUR 14,858 million
in 2019, offset by a decrease of in technical charges which amount to
-EUR 19,664 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, compared to
-EUR 32,423 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

NET INCOME FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

This item includes, among other things, net income from investment
property, assets held under operating lease and property development
activities. Net income from other activities decreased by 16.5%, from
EUR 2,204 million in 2019 to EUR 1,841 million in 2020. This change is
mainly due to a EUR 239 million decrease in Other net income.
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OPERATING EXPENSES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Year to 31Dec. Year to 31 Dec. Change
In millions of euros 2020 2019 (2020/2019)

alary and employee benefit expense (16,946) (17,553) -3%
Other operating expenses (10,809) (11,339) -5%
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (2,439) (2,445) 0%
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES, DEPRECIATION, AND AMORTISATION (30,194) (31,337) -4%

Operating expenses, depreciation and amortisation are decreasing by 4%, from EUR 31,337 million in 2019 to EUR 30,194 million in 2020.

GROSS OPERATING INCOME

The Group's gross operating income rose by 6% to EUR 14,081 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (compared with EUR 13,260 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019), mainly due to the 4% decline in general operating expenses, amortisation and provisions.

COST OF RISK

Year to 31Dec. Year to 31 Dec. Change
In millions of euros 2020 2019 (2020/20]9)

Net allowances to impairment (5,358) (2,649)

Recoveries on loans and receivables previously written off 457 429 6%
Irrecoverable loans and receivables not covered by impairment provisions (816) (983) -17%
TOTAL COST OF RISK FOR THE PERIOD (5,717) (3,203) 78%

This line item represents the net amount of impairment losses recognised
for credit risks inherent in the Group’s intermediation activities, as well as
any impairment loss relating to counterparty risks on over-the-counter
derivative instruments.

The Group's cost of risk amounts to EUR 5,717 million, an increase of
78% compared to 2019.

The increase in cost of risk in 2020 is mainly due to the increase of
EUR 1,441 million in cost of risk related to assets and commitments
classified in stage 1 and 2 and an increase of EUR 1,073 million in cost
of risk related to impaired assets and commitments (stage 3).

As at 31 December 2020, the total amount of doubtful loans, securities
and commitments, net of collateral, amounts to EUR 23.3 billion
(compared to EUR 23.1 billion as at 31 December 2019), and the related
impairment amounts to EUR 16.7 billion, compared to EUR 17.1 billion
as at 31 December 2019. The coverage ratio is at 71% at 31 December
2020, compared to 74% at 31 December 2019.

Maore detailed information on the cost of risk per business line is available
in chapter 4, note 3. Segment Information, paragraph Income by business
segment.
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In total, operating income amounts to EUR 8,364 million (compared with EUR 10,057 million in 2019).

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

Year to 31Dec. Year to 31 Dec. Change
In millions of euros 2020 2019 (2020/2019)

OPERATING INCOME 8,364 10,057 -17%
Share of earnings of equity-method entities 423 586 -28%
Net gain on non-current assets 1,030 1,569 -34%
Goodwill 5 (818) ns
Corporate income tax (2,407) (2,811) -14%
Net income attributable to minority interests (348) (410) -15%
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 7,067 8,173 -14%

SHARE OF EARNINGS OF EQUITY-METHOD
ENTITIES

The share of earnings of equity-method entities decreased from
EUR 586 million in 2019 to EUR 423 million in 2020.

NET GAIN ON NON-CURRENT ASSETS

This item includes net realised gains or losses on sales of tangible and
intangible assets used in operations and on sales of investments in
consolidated undertakings.

Net gains on fixed assets decreased by EUR 539 million (EUR 1,030 million
in 2020 compared with EUR 1,569 million in 2019). The main capital gains
realised relate to gain and losses of disposals on operating building in
2020 for EUR 754 million and the partial sale of SBI Life in 2019 for
EUR 1,450 million.

MINORITY INTERESTS

CHANGE IN VALUE OF GOODWILL

Changes in the value of goodwill amounted to EUR 5 million in 2020,
compared with EUR -818 million in 2019 (including a partial goodwill
impairment of BancWest for EUR 500 million).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group records an income tax expense of EUR 2,407 million in 2020,
a decrease compared with the income tax expense of EUR 2,811 million
recorded in 2019.

The share of earnings attributable to minority interests in consolidated companies decreased by EUR 62 million (to EUR 348 million in 2020 compared

with EUR 410 million in 2019).
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3.5 Recent events

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

BNP Paribas regularly introduces new products and services for its customers. Mare information is available on the Group's websites, including in the

press releases available at https:/invest.bnpparibas.com/en.

ACQUISITIONS AND PARTNERSHIPS

No significant event has occurred since the 7th Amendment to the 2019 Universal registration document issued on 19 November 2020 that should be

mentioned in this section.

3.6 OQOutlook

2021 TRENDS

After 2020, a year marked by the health crisis, a gradual rebound in
economic activity is expected from the second half of 2021 onwards.
According to forecasts of the International Monetary Fund, growth should
be positive in all regions, on the back of developments on the health front.
The low-interest-rate environment persists in particular in Europe and
will continue to impact heavily interest income at retail banks.

Subject to uncertainties surrounding this economic scenario, the Group
anticipates to show growth in 2021 in the following manner:

BUSINESS DRIVE AMIDST A RECOVERY
IN ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

Business drive is supported by the Group's diversification and positioning
in the most resilient sectors and client segments. The strengthening in
franchises and market share gains, and the intensification of cooperation
between businesses, as well as the key contribution from the Group's
digital and industrial transformation are likely to reinforce business
momentum.

The Group's revenues are therefore likely to trend upward as economic
activity returns to normal with improvements in public health conditions
and subject to differences in momentum from one business line, region
and sector to another.

Domestic Markets should consolidate its strong positions amidst an
economic recovery by expanding loan volumes and accelerating the
transformation of deposits into financial savings. The businesses will
intensify cooperation with the Group, in order to amplify commercial
momentum and support the development of revenues, by leveraging
in particular leadership in corporate, Private Banking and specialised
business client segments. In particular, Arval will accelerate its drive
with the 2025 objective of becoming the leader in sustainable mobility,
financing 2 million vehicles, and generating 1 billion euros in pre-tax net
income. In addition, Domestic Markets will continue the digitalisation of
its platform and offerings, as well as the industrialisation of its processes
and journeys for enhanced customer experiences and operating efficiency.
The network banks will thus continue to adapt their cost structures and
branch set-ups to go with changes in customer behaviours.

Domestic Markets is expected to benefit from the rebound in flow
businesses and specialised subsidiaries compared to 2020 levels, as
well as increased momentum in specialised businesses. However, the
persistent impact of the low-interest-rate environment should partly
offset this momentum.
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International Financial Services should benefit fully from the rebound in
economic activity compared to 2020 levels, leveraging strong positions,
developing targeted and innovative partnerships, as well as the successful
transformation. The cooperation with Group entities will be intensified to
further accelerate growth in the network banks and Wealth Management,
as well as Asset Management and Insurance through the amplification
of initiatives to transform customer deposits into financial savings, the
diversification into non-Life products in Insurance, and the development of
the institutional franchise of Asset Management. By leveraging leadership
and developing new partnerships, Personal Finance should deliver
increasing loan production levels compared to 2020, as health conditions
improve over the course of the year. The business will continue its
targeted development of external partnerships to strengthen its positions
on the main European markets. Lastly, International Financial Services
will be able to rely on simplified, transformed and scalable platforms,
journeys, as well as product and service offerings for supporting growth
in its businesses amidst the recovery.

Revenues in the international retail networks are expected to grow.
International Financial Services should also benefit over the course of the
year from the recovery in activities that were impacted by public health
measures and from the acceleration of the transformation of deposits
into financial savings.

CIB's long-term, client-focused strategy is expected to see continued
success in 2021 affirming its leadership in Europe while consolidating its
market share gains. The division should expand development momentum,
ramping up initiatives that are already under way. Geographical
development will be amplified by the reinforcement of plans launched
for example, in Germany, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and
the Nordic countries, and broadening those plans further inta Spain,
Switzerland and, in tandem with BNL, Italy. CIB will also continue to
expand its footprint in the Americas and Asia-Pacific while expanding
its flow business and cross-border deals. The business will continue to
develop electronic platforms and initiatives targeting players wishing to
optimise their set-ups. Lastly, CIB will accelerate the development of its
Equity businesses with the roll-out of a broader prime services offering
and the strengthening of cooperation with Exane BNP Paribas.

CIB should benefit from the strengthening of franchises and market share
gains in continuity with the strong business momentum seen throughout
all phases of the crisis. It is also likely to benefit from the basis effect due
to market shocks in the first half of 2020 that strongly impacted Equity &
Prime Services revenues. On the contrary, FICC is unlikely to experience
the same magnitude of revenues that it generated in 2020 on the back
of exceptionally intense client activity.

INFORMATION ON TRENDS
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PROVEN EFFECTIVENESS OF THE DIGITAL
AND INDUSTRIAL TRANSFORMATION
WITH THE BUSINESS RECOVERY

The Group demonstrated in 2020 the effectiveness of its digital and
industrial transformation.

The contribution of the transformation and the acceleration in the use
of digital tools generated by the effects of the health crisis will further
sustain the cost adjustments while providing support for activities
development amidst a recovery from 2020 levels.

Hence, while supporting the business recovery, the Group's operating
expenses are expected to be stable (excluding the effect of change in
scope and taxes subject to IFRIC 21).

COST OF RISK

At 66 basis paints of customer loans outstanding, the cost of risk strongly
increased in 2020 compared to 2019. The cost of risk on non-performing
loans (stage 3) stood at 50 basis points in 2020, compared to 40 basis
points in 2019. The cost of risk on performing loans (stages 1 and 2)
stood at 16 basis points in 2020, compared to a non-material write-back
in 2019. BNP Paribas thus recorded, in 2020, provisioning of performing
loans for more than 1.4 billion euros in anticipation of the effects, to
come, of the health crisis.

After peaking in 2020, a first stage in cost of risk normalisation is expected
in 2021.

Indeed, government compensating measures (particularly in France),
some extended into 2021, as well as stimulus plans should continue
to cushion the shock stemming from the public health measures and
to support the economic and social fabric. Moreaver, economic activity
should gradually return to normal with the easing of health restrictions
and the development of vaccination plans.

Therefore, the cost of risk in 2021 should decrease compared to 2020
and come in at a level close to the cycle average.

SHAREHOLDER RETURN AND CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT POLICY

In accordance with the Group's distribution policy, the pay-out ratio
objective is 50% of 2021 net income.

Moreover, as the Group's CET1 ratio at the end of 2020 was significantly
higher than the ECB's notified requests and above the Group's 2020
objective (12.0%), the Group's distribution policy will be reviewed in the
new 2025 strategic plan.

Information on trends (Macroeconomic conditions and Legislation and regulations applicable to financial institutions) are described in the section on
Principal and Emerging Risks for the year in the Risks and Capital Adequacy chapter.
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3.7 Financial structure

The Group has a very solid balance sheet.

The Common Equity Tier 1 ratio stood at 12.8%® as at 31 December 2020,
up by 70 basis points compared to 31 December 2019, due to:

m the placing into reserves of 2020 net income after taking into account
a 50% dividend pay-out ratio (+50 basis points);

| the organic increase of risk-weighted assets at constant exchange
rates (-50 basis points);

m the impact of placing the 2019 dividend into reserves (+60 basis
points);

m the impact of other effects (of which prudential treatment of software)
(+10 basis points).

(1) CRD 4, including IFRS 9 transitional provisions.

The CET1 ratio® is significantly higher than the European Central Bank's
notified requests (9.22%® as at 31 December 2020) and above the 2020
plan objective (12.0%).

The leverage ratio® stood at 4.9% taking into account the temporary
exemptions related to deposits with Eurosystem central banks (4.4%
excluding this effect).

Immediately available liquidity reserves totalled 432 billion euros,
equivalent to more than one year of room to manoeuvre in terms of
wholesale funding.

(2) After taking into account the removals of “countercyclical capital buffers” and in accordance with Article 104a of CRD5; excluding P2G.

(3) Calculated in accordance with Regulation (EU) No. 2020/873, Article 5000.
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3.8 Alternative Performance Measures (APM) -
Article 223-1 of the AMF’s General regulation

Alternative Performance
Measures Reason for use

Operating division

profit and loss account
aggregates (revenues,
operating expenses,

gross operating income,
operating income, pre-tax
income)

Profit and loss account
aggregates, excluding
PEL/CEL effect (revenues,
gross operating income,
operating income, pre-tax
income)

Profit and loss account
aggregates of Retail
Banking activity with
100% of Private Banking

Change in operating
expenses excluding the
impact of IFRC 21

Cost/income ratio

Cost of risk/Customer
loans at the beginning
of the period (in basis
points)

Doubtful loans’
coverage ratio

Net income Group share
excluding exceptional
items

Return on Equity (ROE)

Return on Tangible Equity
(ROTE)

Sum of Domestic Markets' profit and loss account
aggregates (with Domestic Markets' profit and loss

account aggregates, including 2/3 of Private Banking in

France, Italy, Belgium and Luxembourg), IFS and CIB
BNP Paribas Group profit and loss account aggregates
= operating division profit and loss account aggregates
+ Corporate centre profit and loss account aggregates
Reconciliation with Group profit and loss account
aggregates is provided in the table “Core business
results”

Profit and loss account aggregate,

excluding PEL/CEL effect

Reconciliation with Group profit and loss account
aggregates is provided in the table hereafter

Profit and loss account aggregate of a Retail Banking
activity including the whole profit and loss account
of Private Banking

Reconciliation with Group profit and loss account
aggregates is provided in the table hereafter

Change in operating expenses excluding taxes and
contributions subject to IFRIC 21

Costs to income ratio

Cost of risk (in €m) divided by customer loans
at the beginning of the period

Details of the calculation are provided

in the tables hereafter

Relationship between stage 3 provisions and impaired
outstandings (stage 3), balance sheet and off-balance
sheet, netted for collateral received, for customer and
credit institutions, including liabilities at amortised
cost and debt securities at fair value through equity
(excluding insurance business)

Net income attributable to equity holders
excluding exceptional items

Details of exceptional items are provided
in the tables hereafter

Details of the ROE calculation are provided
in the tables hereafter

Details of the ROTE calculation are provided
in the tables hereafter.

Representative measure of the BNP Paribas Group's
operating performance

Representative measure of the aggregates of the period
excluding changes in the provisions that account

for the risk generated by PEL and CEL accounts

during their lifetime

Representative measure of the performance of Retail
Banking activity including the total performance of
Private Banking before sharing the profit & loss account
with the Wealth Management business, Private Banking
being under a joint responsibility of Retail Banking (2/3)
and Wealth Management business (1/3)

Measurement representative of the change in operating
expenses excluding taxes and contributions subject to
IFRIC 21 almost fully recognised over the first half of the
year, in order to avoid any confusion compared to other
periods

Measure of operational efficiency in the banking sector

Measure of the risk level by business in percentage
of the volume of outstanding loans

Measure of provisioning for doubtful loans

Measure of BNP Paribas Group's net income
excluding non-recurring items of a significant
amount or items that do not reflect the underlying
operating performance, notably transformation
and restructuring costs.

Measure of the BNP Paribas Group's return on equity

Measure of the BNP Paribas Group's
return on tangible equity
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» RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT & LOSS WITH THE ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

» 2020 - Results by Core businesses

International
Domestic T ENHE Operating Corporate
In millions of euros Markets Services divisions Centre
14,932 15,938 13,763 44,633 (358) 44,275
Revenues % Change 2019 -2.2% -7.2% +13.9% +0.2% n.s. -0.7%
(10,267) (10,117) (8,920) (29,304) (890) (30,194)
Operating Expenses and Dep. % Change 2019 -1.6% -3.7% +3.0% -1.0% -48.5% -3.6%
4,665 5,821 4,843 15,329 (1,249) 14,081
Gross Operating Income % Change 2019 -3.3% -12.8% +41.7% +2.8% -24.6% +6.2%
(1,446) (2,775) (1,424) (5,645) (72) (5,717)
Cost of Risk % Change 2019 +42.3% +45.2% n.s. +79.5% +23.0% +78.5%
3,219 3,046 3,419 9,684 (1,321) 8,364
Operating Income % Change 2019 -15.4% -36.1% +6.9% -17.7% -23.0% -16.8%
Share of Earnings
of Equity-Method Entities 5 353 11 369 54 423
Other Non Operating Items 50 22 24 96 939 1,035
3,274 3,421 3,454 10,149 (327) 9,822
Pre-Tax Income % Change 2019 -14.1% -34.5% +7.7% -17.1% -61.5% -13.8%
Corporate Income Tax (2,407)
Net Income Attributable
to Minority Interests (348)
Net Income Attributable
to Equity Holders 7,067

» Reconciliation with profit and loss account aggregates of Retail Banking activity, excluding PEL/CEL effect
and with 100% Private Banking

p— I TR

Retail Banking & SERVICES Excl. PEL/CEL

Revenues 30,867 32,433
Operating Expenses and Dep. (20,384) (20,946)
Gross Operating Income 10,483 11,488
Cost of Risk (4,221) (2,927)
Operating Income 6,262 8,561
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 358 489
Other Non Operating Items 72 (26)
Pre-Tax Income 6,692 9,024
Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date) 55.3 549

150 2020 Universal registration document and annual financial report - BNP PARIBAS



2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Alternative Performance Measures (APM) - Article 223-1 of the AMF's General regulation

p— I TR

Retail Banking & SERVICES

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date)

30,870 32,445
(20,384) (20,946)
10,486 11,499
(4,221) (2,927)
6,265 8,573
358 489

72 (26)
6,695 9,036
553 549

p— o 2

Domestic Markets - Excluding PEL/CEL Effects (including 100% of the Private Bank in France, Italy,

Belgium and Luxembourg)®

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of Domestic Markets

Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date)

15,477 15,814
(10,568) (10,741)
4,909 5,073
(1,456) (1,021)
3,453 4,052

5 1

50 1
3,508 4,054
(237) (256)
3271 3,798
26.2 25.7

p— o |

Domestic Markets (including 2/3 of the Private Bank in France, Italy, Belgium and Luxembourg)®

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities
Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date)

14,932 15,262
(10,267) (10,439)
4,665 4,824
(1,446) (1,016)
3,219 3,807

5 1

50 1
3,274 3,810
262 25.7

(1) Including 100% of Private Banking for the Revenues to Pre-tax income items.
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French Retail Banking (including 100% of the Private Bank in France)®

Revenues 5,947 6,340
Incl. Net Interest Income 3,306 3,603
Incl. Commissions 2,641 2,737

Operating Expenses and Dep. (4,490) (4,602)

Gross Operating Income 1,457 1,738

Cost of Risk (496) (329)

Operating Income 961 1,409

Non Operating Items 38 7

3 Pre-Tax Income 998 1,416

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management (133) (143)

Pre-Tax Income of BDDF 865 1,273

Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date) 11.0 10.1

p— o 2

French Retail Banking - Excluding PEL/CEL Effects (including 100% of the Private Bank in France)®

Revenues 5,944 6,328
Incl. Net Interest Income 3,303 3,591
Incl. Commissions 2,641 2,737

Operating Expenses and Dep. (4,490) (4,602)

Gross Operating Income 1,454 1,726

Cost of Risk (496) (329)

Operating Income 958 1,397

Non Operating Items 38 7

Pre-Tax Income 995 1,404

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management (133) (143)

Pre-Tax Income of BDDF 862 1,261

Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date) 11.0 10.1

p— I TR

French Retail Banking (including 2/3 of the Private Bank in France)

Revenues 5,667 6,050
Operating Expenses and Dep. (4,353) (4,461)
Gross Operating Income 1,314 1,590
Cost of Risk (487) (324)
Operating Income 827 1,266
Non Operating Items 38 7
Pre-Tax Income 865 1,273
Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 11.0 10.1

(1) Including 100% of Private Banking for the Revenues to pre-tax income items.
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Reminder on PEL/CEL provision: this provision, accounted in FRB's revenues, takes into account the risk generated by Plans Epargne Logement (PEL)

and Comptes Epargne Logement (CEL) during their lifetime.

p— IR TR

PEL-CEL Effects

2020 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Alternative Performance Measures (APM) - Article 223-1 of the AMF's General regulation

3 12

p— o |

BNL banca commerciale (Including 100% of the Private Bank in Italy)®

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of BNL bc

Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date)

2,671 2,778
(1,746) (1,800)
925 978
(525) (490)
400 488
@ ©)
398 483
(35) (41)
363 443
53 53

p— o a0

BNL banca commerciale (Including 2/3 of the Private Bank in Italy)

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.
Gross Operating Income
Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date)

2,586 2,690
(1,697) (1,753)
889 938
(524) (490)
365 447
@ ©)
363 443
53 53

p— o |

Belgian Retail Banking (Including 100% of the Private Bank in Belgium)

Revenues

Operating Expenses and Dep.

Gross Operating Income

Cost of Risk

Operating Income

Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities

Other Non Operating Items

Pre-Tax Income

Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management
Pre-Tax Income of Belgian Retail Banking

Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date)

3,432 3,524
(2,408) (2,480)
1,024 1,044
(230) (55)
794 989
18 13
13 ®3)
826 999
(64) (70)
762 929
54 58

(1) Including 100% of Private Banking for the Revenues to pre-tax income items.
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Belgian Retail Banking (Including 2/3 of the Private Bank in Belgium)

Revenues 3,267 3,353
Operating Expenses and Dep. (2,307) (2,378)
Gross Operating Income 960 975
Cost of Risk (230) (56)
Operating Income 731 919
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 18 13
Other Non Operating Items 13 3)
Pre-Tax Income 762 929
3 Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 54 5.8

oo s o 2

Other Domestic Markets Activities Including Luxembourg
(Including 100% of the Private Bank in Luxembourg)®

Revenues 3,430 3,184
Operating Expenses and Dep. (1,923) (1,859)
Gross Operating Income 1,506 1,325
Cost of Risk (205) (146)
Operating Income 1,301 1,178
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities (12) (12)
Other Non Operating Items 0 2
Pre-Tax Income 1,289 1,168
Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management (5) 3)
Pre-Tax Income of Other Domestic Markets 1,284 1,165
Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 45 45

o s o [ e

Other Domestic Markets Activities Including Luxembourg
(Including 2/3 of the Private Bank in Luxembourg)

Revenues 3,412 3,169
Operating Expenses and Dep. (1,911) (1,847)
Gross Operating Income 1,501 1,322
Cost of Risk (205) (146)
Operating Income 1,297 1,175
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities (12) (12)
Other Non Operating Items 0 2
Pre-Tax Income 1,284 1,165
Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 45 4.5

(1) Including 100% of Private Banking for the Revenues to pre-tax income items.
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Europe-mediterranean (Including 100% of the Private Bank in Turkey and in Poland)®

Revenues 2,362 2,699
Operating Expenses and Dep. (1,711) (1,799)
Gross Operating Income 651 900
Cost of Risk (437) (399)
Operating Income 214 502
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 192 224
Other Non Operating Items (6) 7
Pre-Tax Income 401 733
Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management 8) 4)
Pre-Tax Income of EM 392 728
Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 51 53

— o [ e

Europe-Mediterranean (Including 2/3 of the Private Bank in Turkey and in Poland)

Revenues 2,346 2,690
Operating Expenses and Dep. (1,704) (1,794)
Gross Operating Income 642 896
Cost of Risk (437) (399)
Operating Income 206 497
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 192 224
Other Non Operating Items (6) 7
Pre-Tax Income 392 728
Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 51 53

p— I BT

BancWest (Including 100% of the Private Bank in United States)®

Revenues 2,460 2,375
Operating Expenses and Dep. (1,723) (1,712)
Gross Operating Income 737 663
Cost of Risk (322) (148)
Operating Income 415 515
Share of Earnings of Equity-Method Entities 0 0
Other Non Operating Items 0 3)
Pre-Tax Income 415 512
Income Attributable to Wealth and Asset Management (23) (28)
NRBI 392 484
Allocated Equity (Ebn, year to date) 55 5.4

3

(1) Including 100% of Private Banking for the Revenues to pre-tax income items.
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BancWest (Including 2/3 of the Private Bank in United States)

Revenues 2,399 2,309
Operating Expenses and Dep. (1,685) (1,674)
Gross Operating Income 715 635
Cost of Risk (322) (148)
Operating Income 392 487
Non Operating Items 0 3)
Pre-Tax Income 392 484
Allocated Equity (€bn, year to date) 55 5.4

» Reconciliation with the aggregate cost of risk on outstanding (cost of risk/customer loans at the beginning of the period,
in annualised bp)

Domestic Markets®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn) 431.0 414.0
Cost of risk (Em) 1,456 1,021
Cost of risk (in annualised bp) 34 25
FRB®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn) 2022 190.4
Cost of risk (Em) 496 329
Cost of risk (in annualised bp) 25 17
BNL bc®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn) 76.6 772
Cost of risk (Em) 525 490
Cost of risk (in annualised bp) 69 64
BRB®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn) 117.8 1130
Cost of risk (Em) 230 55
Cost of risk (in annualised bp) 19 5

(1)  With Private Banking at 100%.
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BancWest®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn)
Cost of risk (Em)

Cost of risk (in annualised bp)

Europe-Mediterranean®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn)
Cost of risk (Em)

Cost of risk (in annualised bp)

Personal Finance

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn)
Cost of risk (Em)

Cost of risk (in annualised bp)

CIB - Corporate Banking

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn)
Cost of risk (Em)

Cost of risk (in annualised bp)

Group®

Loan outstandings as of the beg. of the quarter (€bn)
Cost of risk (Em)

Cost of risk (in annualised bp)

55.8 551
322 148
58 27
395 40.7
437 399
111 98
94.4 935
1,997 1,354
212 145
164.4 145.6
1,308 223
80 15
867.3 827.1
5,717 3,203
66 39

(1)  With Private Banking at 100%.

(2) Including cost of risk of market activities, International Financial Services and Corporate Centre.

METHODOLOGY - COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS AT CONSTANT SCOPE AND EXCHANGE RATES

The method used to determine the effect of changes in scope of
consolidation depends on the type of transaction (acquisition, sale, etc.).
The underlying purpose of the calculation is to facilitate period-on-period
comparisons.

In case of acquired or created entity, the results of the new entity are
eliminated from the constant scope results of current-year periods
corresponding to the periods when the entity was not owned in the
prior-year.

In case of divested entities, the entity’s results are excluded symmetrically
for the prior year for quarters when the entity was not owned.

In case of change of consolidation method, the policy is to use the lowest
consolidation percentage over the two years (current and prior) for
results of quarters adjusted on a like-for-like basis.

Comparative analysis at constant exchange rates are prepared by
restating results for the prior-year quarter (reference quarter) at the
current quarter exchange rate (analysed quarter). All of these calculations
are performed by reference to the entity’s reporting currency.

REMINDER

Operating expenses: sum of salary and employee benefit expenses, other
operating expenses and depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of property, plant and equipment. In the whole document, the terms
operating expenses or costs can be used indifferently.

Operating divisions: they consist of 3 divisions:

m Domestic Markets including: French Retail Banking (FRB), BNL banca
commerciale (BNL bc), Belgium Retail Banking (BRB), Other Domestic
Markets activities including Arval, Leasing Solutions, Personal
Investors, Nickel and Luxembourg Retail Banking (LRB);

m International Financial Services (IFS) including: Europe-Mediterranean,
BancWest, Personal Finance, Insurance, Wealth & Asset Management
(WAM) that includes Asset Management, Wealth Management and
Real Estate Services;

m Corporate and Institutional Banking (CIB) including: Corporate Banking,
Global Markets, Securities Services.
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NET EARNINGS PER SHARE

31December | 31December | 31December | 31December | 31December
2020 2019 2018 2017 2018

Average number of shares outstanding excluding Treasury shares 1,248 1,248 1,248 1,246 1,244
Net income attributable to equity holders 7,087 8,173 7,526 7,759 7,702
Remuneration net of tax of Undated Super Subordinated Notes (436) (414) (367) (286) (357)
Exchange rate effect on reimbursed Undated Super Subordinated Notes (5) (14) 0 64 125
Net income attributable to equity holders, after remuneration

and exchange rate effect on Undated Super Subordinated Notes 6,626 7,745 7,159 7,537 7,470
NET EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) (IN FUROS) 5.31 6.21 5.73 6.05 6.00

RETURN ON EQUITY

31December 2019
(with 2019 netincome 31December 2019

in millions of euros 31December 2020 (placedintoreserves ™) (published)
Net income Group share 7,067 8,173 8,173
Remuneration net of tax of Undated Super Subordinated Notes
and exchange effect (441) (428) (428)
Net income Group share used for the calculation of ROE/ROTE 6,626 7,745 7,745
Average permanent shareholders’ equity, not revaluated,

used for the ROE calculation @ 98,235 92,706 90,770
Return on Equity (ROE) 6.7% 8.4% 8.5%
Average tangible permanent shareholders’ equity, not revaluated,

used for the ROTE calculation @ 86,704 80,736 78,801
Return on Tangible Equity (ROTE) 7.6% 9.6% 9.8%

(1) In accordance with the Annual General Meeting decision of 19 May 2020 on non-distribution of the 2019 dividend.

(2)  Average Permanent shareholders’ equity: average of beginning of the year and end of the period (Permanent Shareholders’ equity = Shareholders’
equity attributable to shareholders - changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity - Undated Super Subordinated Notes -
remuneration net of tax payable to holders of Undated Super Subordinated Notes - distribution assumption).

(3) Average Tangible permanent shareholders’ equity: average of beginning of the year and end of the period (Tangible permanent shareholders’ equity
= permanent shareholders’ equity - intangible assets - gooawill).
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MAIN EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

p— o 2

Revenues
Accounting impact of a swap set up for the transfer of an activity (Corporate Centre) (104)
Total exceptional revenues (104)

Operating expenses

Restructuring costs® and adaptation costs® (Corporate Centre) (211) (473)
IT reinforcement costs (Corporate Centre) (178)

Donations and staff safety measures relating to the health crisis (Corporate Centre) (132)

Transformation costs - 2020 Plan (Corporate Centre) (744)
Total exceptional operating expenses (521) (1217)
Other non-operating items

Capital gain on the sale of buildings (Corporate Centre) 699 101
Capital gain related to the strategic agreement with Allfunds (Corporate Centre) 371

Capital gain on the sale of 16.8% of SBI Life and deconsolidation of the residual stake (Corporate Centre) 1450
Goodwill impairments (Corporate Centre) (818)
Impairment of investment accounted for under equity method (Corporate Centre) (130)

Total exceptional other non-operating items 940 732
TOTAL EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (PRE-TAX) 316 (485)
TOTAL EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (AFTER TAX)® 264 (242)

(1) Related in particular to the restructuring of certain businesses (amongst others CIB).
(2)  Related in particular to BancWest and CIB.
(3) Group share.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2020

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Group are presented for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. In
accordance with Article 20.1 of Annex | of European Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 are provided in the Universal registration document filed with the Autorité des Marchés Financiers on 3 March 2020 under number
D.20-0097.

4.1 Profit and loss account for the year
ended 31 December 2020

Yearto Year to
In millions of euros Notes 31Dec. 2020 31Dec. 2019

Interest income 2.2 33,589 37,327
Interest expense 2.a (12,277) (16,200)
Commission income 2b 13,599 13,265
Commission expense 2b (3,737) (3,900)
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2.c 6,861 7,111
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through equity 2d 249 350
Net gain on derecognised financial assets at amortised cost 36 3
Net income from insurance activities 2.e 4,114 4,437
Income from other activities 2.f 13,194 13,502
Expense on other activities 2.f (11,353) (11,298)
REVENUES 44,275 44,597
Salary and employee benefit expense 6.a (16,946) (17,553)
Other operating expenses 28 (10,809) (11,339)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets 4.n (2,439) (2,445)
GROSS OPERATING INCOME 14,081 13,260
Cost of risk 2.h (5,717) (3,203)
OPERATING INCOME 8,364 10,057
Share of earnings of equity-method entities 4.m 423 586
Net gain on non-current assets 1,030 1,569
Goodwill 4.0 5 (818)
PRE-TAX INCOME 9,822 11,394
Corporate income tax 2.i (2,407) (2,811)
NET INCOME 7,415 8,583
Net income attributable to minority interests 348 410
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 7,067 8,173
Basic earnings per share 7.a 531 6.21
Diluted earnings per share 7.a 5.31 6.21
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Statement of net income and changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity

4.2 Statement of net income and changes
in assets and liabilities recognised
directly in equity

Year to Year to
In millions of euros 31Dec. 2020 31Dec. 2019

Net income for the period 7,415 8,583
Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity (2,599) 1,630
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss (2,477) 1,565
Changes in exchange differences (3,151) 530

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through equity
Changes in fair value recognised in equity 586 283
Changes in fair value reported in net income (143) (191)

Changes in fair value of investments of insurance activities
Changes in fair value recognised in equity = 883
Changes in fair value reported in net income (35) (76)

Changes in fair value of hedging instruments

Changes in fair value recognised in equity 633 494
Changes in fair value reported in net income (38) (125)
Income tax (219) (391)
Changes in equity-method investments (110) 158
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (122) 65
Changes in fair value of equity instruments designated as at fair value through equity 89 114
Debt remeasurement effect arising from BNP Paribas Group issuer risk (193) 9
Remeasurement gains (losses) related to post-employment benefit plans 8 (28)
Income tax 8) (15)
Changes in equity-method investments (18) (15)
TOTAL 4,816 10,213
Attributable to equity shareholders 4,508 9,796
Attributable to minority interests 308 417
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Balance sheet at 31 December 2020

4.3 Balance sheet at 31 December 2020

1 Decomber2020 | December 2019

ASSETS
Cash and balances at central banks 308,703 155,135
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Securities 4a 167,927 131,935

Loans and repurchase agreements 4a 244,878 196,927

Derivative financial instruments 4a 276,779 247,287
Derivatives used for hedging purposes 4.b 15,600 12,452
Financial assets at fair value through equity

Debt securities 4. 55,981 50,403

Equity securities 4.c 2,209 2,266
Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans and advances to credit institutions 4e 18,982 21,692

Loans and advances to customers 4e 809,533 805,777

Debt securities 4e 118,316 108,454
Remeasurement adjustment on interest-rate risk hedged portfolios 5,477 4,303
Financial investments of insurance activities 4 265,356 257,818
Current and deferred tax assets 4.k 6,559 6,813
Accrued income and other assets 41 140,904 113,535
Equity-method investments 4.m 6,396 5,952
Property, plant and equipment and investment property 4n 33,499 32,295
Intangible assets 4n 3,899 3,852
Goodwill 4.0 7,493 7,817
TOTAL ASSETS 2,488,491 2,164,713
LIABILITIES
Deposits from central banks 1,594 2,985
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Securities 4a 94,263 65,490

Deposits and repurchase agreements 4a 288,595 215,093

Issued debt securities 4a 64,048 63,758

Derivative financial instruments 4a 282,608 237,885
Derivatives used for hedging purposes 4b 13,320 14,116
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Deposits from credit institutions 4g 147,657 84,566

Deposits from customers 4g 940,991 834,667

Debt securities 4.h 148,303 157,578

Subordinated debt 4.h 22,474 20,003
Remeasurement adjustment on interest-rate risk hedged portfolios 6,153 3,989
Current and deferred tax liabilities 4k 3,001 3,566
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4.1 107,846 102,749
Technical reserves and other insurance liabilities 4. 240,741 236,937
Provisions for contingencies and charges 4.p 9,548 9,486
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,371,142 2,052,868
EQUITY

Share capital, additional paid-in capital and retained earnings 106,228 97,135

Net income for the period attributable to shareholders 7,067 8173
Total capital, retained earnings and net income for the period attributable to shareholders 113,295 105,308
Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity (496) 2,145
Shareholders’ equity 112,799 107,453
Minority interests 7.d 4,550 4,392
TOTAL EQUITY 117,349 111,845
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2,488,491 2,164,713
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4.4 Cash flow statement for the year
ended 31 December 2020

Yearto Year to
In millions of euros [[1](:1 31Dec. 2020 31Dec. 2019

Pre-tax income 9,822 11,394
Non-monetary items included in pre-tax net income and other adjustments 5,741 13,413
Net depreciation/amortisation expense on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 6,325 6,108
Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets 24 796
Net addition to provisions 6,971 11,071
Share of earnings of equity-method entities (423) (586)
Net (income) from investing activities (1,034) (1,585)
Net (income) from financing activities (2,470) (830)
Other movements (3,652) (1,561)
Net increase (decrease) in cash related to assets and liabilities generated by operating activities 123,761 (75,644)
Net increase (decrease) in cash related to transactions with customers and credit institutions 152,167 (14,723)
Net decrease in cash related to transactions involving other financial assets and liabilities (18,050) (51,042)
Net decrease in cash related to transactions involving non-financial assets and liabilities (7,767) (7,945)
Taxes paid (2,589) (1,934)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 139,324 (50,837)
Net (decrease) increase in cash related to acquisitions and disposals of consolidated entities (78) 1,675
Net decrease related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (773) (1,998)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS RELATED TO INVESTING ACTIVITIES (851) (323)
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents related to transactions with shareholders 773 (3,987)
Increase in cash and equivalents generated by other financing activities 17,751 24,128
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS RELATED TO FINANCING ACTIVITIES 18,524 20,141
EFFECT OF MOVEMENT IN EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND EQUIVALENTS (2,614) 714
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 154,383 (30,305)
Balance of cash and equivalent accounts at the start of the period 152,218 182,523
Cash and amounts due from central banks 155,151 185,134
Due to central banks (2,985) (1,354)
On demand deposits with credit institutions 8,972 8,813
On demand loans from credit institutions 4g (9,072) (10,571)
Deduction of receivables and accrued interest on cash and equivalents 152 501
Balance of cash and equivalent accounts at the end of the period 306,601 152,218
Cash and amounts due from central banks 308,721 155,151
Due to central banks (1,594) (2,985)
On demand deposits with credit institutions 8,380 8,972
On demand loans from credit institutions 4g (8,995) (9,072)
Deduction of receivables and accrued interest on cash and equivalents 89 152
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND EQUIVALENTS 154,383 (30,305)
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4.5 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Changes inassets and

liabilities recognised directly

in equity that will not be

Capital and retained earnings reclassified to profit or loss

Own-credit
valuation

adjustment of

Financial | debt securities

assets designated

Share capital | Undated Super designated as asat fair

and additional | Subordinated | Non-distributed atfairvalue | value through

Inmillions of euros paid-in-capital Notes Ieserves Total | throughequity | profitorloss

Capital and retained earnings at 1 January 2019 27,036 8,230 65,550 100,816 403 (182)
Appropriation of net income for 2018 (3.772) (3772)

Increases in capital and issues 1,512 2) 1,510

Reduction or redemption of capital (1,069) (14) (1,083)

Movements in own equity instruments 34 16 36 86

Remuneration on preferred shares and undated

super subordinated notes (401) (401)

Impact of internal transactions on minority

shareholders (note 7.d) 1) 1)

Acquisitions of additional interests or partial sales

of interests (note 7.d) 18 18

Change in commitments to repurchase minority

shareholders’ interests 7) 7)

Other movements (19) (19)

Realised gains or losses reclassified to retained earnings (12) (12) 12

Changes in assets and liabilities recognised

directly in equity = 108 7
Net income for 2019 8,173 8,173
Capital and retained earnings at 31 December 2019 27,070 8,689 69,549 105,308 511 (163)
Appropriation of net income for 2019 =

Increases in capital and issues 1,609 2) 1,607

Reduction or redemption of capital (335) (5) (340)

Movements in own equity instruments 17) (15) 40 8

Remuneration on preferred shares and undated super

subordinated notes (426) (426)

Movements in consolidation scope impacting

minority shareholders (note 7.d) -

Acquisitions of additional interests or partial sales

of interests (note 7.d) @) (1)

Change in commitments to repurchase minority

shareholders’ interests 8) (8)

Other movements 2) 2)

Realised gains or losses reclassified to retained earnings 82 82 (84) 2

Changes in assets and liabilities recognised

directly in equity = 34 (142)
Net income for 2020 7,067 7,067
Capital and retained earnings at 31 December 2020 27,053 9,948 76,294 113,295 461 (303)
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between 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2020

Changesinassets and

liabilities recognised directly
inequity that will not be Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly
reclassified to profit or loss in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement
gains (losses) Financial
related to investments Derivatives Total Minority
post-employment Exchange Financial assets at fair ofinsurance | used for hedging shareholders’ interests
benefits plans differences value through equity activities purposes equity (note7.d) | Total equity

210 431 (2,473) 201 1,529 822 79 101,326 4,254 105580
- - (3772 (227)  (3,999)
- - 1,510 10 1,520
- - (1,083) (1,083)
- - 86 86
- - (401) 1) (402)
- - (1) 1 -
- - 18 1 19
- - 7) (64) (71)
- - (19) 1 (18)
12 - - -
(50) 65 571 40 709 238 1,558 1,623 7 1,630
- - 8,173 410 8,583
160 508 (1,902) 241 2,238 1,060 1637 107,453 4392 111,845
- - - (84) (84)
- - 1,607 1,607
- - (340) (340)
- - 8 8
- - (426) 1) (427)
- - - 5 5
- - (1) 1 -
- - ®) (69) 77)
- - ) ) Q)
(82) - - -
6) (114) (3131) 316 4) 374 (2445)  (2,559) (40)  (2,599)
; - 7,067 348 7,415
154 312 (5,033) 557 2,234 1434  (808) 112,799 4550 117,349
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4.6 Notes to the financial statements prepared
in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the European Union

Note 1
APPLIED BY THE GROUP

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.a ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

l.a.1 Applicable accounting standards

The coronavirus outbreak characterised by the World Health Organisation
as a pandemic on 11 March 2020 as well as measures introduced by
governments and regulators to tackle the outbreak have affected the
global supply chain as well as demand for goods and services and
therefore had a significant impact on the global growth. At the same time,
fiscal and monetary policies have been eased to sustain the economy.

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas have been prepared
on a going concern basis. The impacts of the pandemic, mitigated by all
countercyclical measures such as government and financial support to
customers, mainly relate to expected credit losses and asset valuation.
These impacts were estimated against a background of uncertainty
about the magnitude of the impact of the outbreak on local and global
economies.

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Group have
been prepared in accordance with international accounting standards
(International Financial Reporting Standards - IFRS), as adopted for use
in the European Union®. Accordingly, certain provisions of IAS 39 on
hedge accounting have been excluded, and certain recent texts have not
yet undergone the approval process.

Information on the nature and extent of risks relating to financial
instruments as required by IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and
to insurance contracts as required by IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”, along
with information on regulatory capital required by IAS 1 “Presentation
of Financial Statements” are presented in chapter 5 of the Universal
Registration Document. This information, which is an integral part of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas
Group as at 31 December 2020, is covered by the opinion of the Statutory
Auditors on the financial statements and is identified in the management
report by the word “Audited”. Section 4 of chapter 5, paragraph Exposures,
provisions and cost of risk provides, in particular, IFRS 7 information on
credit risk exposures and related impairments detailed according to their
performing or non-performing status, by geographic area and by industry,
as well as details of loans and advances subject to moratoria or to public
guarantee schemes in response to the health crisis.

m Since 1 January 2019, the Group applies IFRS 16 “Leases”, adopted by
the European Union on 31 October 2017.

The IFRS Interpretation Committee has been requested with a question
concerning the determination of a lease term of two types of contracts
cancellable or renewable:

= contracts with no particular contractual term, cancellable at any
time with notice period by either the lessee and the lessor without
penalty;

= contracts concluded for an initial short period (normally 12 months),
renewable indefinitely by tacit renewal for the same period, unless
the lessor and the lessee gives notice to the contrary;

At the end of its meeting of 26 November 2019, IFRIC confirmed that
the enforceability of the two types of contracts may extend beyond the
notice period if either party has an economic incentive not negligible to
not terminate the lease. IFRIC also confirmed that if an entity expects
to use non-removable leasehold improvements after the date on which
the contract can be terminated, the existence of such improvements
indicates that the entity may incur a significant economic penalty
in the event of termination and in this case the contract becomes
enforceable beyond the date of termination.

The Group implemented this decision with no significant impact.

In relation to the IBOR and Eonia rates reform, at the end of 2018 the
Group launched a global programme, involving all business lines and
functions. This programme aims at managing and implementing the
transition from the old benchmark interest rates to the new ones
in major jurisdictions and currencies (euro, pound sterling, United
States dollar, Swiss franc and Japanese yen), while reducing the
risks associated with this transition and meeting the deadlines set
by the competent authorities. The Group contributed to market-wide
workshops with central banks and supervisors.

The announcements by public authorities in the United Kingdom,
the United States and the Libors administrator (ICE BA) at the end
of November 2020 changed the transition period that was initially
scheduled to be completed by the end of 2021. For the GBP Libor, a
synthetic Libor may be published beyond the end of 2021 for use in
certain contracts known as “tough legacy” contracts. In the United
States, the decision was taken to continue publishing the USD Libor
until mid-2023, as a legislative solution is being sought for some asset
classes, including floating-rate bonds.

(1) The full set of standards adopted for use in the European Union can be found on the website of the European Commission at: https./ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/

company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting_en
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Based on the progress made in 2020, notably with the definition of
a detailed plan, the Bank is confident in its operational capacity to
manage the transition process of large volumes of transactions to the
new benchmark rates.

In Europe, the Eonia-€STR transition, which is purely technical in
view of the fixed link between these two indices, continued, while the
maintenance of Euribor on a sine die basis was confirmed.

The reform of IBOR rates in other currencies exposes the Bank to
various risks that the programme aims to manage closely. These risks
include in particular:

= change management risks, but also of litigation and conduct linked
to negotiations with customers and market counterparties to amend
existing contracts;

= operational risks related to changes in the Bank's IT systems and
processes;

= economic risks in case of financial market disturbances linked to
the various transitions induced by the IBOR reform;

= valuation risks in a scenario of reduced liquidity during the transition
in certain derivative market segments.

In September 2019, the IASB published “Phase 1" amendments to
IAS 39 and IFRS 7, amending the hedge accounting requirements
so that hedges affected by the benchmark interest rate reform can
continue despite the uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging
instruments are amended to incorporate the reformed benchmark
rates. These amendments, endorsed by the European Commission on
15 January 2020, are mandatory for annual financial statement as
from 1 January 2020, with the possibility of early adoption, an option
which the Group has chosen.

In August 2020, the IASB published “Phase 2" amendments to IFRS S,
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 introducing several changes
applicable during the effective transition to the new benchmark
interest rates. These amendments allow for changes in the contractual
cash flows of financial instruments resulting from the IBOR reform to
be treated as a simple reset of their variable interest rate, provided,
however, that such changes are made on an economically equivalent
basis. They also allow the continuation of hedging relationships,
subject to amending their documentation to reflect changes in hedged
instruments, hedging instruments, hedged risk, and/or the method for
measuring effectiveness during the transition to the new reference
rates. The measures introduced in this framework also include:

= the possibility of documenting an interest rate as a hedged
risk component even if this rate is not immediately separately
identifiable, provided that it can reasonably be expected to become
s0 within 24 months;

= the possibility of resetting cumulative fair value changes to zero in
the hedge ineffectiveness test;

Notes to the financial statements

= and the obligation in the framework of portfolio hedges to isolate
in subgroups instruments referring to the new risk-free rates (RFR).

These amendments, adopted by the European Commission in
December 2020, are applicable for the annual financial statements
as from 1 January 2021, with the possibility of early adoption, an option
which the Group has chosen in order to maintain its existing hedging
relationships which have been modified as a result of the transition
to the new RFRs.

The Group has documented hedging relationships in regard of
reference interest rates in the scope of the reform, mainly Eonia,
Euribor, and Libor rates. For these hedging relationships, the hedged
items and hedging instruments will be progressively amended, where
necessary, to incorporate the new rates. The "Phase 1" amendments
to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 are applicable when the contractual terms of
the hedged instruments or of the hedging instruments have not
yet been amended (i.e. with the inclusion of a “fallback” clause),
or if they have been amended, when the terms and the date of the
transition to the new reference interest rates have not been clearly
stipulated. Conversely, the “Phase 2" amendments are applicable when
the contractual terms of the hedged instruments or of the hedging
instruments have been amended, and the terms and date of transition
to the new reference interest rates have been clearly stipulated.

The notional amounts of hedging instruments documented in the
hedging relationships impacted by the benchmark interest rate reform
are presented in note 4.b Derivative instruments used for hedging
purposes.

As at 31 December 2020, 143,964 contracts with a maturity date
beyond 31 December 2021 are backed by rates covered by this reform,
including 104,315 derivative contracts.

Besides, the reform leads to a change in the reference overnight interest
rate applied for the remuneration of collateral. This was accomplished
in particular in 2020 by the clearing houses for derivatives in euro and
United States dollar, leading to changes in valuation curves. The net
impact of these changes on the Group accounts is non-significant.

The introduction of other standards, amendments and interpretations
that are mandatory as from 1 January 2020 had no effect on the 2020
financial statements.

The Group did not anticipate the application of the new standards,
amendments, and interpretations adopted by the European Union, when
the application in 2020 was optional.

1.a.2 New major accounting standards,
published but not yet applicable

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, issued in May 2017, will replace IFRS 4
“Insurance Contracts” and will become mandatory for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023%, after its adoption by the European
Union for application in Europe.

The analysis of the standard and the identification of its effects are going on.

(1) On 25 June 2020, the IASB published ‘Amendments to IFRS 17" including in particular the deferral of the mandatory initial application of IFRS 17 for two years.
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1.b CONSOLIDATION

1b.1 Scope of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas include entities
that are controlled by the Group, jointly controlled, and under significant
influence, with the exception of those entities whose consolidation is
regarded as immaterial to the Group. Companies that hold shares in
consolidated companies are also consolidated.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
effective control. Entities under tempaorary control are included in the
consolidated financial statements until the date of disposal.

1.b.2 Consolidation methods

Exclusive control

Controlled enterprises are fully consolidated. The Group controls a
subsidiary when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity.

For entities governed by voting rights, the Group generally controls the
entity if it holds, directly or indirectly, the majority of the voting rights
(and if there are no contractual provisions that alter the power of these
voting rights) or if the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity
is conferred on it by contractual agreements.

Structured entities are entities established so that they are not
governed by voting rights, for instance when those voting rights relate
to administrative tasks only, whereas the relevant activities are directed
by means of contractual arrangements. They often have the following
features or attributes: restricted activities, a narrow and well-defined
objective and insufficient equity to permit them to finance their activities
without subordinated financial support.

For these entities, the analysis of control shall consider the purpose
and design of the entity, the risks to which the entity is designed to be
exposed and to what extent the Group absorbs the related variability. The
assessment of control shall consider all facts and circumstances able
to determine the Group's practical ability to make decisions that could
significantly affect its returns, even if such decisions are contingent on
uncertain future events or circumstances.

In assessing whether it has power, the Group considers only substantive
rights which it holds or which are held by third parties. For a right to be
substantive, the holder must have the practical ability to exercise that
right when decisions about the relevant activities of the entity need to
be made.

Control shall be reassessed if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

Where the Group contractually holds the decision-making power, for
instance where the Group acts as fund manager, it shall determine
whether it is acting as agent or principal. Indeed, when associated with
a certain level of exposure to the variability of returns, this decision-
making power may indicate that the Group is acting on its own account
and that it thus has control over those entities.

Minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated profit
and loss account and balance sheet within consolidated equity. The
calculation of minority interests takes into account the outstanding
cumulative preferred shares classified as equity instruments issued by
subsidiaries, when such shares are held outside the Group.

As regards fully consolidated funds, units held by third-party investors
are recognised as debts at fair value through profit or loss, inasmuch as
they are redeemable at fair value at the subscriber’s initiative.

For transactions resulting in a loss of control, any equity interest retained
by the Group is remeasured at its fair value through profit or loss.

Joint control

Where the Group carries out an activity with one or more partners,
sharing control by virtue of a contractual agreement which requires
unanimous consent on relevant activities (those that significantly affect
the entity’s returns), the Group exercises joint control over the activity.
Where the jointly controlled activity is structured through a separate
vehicle in which the partners have rights to the net assets, this joint
venture is accounted for using the equity method. Where the jointly
controlled activity is not structured through a separate vehicle or where
the partners have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities
of the jointly controlled activity, the Group accounts for its share of
the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with the
applicable IFRSs.

Significant influence

Companies over which the Group exercises significant influence or
associates are accounted for by the equity method. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of a company without exercising control. Significant influence is presumed
to exist when the Group holds, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the
voting rights of a company. Interests of less than 20% can be included
in the consolidation scope if the Group effectively exercises significant
influence. This is the case for example for entities developed in partnership
with other associates, where the BNP Paribas Group participates in
strategic decisions of the enterprise through representation on the Board
of directors or equivalent governing body, or exercises influence over
the enterprise’s operational management by supplying management
systems or senior managers, or provides technical assistance to support
the enterprise’s development.

Changes in the net assets of associates (companies accounted for under
the equity method) are recognised on the assets side of the balance
sheet under “Investments in equity-method entities” and in the relevant
component of shareholders’ equity. Goodwill recorded on associates is
also included under "Equity-method investments”.

Whenever there is an indication of impairment, the carrying amount of the
investment consolidated under the equity method (including goodwill) is
subjected to an impairment test, by comparing its recoverable value (the
higher of value-in-use and market value less costs to sell) to its carrying
amount. Where appropriate, impairment is recognised under “Share of
earnings of equity-method entities” in the consolidated income statement
and can be reversed at a later date.
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If the Group's share of losses of an equity-method entity equals or
exceeds the carrying amount of its investment in this entity, the Group
discontinues including its share of further losses. The investment is
reported at nil value. Additional losses of the equity-method entity are
provided for only to the extent that the Group has contracted a legal or
constructive obligation, or has made payments on behalf of this entity.

Where the Group holds an interest in an associate, directly or indirectly
through an entity that is a venture capital organisation, a mutual fund, an
open-ended investment company or similar entity such as an investment-
related insurance fund, it may elect to measure that interest at fair value
through profit or loss.

Realised gains and losses on investments in consolidated undertakings
are recognised in the profit and loss account under “Net gain on non-
current assets”.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform
accounting policies for similar transactions and other events occurring
in similar circumstances.

1.b.3 Consolidation rules

Elimination of intragroup balances

and transactions

Intragroup balances arising from transactions between consolidated
enterprises, and the transactions themselves (including income, expenses
and dividends), are eliminated. Profits and losses arising from intragroup
sales of assets are eliminated, except where there is an indication that
the asset sold is impaired. Unrealised gains and losses included in the
value of financial instruments at fair value through equity and available-
for-sale assets are maintained in the consolidated financial statements.

Translation of accounts expressed

in foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas are prepared in
euros.

The financial statements of enterprises whose functional currency is
not the euro are translated using the closing rate method. Under this
method, all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, are
translated using the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average rate for the period.

The same method is applied to the financial statements of enterprises
located in hyperinflationary economies, after adjusting for the effects of
inflation by applying a general price index.

Differences arising from the translation of balance sheet items and prafit
and loss items are recorded in shareholders’ equity under “Exchange
differences”, and in “Minority interests” for the portion attributable to
outside investors. Under the optional treatment permitted by IFRS 1,
the Group has reset to zero all translation differences, by booking all
cumulative translation differences attributable to shareholders and to
minority interests in the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2004 to
retained earnings.

Notes to the financial statements

On liquidation or disposal of some or all of an interest held in a foreign
enterprise located outside the eurozone, leading to a change in the nature
of the investment (loss of control, loss of significant influence or loss
of joint control without keeping a significant influence), the cumulative
exchange difference at the date of liquidation or sale, determined
according to the step method, is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Should the percentage of interest change without leading to a modification
in the nature of the investment, the exchange difference is reallocated
between the portion attributable to shareholders and that attributable
to minority interests if the entity is fully consolidated; if the entity is
consolidated under the equity method, it is recorded in profit or loss for
the portion related to the interest sold.

1.b.4 Business combination and measurement
of goodwill

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method.

Under this method, the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities
assumed are measured at fair value at the acquisition date except for
non-current assets classified as assets held for sale which are accounted
for at fair value less costs to sell.

The acquiree’s contingent Liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet unless they represent a present obligation on the
acquisition date and their fair value can be measured reliably.

The cost of a business combination is the fair value, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or as